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OR REJECTION MAY NOT BE SOLICITED UNTIL A DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
HASBEEN APPROVED BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT. THISDISCLOSURE
STATEMENT MAY BE REVISED PRIOR TO THE COURT'SAPPROVAL OF THE
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT.
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! The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’'s
federal tax identification number, are: Wordsworth Academy (9031); Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC
(0983); and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC (5980). Wordsworth Academy has an address at 3300
Henry Ave., Philadelphia, PA 19129.
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS
INCLUDED HEREIN FOR PURPOSES OF SOLICITING ACCEPTANCES OF THE JOINT
CHAPTER 11 PLAN DATED OCTOBER 6, 2017, FILED BY WORDSWORTH ACADEMY,
WORDSWORTH CUA 5, LLC AND WORDSWORTH CUA 10, LLC, DEBTORS AND
DEBTORS IN POSSESSION (AS MAY BE AMENDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
TERMS THEREOF AND APPLICABLE LAW, THE “PLAN"). THE INFORMATION
CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE RELIED UPON FOR ANY PURPOSE OTHER THAN
TO DETERMINE HOW TO VOTE ON THE PLAN. NO PERSON MAY GIVE ANY
INFORMATION OR MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS, OTHER THAN THE
INFORMATION AND REPRESENTATIONS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE
STATEMENT, REGARDING THE PLAN OR THE SOLICITATION OF ACCEPTANCES OF
THE PLAN.

ALL CREDITORS ARE ADVISED AND ENCOURAGED TO READ THIS
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND THE PLAN IN THEIR ENTIRETY BEFORE VOTING
TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN. PLAN SUMMARIES AND STATEMENTS MADE
IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT ARE QUALIFIED IN THEIR ENTIRETY BY
REFERENCE TO THE PLAN AND THE EXHIBITS ANNEXED TO THE PLAN. THE
STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT ARE MADE ONLY AS
OF THE DATE HEREOF AND THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT THE
STATEMENTS CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL BE CORRECT AT ANY TIME AFTER THE
DATE HEREOF.

CERTAIN OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE
STATEMENT ISBY ITS NATURE FORWARD LOOKING AND CONTAINS ESTIMATES,
ASSUMPTIONS AND PROJECTIONS THAT MAY BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM
ACTUAL, FUTURE RESULTS. EXCEPT WITH RESPECT TO THE FINANCIAL
PROJECTIONS SET FORTH IN APPENDIX B ANNEXED HERETO (THE
“PROJECTIONS’) AND EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY AND EXPRESSLY
STATED HEREIN, THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT DOES NOT REFLECT ANY
EVENTS THAT MAY OCCUR SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF AND THAT MAY
HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT. THE DEBTORS DO NOT UNDERTAKE ANY
OBLIGATION TO, AND DO NOT INTEND TO, UPDATE THE PROJECTIONS; THUS, THE
PROJECTIONS WILL NOT REFLECT THE IMPACT OF ANY SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
NOT ALREADY ACCOUNTED FOR IN THE ASSUMPTIONS UNDERLYING THE
PROJECTIONS. FURTHER, THE DEBTORS DO NOT ANTICIPATE THAT ANY
AMENDMENTS OR SUPPLEMENTS TO THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT WILL BE
DISTRIBUTED TO REFLECT SUCH OCCURRENCES. ACCORDINGLY, THE DELIVERY
OF THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT WILL NOT UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCE IMPLY
THAT THE INFORMATION HEREIN IS CORRECT OR COMPLETE AS OF ANY TIME
SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF. MOREOVER, THE PROJECTIONS ARE BASED
ON ASSUMPTIONS THAT, ALTHOUGH BELIEVED TO BE REASONABLE BY THE
DEBTORS, MAY DIFFER FROM ACTUAL RESULTS.
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THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH SECTION 1125 OF THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY CODE AND RULE 3016
OF THE FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY PROCEDURE AND NOT NECESSARILY
IN ACCORDANCE WITH FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR OTHER NON-
BANKRUPTCY LAW. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS BEEN NEITHER
APPROVED NOR DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION (THE “SEC”), NOR HAS THE SEC PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR
ADEQUACY OF THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED HEREIN. PERSONS OR ENTITIES
TRADING IN OR OTHERWISE PURCHASING, SELLING OR TRANSFERRING
SECURITIES OR CLAIMS OF ANY OF THE DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION
IN THESE CASES SHOULD EVALUATE THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND THE
PLAN IN LIGHT OF THE PURPOSE FOR WHICH THEY WERE PREPARED.

AS TO CONTESTED MATTERS, ADVERSARY PROCEEDINGS AND NON-
BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS OR THREATENED ACTIONS INVOLVING THE
DEBTORS OR ANY OTHER PARTY, THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT SHALL NOT
CONSTITUTE OR BE CONSTRUED AS AN ADMISSION OF ANY FACT OR LIABILITY,
STIPULATION OR WAIVER, BUT RATHER AS A STATEMENT MADE IN
SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATIONS. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT SHALL NOT BE
ADMISSIBLE IN ANY NON-BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING NOR SHALL IT BE
CONSTRUED TO BE CONCLUSIVE ADVICE ON THE TAX, SECURITIES OR OTHER
LEGAL EFFECTS OF THE PLAN AS TO HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AGAINST OR EQUITY
INTERESTS IN ANY OF THE DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN POSSESSION IN THESE
CASES.

THE DEBTORS BELIEVE THAT THE PLAN WILL ACCOMPLISH THE
OBJECTIVES OF CHAPTER 11 AND THAT ACCEPTANCE OF THE PLAN IS IN THE
BEST INTERESTS OF THE DEBTORS, THEIR CREDITORS AND THEIR ESTATES. THE
DEBTORS URGE ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS ENTITLED TO VOTE TO ACCEPT THE
PLAN.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]

119779471 _4 3



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main

Document  Page 4 of 251

TABLE OF CONTENTS

R 1V I (@ 1 L@ I 1SR 1
I, OVERVIEW OF THE PLAN ...ttt sttt sttt 2
A. General Structure Of the Plan..........cceoiee e 2

B. Summary of Treatment of Claims and Interests under the Plan.............ccccocvene. 2

[1I. PLAN VOTING INSTRUCTIONS AND PROCEDURES..........cccceiiiiinienenenieseseeens 11
A. Notice to Holders of Claims and INtErests.........ccvveveeveeeeseerie e 11

B. VOUtNG RIGNES......eiiiee bbb ne s 11

C. SOliCItatiON MELENTAIS. ....ccueeieeeeceee e ne s 12

D. Voting Procedures, Ballotsand Voting Deadline...........ccccoovevevieenenceseececeee 13

E. Confirmation Hearing and Deadline for Objectionsto Confirmation................... 14

IV. GENERAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE DEBTORS.........cccocniininireneneeenes 14
A. Overview and Description of Debtor’s Operations Leading to Chapter 11.......... 14

B. Management and EMPIOYEES.........couiiiiiireeee e s 15

1 MENAGEIMENL.........eeieeeie e s s sre e 15

2. EMPIOyEes/Labor ......c.coveeececeese et 16

C. SUMMEANY OF ASSELS ...ttt ettt st ae e s neenreas 16

D. Historical Financial INformation...........cooeeieiieienie s 16

V. THE CHAPTER 11 CASES ...ttt bbb 16
A. Continuation of Operations; Stay of Litigation ..........cccceevveveenenieneesie e 16

B. FIrSt DAy MOLIONS.......coiiiiiiieiieie ettt s sr et ne e sns 17

C. Retention Of ProfeSSIONAIS .........cccvieeiiereceseere e 17

D. Appointment of Creditors Committee and Patient-Care Ombudsman................ 18

E. Significant RESIrUCtUNNG EVENLS .........oovoiiiiieeee e 18

1. ATFiliation With PHMC ......ooooiiieee e 18

2. Debtor-in-Possession FaCilitiS........covveeriiieeee e 18

3. (LA To = (o] o PP 19

V1. SUMMARY OF THE PLAN ...ttt 20
A. Overal Structure of the Plan............coo o 20

B. Substantive ConSOIIAELION .........c.coiirieiieieneee e 20

C. Classification and Treatment of Claims and INterests...........ccoevvvveveerecceesieennene 21

1 Treatment of Unclassified Claims under the Plan ...........cccceceienenenee. 21

119779471 _4



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 5 of 251

€) AdMINistrative ClaimS........c.coiieienie e 22
(b) Priority TaxX ClaimS........ccciieieieesiee e ee e 22
2. Treatment of Classified Claims and Interests under the Plan................... 23
D. Reservation of Rights Regarding ClaimsS...........ccovieiiiiininie e 25
E. Allowed Claims, Distribution Rights and Objectionsto Claims..........c.cccccvvveveeieneenens 25
1. Allowance REQUITEMENT..........ccveieiieieeesee e e see et 25
2. Timing of DIStriDULIONS.........coiiiiieece e s 26
3. Making of DiStribDULIONS..........cccceiiiiiiiereee e 26
4, Failure to Negotiate Checks/Unclaimed Distributions.............cccccceueenee... 27
5. ODbJeCtion ProCeAUIES........coceieieeee et 27
F. Disposition of Executory Contracts and Unexpired LEases .........ccccvveervevevieeseesieseennns 28
1. Contracts and Leases Deemed R ected ..........ccooveceveenieecevieseece e 28
2. Schedules of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases............ccceueeee. 29
3. Assumption and Rejection Procedures and Resolution of Treatment
(@ o)1= ol 0] 0 ST SR 29
(@)  Proposed ASSUMPLION .....cceiiiiierieeiesee e s 29
(b)  Proposed RGECHON .......cccceeiieiieceee e 30
(c) Resolution of Treatment ObjeCtioNnsS..........ccveererieeneenerie e 30
(d)  REECHON ClAIMS.....cociiiiiieie e e 30
4, ST 0 110 o SRS 30
5. Approva of Assumption, Reection, Retention or Assignment of
Executory Contracts and Unexpired LESES..........cccoveerereeneenienee e 31
6. Modifications, Amendments, Supplements, Restatements or Other
AGIEEIMENES ... 31
G. Meansfor Implementation of the Plan...........ccceoveeiieie e 31
1. Continued EXiStENCE/SITUCTUNE..........ccoveriririereeeeee e 31
2. Restructuring DistribULIONS.........ccoiiiieieeseeee e 32
3. OrganiZation ACHON........ccueieeeeee ettt nee e ens 32
H. Confirmation and/or CONSUMIMELION .........cceririirerieieriesie et sse e saeeneas 32
1 Requirements for Confirmation of the Plan...........cccoccoveroinniiicnicnene 32
2. Conditions to Confirmation Date and Effective Date.............ccocevcereennne. 33
I, Effects Of CONFIMMELTON .....cc.eiiiiiiesese et s 34
1 VESHING OF ASSELS ..ottt et st 34
2. ] 18 g Tox o o S 34
@ Claims and INErESES.......ceeveeveiieseee e 34

119779471 _4 5



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 6 of 251

(b) Exculpation and Limitation of Liability .........ccccoeeviniineniininnnns 35
3. Releases and Discharge INjunClion ..........ccccvieveececcece e 35
@ Releases by Debtorsin Favor of Third Parties..........cccceecvveevvcceeseenene, 35
(b) Releases by Creditors of Claims..........ccoveiiiieneniesee e 35
(© Discharge INJUNCLION........cceeiiieeiiee e 36
(d) NO SUCCESSOr Liability ....cciveeieeeeiieeie e 36
J. Retention Of JUNSOICHION.........oiiiiiesee e s 36
K. Amendment, Alteration and Revocation of Plan..........ccccoceveiivinnenincncnenen, 39
L. Plan Implementation DOCUMENES..........cccveeereerereesieesie e ens 39
VII. CERTAIN RISK FACTORS TO BE CONSIDERED ........ccccoiiiiieciiie e 39
A. General CONSIAEIELIONS. .......coiivirieriieieeeee e 40
B. Certain BankruptCy CoNSIAerations..........ccccueveereeiieneesiesieeseeseesesseesseseesseeneens 40
C. ClaimS ESIMELIONS ......coivieieiieiieeiee ettt re e 40
D. Conditions Precedent to CONSUMMELTION. .........ccueririrerenenieie e 40
E. Inherent Uncertainty of Financial Projections..........cccccvveviecceveene s 40
F. Certain Tax CONSIAEIaiONS.........coiireeieeie et ee e e e 41
VIIl. CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN ................. 41
A. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtors.........cccevveveveeveecieseenie e 42
B. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Claim Holders..........ccocoveveniniceneneeee. 42
C. Other TaX MEILEY'S.......coeeieieieeiesteerie ettt et sre e be e sneenneas 43
1. Information Reporting and Backup Withholding .........ccccceevevvieveeneee 43
2. Importance of Obtaining Professional Tax ASSIStance..........cccceeeeveeneee. 44
IX. FEASIBILITY OF THE PLAN AND BEST INTERESTS OF CREDITORS.................... 44
A. Feasibility Of the Plan .........cooiieceee e 44
B. AcceptanCe Of the Plan............oo s 46
C. BESt INTEIESIS TESL ... .. 46
D. Liquidation ANAIYSIS......cciieiieiesieie et e te et ae e e aeenaennaenes 47
E. Application of the “Best Interests’ of Creditors TeSt........ccoceveevevineerieneeneee, 48
F. Confirmation Without Acceptance of All Impaired Classes: The
“Cramdown” AITEINELIVE ........coerieieierese e e 48
X. ALTERNATIVESTO CONFIRMATION AND CONSUMMATION OF THE PLAN .... 49
A. Alternative Plan(s) of ReorganiZzation ..........c.ccecceveeveeiesieenesseseese e e 49
B. [0 10 7= 1 o o S 49
XI. THE SOLICITATION; VOTING PROCEDURES ..........ccooiicee et 49
A. Partiesin Interest ENtitled t0 VOIE........coceieiirierese s 49

119779471 _4 6



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 7 of 251

B. Classes Entitled to Vote to Accept or Reect the Plan...........ccoovvveiiiiiinncnee 50
C. SOlICITAIION OFUEN ...ttt s 50
D. Waivers of Defects, Irregularities, ELC.........ccoovvvevieieece i 50
E. Withdrawal of BallOtS; REVOCALION..........c.coeeriiriiiieieeeesee e 51
F. Voting Rights of Disputed Claimants..........cccceeeeveereniesieese e 51
G. Further Information; Additional COPIES .........ccceereereereee e 52

119779471 _4 7



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 8 of 251

l. INTRODUCTION

The debtors and debtors in possession in the above-referenced chapter 11 cases (these
“Chapter 11 Cases’) are the following related companies (collectively, the “ Debtors”):

Wordsworth Academy,
Wordsworth CUA 5,LLC, and
Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC

The Debtors submit this disclosure statement (as may be amended, the “Disclosure
Statement”) pursuant to section 1125 of title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy
Code’) for use in the solicitation of votes on the Joint Chapter 11 Plan dated as of October 6,
2017 (as may be amended, the “Plan”). A copy of the Plan is attached hereto as Appendix A.
Each capitalized term used in this Disclosure Statement but not otherwise defined herein has the
meaning ascribed to such term in the Plan. In addition, all references in this Disclosure
Statement to monetary figures refer to United States currency, unless otherwise expressly
provided.

This Disclosure Statement sets forth certain information regarding the Debtors
prepetition operating and financia history, their reasons for seeking protection and
reorganization under chapter 11 and significant events that have occurred during the Chapter 11
Cases. This Disclosure Statement also describes certain terms and provisions of the Plan, certain
effects of confirmation of the Plan, certain risk factors associated with the Plan and the securities
to be issued under the Plan and the manner in which distributions will be made under the Plan.
In addition, this Disclosure Statement discusses the confirmation process and the voting
procedures that Holders of Claims entitled to vote on the Plan must follow for their votes to be
counted.

By order entered on November _ , 2017, the Bankruptcy Court has approved this
Disclosure Statement as containing “adequate information,” in accordance with section 1125 of
the Bankruptcy Code, to enable a hypothetical, reasonable investor typical of Holders of Claims
against the Debtors to make an informed judgment as to whether to accept or regject the Plan, and
has authorized its use in connection with the solicitation of votes with respect to the Plan.
APPROVAL OF THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT DOES NOT, HOWEVER,
CONSTITUTE A DETERMINATION BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT AS TO THE
FAIRNESS OR MERITS OF THE PLAN. No solicitation of votes may be made except
pursuant to this Disclosure Statement and section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code. In voting on the
Plan, Holders of Claims entitled to vote should not rely on any information relating to the
Debtors and their businesses, other than that contained in this Disclosure Statement, the Plan,
and all exhibits and appendices hereto and thereto.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, only classes of Claims or Interests
that are (a) “impaired” by a plan and (b) entitled to receive a distribution under such plan are
entitled to vote on the plan. In the Debtors cases, Claims and Interests in Classes 2 through 5
are Impaired by and entitled to receive a distribution under the Plan; accordingly, only the
Holders of Claims and Interests in those Classes are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.
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Claimsin Class 1 are Unimpaired by the Plan; accordingly, the Holders thereof are conclusively
presumed to have accepted the Plan.

. OVERVIEW OF THE PLAN

Thefollowing is a brief overview of the material provisions of the Plan and is qualified in
its entirety by reference to the full text of the Plan. For a more detailed description of the terms
and provisions of the Plan, see Article VI of this Disclosure Statement, entitled “ Summary of the
Plan.”

The Plan provides for the classification and treatment of Claims against and Interests in
the Debtors. The Plan designates five Classes of Claims and one Class of Interests. These
Classes take into account the differing nature and priority under the Bankruptcy Code of the
various Claims and Interests.

A. General Structure of the Plan

The Plan contemplates the reorganization of the Debtors and the resolution of al
outstanding Claims against, and Interests in, the Debtors. Subject to the specific provisions set
forth in the Plan, all Claims will be satisfied by cash payments to be issued by the Debtors or,
where expressly indicated, funding received from Public Health Management Corporation
(“PHMC”). Because the Debtors are non-profit entities, there are no Interests to be cancelled.
Wordsworth’s ownership interest in Debtors Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA
10, LLC (the “CUAS"), which are non-profit entities, and the membership interests of the Boards
in the Debtors, will be retained only to the extent set forth in the Affiliation Agreement (as
defined in the Plan).

The Debtors have estimated the ultimate distributions that will be made in respect of
Allowed Claims and Interests. As explained more fully in Section VII entitled “Certain Risk
Factors to Be Considered,” however, because of inherent uncertainties, many of which are
beyond the Debtors' control, there can be no guaranty that actual performance will meet the
Debtors estimates. The Debtors nonetheless believe that if the Plan is not consummated, it is
likely that Holders of Claims against and Interests in the Debtors' estates will receive less than
they would if the Plan is confirmed because dismissal of these Chapter 11 Cases and subsequent
dissolution of the Debtors organizations will not result in a higher distribution to any Class of
Claims or Interests. Similarly, if the Debtors organizations were for-profit entities that could be
involuntarily liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, liquidation of the Debtors
assets will not result in a higher distribution to any Class of Claims or Interests.

B. Summary of Treatment of Claims and I nterests under the Plan

The table below summarizes the classification and treatment of the prepetition Claims
against and Interests in the Debtors under the Plan. For certain Classes of Claims, estimated
percentage recoveries are also set forth below. Estimated percentage recoveries have been
calculated based upon a number of assumptions, including (where not Allowed by the Plan) the
amount of Allowed Claimsin each Class.
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For certain Classes of Claims, the actua amounts of Allowed Claims could materially
exceed or could be materially less than the estimated amounts shown in the table that follows.
Except for Claims Allowed by the Plan, estimated Claim amounts for each Class set forth below
are based upon the Debtors' review of their books and records and Claims filed to date in these
cases, and include estimates of a number of Clams that are contingent, disputed and/or
unliquidated. Accordingly, for these reasons, no representation can be or is being made with
respect to whether the estimated percentage recoveries shown in the table below for Class 5A,
Class 5B and Class 5C will actually be realized by the Holders of Allowed Claims in those
Classes.
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Type of Claim or Interest

Description and Treatment under Plan

Unclassified — Administrative
Claims

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Approximately $500,000*

*Amount includes known Administrative
Claims as of the date of the filing of this
Disclosure Statement, excluding claims of the
Initial DIP Lender and the Siena DIP Lender.

An Administrative Claim is a Claim for (@) any cost
or expense of administration (including, without limitation,
the fees and expenses of Professionals) of any of the Chapter
11 Cases asserted or arising under sections 503, 507(8)(2),
507(b) or 1114(e)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code including, but
not limited to (i) any actual and necessary post Petition Date
cost or expense of preserving each of the Debtors Estates or
operating the organizations of the Debtors, (ii) any post
Petition Date cost, indebtedness or contractual obligation
duly and validly incurred or assumed by the Debtors in the
ordinary course of their respective organizations,
(ilf) compensation or reimbursement of expenses of
Professionals to the extent Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court
under sections 330(a) or 331 of the Bankruptcy Code, and
(iv) dl Allowed Claims that are entitled to be treated as
Administrative Claims pursuant to a Final Order of the
Bankruptcy Court under section 546 of the Bankruptcy Code;
(b) any fees or charges assessed against the Debtors Estates
under section 1930 of title 28 of the United States Code; and
(c) Claims of the Initial DIP Lender under the Initial DIP
Financing Facility and the Siena DIP Lender under the Siena
DIP Financing Facility.

Under the Plan, Administrative Clams are
Unimpaired. Unless otherwise provided for therein, each
Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim shall receive, in
full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and
discharge of such Clam: (a)the amount of such unpaid
Allowed Clam in Cash on or as soon as reasonably
practicable after the later of (i) the Effective Date, (ii) the
date on which such Administrative Claim becomes Allowed,
or (iii) a date agreed to in writing by the Debtors and the
Holder of such Administrative Claim; or (b) such other
treatment on such other terms and conditions as may be
agreed upon in writing by the Holder of such Clam and the
Debtors, or as the Bankruptcy Court may order.

Administrative Claims are not classified and are
treated as required by the Bankruptcy Code. The Holders of
such Claims are not entitled to vote on the Plan.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 100%

Unclassified — Priority Tax Claims
Estimated Aggregate Allowed

The Plan defines Priority Tax Claims as any and all
Clams accorded priority in payment pursuant to
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Type of Claim or Interest

Description and Treatment under Plan

Amount: $1,400

section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code. Such Priority Tax
Claims include Claims of governmental units for taxes owed
by the Debtors that are entitled to a certain priority in
payment pursuant to section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy
Code. The taxes entitled to priority are (@) taxes on income
or gross receipts that meet the requirements set forth in
section 507(a)(8)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code, (b) property
taxes meeting the requirements of section 507(a)(8)(B) of the
Bankruptcy Code, (c) taxes that were required to be collected
or withheld by the Debtors and for which the Debtors are
liable in any capacity as described in section 507(a)(8)(C) of
the Bankruptcy Code, (d) employment taxes on wages,
salaries or commissions that are entitled to priority pursuant
to section 507(a)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent
that such taxes aso meet the requirements of section
507(a)(8)(D), (e) excise taxes of the kind specified in section
507(a)(8)(E) of the Bankruptcy Code, (f) customs duties
arising out of the importation of merchandise that meet the
requirements of section 507(a)(8)(F) of the Bankruptcy Code
and (g) prepetition penalties relating to any of the foregoing
taxes to the extent such penalties are in compensation for
actual pecuniary loss as provided in section 507(a)(8)(G) of
the Bankruptcy Code.

Under the Plan, Priority Tax Claims are Unimpaired.
Each Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall receive,
at the option of the Debtors, in full satisfaction, settlement,
release, extinguishment and discharge of such Priority Tax
Claim: (@) the amount of such unpaid Allowed Priority Tax
Claim in Cash on or as soon as reasonably practicable after
the later of (i) the Effective Date, (ii) the date on which such
Priority Tax Claim becomes Allowed and (iii) a date agreed
to by the Debtors and the Holder of such Priority Tax Claim,
or (b)such other treatment on such other terms and
conditions as may be agreed upon in writing by the Holder of
such Priority Tax Clam and the Debtors, or as the
Bankruptcy Court may order. Prior to the Effective Date, the
Plan Proponents, by mutual agreement, shall have the right to
prepay at any time, in whole or in part, any Allowed Priority
Tax Claim without premium or penalty of any sort or nature.

Priority Tax Claims are not classified and are treated
as required by the Bankruptcy Code. The Holders of such
Claims are not entitled to vote on the Plan. The Debtors are
aware of one Claim filed in this Class as of the date of this
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Type of Claim or Interest

Description and Treatment under Plan

Disclosure Statement, but have not reviewed their records
regarding that Claim.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 100%

Class 1 —Priority Claims

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: $12,850

Class 1 consists of Priority Claims, which are Claims
against the Debtors entitlted to priority pursuant to
section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, other than Priority
Tax Claims or Administrative Claims.

Under the Plan, Class 1 Priority Claims are
Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Class 1 Priority
Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction, settlement, release,
extinguishment and discharge of such Claim: (a) the amount
of such unpaid Allowed Claim in Cash, without interest, on
or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (i) the
Effective Date, (ii) the date on which such Class 1 Clam
becomes Allowed, and (iii) a date agreed to by the Debtors
and the Holder of such Class 1 Priority Claim; or (b) such
other treatment on such other terms and conditions as may be
agreed upon in writing by the Holder of such Clam and the
Debtors.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 100%

Class2 — Secured Claimsof M& T
Bank

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: $4,825,000

Class 2 consists of Secured Claims of M&T Bank,
which are defined as any Claim arising before the Petition
Date that is. (@) secured in whole or part, as of the Petition
Date, by a Lien which is valid, perfected and enforceable
under applicable law on certain Property in which any of the
Debtors Estates has an interest and is not subject to
avoidance under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable non-
bankruptcy law; or (b) subject to setoff under section 553 of
the Bankruptcy Code, but, with respect to both case (a) and
(b), only to the extent of the value of the assets or Property
securing any such Claim or the amount subject to setoff, as
the case may be.

Under the Plan, Class 2 Secured Claims of M&T
Bank are impaired. The Holder of an Allowed Class 2
Secured Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction, settlement,
release, extinguishment and discharge of such Clam:
monthly payments over aten (10) year term commencing on
the first day of the month following the Effective Date, based
on a twenty-five (25) year amortization schedule and a fixed
rate of interest of prime plus one percent as of the date of
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Description and Treatment under Plan

confirmation of the Plan. The 120th payment shall include
the balance of the unpaid principal owed. Until paid in full,
the Holder of an Allowed Class 2 Secured Claim shall retain
its lien on the Debtors rea property located at 2101
Pennsylvania Ave., Fort Washington, PA 19034 (the “Fort
Washington Campus’) as well as its lien on the Debtors
revenues and personal property to the same extent and
priority as held by the Holder as of the date on which this
Plan is confirmed.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 100%

Class 3A — Litigation Claims against
Wordsworth Academy

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Unknown

$0 against the Estate; unknown asto
insurance coverage

Class 3A consists of the Litigation Claims against
Wordsworth Academy, any liability as to which may be
covered by one of more of the Debtors insurance policies
regardless whether the Holder has waived its right to assert a
Claim against any of the Debtors and the Estates during these
Chapter 11 Cases. The Holders of Class 3A Claims will
receive an Allowed general unsecured claim against the
Estates in the amount of $1.00 for purposes of distributions
from the Estates, Article X of the Plan and voting, and any
recovery from any insurance coverage that may be available
to satisfy their Claims upon liquidation thereof.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 0% from the

Estates.

Class 3B — Litigation Claims against
Wordsworth CUA5,LLC

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Unknown

$0 against the Estate; unknown as to
insurance coverage

Class 3B consists of the Litigation Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC, any liability as to which may be
covered by one of more of the Debtors insurance policies
regardless whether the Holder has waived its right to assert a
Claim against any of the Debtors and the Estates during these
Chapter 11 Cases. The Holders of Class 3B Claims will
receive an Allowed general unsecured claim against the
Estates in the amount of $1.00 for purposes of distributions
from the Estates, Article X of the Plan and voting, and any
recovery from any insurance coverage that may be available
to satisfy their Claims upon liquidation thereof.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 0% from the

Estates.

Class 3C — Litigation Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 10,LLC

Estimated Aggregate Allowed

Class 3C consists of the Litigation Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC, any liability as to which may be
covered by one of more of the Debtors insurance policies
regardless whether the Holder has waived its right to assert a
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Amount: Unknown
$0 against the Estate; unknown as to
insurance coverage

Claim against any of the Debtors and the Estates during these
Chapter 11 Cases. The Holders of Class 3C Claims will
receive an Allowed general unsecured claim against the
Estates in the amount of $1.00 for purposes of distributions
from the Estates, Article X of the Plan and voting, and any
recovery from any insurance coverage that may be available
to satisfy their Claims upon liquidation thereof.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 0% from the

Estates.

Class 4A — Subcontractor Claims
against Wordsworth Academy

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Approximately $0.00

Class 4A consists of Subcontractor Claims against
Wordsworth Academy, which include al Claims against
Wordsworth Academy held by subcontractors or staffing
agencies that being be paid in full pursuant to the Affiliation
Agreement between the Debtors and PHMC.

Under the Plan, Class 4A Subcontractor Claims
against Wordsworth Academy are Impaired. Each Holder of
a Class 4A Allowed Subcontractor Claim against
Wordsworth Academy that is not satisfied on or before the
Effective Date shall receive, in full satisfaction, settlement,
release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim payment
in full, without interest, from the Reorganized Debtors
operating revenues over a period of six (6) months following
the Effective Date. The Debtors anticipate no Claims in this
Class remaining unpaid as of December 1, 2017.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 100 %

Class 4B — Subcontractor Claims
against Wordsworth CUA5,LLC

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Approximately $1,860,000

Class 4B consists of Subcontractor Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC, which include al Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC held by subcontractors or staffing
agencies that being be paid in full pursuant to the Affiliation
Agreement between the Debtors and PHMC.

Under the Plan, Class 4B Subcontractor Claims
against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC are Impaired. Each Holder
of a Class 4B Allowed Subcontractor Claim against
Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC that is not satisfied on or before
the Effective Date shall receive, in full satisfaction,
settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such
Claim payment in full, without interest, from the Reorganized
Debtors' operating revenues over a period of six (6) months
following the Effective Date.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 100 %
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Class 4C — Subcontractor Claims
against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Approximately $1,140,000

Class 4C consists of Subcontractor Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC, which include all Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC held by subcontractors or staffing
agencies that being be paid in full pursuant to the Affiliation
Agreement between the Debtors and PHMC.

Under the Plan, Class 4C Subcontractor Claims
against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC are Impaired. Each
Holder of a Class 4C Allowed Subcontractor Claim against
Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC that is not satisfied on or before
the Effective Date shall receive, in full satisfaction,
settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such
Claim payment in full, without interest, from the Reorganized
Debtors operating revenues over a period of six (6) months
following the Effective Date.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 100 %

Class 5A — General Unsecured
Claims against Wordsworth
Academy

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Approximately $3,727,000

Class 5A consists of General Unsecured Claims
against Wordsworth Academy, including Rejection Claims,
that are not Administrative Claims; Priority Tax Claims,
Secured Claims; Priority Claims; Class 3A Litigation Claims;
Class 3B Litigation Claims, Class 3C Litigation Clams;
Class 4A Subcontractor Claims, Class 4B Subcontractor
Claims, Class 4C Subcontractor Claims, Class 5B General
Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC; Class
5C General Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC; or Interests.

Under the Plan, Class 5A Genera Unsecured Claims
against Wordsworth Academy are Impaired. Each Holder of
a Class 5A Allowed General Unsecured Claim against
Wordsworth Academy shall receive, along with each Holder
of a Class 5B and Class 5C Allowed General Unsecured
Claim, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment
and discharge of such Claim, a pro rata share of Distributable
Cash.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 5.4 %

Class 5B — General Unsecur ed
Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5,
LLC

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Approximately $13,000

Class 5B consists of General Unsecured Claims
against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC, including Reection
Claims, that are not Administrative Claims, Priority Tax
Claims; Secured Claims; Priority Claims; Class 3A Litigation
Claims, Class 3B Litigation Claims;, Class 3C Litigation
Clams, Class 4A Subcontractor Claims, Class 4B
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Subcontractor Claims, Class 4C Subcontractor Claims, Class
5A  Genera Unsecured Claims aganst Wordsworth
Academy; Class 5C General Unsecured Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC; or Interests.

Under the Plan, Class 5B General Unsecured Claims
against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC are Impaired. Each Holder
of a Class 5B Allowed General Unsecured Claim against
Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC shall receive, dong with each
Holder of a Class 5A and Class 5C Allowed General
Unsecured Claim, in full satisfaction, settlement, release,
extinguishment and discharge of such Claim, a pro rata share
of Distributable Cash.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 5.4 %

Class 5C — General Unsecured
Claims against Wordsworth CUA
10,LLC

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Approximately $600.00

Class 5C consists of General Unsecured Claims
against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC, including Reection
Clams, that are not Administrative Claims; Priority Tax
Claims; Secured Claims; Priority Claims; Class 3A Litigation
Claims, Class 3B Litigation Claims;, Class 3C Litigation
Claims, Class 4A Subcontractor Claims, Class 4B
Subcontractor Claims, Class 4C Subcontractor Claims, Class
5A  Genera Unsecured Clams against Wordsworth
Academy; Class 5B General Unsecured Claims against
Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC; or Interests.

Under the Plan, Class 5C General Unsecured Claims
against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC are Impaired. Each
Holder of a Class 5C Allowed General Unsecured Claim
against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC shall receive, along with
each Holder of a Class 5A and Class 5B Allowed Genera
Unsecured Claim, in full satisfaction, settlement, release,
extinguishment and discharge of such Claim, a pro rata share
of Distributable Cash.

Estimated Percentage Recovery: 5.4 %

Class 6 — Interests

Estimated Aggregate Allowed
Amount: Approximately $0.00

Class 6 consists of Wordsworth’s ownership interest
in Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC
and the membership interests of the Boards in each of the
Debtors.

Under the Plan, Class 6 Interests are Unimpaired.
Each Holder of Allowed Class 6 Interests shal retain its
Interest only to the extent provided in the Affiliation
Agreement and receive no Property or other vaue
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distribution on account of its Interest.
Estimated Percentage Recovery: 0%

THE DEBTORS BELIEVE THAT THE PLAN PROVIDES THE BEST RECOVERIES
POSSIBLE FOR HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AGAINST THE DEBTORS AND THUS
STRONGLY RECOMMEND THAT YOU VOTE TO ACCEPT THE PLAN.

(1. PLAN VOTING INSTRUCTIONSAND PROCEDURES

A. Noticeto Holders of Claims and | nterests

Approva by the Bankruptcy Court of this Disclosure Statement means that the
Bankruptcy Court has found that this Disclosure Statement contains information of akind and in
sufficient and adequate detail to enable Holders of Claims to make an informed judgment
whether to accept or reject the Plan.

THE BANKRUPTCY COURT’S APPROVAL OF THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
DOES NOT CONSTITUTE EITHER A GUARANTY OF THE ACCURACY OR
COMPLETENESS OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN OR THEREIN OR AN
ENDORSEMENT OF THE PLAN BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT.

IF THE PLAN IS APPROVED BY THE REQUISITE VOTE OF HOLDERS OF
CLAIMS ENTITLED TO VOTE AND IS SUBSEQUENTLY CONFIRMED BY THE
BANKRUPTCY COURT, THE PLAN WILL BIND ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AGAINST,
AND INTERESTS IN, THE DEBTORS, WHETHER OR NOT THEY WERE ENTITLED TO
VOTE OR DID VOTE ON THE PLAN AND WHETHER OR NOT THEY RECEIVE OR
RETAIN ANY DISTRIBUTIONS OR PROPERTY UNDER THE PLAN. THUS, ALL
HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AGAINST THE DEBTORS ENTITLED TO VOTE ARE
ENCOURAGED TO READ THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND ITS APPENDICES
CAREFULLY AND IN THEIR ENTIRETY BEFORE DECIDING TO VOTE EITHER TO
ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN.

No solicitation of votes may be made except after distribution of this Disclosure
Statement and no person has been authorized to distribute any information concerning the
Debtors other than the information contained herein.

B. Voting Rights

Pursuant to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, only holders of claims in classes that
are (a) treated as “impaired” by the plan and (b) entitled to receive a distribution under such plan
are entitled to vote on the plan. In these Chapter 11 Cases, under the Plan, only Holders of
Claims in Classes 2 through 5 are entitled to vote on the Plan. Claims and Interests in other
Classes are Unimpaired and their Holders are deemed to have accepted the Plan.
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Only Holders of Allowed Claims in the voting Classes are entitled to vote on the Plan. A
Claim that is unliquidated, contingent or disputed is not an Allowed Claim, and is thus not
entitled to vote, unless and until the amount is estimated or determined, or the dispute is
determined, resolved or adjudicated in the Bankruptcy Court or another court of competent
jurisdiction, or pursuant to agreement with the Debtors. However, the Bankruptcy Court may
deem a contingent, unliquidated or disputed Claim to be Allowed on a provisiona basis, for
purposes only of voting on the Plan.

Holders of Allowed Claims in the voting Classes may vote on the Plan only if they are
Holders as of the Distribution Record Date, which Distribution Record Date is November 1,
2017.

C. Solicitation M aterials

In soliciting votes for the Plan pursuant to this Disclosure Statement, the Debtors,
through their claims and noticing agent Donlin Recano & Company (“Donlin Recano”), will
send to Holders of Claims who are entitled to vote copies of (a) the Disclosure Statement and
Plan, (b) the notice of, among other things, (i) the date, time and place of the hearing to consider
confirmation of the Plan and related matters and (ii) the deadline for filing objections to
confirmation of the Plan (the “Confirmation Hearing Notice’), (c) one or more balots (and
return envelopes) to be used in voting to accept or to reject the Plan and (d) other materials as
authorized by the Bankruptcy Court.

If you are the Holder of a Claim that is entitled to vote, but you did not receive a ballot,
or if your ballot is damaged or illegible, or if you have any questions concerning voting
procedures, you may contact the following:

If by regular mail:

Donlin, Recano & Company, Inc.

Re: Wordsworth

Attn: Voting Department

PO Box 192016 Blythebourne Station
Brooklyn, NY 11219

If by overnight courier or hand delivery:
Donlin, Recano & Company, Inc.

Re: Wordsworth

Attn: Voting Department

15th Ave.

Brooklyn, NY 11219

If by telephone, for U.S. calersonly, or email:

Donlin, Recano & Company, Inc.
Attn: Voting Department
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Phone No.: 212.771.1128
E-mail: drcvote@donlinrecano.com

D. Voting Procedur es, Ballots and Voting Deadline

After reviewing the Plan and this Disclosure Statement, you are asked to indicate your
acceptance or rejection of the Plan by voting in favor of or against the Plan on the accompanying
ballot. You should complete and sign your original ballot (copies will not be accepted) and
return it in the envelope provided.

Each ballot has been coded to reflect the Class of Claims it represents. Accordingly, in
voting to accept or reject the Plan, you must use only the coded ballot or ballots sent to you with
this Disclosure Statement.

IN ORDER FOR YOUR VOTE TO BE COUNTED, YOUR BALLOT MUST BE
PROPERLY COMPLETED AS SET FORTH ABOVE AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
VOTING INSTRUCTIONS ON THE BALLOT AND RECEIVED NO LATER THAN
December 4, 2017, AT 5:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME (THE “VOTING DEADLINE”) BY THE
FOLLOWING:

If by regular mail, overnight courier or hand delivery:

Dilworth Paxson LLP

Market St., Suite 3500E
Philadelphia, PA 19102

Attn: Christine Chapman-Tomlin

UNLESS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THE INSTRUCTIONS ACCOMPANY ING
THE BALLOTS, FAXED BALLOTS WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED. BALLOTS THAT ARE
RECEIVED BUT NOT SIGNED WILL NOT BE COUNTED. BALLOTS THAT ARE
SIGNED BUT DO NOT SPECIFY WHETHER THE HOLDER ACCEPTS OR REJECTS THE
PLAN WILL BE NULL AND VOID. DO NOT RETURN ANY DEBT INSTRUMENTS OR
OTHER EVIDENCE OF YOUR CLAIM WITH YOUR BALLOT.

If you have any questions about (a) the procedure for voting your Claim, (b) the packet of
materials that you have received, or (¢) the amount of your Claim, or if you wish to obtain, at
your own expense, unless otherwise specifically required by Bankruptcy Rule 3017(d), an
additional copy of the Plan, this Disclosure Statement or any appendices or exhibits to such
documents, please contact:

If by regular mail, overnight courier or hand delivery:
Dilworth Paxson LLP

Market St., Suite 3500E

Philadel phia, PA 19102

Attn: Christine Chapman-Tomlin

If by telephone:
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Christine Chapman-Tomlin
215-575-7224

For further information and general instruction on voting to accept or reject the Plan, see
Article X1 of this Disclosure Statement and the instructions accompanying your ballot.

THE DEBTORS URGE ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS ENTITLED TO VOTE TO
EXERCISE THEIR RIGHT BY VOTING IN FAVOR OF THE PLAN AND OTHERWISE
COMPLETING THEIR BALLOTS AND RETURNING THEM BY THE VOTING
DEADLINE.

E. Confirmation Hearing and Deadline for Objectionsto Confirmation

Pursuant to section 1128 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3017(c), the
Bankruptcy Court has scheduled a Confirmation Hearing for December __, 2017 at __:00 _.m.
(prevailing Eastern time). The Confirmation Hearing may be adjourned from time to time by the
Bankruptcy Court without further notice except for the announcement of the adjournment date
made at the Confirmation Hearing or at any subsequent adjourned Confirmation Hearing.
Objections to confirmation of the Plan or proposed modifications to the Plan, if any, must (i) be
in writing, (ii) conform to the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure and the Local Rules of the
Bankruptcy Court, (iii) state the name and address of the objecting party and the amount and
nature of the claim or interest of such party, (iv) state with particularity the basis and nature of
any objection to the Plan and (v) be filed electronically, together with proof of service, with the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, 900 Market Street,
Suite 400, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107, www.paeb.uscourts.gov, and served on the parties
listed in the Confirmation Hearing notice, in each case so as to be actually received on or before
5:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern time) on NOVEMBER __, 2017. Objections to Confirmation of
the Plan are governed by Bankruptcy Rule 9014.

V. GENERAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE DEBTORS

A. Overview and Description of Debtor’s Operations L eading to Chapter
11

Debtor, Wordsworth Academy (“Wordsworth”), is a Pennsylvania non-profit
organization. Its mission isto provide education, behavioral health and child welfare services to
children and youth who have emotional, behavioral and academic challenges so that they are
empowered to reach their potential and lead productive, fulfilling lives. Wordsworth is
headquartered at 3300 Henry Ave., Philadel phia, PA 19129.

In addition to other programs, Wordsworth provides services through two (2) Community
Umbrella Agencies. Wordsworth is the sole member of Debtors, Wordsworth CUA 5 LLC and
Wordsworth CUA 10 LLC (together, the “CUAS’), which are Pennsylvania non-profit limited
liability companies. The CUASs are part of an initiative of Philadelphia s Department of Human
Services (“DHS’) that began in 2015 to provide a partnership approach to children and families
through family-centered, community-based child welfare services. Wordsworth CUA 5 LLC
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provides services to children and families in the 35th and 39th Police Districts in Philadelphia,
encompassing much of North Central Philadelphia. Wordsworth CUA 10 LLC provides services
to children and families in the 16th and 19th Police Districts in Philadelphia, encompassing
much of West Philadelphia.

Wordsworth was founded in 1952 as a small private school that served students with
reading disabilities. Over the years, Wordsworth expanded its services to serve nearly 5,000
children and families annually through severa locations in the Philadelphia area. Wordsworth’s
services include a state-licensed approved private school. In addition, Wordsworth provides a
variety of child welfare and prevention services through the CUAs, Out of School Time
Programs, Family First Services for children who have been placed outside of their family
homes, Community Residential Rehabilitation Host Homes for children who are unable to live
with their own families, Family Based Menta and Behaviora Health Services, School
Therapeutic Services, and Multi-Systemic Treatment programs.

In 2016, Wordsworth operated with a budget of $77,880,000, employed 817 staff
members throughout its 13 program areas, and provided services to more than 5,600 children and
their families. Wordsworth’s revenues are received from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
the School District of Philadelphia and other local school districts, DHS, Community Behaviora
Health and avariety of grants and other financia support.

In October of 2016, a resident of Wordsworth’s Ford Road residential facility (the “Ford
Road Facility”) died while being restrained by Wordsworth staff. Immediately upon the
occurrence of this event and upon learning of allegations of other serious problems at the Ford
Road Facility, Wordsworth’s Board of Trustees shuttered the Ford Road Facility and terminated
Wordsworth’s then-existing senior management, as well as several other employees.
Nevertheless, the events at the Ford Road Facility have resulted in a breach of public trust and
threaten the continued support of other Wordsworth programs that have historically proven very
successful and are critical to meeting the emotional, behavioral and educational needs of alarge
number of children and familiesin the community.

To continue Wordsworth’s important mission and provide a recovery to all who are
served by and support Wordsworth, the Debtors made the difficult decision to seek Chapter 11
relief. The Debtors’ Chapter 11 Cases are operational restructuring cases in which the Debtors
intend to strengthen their remaining programs, streamline their operations, provide as much
recovery as possible to their existing creditors, and continue their mission through an affiliation
with PHMC, a non-profit, public health institution that serves the Philadelphia area through a
variety of public health and social welfare programs.

B. M anagement and Employees

1. M anagement

Don Stewart, Chief Financial Officer of Wordsworth, assumed the additional title and
duties of Acting Chief Executive Officer of Wordsworth on June 30, 2017. Prior to June 30,
2017, Mr. Stewart served as Chief Financial Officer of Wordsworth for approximately two and
one half years.
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Tom Johnson serves as Chairman of Wordsworth’s Board of Trustees, a 9 person board
that oversees the mission of Wordsworth Academy. Prior to June 30, 2017, Gerald Schatz
served as Chairman of the five person Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC Board of Directors and Stephen
Figlin served as Chairman of the six person Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC Board of Directors.
Post-petition, following the resignation of Mr. Schatz, Mr. Figlin has served as the Chairman of
the Board of Directors for Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC.

Natasha Watson serves as the Director of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Cydney Dasent
serves as the Director of Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC.

2. Employees/L abor

As of the Petition Date, Debtor Wordsworth employed 619 employees, of whom 501
were full-time employees (the “Full-Time Employees’) and approximately 118 were part-time
employees (the “Part-Time Employees’, and together with the Full-Time Employees, the
“Regular Employees’). In addition, Wordsworth employs the services of other individuals who
are paid through staffing agencies or who are subcontractors (the “Contractor Employees’ and
together with the Regular Employees, the “Employees’).

None of the Employees are unionized.

C. Summary of Assets

The Debtors filed Schedules with the Bankruptcy Court that detail the assets owned by
each of the Debtors, respectively. Such assets include cash on hand, bank accounts, deposits,
insurance policies, accounts receivable, real property, equipment, furnishings and supplies,
fixtures, and other items of personal property. The Schedules provide asset values on a net book
basis, which are not reflective of actual values. The Schedules may be reviewed on the
Bankruptcy Court electronic case filing system or during business hours in the offices of the
Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court. Information regarding the Debtors’ assetsis also available in the
Liquidation Analysis attached hereto as Appendix C.

D. Historical Financial | nformation

Attached as Appendix D are the Debtors audited financial statements for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2016. The Debtors largest liabilities relate to employee related expenses and
benefits obligations, including obligations payable to subcontractors and staffing agencies, which
provide a significant number of personnel to the Debtors.

V. THE CHAPTER 11 CASES

A. Continuation of Operations; Stay of Litigation

On June 30, 2017, the Debtors filed petitions for relief under chapter 11 of the
Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors cases are being jointly administered.

The Debtors continue to operate as debtors in possession subject to the supervision of the
Bankruptcy Court and in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors are authorized to
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operate their respective organizations and manage their property in the ordinary course, with
transactions outside of the ordinary course of business requiring Bankruptcy Court approval.

An immediate effect of the filing of the Debtors bankruptcy petitions was the imposition
of the automatic stay under the Bankruptcy Code which, with limited exceptions, enjoins the
commencement or continuation of all collection efforts by creditors, the enforcement of liens
against property of the Debtors and the continuation of litigation against the Debtors. The relief
provides the Debtors with the “breathing room” necessary to assess their operations and prevents
creditors from obtaining an unfair recovery advantage while the Chapter 11 Cases are pending.

B. First Day Motions

On the first day of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Debtors filed several applications and
motions seeking certain relief by virtue of so-called “first day orders.” First day motions and
orders are intended to facilitate the transition between a debtor’s prepetition and post-petition
business operations by approving certain regular business practices that may not be specifically
authorized under the Bankruptcy Code or as to which the Bankruptcy Code requires prior
approva by the Bankruptcy Court. The first day motions filed in the Chapter 11 Cases are
typical of motions filed in Chapter 11 cases. Such motions sought, among other things, the
following relief:

. joint administration of the Debtors bankruptcy cases;

. the maintenance of the Debtors bank accounts and operation of their cash
management systems substantially as such systems existed prior to the Petition
Date;

. payment of employees prepetition compensation, benefits and expense

reimbursement amounts;

o authority to use cash collatera in the post-petition operation of the Debtors
business;

. authority to obtain post-petition financing with which the Debtors may fund their
post-petition operations,

. an extension of the statutory period by which the Debtors must file their
Schedules and Statement of Financial Affairs; and

. an extension of the statutory period during which utilities are prohibited from
altering, refusing or discontinuing services and/or requiring adequate assurance of
payment as a condition of receiving services.

C. Retention of Professionals

The Debtors are represented in the Chapter 11 Cases by Dilworth Paxson LLP
(“Dilworth”). The Debtors retained the financia advisory services of Getzler Henrich &
Associates LLC (“Getzler Henrich”). Donlin Recano & Company (“Donlin Recano”) was
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retained to provide claims, noticing and balloting services to the Debtors. Clifton Larson Allen
LLPisretained asthe Debtors' auditor.

D. Appointment of Creditors Committee and Patient-Care Ombudsman

On July 14, 2017, the Office of the United States Trustee for the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania appointed an official committee of unsecured creditors (the “Committee’) to
represent the interests of general unsecured creditors in these Chapter 11 Cases. The Committee
is represented by Cullen and Dykman LLP and Weir & Partners LLP in these Chapter 11 Cases.
Walker Nell Partners, Inc. has been retained to provide financial advisory services to the
Committee. A Patient-Care Ombudsman has not been appointed in these Chapter 11 Cases.

E. Significant Restructuring Events

1 Affiliation with PHMC

As of the Petition Date, each of the Debtors had entered into Management Agreements
with PHMC and/or Turning Points for Children, an affiliate of PHMC, pursuant to which PHMC
and its affiliate provide certain management services to assist the Debtors with their operations
until the Debtors obtain confirmation of a Chapter 11 Plan in these Chapter 11 Cases and such
Plan becomes Effective.

Debtor Wordsworth, on behalf of itself and its subsidiary Debtors, negotiated an
Affiliation Agreement with PHMC, pursuant to which the Debtors will become subsidiaries of
PHMC and/or its affiliates on the Effective Date of the Plan and will be operated by PHMC
following the Effective Date of the Plan.

To effectuate the Affiliation Agreement, PHMC will be obtaining funding, which will
constitute the exit facility used to retire the Debtor-in-Possession Facilities described below and
will provide funding of the Distributable Cash payable to Class 5A, Class 5B and Class 5C
Claims under the Plan.

The Debtors have incorporated the Management Agreement and Affiliation Agreement
into their Plan. A copy of the Affiliation Agreement is attached as Attachment 1 to the Plan.

2. Debtor-in-Possession Facilities

On June 30, 2017, the Debtors filed the Motion of the Debtors For Entry Of Interim and
Final Orders: (1) Authorizing Them To Obtain Post-Petition Financing From Play And Learn
Pursuant To Sections 363 And 364 Of Bankruptcy Code, (11) Authorizing Them To Enter Into
The Debtor-In-Possession Credit Agreement, And (ll1) Granting Liens And Administrative
Priority Claims To DIP Lender Pursuant To Agreement Section 364 Of Bankruptcy Code And
Modifying The Automatic Stay To Implement The Terms Of The DIP Order [Docket No. 20]
(the “Initial DIP Financing Motion”). By the Initial DIP Financing Motion, the Debtors obtained
approval of a debtor-in-possession financing facility, provided by Learn and Play Inc. t/a Play
and Learn (the “Initial DIP Lender”), in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1,500,000 (the
“Initial DIP Loan”). The Debtors determined that the loan was necessary to ensure timely and
uninterrupted payment of the Debtors’ ongoing operating expenses, including post-petition
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wages, salaries and vendor costs, and so that the Debtors would have the necessary liquidity to
negotiate longer term DIP Financing to complete a successful reorganization.

The Initial DIP Loan was structured as an initial advance of $1,000,000 upon interim
approval and an additional $500,000 advance upon final approva of the Initial DIP Financing
Motion. The Initia DIP Loan accrues interest at the non-default rate of 7% per annum, payable
in arrears. Repayment of the Initial DIP Loan is secured by a second priority lien on and security
interest in al of the Debtors' right, title and interest in the Fort Washington Campus. The Initial
DIP Loan is made payable in full by no later than December 31, 2017.

The Initial DIP Loan is guaranteed by Public Health Fund, an affiliate of PHMC.

On August 23, 2017, the Debtors filed the Motion Of The Debtors For Entry Of Interim
And Fina Orders:. (1) Authorizing Them To Obtain Post-Petition Financing From Siena Lending
Group LLC Pursuant To Sections 363 And 364 Of The Bankruptcy Code, (1) Authorizing Them
To Enter Into The Debtor-In-Possession Loan And Security Agreement, And (l11) Granting
Liens And Administrative Priority Clams To DIP Lender Pursuant To Section 364 Of
Bankruptcy Code And Modifying The Automatic Stay To Implement The Terms Of The DIP
Order (Docket No. 221) (the “Siena DIP Financing Motion”). By the Siena DIP Financing
Motion, the Debtors obtained approval of a debtor-in-possession financing facility, provided by
Siena Lending Group LLC (the “Siena DIP Lender”), in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$5,000,000 (the “Siena DIP Loan”). The Debtors determined that the loan was necessary to
ensure timely and uninterrupted payment of the Debtors ongoing operating expenses, including
post-petition wages, salaries and vendor costs, and so that the Debtors will have the necessary
liquidity to complete a successful reorganization. The Siena DIP Loan was in addition to, and
did not replace, the Initial Dip Loan.

The Siena DIP Loan was structured as a revolving credit facility with an initial borrowing
limit of $1,500,000 and alimit of $5,000,000 upon final approval. Borrowing availability under
the Siena DIP Loan is based on a formula which takes into account the Debtors’ accounts
receivable. The SienaDIP Loan accruesinterest at the non-default rate of prime rate plus 3% per
annum but not less than 7.25% per annum, payable in arrears. Repayment of the Siena DIP Loan
is secured by afirst lien on accounts receivable and other persona property and a third lien and
security interest on the Fort Washington Campus. The Siena DIP Loan is made payable in full by
no later than February 28, 2018.

3. Litigation

As of the Petition Date, the Debtors were aware of severa pending lawsuits and several
additional potential lawsuits in which one or more of the Debtors was named as a defendant.
These lawsuits include claims for wrongful death, personal injury, employment liability, and
motor vehicle liability.

All of the pending lawsuits and potential lawsuits were stayed as of June 30, 2017. At all

relevant times, the Debtors were insured against the liability underlying the lawsuits and were
being defended by their carriers in the lawsuits that were pending as of the Petition Date. The
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Debtors have provided for the pending and potential lawsuits in Classes 3A, 3B and 3C of their
Plan. See Article VI, Section (C)(2)(c) below.

Vi. SUMMARY OF THE PLAN

THIS SECTION PROVIDES A SUMMARY OF THE STRUCTURE AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN AND THE CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF
CLAIMS UNDER THE PLAN AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE
TO THE PLAN WHICH ACCOMPANIES THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT.

THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT INCLUDE
SUMMARIES OF THE PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE PLAN AND IN DOCUMENTS
REFERRED TO THEREIN. THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE
STATEMENT DO NOT PURPORT TO BE PRECISE OR COMPLETE STATEMENTS OF
ALL THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THE PLAN OR DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO
THEREIN, AND REFERENCE IS MADE TO THE PLAN AND TO SUCH DOCUMENTS
FOR THE FULL AND COMPLETE STATEMENTS OF SUCH TERMS AND PROVISIONS.

THE PLAN ITSELF AND THE DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO THEREIN WILL
CONTROL THE TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AGAINST, AND INTERESTS IN, THE
DEBTORS UNDER THE PLAN AND WILL, UPON THE EFFECTIVE DATE, BE BINDING
UPON HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AGAINST, OR INTERESTS IN, THE DEBTORS AND
OTHER PARTIES IN INTEREST. IN THE EVENT OF ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THIS
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND THE PLAN OR ANY OTHER OPERATIVE
DOCUMENT, THE TERMS OF THE PLAN AND/OR SUCH OTHER OPERATIVE
DOCUMENT WILL CONTROL.

A. Overall Structure of the Plan

Under the Plan, Claims against and Interests in the Debtors are divided into Classes
according to their relative seniority and other criteria.

If the Plan is confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court and consummated: (@) the Claimsin
certain Classes will be reinstated or modified and receive distributions equal to the full amount
of such Claims, (b) the Claims of certain other Classes will be modified and receive distributions
constituting a partial recovery on such Claims, and (c) the Claims in certain other Classes will
receive no recovery on such Claims. On the Effective Date and at certain times thereafter, the
Debtors or the Distribution Agent will distribute Cash and other property in respect of certain
Classes of Claims as provided in the Plan. The Classes of Claims against and Interests in the
Debtors created under the Plan, the treatment of those Classes under the Plan and the property to
be distributed under the Plan are described below.

B. Substantive Consolidation

The Plan does not provide for the substantive consolidation of the Debtors' assets and
liabilities. The Debtors, however, reserve the right to seek substantive consolidation by motion
if they conclude that substantive consolidation is necessary or appropriate for effectuation of the
Plan.
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C. Classification and Treatment of Claims and I nterests

Section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code provides that a plan must classify the claims and
interests of a debtor’s creditors and equity interest holders. In accordance with section 1122 of
the Bankruptcy Code, the Plan divides Claims and Interests into Classes and sets forth the
treatment for each Class (other than Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Claims which,
pursuant to section 1123(a)(1), do not need to be classified). The Debtors also are required,
under section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code, to classify Claims against and Interests in the
Debtors into Classes that contain Claims and Interests that are substantially similar to the other
Claims and Interests in such Class.

The Debtors believe that the Plan has classified all Claims and Interests in compliance
with the provisions of section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code and applicable case law, but it is
possible that a Holder of a Claim or Interest may challenge the Debtors’ classification of Claims
and Interests and that the Bankruptcy Court may find that a different classification is required for
the Plan to be confirmed. In that event, the Debtors intend, to the extent permitted by the
Bankruptcy Code, the Plan and the Bankruptcy Court, to make such reasonable modifications of
the classifications under the Plan to permit confirmation and to use the Plan acceptances received
for purposes of obtaining the approva of the reconstituted Class or Classes of which each
accepting Holder ultimately is deemed to be a member. Any such reclassification could
adversely affect the Class in which such Holder initially was a member, or any other Class under
the Plan, by changing the composition of such Class and the vote required of that Class for
approva of the Plan.

Except as to Claims specifically Allowed in the Plan, the amount of any Impaired Claim
that ultimately is Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court may vary from any estimated Allowed
amount of such Claim and accordingly the total Claims ultimately Allowed by the Bankruptcy
Court with respect to each Impaired Class of Claims may also vary from any estimates contained
herein with respect to the aggregate Claims in any Impaired Class. Thus, the value of the
property that ultimately will be received by a particular Holder of an Allowed Claim under the
Plan may be adversely or favorably affected by the aggregate amount of Claims ultimately
Allowed in the applicable Class.

The classification of Claims and Interests and the nature of distributions to members of
each Class are summarized below. The Debtors believe that the consideration, if any, provided
under the Plan to Holders of Claims and Interests reflects an appropriate resolution of their
Claims and Interests, taking into account the differing nature and priority of such Claims and
Interests and the fair value of the Debtors' assets. In the event any Class rejects the Plan, the
Debtors will seek confirmation of the Plan pursuant to the “cramdown” provisions of the
Bankruptcy Code as to any dissenting Class. Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code permits
confirmation of a chapter 11 plan in certain circumstances even if the plan has not been accepted
by all Impaired classes of Claims and Interests. Although the Debtors believe that the Plan can
be confirmed under section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, there can be no assurance that the
Bankruptcy Court will find that the requirements to do so have been satisfied.

1. Treatment of Unclassified Claims under the Plan
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@ Administrative Claims

An Administrative Claim is a Clam for: (a) any cost or expense of administration
(including, without limitation, the fees and expenses of Professionals) of any of the Chapter 11
Cases asserted or arising under sections 503, 507(a)(1), 507(b) or 1114(e)(2) of the Bankruptcy
Code including, but not limited to (i) any actual and necessary post Petition Date cost or expense
of preserving the Debtors Estates or operating the organizations of the Debtors, (ii) any post
Petition Date cost, indebtedness or contractual obligation duly and validly incurred or assumed
by the Debtors in the ordinary course of their respective operations, (iii) compensation or
reimbursement of expenses of Professionals to the extent Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court
under sections 330(a) or 331 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (iv) all Allowed Claims that are
entitled to be treated as Administrative Claims pursuant to a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court
under section 546 of the Bankruptcy Code; (b) any fees or charges assessed against the Debtors
Estates under section 1930 of title 28 of the United States Code; and (c) any Allowed
administrative claim or superpriority clam granted to the Initial DIP Lender and/or the Siena
DIP Lender.

Under the Plan, Administrative Claims are Unimpaired. Unless otherwise provided for
therein, each Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction,
settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim: (a) the amount of such unpaid
Allowed Claim in Cash on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (i) the Effective
Date, (ii) the date on which such Administrative Claim becomes Allowed, or (iii) a date agreed
to in writing by the Debtors and the Holder of such Administrative Claim; or (b) such other
treatment on such other terms and conditions as may be agreed upon in writing by the Holder of
such Claim and the Debtors, or as the Bankruptcy Court may order.

All fees payable pursuant to section 1930 of title 28 of the United States Code, as
determined by the Bankruptcy Court at the Confirmation Hearing, will be paid on or before the
Effective Date by the applicable Debtor.

Applications for compensation for services rendered and reimbursement of expenses
incurred by Professionals from the Petition Date through the Effective Date shall be filed no later
than forty-five (45) days after the Effective Date. Such applications shall be served on: (@) the
Debtors at 3300 Henry Ave, Philadelphia, PA 19129 (Attn: Don Stewart, Chief Financial
Officer); (b) Lawrence G. McMichael, Dilworth Paxson LLP, 1500 Market Street, Suite 3500E,
Philadelphia, PA 19102, counsel to the Debtors; (c) the Office of the United States Trustee; and
(d) S. Jason Teele, Cullen and Dykman LLP, One Riverfront Plaza, Newark, NJ 07102, counsel
to the Committee. Applications that are not timely filed will not be considered by the Court. The
Debtors or the Distribution Agent may pay any Professional fees and expenses incurred after the
Effective Date without any application to the Bankruptcy Court.

(b) Priority Tax Claims

Priority Tax Claims are any and al Claims accorded priority in payment pursuant to
section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code. Such Priority Tax Claims include Clams of
governmental units for taxes owed by the Debtors that are entitled to a certain priority in
payment pursuant to section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code. The taxes entitled to priority are

119779471 _4 22



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 30 of 251

(a) taxes on income or gross recel pts that meet the requirements set forth in section 507(a)(8)(A)
of the Bankruptcy Code, (b) property taxes meeting the requirements of section 507(a)(8)(B) of
the Bankruptcy Code, (c) taxes that were required to be collected or withheld by the Debtors and
for which the Debtors are liable in any capacity as described in section 507(a)(8)(C) of the
Bankruptcy Code, (d) employment taxes on wages, salaries or commissions that are entitled to
priority pursuant to section 507(a)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent that such taxes aso
meet the requirements of section 507(a)(8)(D), (e) excise taxes of the kind specified in section
507(a)(8)(E) of the Bankruptcy Code, (f) customs duties arising out of the importation of
merchandise that meet the requirements of section 507(a)(8)(F) of the Bankruptcy Code and (Q)
prepetition penalties relating to any of the foregoing taxes to the extent such penalties are in
compensation for actua pecuniary loss as provided in section 507(a)(8)(G) of the Bankruptcy
Code.

Priority Tax Claims are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim
shall receive, at the option of the Debtors, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment
and discharge of such Priority Tax Claim: (a) the amount of such unpaid Allowed Priority Tax
Claim in Cash, without interest, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (i) the
Effective Date, (ii) the date on which such Priority Tax Claim becomes Allowed, and (iii) a date
agreed to by the Debtors and the Holder of such Priority Tax Claim; or (b) such other treatment
on such other terms and conditions as may be agreed upon in writing by the Holder of such
Priority Tax Claim and the Debtors or as the Bankruptcy Court may order. Prior to the Effective
Date, the Debtors shall have the right to prepay at any time, in whole or in part, any Allowed
Priority Tax Claim without premium or penalty of any sort or nature.

2. Treatment of Classified Claims and Interests under the Plan

(@ Class 1. Priority Claims

Class 1 Priority Claims are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Class 1 Priority
Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such
Claim: (&) the amount of such unpaid Allowed Claim in Cash on or as soon as reasonably
practicable after the later of (i) the Effective Date, (ii) the date on which such Class 1 Claim
becomes Allowed, and (iii) a date agreed to by the Debtors and the Holder of such Class 1
Priority Claim; or (b) such other treatment on such other terms and conditions as may be agreed
upon in writing by the Holder of such Claim and the Debtors.

(b) Class 2: Secured Claims of M& T Bank

Class 2 Secured Claims of M& T Bank are Impaired. The Holder of the Allowed Class 2
Secured Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and
discharge of such Claim: payment in full by monthly payments over a ten (10) year term
commencing on the first day of the month following the Effective Date, based on a twenty-five
(25) year amortization schedule and a fixed rate of interest of prime plus one percent as of the
date of confirmation of the Plan. The 120th payment shall include the balance of the unpaid
principa owed. The Allowed Class 2 Secured Claim shall be secured by a lien on the Fort
Washington Campus and on the Debtors’ revenues and real property to the same extent and
priority as exists on the date on which the Plan is confirmed.
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(c) Class 3A, Class 3B and Class 3C: _Litigation Claims

Class 3A, Class 3B and Class 3C Claims are Impaired. The Class 3A Claimsinclude all
Claims held by any Person or Entity that has or could assert a Claim against Debtor Wordsworth
Academy on account of which the Debtors may be insured for any liability associated therewith,
regardless whether such Person or Entity has entered into an agreement providing for awaiver of
its right to assert its Claim against the Debtors. The Class 3B Claimsinclude al Claims held by
any Person or Entity that has or could assert a Claim against Debtor Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC
on account of which the Debtors may be insured for any liability associated therewith, regardless
whether such Person or Entity has entered into an agreement providing for awaiver of itsright to
assert its Claim against the Debtors. The Class 3C Claims include all Claims held by any Person
or Entity that has or could assert a Claim against Debtor Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC on account
of which the Debtors may be insured for any liability associated therewith, regardless whether
such Person or Entity has entered into an agreement providing for a waiver of its right to assert
its Claim against the Debtors. Claimants shall be deemed to hold an Allowed general unsecured
claim against the applicable Debtor’s Estate in the amount of $1.00 for purposes of distributions
from the Estates, Article X of the Plan and voting on the Plan and shall be entitled to pursue
recovery on their Claims against any insurance coverage available to the Debtors, in full
satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim.

(d) Class 4A, Class 4B and Class 4C: Subcontractor Claims

Class 4A, Class 4B and Class 4C Subcontractor Claims are Impaired. The Class 4A
Claims include al Claims held by a Subcontractor that has or could assert a Claim against
Debtor Wordsworth Academy and that are being paid in full pursuant to the Management
Agreements and the Affiliation Agreement. The Class 4B Claims include all Claims held by a
Subcontractor that has or could assert a Claim against Debtor Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and that
are being paid in full pursuant to the Management Agreements and the Affiliation Agreement.
The Class 4C Claimsinclude all Claims held by a Subcontractor that has or could assert a Claim
against Debtor Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC and that are being paid in full pursuant to the
Management Agreements and the Affiliation Agreement. Each Holder of a Class 4A, Class 4B
and/or Class 4C Subcontractor Claim, to the extent not paid in full prior to the Effective Date,
shall receive, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim
payment in full, without payment of interest, of its Clam from the Reorganized Debtors
revenues within six (6) months following the Effective Date of the Plan.

(e Class 5A, Class 5B and Class 5C: General Unsecured
Claims

Class 5A, Class 5B and Class 5C General Unsecured Claims are Impaired. Class 5A
General Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth Academy include al Claims, including
Reection Claims, that are not: Administrative Claims; Priority Tax Clams, M&T Secured
Claims; Priority Claims; Class 3A, Class 3B or Class 3C Litigation Claims; Class 4A, Class 4B
or Class 4C Subcontractor Claims; Class 5B or Class 5C General Unsecured Claims; or Class 6
Interests. Class 5B General Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC include all
Claims, including Rejection Claims, that are not: Administrative Claims; Priority Tax Claims;
M&T Secured Claims; Priority Claims; Class 3A, Class 3B or Class 3C Litigation Claims; Class

119779471 _4 24



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 32 of 251

4A, Class 4B or Class 4C Subcontractor Claims; Class 5A or Class 5C General Unsecured
Claims; or Class 6 Interests. Class 5C General Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC include al Claims, including Rejection Claims, that are not: Administrative Claims,
Priority Tax Claims; M&T Secured Claims; Priority Claims; Class 3A, Class 3B or Class 3C
Litigation Claims; Class 4A, Class 4B or Class 4C Subcontractor Claims; Class 5A or Class 5B
General Unsecured Claims; or Class 6 Interests. In the aggregate, each Holder of a Class 5A,
Class 5B and/or Class 5C Allowed Genera Unsecured Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction,
settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim a pro rata share of Distributable
Cash following the allowance or disallowance of each Clam asserted as a general unsecured
claim against the Debtors' Estates.

) Class 6: Interests

Class 6 Interests are Unimpaired. This Class consists of Wordsworth’'s ownership
interest in the CUAs and the membership interests of the Boards in each of the Debtors. Each
Holder of an Allowed Class 6 Interest shall retain its Interest only to the extent provided in the
Affiliation Agreement and receive no Property or other distribution of value on account of its
Interest.

D. Reservation of Rights Regarding Claims

Except as otherwise explicitly provided in the Plan, nothing will affect the Debtors’ or
the Distribution Agent’s rights and defenses, both legal and equitable, with respect to any
Claims, including, but not limited to, al rights with respect to legal and equitable defenses to
alleged rights of setoff or recoupment. The Debtors specifically reserve al rights, remedies,
claims, defenses and Causes of Action.

E. Allowed Claims, Distribution Rights and Objectionsto Claims

1. Allowance Reguirement

Only Holders of Allowed Claims are entitled to receive distributions under the Plan. An
Allowed Administrative Claim is a Claim or any portion thereof that has been Allowed, or
adjudicated in favor of the Holder by estimation or liquidation, by a Final Order, that was
incurred by the Debtors in the ordinary course of business during the Chapter 11 Cases and as to
which there is no dispute as to the Debtors' liability, or that has become Allowed by failure to
object pursuant to Section 8.05 of the Plan. An Allowed Claim is such Claim or any portion
thereof (other than an Administrative Claim) of (a) any Claim against any of the Debtors that has
been listed by the Debtors in the Schedules, as such Schedules may have been amended by the
Debtors from time to time in accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 1009, as liquidated in amount
and not disputed or contingent, and with respect to which no contrary proof of claim has been
filed, (b) any Claim specifically allowed under the Plan, (c) any Clam the amount or existence
of which has been determined or allowed by a Fina Order, or (d) any Claim as to which a proof
of claim has been timely filed before the Bar Date, provided that at the time of the Effective Date
the Debtors have not identified such Claim as being objectionable in part or in whole and no
objection to the alowance thereof has been filed by the Claims Objection Deadline; provided,
however, that the term Allowed, with reference to any Claim, shall not include (x) any
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unliquidated claim or (y) interest or attorneys fees on or related to any Claim that accrues from
and after the Petition Date unless otherwise expressly provided for in the Plan.

2. Timing of Distributions

Except as specifically set forth in the Plan, distributions of Property will be made to
Holders of Allowed Claims in accordance with Article 11l of the Plan. If a Clam is not an
Allowed Claim as of the applicable distribution date, distributions will be made only if and when
the Claim is Allowed, and then in accordance with Article 111 of the Plan and, with respect to the
cure of defaults for assumed executory contracts and unexpired leases, Section 6.02 of the Plan,
and in each case, subject to Article VIII of the Plan. Distributions to be made as of the Effective
Date on account of Claims that are Allowed as of the Effective Date and are entitled to receive
distributions under the Plan shall be made on the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter. Distributions to be made after the Effective Date shall be made on dates
to be established by the Distribution Agent pursuant to the terms of the Plan, taking into account
the establishment of reserves for Disputed Claims and the Distribution Agent’s right to defer
distributions if the amount of the Cash to be distributed on a particular date is insufficient to
justify the costs of effectuating the distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, because Class
5A, Class 5B and Class 5C Claims will share, in the aggregate, in a pro rata distribution of the
Distributable Cash and the amount of such pro rata distribution cannot be established until all
Claims that will be Allowed Class 5A, Class 5B and Class 5C Claims have been determined,
distributions on account of Class 5A, Class 5B and Class 5C Claims will be made after the
allowance of each Claim filed as a general unsecured claim against each of the Debtors' Estates
has been determined.

3. M aking of Distributions

Distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims will be made in accordance with Article 111
of the Plan. On the Effective Date, the Debtors shall deliver cash to the Distribution Agent, if
any, who may deposit such cash into the Distribution Account. The Distribution Agent or the
Debtors, if no Distribution Agent is appointed, will make Cash distributions in accordance with
the Plan. The Distribution Agent or Debtors, as the case may be, shall be entitled to establish
reserves for Disputed Claims to provide for payment of such Claims if and when Allowed. If
any dispute arises as to the identity of a Holder of an Allowed Claim who is to receive any
distribution, the Distribution Agent or the Debtors shall, as appropriate and in lieu of making
such distribution to such Holder, delay such distribution until the disposition thereof shall be
determined by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court or by written agreement among the
interested parties to such dispute.

Distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims shall be made by the Distribution Agent or
Debtors, if no Distribution Agent is appointed: (a) at the last known addresses of such Holders or
(b) at the addresses set forth in any written notices of address changes delivered to the Debtors or
the Distribution Agent. If any Holder’s distribution is returned as undeliverable, no further
distributions to such Holder shall be made unless and until the Debtors or Distribution Agent is
notified of such Holder’s then current address, at which time al missed distributions shall be
made to such Holder without interest.
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4. Failureto Negotiate ChecksUnclaimed Distributions

Checks issued in respect of distributions under the Plan shall be null and void if not
negotiated within ninety (90) days after the date of issuance. Any amounts returned to the
Debtorsin respect of such non-negotiated checks shall be forwarded to (if necessary) and held by
the Distribution Agent. Requests for reissuance for any such check shall be made directly to the
issuer of the check by the Holder of the Allowed Claim with respect to which such check
originaly was issued. All amounts represented by any voided check will be held until the earlier
of: (a) one (1) month after date on which the check is voided, or (b) the date on which the
Bankruptcy Court enters the Final Decree, and all requests for reissuance by the Holder of the
Allowed Claim in respect of a voided check are required to be made prior to such date. Should
the amounts remaining in respect of non-negotiated and/or voided checks exceed $50,000 as of
the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Final Decree, the Debtors, or the Distribution
Agent, if any, shall make a second pro rata distribution of such remaining Cash, less the cost of
such second distribution, to Holders of Class 5A, Class 5B and Class 5C Claims. Theresafter, all
such amounts shall be deemed to be Unclaimed Property, in accordance with Section 5.07 of the
Plan, and al Holders of Claims in respect of void checks shall be forever barred, estopped and
enjoined from asserting a claim to such funds in any manner against the Debtors or their
respective assets, or the Distribution Agent.

With the exception of any second distribution, described above, all Property distributed
on account of Claims must be claimed prior to the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the
Final Decree, or, in the case of a distribution made in the form of a check, must be negotiated
and arequest for reissuance be made as provided for in Section 5.07 of the Plan. With respect to
any second distribution, all Property distributed on account of Claims must be claimed prior to
ninety (90) days after the date of issuance of such distribution. All Unclaimed Property will be
retained by and will revert to the Debtors. All full or partia payments made by the Debtors and
received by the Holder of a Claim prior to the Effective Date will be deemed to be payments
under the Plan for purposes of satisfying the obligations of the Debtors or the Distribution Agent
pursuant to the Plan. Nothing contained in the Plan shall require the Debtors or the Distribution
Agent to attempt to locate any Holder of an Allowed Claim other than by reviewing the records
of the Debtors and any Claims Filed in the Chapter 11 Cases. Pursuant to section 1143 of the
Bankruptcy Code, al Claims in respect of Unclaimed Property shall be deemed Disallowed and
the Holder of any Claim Disallowed in accordance with Section 5.07 of the Plan will be forever
barred, expunged, estopped and enjoined from asserting such Claim in any manner against the
Debtors or the Distribution Agent, or their respective assets.

5. Objection Procedures

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court after notice and a hearing, under the Plan, on and
after the Effective Date, any party objecting to Claims (other than Claims specifically Allowed in
the Plan) shall serve a copy of each such objection upon the Holder of the Claim to which the
objection is made as soon as practicable, but in no event later than the Claims Objection
Deadline. An objection to any Claim shall be deemed properly served on the Holder thereof if
the objecting party effects service in any of the following manners: (i) in accordance with Rule 4
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, as modified and made applicable by Federal Rule of
Bankruptcy Procedure 7004, (ii) by first class mail, postage prepaid, on the signatory on the
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proof of claim or interest or other representative identified in the proof of claim or interest or any
attachment thereto, or (iii) by first class mail, postage prepaid, on any counsel that has appeared
on the Holder’ s behalf in the Chapter 11 Cases.

F. Disposition of Executory Contracts and Unexpired L eases

1. Contracts and L eases Deemed Rejected

The Plan provides that the Debtors executory contracts and unexpired leases shall be
deemed automatically rejected as of the Effective Date, except for any executory contract or
unexpired lease that: (a) that has been assumed or rejected pursuant to an order of the
Bankruptcy Court entered prior to the Effective Date, (b) that is the subject of a motion to
assume or reject pending on the Effective Date, (c) that is assumed, rejected or otherwise treated
pursuant to Section 6.03 or Section 6.04 of the Plan, (d) that is listed on Schedule 6.02(a) or
6.02(b) of the Plan or (€) as to which a Treatment Objection has been filed and properly served
by the Treatment Objection Deadline. If an executory contract or unexpired lease either (x) has
been assumed or regjected pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court entered prior to the
Effective Date or (y) is the subject of a motion to assume or reject pending on the Confirmation
Date, then the listing of any such executory contract or unexpired lease on the aforementioned
Schedules shall be of no effect.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following are the genera categories of executory
contracts which, unless they fall into one of the categories (a) through (e) in the foregoing
paragraph, shall be deemed assumed as of the Effective Date:

@ insurance plans;

(b) certain indemnification obligations to directors, officers or employees
employed by any of the Debtors on or after the Petition Date, unless such
obligations are contained in an employment agreement that is itself
rejected,

(© License Agreements; and
(d) Employee Agreements.

The Debtors, in their sole and absolute discretion, may honor, in the ordinary course of
business, their written contracts, agreements, policies, programs and plans for, among other
things, compensation, health care benefits, disability benefits, severance benefits, retirement
benefits, welfare benefits, relocation programs, life insurance and accidental death and
dismemberment insurance, including written contracts, agreements, policies, programs and plans
for bonuses and other incentives or compensation for the directors, officers and employees of the
Debtors who served in such capacity at any time from and after the Petition Date.

To the extent that the above-listed contracts, agreements, licenses, policies, programs and
plans are executory contracts, pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, unless
a Treatment Objection istimely filed and properly served, each of them will be deemed assumed
(as modified or terminated) as of the Effective Date with a Cure of zero dollars. However,
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notwithstanding anything else herein, at the discretion of the Debtors, the assumed executory
contracts shall be subject to modification in accordance with the terms thereof.

2. Schedules of Executory Contracts and Unexpired L eases

The Debtors shall set forth their intended treatment of all executory contracts and
unexpired leases in Schedules 6.02(a) and 6.02(b) of the Plan, which shall be filed as specified in
Article VI of the Plan. The Debtors reserve the right, on or prior to 3:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern
time) on the third Business Day immediately prior to the commencement of the Confirmation
Hearing, (i) to amend Schedules 6.02(a) and 6.02(b) in order to add, delete or reclassify any
executory contract or unexpired lease or amend a proposed assignment and (ii) to amend the
Proposed Cure, in each case with respect to any executory contract or unexpired lease previously
listed as to be assumed; provided, however, that if the Confirmation Hearing is adjourned for a
period of more than two consecutive calendar days, such amendment right shall be extended to
3:00 p.m. on the Business Day immediately prior to the rescheduled or continued Confirmation
Hearing, and this proviso shall apply in the case of any and all subsequent adjournments of the
Confirmation Hearing. Pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, and except
with respect to executory contracts and unexpired leases as to which a Treatment Objection is
properly filed and served by the Treatment Objection Deadline, (i) each of the executory
contracts and unexpired leases listed on Schedule 6.02(a) shall be deemed assumed (and, if
applicable, assigned) effective as of the Assumption Effective Date specified thereon and the
Proposed Cure specified in the notice mailed to each Assumption Party shall be the Cure and
shall be deemed to satisfy fully any obligations the Debtors might have with respect to such
executory contract or unexpired lease under section 365(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and (ii) each
of the executory contracts and unexpired leases listed on Schedule 6.02(b) shall be deemed
rejected effective as of the Regjection Effective Date specified thereon.

With respect to any executory contract or unexpired lease first listed on Schedule 6.02(b)
later than the date that is ten calendar days prior to the Voting Deadline, the Debtors shall use
their best efforts to notify the applicable Rejection Party promptly of such proposed treatment via
facsimile, email or telephone at any notice address or number included in the relevant executory
contract or unexpired lease or as otherwise timely provided in writing to the Debtors by any such
counterparty or its counsel. With respect to any executory contracts or unexpired leases first
listed on Schedule 6.02(b) later than the date that is ten calendar days before the Voting
Deadline, affected Rejection Parties shall have five caendar days from the date of such
amendment to Schedule 6.02(b) to object to Confirmation of the Plan. With respect to any
executory contracts or unexpired leases first listed on Schedule 6.02(b) later than the date that is
five calendar days prior to the Confirmation Hearing, affected Rejection Parties shall have until
the Confirmation Hearing to object to Confirmation of this Plan or amend any vote on the
Confirmation of this Plan.

3. Assumption and Rejection Procedures and Resolution of
Treatment Objections

(@ Proposed Assumption
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With respect to any executory contract or unexpired lease to be assumed pursuant to any
provision of the Plan or any Notice of Intent to Assume or Regject, unless an Assumption Party
files and properly serves a Treatment Objection by the Treatment Objection Deadline, such
executory contract or unexpired lease shall be deemed assumed as of the Assumption Effective
Date proposed by the Debtors, without any further notice to or action by the Bankruptcy Court,
and any obligation the Debtors may have to such Assumption Party with respect to such
executory contract or unexpired lease under section 365(b) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be
deemed fully satisfied by the Proposed Cure, if any, which shall be the Cure.

(b) Proposed Rejection

With respect to any executory contract or unexpired lease to be rejected pursuant to any
provision of the Plan or any Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject, unless a Regection Party files
and properly serves a Treatment Objection by the Treatment Objection Deadline, such executory
contract or unexpired lease shall be deemed regjected as of the Rejection Effective Date proposed
by the Debtors without any further notice to or action by the Bankruptcy Court.

(c) Resolution of Treatment Objections

Both on and after the Effective Date, the Debtors may, in their sole discretion, settle
Treatment Objections without any further notice to or action by the Bankruptcy Court or any
other party (including by paying any agreed Cure amounts).

With respect to each executory contract or unexpired lease as to which a Treatment
Objection is timely filed and properly served and that is not otherwise resolved by the parties
after a reasonable period of time, the Debtors, in consultation with the Bankruptcy Court, shall
schedule a hearing on such Treatment Objection and provide at least 14 calendar days notice of
such hearing to the relevant Assumption Party or Rejection Party. Unless the Bankruptcy Court
expressly orders or the parties agree otherwise, any assumption or rejection approved by the
Bankruptcy Court notwithstanding a Treatment Objection shall be effective as of the Assumption
Effective Date or Rejection Effective Date originally proposed by the Debtors or specified in the
Plan.

Any Cure shall be paid as soon as reasonably practicable following the entry of a Final
Order resolving an assumption dispute and/or approving an assumption, unless the Debtors file a
Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject under Section 6.05(d). No Cure shall be allowed for a
penalty rate or default rate of interest, each to the extent not proper under the Bankruptcy Code
or applicable law.

(d) Rejection Claims

Any Regection Clam must be filed with the Claims Agent by the Rejection Bar Date.
Any Regection Clam for which a Proof of Claim is not properly filed and served by the
Rejection Bar Date shall be forever barred and shall not be enforceable against the Debtors, or
thelr respective Estates or properties. The Debtors may contest any Rejection Clam in
accordance with Section 6.06 of the Plan.

4. Assignment
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To the extent provided under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable law, any executory
contract or unexpired lease transferred and assigned pursuant to the Plan shall remain in full
force and effect for the benefit of the transferee or assignee in accordance with its terms,
notwithstanding any provision in such executory contract or unexpired lease (including those of
the type described in section 365(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code) that prohibits, restricts or
conditions such transfer or assignment.

5. Approval of Assumption, Rejection, Retention or Assignment
of Executory Contracts and Unexpired L eases

Entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court shall, subject to the occurrence
of the Effective Date, constitute approval of the regections, retentions, assumptions and/or
assignments contemplated by this Plan pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy
Code. Each executory contract and unexpired lease that is assumed (and/or assigned) pursuant to
the Plan shall vest in and be fully enforceable by the applicable Debtor in accordance with its
terms as of the applicable Assumption Effective Date, except as modified by the provisions of
this Plan, any order of the Bankruptcy Court authorizing or providing for its assumption (and/or
assignment), or applicable federal law.

The provisions (if any) of each executory contract or unexpired lease assumed and/or
assigned pursuant to the Plan that are or may be in default shall be deemed satisfied in full by the
Cure, or by an agreed-upon waiver of the Cure. Upon payment in full of the Cure, any and all
Proofs of Claim based upon an executory contract or unexpired lease that has been assumed in
the Chapter 11 Cases or under the terms of the Plan shall be deemed disallowed and expunged
with no further action required of any party or order of the Bankruptcy Court.

6. Modifications, Amendments, Supplements, Restatements or
Other Agreements

Unless otherwise provided by the Plan or by separate order of the Bankruptcy Court, each
executory contract and unexpired lease that is assumed, whether or not such executory contract
or unexpired lease relates to the use, acquisition or occupancy of real property, shall include (i)
all modifications, amendments, supplements, restatements or other agreements made directly or
indirectly by any agreement, instrument or other document that in any manner affects such
executory contract or unexpired lease and (ii) al executory contracts or unexpired leases
appurtenant to the premises, if any, including all easements, licenses, permits, rights, privileges,
immunities, options, rights of first refusal, powers, uses, reciprocal easement agreements and any
other interests in real estate or rights in remedy related to such premises, unless any of the
foregoing agreements has been or is rejected pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court or is
otherwise regjected as part of the Plan.

G. M eans for | mplementation of the Plan

1. Continued Existence/Structure

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan and Affiliation Agreement, on the Effective
Date, Wordsworth shall continue to exist as a non-profit entity organized under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the CUAs shall exist as non-profit entities organized under
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the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Each of the Debtor entities shall become a
subsidiary of PHMC or its affiliate, Turning Points for Children, as provided in the Affiliation
Aqgreement.

2. Restructuring Distributions

On or as of the Effective Date, the distributions provided for under the Plan shall be made
by the Debtors from funds on hand that were (a) obtained from PHMC in the form of
Distributable Cash and pursuant to the Affiliation Agreement, (b) from the Siena DIP Facility,
and (c) future revenues of the Reorganized Debtors. A lender selected by PHMC will provide
financing to satisfy the Initial DIP Financing Facility and the Siena DIP Financing Facility.

3. Organization Action

The entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute authorization for the Debtors to take
or cause to be taken al actions necessary or appropriate to consummate and implement the
provisions of the Plan prior to, on and after the Effective Date, and all such actions taken or
caused to be taken shall be deemed to have been authorized and approved by the Bankruptcy
Court. On or, as applicable, before the Effective Date, the appropriate officers and directors of
the Debtors are authorized and directed to execute and deliver the agreements, documents and
instruments contemplated by the Plan in the name and on behalf of the Debtors.

H. Confirmation and/or Consummation

Described below are certain important considerations under the Bankruptcy Code in
connection with confirmation of the Plan.

1. Requirements for Confir mation of the Plan

Before the Plan can be confirmed, the Bankruptcy Court must determine at the
Confirmation Hearing that the following requirements for confirmation, set forth in section 1129
of the Bankruptcy Code, have been satisfied:

. The Plan complies with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

o The Debtors have complied with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy
Code.

. The Plan has been proposed in good faith and not by any means forbidden by law.

. Any payment made or promised by the Debtors or by a Person acquiring property
under the Plan for services or for costs and expenses in, or in connection with, the
Chapter 11 Cases, or in connection with the Plan and incident to the Chapter 11
Cases, has been disclosed to the Bankruptcy Court, and any such payment made
before confirmation of the Plan is reasonable, or if such payment is to be fixed
after confirmation of the Plan, such payment is subject to the approval of the
Bankruptcy Court as reasonable.
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o The Debtors have disclosed (@) the identity and affiliations of (i) any individual
proposed to serve, after confirmation of the Plan, as a director, or officer of the
Debtors under the Plan, and (ii) any affiliate of the Debtors participating in ajoint
plan with the Debtors, and (b) the identity of any insider that will be employed or
retained by the Debtors and the nature of any compensation for such insider.

. With respect to each Class of Claims or Interests, each Impaired Clam and
Impaired Interest Holder either has accepted the Plan or will receive or retain
under the Plan, on account of the Claims or Interests held by such Holder,
property of avalue, as of the Effective Date, that is not less than the amount that
such Holder would receive or retain if the Debtors liquidated on such date. See
Section IX.D.

. The Plan provides that Administrative Claims and Priority Claims other than
Priority Tax Claimswill be paid in full on the Effective Date and that Priority Tax
Claims will receive on account of such Claims deferred cash payments, over a
period not exceeding five years after the date of assessment of such Claims, of a
value, as of the Effective Date, equa to the Allowed Amount of such Claims,
except to the extent that the Holder of any such Claim has agreed to a different
treatment.

. If a Class of Claims is Impaired under the Plan, at least one Class of Impaired
Claims has accepted the Plan, determined without including any acceptance of the
Plan by insiders holding Claimsin such Class.

o Confirmation of the Plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation, or the
need for further financia reorganization, of the Debtors. See Section I X.A.

The Debtors believe that, upon receipt of the votes required to confirm the Plan, the Plan
will satisfy all the statutory requirements of chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, that the Debtors
have complied or will have complied with all of the requirements of chapter 11 and that the Plan
has been proposed and submitted to the Bankruptcy Court in good faith.

Even if al of the foregoing are satisfied, if any Class of Claims is Impaired and votes to
reject the Plan, the Debtors must satisfy the applicable “cramdown” standard with respect to that
Class. Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code requires that the plan “not discriminate unfairly”
and be “fair and equitable’ with respect to such class. The Debtors do not anticipate that any
Class of Claims will vote to rgject the Plan. However, in the event any Class votes to reject the
Plan, the Debtors believe they will satisfy the cramdown standards in section 1129(b) with
respect to any such rejecting class.

2. Conditionsto Confirmation Date and Effective Date

The Plan specifies conditions precedent to the Confirmation Date and the Effective Date.
Each of the specified conditions must be satisfied or waived in whole or in part by the Debtors,
without any notice to parties-in-interest or the Bankruptcy Court and without a hearing.
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The conditions precedent to the occurrence of the Confirmation Date, which is the date of
entry by the clerk of the Bankruptcy Court of the Confirmation Order, are that the form and
substance of the Confirmation Order shall have been approved by the Debtors and various other
parties as specified in the Plan.

The conditions that must be satisfied on or prior to the Effective Date, which is the
Business Day upon which all conditions to the consummation of the Plan have been satisfied or
waived, and is the date on which the Plan becomes effective, are that: (@) the Confirmation
Order, in form and substance acceptable to the Debtors and certain other parties, shall have been
entered and shall not be stayed from becoming a Fina Order; (b) al actions, documents and
agreements required to be executed or delivered under the Plan on or prior to the Effective Date
shall have been effected and executed as determined by the Debtors and PHMC in their sole and
absol ute discretion, including execution of documents required by the lender that will provide the
funding necessary to satisfy the Initial DIP Financing Facility and the Siena DIP Financing
Facility; (c) the Debtors shall have received any authorizations, consents, regulatory approvals,
rulings, letters, no-action letters, opinions or documents that are necessary to implement the Plan
and that are required by law, regulation or order, in each case as determined by the Debtors in
their sole and absolute discretion; (d) the Plan Documents shall have been executed and
delivered by all of the parties thereto; and (e) the Restructuring Transactions set forth in the Plan
have occurred.

l. Effects of Confirmation

1. Vesting of Assets

Upon the Effective Date and conditioned on the occurrence of the Restructuring
Transactions, pursuant to sections 1141(b) and (c) of the Bankruptcy Code, all property of each
of the Debtors shall vest in each of the respective Reorganized Debtors free and clear of al
Claims, Liens, encumbrances, charges and other interests, except as otherwise specifically
provided in the Plan and Affiliation Agreement. All Liens, Claims, encumbrances, charges and
other interests shall be deemed fully released and discharged as of the Effective Date, except as
otherwise provided in the Plan.

2. | njunction

(@ Claims and Interests

No Holder of a Claim against any Debtor may, on account of such Claim, seek or receive
any payment or other distribution from, or seek recourse against, any of the Debtors' affiliates,
any of the Debtors' respective successors, if any, or their respective property, except as expressly
provided in the Plan. Accordingly, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Confirmation
Order shall provide, among other things, that no Holder of a Claim against any Debtor may, on
account of such Claim, seek or receive any payment or other distribution from, or seek recourse
againgt, any affiliate of the Debtors, any of the Debtors respective successors, if any, or ther
respective property, except that from and after the Confirmation Date, all Persons who have held,
hold, or may hold Claims against or Interests in the Debtors are permanently enjoined from
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taking any actions against the Distribution Agent, or any of its property, in order to collect,
enforce, or recover on account of such Claims or Interests.

(b) Exculpation and Limitation of Liability

The Plan contains standard exculpation provisions applicable to certain of the key parties
in interest with respect to their conduct in the Chapter 11 Cases. Specificaly, the Plan provides
that, none of the Debtors, Distribution Agent or Exculpated Persons shall have or incur any
liability to any Person, including, without limitation, any Holder of a Claim or Interest or any
other party in interest, or any of their respective agents, employees, representatives, financia
advisors, attorneys or affiliates or any of their successors or assigns, for any act taken or
omission made in good faith in connection with, relating to, or arising out of, the Chapter 11
Cases, filing, negotiating, prosecuting, administering, formulating, implementing, confirming or
consummating the Plan, or the Property to be distributed under the Plan, including all post-
petition activities leading to the promulgation and confirmation of the Plan, the Disclosure
Statement (including any information provided or statement made in the Disclosure Statement or
omitted therefrom), or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document created
in connection with or related to the Plan or the administration of the Debtors or these Chapter 11
Cases, provided, however, that the exculpation will not apply to any act of gross negligence or
willful misconduct.

3. Releases and Dischar ge | njunction

(@ Releases by Debtors in Favor of Third Parties

The Plan provides for certain releases to be granted by the Debtors on and as of the
Effective Date. Specifically, effective as of the Effective Date, and except as otherwise provided
in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, the Debtors, in their individual capacities and as debtors
in possession, will be deemed to have forever released, waived and discharged the Releasees
from any and al claims, obligations, suits, judgments, damages, demands, debts, rights, Causes
of Action and liabilities (other than the rights of the Debtors or the Distribution Agent to enforce
the Plan and the contracts, instruments, releases, indentures and other agreements or documents
delivered thereunder), whether for tort, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws, or
otherwise, whether liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, known
or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, then existing or thereafter arising, in law, equity or
otherwise that are based in whole or part on any act, omission, transaction, event or other
occurrence, including actions in connection with indebtedness for money borrowed by the
Debtors, taking place on or prior to the Effective Date, or in any way relating to the Debtors, the
Chapter 11 Cases, or the Plan.

(b) Releases by Creditors of Claims

The Plan aso provides for certain releases by Holders of Claims and Interests. Effective
as of the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order,
each Person (excluding any of the Debtors) that has held, currently holds or may hold a Claim or
Interest, and any Affiliate of any such Person (as well as any trustee or agent on behalf of each
such Person), shall be deemed to have forever waived, released and discharged the Releasees
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from any and all Claims, obligations, suits, judgments, damages, rights, Causes of Action and
liabilities whatsoever (other than the right to enforce the performance of their respective
obligations, if any, to the Debtors or the Distribution Agent under the Plan, and the contracts,
instruments releases and other agreements delivered under the Plan), whether liquidated or
unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, known or unknown, foreseen or
unforeseen, then existing or thereafter arising, in law, equity or otherwise that are based in whole
or in part on any act or omission, transaction, event or other occurrence taking place on or prior
to the Effective Date, or in any way relating to the Debtors, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Plan or the
Disclosure Statement other than Claims or liabilities arising out of or relating to any act or
omission that constitutes a failure to perform the duty to act in good faith and where such failure
to perform constitutes willful misconduct, gross negligence, or fraud.

This release does not extend to any Claim or Cause of Action existing as of the Effective
Date, based on (x) the Internal Revenue Code or any other domestic state, city or municipal tax
code, (y) any liability that the Person may have as an owner or operator of real property after
Confirmation under the environmental laws of the United States or any domestic state, city or
municipality or (z) any crimina laws of the United States or any domestic state, city or
municipality.

(© Discharge Injunction

The Plan further provides that, unless otherwise specifically provided therein, on the
Effective Date, the Confirmation Order shall constitute an injunction permanently enjoining any
Person (excluding any of the Debtors) that has held, currently holds or may hold a Claim,
demand, debt, right, Cause of Action or liability that is released pursuant to Section 10.02 of the
Plan from enforcing or attempting to enforce any such Claim, demand, debt, right, Cause of
Action or liability against any Releasee or any of their respective Property.

(d) No Successor Liability

Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan, the Debtors, PHMC and the
Distribution Agent do not, pursuant to the Plan or otherwise, assume, agree to perform, pay, or
indemnify or otherwise have any responsibilities for any liabilities or obligations of the Debtors
or any other party relating to or arising out of the operations of or assets of the Debtors, whether
arising prior to, on, or after the Effective Date. Neither PHMC nor the Distribution Agent is, or
shall be, a successor to the Debtors by reason of any theory of law or equity, and shall not have
any successor or transferee liability of any kind or character.

J. Retention of Jurisdiction

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective
Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain after the Effective Date exclusive jurisdiction of all
matters arising out of, arising in or related to, the Chapter 11 Cases to the fullest extent permitted
by applicable law, including, without limitation, jurisdiction to:

. classify, re-classify or establish the priority or secured or unsecured status of any
Clam (whether filed before or after the Effective Date and whether or not
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contingent, Disputed or unliquidated) or resolve any dispute as to the treatment of
any Claim or Interest pursuant to the Plan;

. grant or deny any applications for alowance of compensation or reimbursement
of expenses pursuant to sections 330, 331 or 503(b) of the Bankruptcy Code or
otherwise provided for in the Plan, for periods ending on or before the Effective
Date;

. determine and resolve any matters related to the assumption, assumption and
assignment or rejection of any executory contract or unexpired lease to which any
Debtor is a party or with respect to which any Debtor may be liable, and to hear,
determine and, if necessary, liquidate any Claims arising therefrom;

o ensure that all payments due under the Plan and performance of the provisions of
the Plan are accomplished as provided herein and resolve any issues relating to
distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims pursuant to the provisions of the Plan;

. construe, take any action and issue such orders, prior to and following the
Confirmation Date and consistent with section 1142 of the Bankruptcy Code, as
may be necessary for the enforcement, implementation, execution and
consummeation of the Plan and all contracts, instruments, releases, indentures and
other agreements or documents created in connection with the Plan, including,
without limitation, the Disclosure Statement and the Confirmation Order, for the
maintenance of the integrity of the Plan and protection of the Distribution Agent
in accordance with sections 524 and 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code following
consummation;

. determine and resolve any cases, controversies, suits or disputes that may arise in
connection with the consummation, interpretation, implementation or
enforcement of the Plan (and all Exhibits to the Plan) or the Confirmation Order,
including the indemnification and injunction provisions set forth in and
contemplated by the Plan or the Confirmation Order, or any Entity’srights arising
under or obligations incurred in connection therewith;

o hear any application of the Debtors or Distribution Agent to modify the Plan after
the Effective Date pursuant to section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code and the Plan
or modify this Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract,
instrument, release, indenture or other agreement or document created in
connection with the Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order, or
remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistency in any Bankruptcy
Court order, the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any
contract, instrument, release, indenture or other agreement or document created in
connection with the Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order, in
such manner as may be necessary or appropriate to consummate the Plan, to the
extent authorized by the Bankruptcy Code and the Plan;
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. issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders or take such other actions as
may be necessary or appropriate to restrain interference by any Entity with
consummation, implementation or enforcement of the Plan or the Confirmation

Order;

. enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the
Confirmation Order is for any reason modified, stayed, reversed, revoked or
vacated,

. determine any other matters that may arise in connection with or relating to the

Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract,
instrument, release, indenture or other agreement or document created in
connection with the Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order,
except as otherwise provided in the Plan;

. determine such other matters and for such other purposes as may be provided in
the Confirmation Order;

. hear and determine any other matters related hereto and not inconsistent with
chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code;

. hear and determine disputes arising in connection with the interpretation,
implementation or enforcement of the Plan;

. enter afinal decree closing the Chapter 11 Cases;

. determine and resolve any and all controversies relating to the rights and
obligations of the Distribution Agent in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases;

o alow, disallow, determine, liquidate, reduce, re-classify or estimate any Claim,
including the compromise, settlement and resolution of any request for payment
of any Claim, the resolution of any Objections to the allowance of Claims and to
hear and determine any other issue presented hereby or arising hereunder,
including during the pendency of any appeal relating to any Objection to such
Claim (to the extent permitted under applicable law);

. permit the Debtors or the Distribution Agent, to the extent provided for in the
Plan, to recover all assets of the Debtors and Property of their respective Estates,
wherever |ocated;

. hear and determine any motions or contested matters involving taxes, tax refunds,
tax attributes and tax benefits and similar or related matters with respect to the
Debtors or the Debtors' respective Estates arising prior to the Effective Date or
relating to the period of administration of the Chapter 11 Cases, including,
without limitation, matters concerning federal, state and local taxes in accordance
with sections 346, 505 and 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code;

119779471 _4 38



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 46 of 251

o hear and determine any motions, applications, adversary proceedings, contested
matters and other litigated matters pending on, Filed or commenced after the
Effective Date that may be commenced by the Debtors thereafter, including
Avoidance Actions, proceedings with respect to the rights of the Debtors to
recover Property under sections 542, 543 or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code, or
proceedings to otherwise collect to recover on account of any claim or Cause of
Action that the Debtors may have; and

o hear any other matter not inconsistent with the Bankruptcy Code.

If the Bankruptcy Court abstains from exercising or declines to exercise jurisdiction over
any matter arising under, arising in or related to the Debtors, including with respect to the
matters set forth above, nothing in the Plan shall prohibit or limit the exercise of jurisdiction by
any other court having competent jurisdiction with respect to such subject matter.

K. Amendment, Alteration and Revocation of Plan

The Debtors may ater, amend or modify the Plan in accordance with section 1127 of the
Bankruptcy Code or as otherwise permitted at any time prior to the Confirmation Date to the
extent provided in the Plan. After the Confirmation Date and prior to the substantial
consummation of the Plan, and in accordance with the provisions of section 1127(b) of the
Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules, the Debtors may, so long as the treatment of
Holders of Claims or Interests under the Plan is not adversely affected, institute proceedings in
the Bankruptcy Court to remedy any defect or omission or to reconcile any inconsistenciesin the
Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order and any other matters as may be
necessary to carry out the purposes and effects of the Plan; provided, however, prior notice of
such proceedings shall be served in accordance with Bankruptcy Rules 2002 and 9014.

The Debtors reserve the right, at any time prior to the earlier of Confirmation of the Plan
to withdraw the Plan. If the Plan is withdrawn, the Plan shall be null and void and have no force
and effect. In such event, nothing contained herein shall be deemed to constitute a waiver or
release of any Claims by or against the Debtors or any other Person or to prgudice in any
manner the rights of the Debtors or any Person in any further proceedings involving the Debtors.

L. Plan | mplementation Documents

The documents necessary to implement the Plan include the following:
o Affiliation Agreement

VII. CERTAINRISK FACTORSTO BE CONSIDERED

The Holders of Claims in Classes 2 through 5 should read and carefully consider the
following factors, as well as the other information set forth in this Disclosure Statement (and the
documents delivered together herewith and/or incorporated by reference herein), before deciding
whether to vote to accept or reject the Plan. These risk factors should not, however, be regarded
as constituting the only risks associated with the Plan and its implementation.
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A. General Considerations

The Plan sets forth the means for satisfying the Claims against the Debtors. See Section
VI.C. of this Disclosure Statement entitled “Classification and Treatment of Clams and
Interests” for a description of the treatments of each class of Claims and Interests. Certain
Claims and Interests receive no distributions pursuant to the Plan.

B. Certain Bankruptcy Considerations

Even if al voting Impaired Classes vote in favor of the Plan, and if with respect to any
Impaired Class deemed to have rejected the Plan the requirements for “cramdown” are met, the
Bankruptcy Court may choose not to confirm the Plan. Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code
requires, among other things, a showing that confirmation of the Plan will not be followed by
liquidation or the need for further financial reorganization of the Debtors, (see Section 1X.A.),
and that the value of distributions to dissenting Holders of Claims and Interests will not be less
than the value such Holders would receive if the Debtors liquidated. See Section 1X.D.
Although the Debtors believe that the Plan will meet such tests, there can be no assurance that
the Bankruptcy Court will reach the same conclusion. See Appendix C for aliquidation analysis
of the Debtors.

C. Claims Estimations

There can be no assurance that any estimated Claim amounts set forth in this Disclosure
Statement are correct. The actual Allowed amount of Claims likely will differ in some respect
from the estimates. The estimated amounts are subject to certain risks, uncertainties, and
assumptions. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any
underlying assumptions prove incorrect, the actual Allowed amount of Claims may vary from
those estimated herein.

D. Conditions Precedent to Consummation

The Plan provides for certain conditions that must be satisfied (or waived) prior to
confirmation of the Plan and for certain other conditions that must be satisfied (or waived) prior
to the Effective Date. As of the date of this Disclosure Statement, there can be no assurance that
any or al of the conditions in the Plan will be satisfied (or waived). Accordingly, even if the
Plan is confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court, there can be no assurance that the Plan will be
consummated and the restructuring compl eted.

E. I nherent Uncertainty of Financial Projections

The Projections set forth in Appendix B hereto have been prepared by management of the
Debtors in consultation with their financial advisors and cover the projected operations of the
Debtors through fiscal year 2020. These Projections are based on numerous assumptions that are
an integral part of the Projections, including confirmation and consummation of the Plan in
accordance with its terms, realization of the operating strategy of the Debtors, general business
and economic conditions, competition, attraction and retention of key employees, and other
matters. Certain additional material assumptions are disclosed on Appendix B, and the
Projections should be read in conjunction with these assumptions.
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Although the Projections are presented with numerical specificity and are based on
assumptions considered reasonable by the Debtors, the assumptions and estimates underlying the
Projections are subject to business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies.
Accordingly, the Projections are only the Debtors educated, good faith estimates and are
necessarily contingent in nature. It can be expected that some or all of the assumptions in the
Projections will not be realized and that actual results will vary from the Projections, which
variations may be material and may increase over time. The projected financial information
contained herein should not be regarded as a guaranty by the Debtors, the Debtors advisors or
any other Person that the Projections can or will be achieved. However, the Debtors believe that
the Projections are credible and that there is a reasonable likelihood that the results set forth in
the Projections can be achieved.

F. Certain Tax Considerations

There are a number of income tax considerations, risks and uncertainties associated with
consummation of the Plan. Interested parties should read carefully the discussions set forth in
Article VIII regarding certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the transactions proposed
by the Plan to the Debtors and to Holders of Claims who are entitled to vote to accept or reject
the Plan.

VIII. CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCESOF THE PLAN

THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION SUMMARIZES CERTAIN ANTICIPATED U.S.
FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE TRANSACTIONS PROPOSED BY
THE PLAN TO THE DEBTORS AND HOLDERS OF CLAIMS THAT ARE ENTITLED TO
VOTE TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN. THIS SUMMARY IS PROVIDED FOR
INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS BASED ON THE INTERNAL REVENUE
CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE “CODE’), TREASURY REGULATIONS
PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, JUDICIAL AUTHORITIES, AND CURRENT
ADMINISTRATIVE RULINGS AND PRACTICE, ALL AS IN EFFECT AS OF THE DATE
HEREOF AND ALL OF WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE OR DIFFERING
INTERPRETATION, POSSIBLY WITH RETROACTIVE EFFECTS THAT COULD
ADVERSELY AFFECT THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES
DESCRIBED BELOW.

THIS SUMMARY DOES NOT ADDRESS ALL ASPECTS OF U.S. FEDERAL
INCOME TAXATION THAT MAY BE RELEVANT TO A PARTICULAR HOLDER OF A
CLAIM IN LIGHT OF ITS PARTICULAR FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OR TO
CERTAIN TYPES OF HOLDERS OF CLAIMS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL TREATMENT
UNDER THE CODE (FOR EXAMPLE, NON-U.S. TAXPAYERS, FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS, BROKER-DEALERS, INSURANCE COMPANIES, TAX-EXEMPT
ORGANIZATIONS, AND THOSE HOLDING CLAIMS THROUGH A PARTNERSHIP OR
OTHER PASS-THROUGH ENTITY). IN ADDITION, THIS SUMMARY DOES NOT
DISCUSS ANY ASPECTS OF STATE, LOCAL, OR NON-U.S. TAXATION AND DOES
NOT ADDRESS THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES TO HOLDERS OF
CLAIMS THAT ARE UNIMPAIRED UNDER THE PLAN, HOLDERS OF CLAIMS THAT
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ARE NOT ENTITLED TO VOTE UNDER THE PLAN, AND HOLDERS OF CLAIMS THAT
ARE NOT ENTITLED TO RECEIVE OR RETAIN ANY PROPERTY UNDER THE PLAN.

THE TAX RULES DESCRIBED HEREIN ARE COMPLEX AND THEIR
APPLICATION IS UNCERTAIN IN CERTAIN RESPECTS. EACH HOLDER OF A CLAIM
IS STRONGLY URGED TO CONSULT WITH ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR REGARDING
THE TAX CONSEQUENCES (INCLUDING STATE, LOCAL AND NON-U.S) OF THE
PLAN TO SUCH HOLDER.

A SUBSTANTIAL AMOUNT OF TIME MAY ELAPSE BETWEEN THE DATE OF
THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND THE RECEIPT OF A FINAL DISTRIBUTION
UNDER THE PLAN. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE OF THIS DISCLOSURE
STATEMENT, SUCH AS ADDITIONAL TAX LEGISLATION, COURT DECISIONS, OR
ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES, COULD AFFECT THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX
CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
THEREUNDER. NO RULING HASBEEN OR ISEXPECTED TO BE SOUGHT FROM THE
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE (THE “IRS’) WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE TAX
ASPECTS OF THE PLAN AND NO OPINION OF COUNSEL HAS BEEN OR IS EXPECTED
TOBE OBTAINED BY THE DEBTORS WITH RESPECT THERETO.

To ensure compliance with United States Internal Revenue Service Circular 230, (a) any
discussion of U.S. federal tax issues in this Disclosure Statement is not intended or written to be
relied upon, and cannot be relied upon by Holders, for purposes of avoiding penalties that may
be imposed on such Holders under the Code; (b) such discussion is written to support the
promotion of the Plan; and (c) each Holder of a claim should seek advice based on such Holder’s
particular circumstances from an independent tax advisor.

A. Federal |ncome Tax Conseguences to the Debtors

As non-profit organizations, the Debtors shall incur no U.S. federa income tax
obligations as a result of the confirmation and consummation of the Plan and distributions made
thereunder. The Debtors tax-exempt status as organizations under section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code shall remain unaffected by the Plan.

B. Federal |ncome Tax Conseguencesto Claim Holders

The U.S. federal income tax consequences to a Holder receiving, or entitled to receive, a
payment in partial or total satisfaction of a Claim may depend on a number of factors, including
the nature of the Claim, the Holder’s method of accounting, and its own particular tax situation.
Because the Holders' Claims and tax Situations differ, Holders should consult their own tax
advisors to determine how the Plan affects them for federal, state and local tax purposes, based
on their particular tax situations.

Among other things, the U.S. federal income tax consequences of a payment to a Holder
may depend initially on the nature of the original transaction pursuant to which the Claim arose.
For example, a payment in repayment of the principal amount of aloan is generally not included
in the gross income of an original lender.
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The U.S. federal income tax consequences of a transfer to a Holder may also depend on
whether the item to which the payment relates has previously been included in the Holder’ s gross
income or has previously been subject to a loss or bad debt deduction. For example, if a
payment is made in satisfaction of a receivable acquired in the ordinary course of a Holder's
trade or business, the Holder had previously included the amount of such receivable payment in
its gross income under its method of accounting, and had not previously claimed a loss or bad
debt deduction for that amount, the receipt of the payment should not result in additiona income
to the Holder but may result in aloss. Conversely, if the Holder had previously claimed aloss or
bad debt deduction with respect to the item previously included in income, the Holder generally
would be required to include the amount of the payment in income.

A Holder receiving a payment under the Plan in satisfaction of its Claim generally may
recognize taxable income or 1oss measured by the difference between (i) the amount of cash and
the fair market value (if any) of any property received and (ii) its adjusted tax basis in the Claim.
For this purpose, the adjusted tax basis may include amounts previously included in income (less
any bad debt or loss deduction) with respect to that item. The character of any income or loss
that is recognized will depend upon a number of factors, including the status of the creditor, the
nature of the Claim in its hands, whether the Claim was purchased at a discount, whether and to
what extent the creditor has previously claimed a bad debt deduction with respect to the Claim,
and the creditor’s holding period of the Claim. This income or loss may be ordinary income or
loss if the distribution is in satisfaction of accounts or notes receivable acquired in the ordinary
course of the Holder’s trade or business for the performance of services or for the sale of goods
or merchandise. Generally, theincome or loss will be capital gain or lossif the Claim is a capital
asset in the Holder’ s hands.

Market discount is the amount by which a Holder's tax basis in a debt obligation
immediately after its acquisition is exceeded by the adjusted issue price of the debt obligation at
such time, subject to a de minimis exception. A Holder generaly is required to include gain on
the disposition of a market discount debt instrument as ordinary income to the extent of the
accrued market discount on the debt instrument.

C. Other Tax Matters

1. I nfor mation Reporting and Backup Withholding

Certain payments or distributions pursuant to the Plan may be subject to information
reporting to the IRS. Moreover, such reportable payments may be subject to backup withholding
(at the then applicable rate (currently 28%)) unless the taxpayer: (i) comes within certain exempt
categories (which generally include corporations) and, when required, demonstrates this fact or
(i) provides a correct taxpayer identification number and certifies under penalty of perjury that
the taxpayer identification number is correct and that the taxpayer is not subject to backup
withholding because of afailureto report al dividend and interest income.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax but merely an advance payment, which may
be refunded to the extent it results in an overpayment of tax and the appropriate information is
supplied to the IRS.

119779471 _4 43



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 51 of 251

In addition, from an information reporting perspective, Treasury Regulations generaly
require disclosure by a taxpayer on its federal income tax return of certain types of transactions
in which the taxpayer participated, including, among other types of transactions, certain
transactions that result in the taxpayer’s claiming aloss in excess of specified thresholds.

2. | mpor tance of Obtaining Professional Tax Assistance

THE FOREGOING DISCUSSION IS INTENDED ONLY AS A SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN AND IS NOT
A SUBSTITUTE FOR CAREFUL TAX PLANNING WITH A TAX PROFESSIONAL. THE
ABOVE DISCUSSION IS FOR INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TAX
ADVICE. THE TAX CONSEQUENCES ARE IN MANY CASES UNCERTAIN AND MAY
VARY DEPENDING ON A HOLDER'S INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES.
ACCORDINGLY, HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS ABOUT THE
U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL AND NON-U.S. INCOME AND OTHER TAX
CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN.

IX. EEASIBILITY OF THE PLAN AND BEST INTERESTSOF CREDITORS

A. Feasibility of the Plan

In connection with confirmation of the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court will be required to
determine that the Plan is feasible pursuant to section 1129(a)(11) of the Bankruptcy Code,
which means that the confirmation of the Plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation or
the need for further financial reorganization of the Debtors.

To support their belief in the feasibility of the Plan, the Debtors have prepared and relied
upon the Projections with respect to the Debtors operations post-confirmation, which are
annexed to this Disclosure Statement as Appendix B.

The Plan contemplates that the Debtors will become affiliates of PHMC as of the
Effective Date. The revenues earned by the Debtors prior to the Effective Date and the
replacement financing being provided by PHMC to satisfy the Initial DIP Loan and the Siena
DIP Loan, among other obligations, will ensure that the Debtors have sufficient Cash to satisfy
al Allowed Claims as and to the extent provided in the Plan, and that no further financia
restructuring will be necessary in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Debtors believe that
the Plan complies with the financial feasibility standard of section 1129(a)(11) of the Bankruptcy
Code.

The Projections were developed by the Debtors management in consultation with the
Debtors' financia advisors.

The Projections, however, are based upon numerous assumptions that are an integral part
of the Projections, including, without limitation, confirmation and consummation of the Plan in
accordance with its terms, no material adverse changes in applicable legislation or regulations, or
the administration thereof, exchange rates or generally accepted accounting principles, generd
business and economic conditions, competition, absence of material contingent or unliquidated
litigation, indemnity or other clams, and other matters. To the extent that the assumptions
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inherent in the Projections are based upon future operational decisions and objectives, they are
subject to change. In addition, although they are presented with numerical specificity and the
assumptions on which they are based are considered reasonable by the Debtors, the assumptions
and estimates underlying the Projections are subject to organizational, economic and competitive
uncertainties and contingencies. Accordingly, the Projections are only an educated, good faith
estimate and are necessarily contingent in nature. It can be expected that some or al of the
assumptions in the Projections will not be realized and that actual results will vary from the
Projections, which variations may be material and may be adverse. The Projections should
therefore not be regarded as a guaranty by the Debtors or any other Person that the results set
forth in the Projections will be achieved. The Projections were prepared by the Debtors, and not
by any of their creditors, and the Debtors creditors make no representations concerning the
reasonableness of the Projections. In light of the foregoing, readers are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on the Projections. The projected financia information contained herein and in
the Projections should not be regarded as a representation or warranty by the Debtors, the
Debtors advisors or any other Person that the Projections can or will be achieved. The
Projections should be read together with the assumptions set forth in the Projections and
information in Article VII of this Disclosure Statement entitled “Certain Risk Factors to be
Considered,” which sets forth important factors that could cause actual results to differ from
those in the Projections. The Debtors, however, believe that the Projections are credible and that
thereis areasonable likelihood that the results set forth in the Projections can be achieved.

The Debtors do not intend to update or otherwise revise the Projections, including any
revisions to reflect events or circumstances existing or arising after the date of the Projections or
to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, even if any or all of the underlying assumptions
do not come to fruition. Furthermore, the Debtors do not intend to update or revise the
Projections to reflect changes in general economic or industry conditions.

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION
REFORM ACT OF 1995: This Disclosure Statement and the financia projections contained
herein and in the Projections include “forward-looking statements’ within the meaning of
Section 24A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. All statements other
than statements of historical fact included in this Disclosure Statement are forward-looking
statements, including, without limitation, financial projections, the statements, and the
underlying assumptions, regarding the timing of, completion of and scope of the current
restructuring, the Plan, debt and equity market conditions, current and future economic
conditions, the potentia effects of such matters on the Debtors operating strategy, results of
operations or financial position, and the adequacy of the Debtors' liquidity. The forward-looking
statements are based upon current information and expectations. Estimates, forecasts and other
statements contained in or implied by the forward-looking statements speak only as of the date
on which they are made, are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to evaluate and predict. Although the Debtors
believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, parties
are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance,
and involve risks and uncertainties, and that actual results may differ materially from those
contemplated by such forward-looking statements. Certain important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the Debtors expectations or what is expressed, implied or
forecasted by or in the forward-looking statements include developments in the Chapter 11
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Cases, adverse developments in the timing or results of the Debtors business plan (including the
time line to emerge from chapter 11), the timing and extent of changes in economic conditions,
changes in the awarding of government contracts and grants necessary to operate the Debtors
programs, motions filed or actions taken in connection with the bankruptcy proceedings, the
availability of and the Debtors' ability to attract or retain highly skilled subcontractors and other
high-quality personnel. Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the Projections or what is expressed, implied or forecasted by or in the forward-looking
statements are stated herein in cautionary statements made in conjunction with the forward-
looking statements or are included elsewhere in this Disclosure Statement.

B. Acceptance of the Plan

As a condition to Confirmation, the Bankruptcy Code requires that each Class of
Impaired Claims vote to accept the Plan, except under certain circumstances.

Section 1126(c) of the Bankruptcy Code defines acceptance of a plan by a class of
impaired claims as acceptance by holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) in dollar anount and more
than one-half (¥2) in number of claims in that class, but for that purpose counts only those who
actually vote to accept or to rgject the Plan. Thus, Holders of Claims in each of Classes 2
through 5 will have voted to accept the Plan only if two-thirds (2/3) in amount and a majority in
number of the Claims actually voting in each Class cast their ballots in favor of acceptance.
Holders of Claims who fail to vote are not counted as either accepting or rejecting the Plan.

C. Best | nterests Test

As noted above even if a plan is accepted by each class of claims and interests, the
Bankruptcy Code requires a bankruptcy court to determine that the plan is in the best interests of
all holders of claims or interests that are impaired by the plan and that have not accepted the
plan. The “best interests’ test, as set forth in section 1129(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code,
requires a bankruptcy court to find either that all members of an impaired class of clams or
interests have accepted the plan or that the plan will provide a member who has not accepted the
plan with a recovery of property of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, that is not less
than the amount that such holder would recover if the debtor were liquidated.

To calculate the probable distribution to holders of each impaired class of claims and
interests if the debtor could be liquidated under chapter 7, a bankruptcy court must first
determine the aggregate dollar amount that would be generated from the debtor’s assets if its
chapter 11 case were converted to a chapter 7 case under the Bankruptcy Code. This
“liquidation value” would consist primarily of the proceeds from a forced sale of the debtor’s
assets by a chapter 7 trustee.

The amount of liquidation value available to unsecured creditors would be reduced by,
first, the claims of secured creditors to the extent of the value of their collateral and, second, by
the costs and expenses of liquidation, as well as by other administrative expenses and costs of
both the chapter 7 cases and the chapter 11 cases. Costs of liquidation under chapter 7 of the
Bankruptcy Code would include the compensation of a trustee, as well as of counsel and other
professionals retained by the trustee, asset disposition expenses, all unpaid administrative
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expenses incurred by the debtors in their chapter 11 cases that are alowed in the chapter 7 cases,
litigation costs and claims arising from the operations of the debtor during the pendency of the
chapter 11 case. The liquidation itself would trigger certain priority payments that otherwise
would be due in the ordinary course of business. Those priority claims would be paid in full
from the liquidation proceeds before the balance would be made available to pay generd
unsecured claims or to make any distribution in respect of equity security interests. The
liquidation would aso prompt the regjection of a large number of executory contracts and
unexpired leases and thereby significantly enlarge the total pool of unsecured claims by reason of
resulting rejection damages clams.

Once the bankruptcy court ascertains the recoveries in liquidation of secured creditors
and priority clamants, it must determine the probable distribution to general unsecured creditors
and equity security holders from the remaining available proceeds in liquidation. If such
probable distribution has a value greater than the distributions to be received by such creditors
and equity security holders under the plan, then the plan is not in the best interests of creditors
and equity security holders.

D. Liquidation Analysis

The Debtors operate non-profit organizations. As such, they generally cannot be forced
to liquidate under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code and, in the event that they were unable to
confirm a chapter 11 plan, would be subject to dismissal of their Bankruptcy Cases. In the event
of dismissal, or in the event of liquidation, the Debtors would be left with insufficient funds to
sustain operations and would need to cease operating and dissolve under state law.

Although not entirely applicable to non-profit entities, for purposes of the best interests
test, the Debtors, with the assistance of their financial advisors, prepared a liquidation analysis,
annexed hereto as Appendix C (the “Liquidation Analysis’), which concludes that if a forced
liquidation of the Debtors' assets under chapter 7 could occur, the aggregate value to be redized
by the Debtors' estates would be approximately $0 (net of repayment the Initial and Siena DIP
Loans). All such value would be distributed to Holders of Allowed Class 2 Secured Claims of
M&T Bank and no other Holder of a Claim, including unpaid Administrative Priority Claims
incurred during the administration of the Debtors' Chapter 11 Cases (other than the Initial and
Siena DIP Loans), would receive a distribution. These conclusions are premised upon the
assumptions set forth in Appendix C, which the Debtors and their financial advisors believe are
reasonable.

The Debtors believe that any liquidation analysis with respect to the Debtors is inherently
speculative. The Liquidation Analysis for the Debtors necessarily contains estimates of the net
proceeds that would be received from a forced sale of assets, as well as the amount of Claims
that would ultimately become Allowed Claims. Claims estimates are based solely upon the
Debtors’ books and records and Claims filed to date in these cases. No order or finding has been
entered by the Bankruptcy Court estimating or otherwise fixing the amount of Claims at the
projected amounts of Allowed Claims set forth in the Liquidation Analysis. In preparing the
Liquidation Analysis, the Debtors have projected an amount of Allowed Claims that represents
an estimate of the chapter 7 liquidation dividend to Holders of Allowed Claims. The estimate of
the amount of Allowed Claims set forth in the Liquidation Analysis should not be relied on for
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any other purpose, including, without limitation, any determination of the value of any
distribution to be made on account of Allowed Claims under the Plan.

E. Application of the “ Best Interests’ of Creditors Test

It is impossible to determine with certainty the value each Holder of a Claim will receive
under the Plan as a percentage of any Allowed Claim. Notwithstanding the difficulty in
guantifying recoveries with precision, the Debtors believe that the financial disclosures and
projections contained herein imply the greatest potential recovery to Holders of Clams in
Impaired Classes. Accordingly, the Debtors believe that the “best interests’ test of section 1129
of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent that it applies to non-profit debtors, is satisfied. Because
the financia disclosures and projections show the Debtors ability to continue operations as
affiliates of PHMC, the Debtors believe that the Plan is in the best interests of their respective
missions.

F. Confirmation Without Acceptance of All Impaired Classes: The
“Cramdown” Alternative

In the event any Class of Impaired Claims rejects the Plan, the Debtors may seek
confirmation of the Plan pursuant to the “cramdown” provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code provides that a plan can be confirmed even if
the plan is not accepted by all impaired classes, as long as at least one impaired class of claims
has accepted it. The Bankruptcy Court may confirm a plan at the request of a debtor if the plan
“does not discriminate unfairly” and is “fair and equitable” as to each impaired class that has not
accepted the plan. A plan does not discriminate unfairly within the meaning of the Bankruptcy
Code if a dissenting class is treated equally with respect to other classes of equal rank. The
Debtors believe the Plan does not discriminate unfairly with respect to the Claims and Interests
in Classes 2 through 5.

A planis“fair and equitable” as to holders of unsecured claims that reject the plan if the
plan provides either that: (a) each holder of a claim of such class receives or retains on account
of such clam property of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, equa to the allowed
amount of such claim; or (b) the holder of any claim or interest that is junior to the claims of
such class will not receive or retain under the plan on account of such junior claim or interest any

property.

A planisfair and equitable as to a class of equity interests that rejects a plan if the plan
provides (a) that each holder of an interest included in the rejecting class receive or retain on
account of that interest property that has a value, as of the effective date of the plan, equal to the
greatest of the alowed amount of any fixed liquidation preference to which such holder is
entitled, any fixed redemption price to which such holder is entitled or the value of such interest
or (b) that the holder of any interest that is junior to the interests of such class will not receive or
retain under the plan on account of such junior interest any property at all.

The Debtors believe that they could, if necessary, meet the “fair and equitable”
requirements of section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to Holders of Claims and
Interests in Classes 2 through 5.
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X. ALTERNATIVESTO CONFIRMATION AND CONSUMMATION OF THE
PLAN

The Debtors believe that the Plan affords Holders of Claims in Classes 2 through 5 the
potential for the greatest realization on the Debtors' assets and, therefore, isin the best interests
of such Holders. If, however, the requisite acceptances are not received, or the Plan is not
confirmed and consummated, the theoretical aternatives include (a) formulation of an aternative
plan or plans of reorganization or (b) dismissal of the Debtors' Bankruptcy Cases.

A. Alternative Plan(s) of Reor ganization

If the requisite acceptances are not received or if the Plan is not confirmed, the Debtors
(or, if the Debtors exclusive periods in which to file and solicit acceptances of a plan of
reorganization have expired, any other party in interest) could attempt to formulate and propose a
different plan or plans of reorganization. Such a plan or plans might involve either a
reorganization and continuation of the Debtors’ organizations or an orderly liquidation of assets.

The Debtors believe that the Plan enables Creditors to realize the greatest possible value
under the circumstances and has the greatest chance to be confirmed and consummated.

B. Liguidation

If no plan is confirmed and if the Debtors, as non-profit entities, could be forced to
liquidate or to convert their cases to cases under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, a trustee
would be elected or appointed to liquidate the Debtors” assets for distribution in accordance with
the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code. It isimpossible to predict with certainty how
the proceeds of the liquidation would be distributed to the respective Holders of Claims against
or Interests in the Debtors. However, the Debtors believe these proceeds would go entirely to
secured, administrative and priority claims, leaving nothing for distribution to general unsecured
clams.

The Debtors further believe that a liquidation would cause a substantial diminution in the
Debtors Estates given (i) the fact that they are relying upon the Affiliation Agreement and
ongoing government grants to fund their reorganization, sources which would become
unavailable in the event of a cessation of operations, (ii) the fact that their assets would be placed
in the control of the Attorney General and unavailable to creditors, and (ii) the substantial
premium in the distribution value pursuant to the Plan over the liquidation value of their assets,
as well as the additional administrative expenses involved in the appointment of a trustee or
trustees and attorneys, accountants and other professionals to assist such trustees. The assets
available for distribution to Creditors would be reduced by such additional expenses and by
Claims, some of which would be entitled to priority, arising by reason of the liquidation and
from the rglection of leases and other executory contracts in connection with the cessation of
operations and the failure to realize the greater going concern value of the Debtors’ assets.

Xl.  THE SOLICITATION; VOTING PROCEDURES

A. Partiesin I nterest Entitled to Vote
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In general, a holder of aclaim or interest may vote to accept or to rgect a plan if (a) the
clam or interest is “alowed,” which means generaly that no party in interest has objected to
such claim or interest, and (b) the claim or interest is “impaired” by the plan but entitled to
receive or retain property under the plan.

Under section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code, a class of claims or interests is deemed to be
“impaired” under a plan unless (a) the plan leaves unaltered the legal, equitable and contractual
rights to which such claim or interest entitles the holder thereof or (b) notwithstanding any legal
right to an accelerated payment of such claim or interest, the plan cures al existing defaults
(other than defaults resulting from the occurrence of events of bankruptcy) and reinstates the
maturity of such claim or interest as it existed before the default.

If, however, the holder of an impaired claim or interest will not receive or retain any
distribution under the plan on account of such claim or interest, the Bankruptcy Code deems such
holder to have regjected the plan and, accordingly, holders of such claims and interests do not
actually vote on the plan. If aclaim or interest is not impaired by the plan, the Bankruptcy Code
deems the holder of such claim or interest to have accepted the plan and, accordingly, holders of
such claims and interests are not entitled to vote on the plan.

B. Classes Entitled to Voteto Accept or Reect the Plan

Holders of Claims and Interests in Classes 2 through 5 are entitled to vote to accept or
reject the Plan. By operation of law, each Unimpaired Class of Claims is deemed to have
accepted the Plan, therefore, the Holders of Claims in such Unimpaired Classes are not entitled
to vote to accept or reject the Plan. Consequently, Class 1 is deemed to have accepted the Plan,
therefore, none of the Holders of Claims in such Class are entitled to vote to accept or reject the
Plan.

C. Solicitation Order

Upon approval of this Disclosure Statement, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order that,
among other things, determines the dates, procedures and forms applicable to the process of
soliciting votes on the Plan and establishes certain procedures with respect to the tabulation of
such votes (the “Solicitation Order”). Parties in interest may obtain a copy of the Solicitation
Order through the Bankruptcy Court’s electronic case filing system or by making written request
upon Debtors' counsel.

D. Waivers of Defects, I rreqularities, Etc.

All questions with respect to the validity, form, digibility (including time of receipt),
acceptance and revocation or withdrawal of ballots will be determined by the Bankruptcy Court.
As indicated below under “Withdrawal of Ballots, Revocation,” effective withdrawals of ballots
must be delivered to Debtors counsel prior to the Voting Deadline. The Debtors reserve the
absolute right to contest the validity of any such withdrawal. The Debtors aso reserve the right
to seek rgjection of any and all ballots not in proper form. The Debtors further reserve the right
to seek waiver of any defects or irregularities or conditions of delivery as to any particular ballot.
Ballots previously furnished (and as to which any irregularities have not theretofore been cured
or waived) may be invalidated by the Bankruptcy Court.
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E. Withdrawal of Ballots; Revocation

Any party who has delivered avalid ballot for the acceptance or rejection of the Plan may
withdraw such acceptance or rejection by delivering a written notice of withdrawal to Debtors
counsel at any time prior to the Voting Deadline. A notice of withdrawal, to be valid, must (a)
contain the description of the Claim(s) to which it relates and the aggregate principa amount
represented by such Claim(s), (b) be signed by the withdrawing party in the same manner as the
ballot being withdrawn, (c) contain a certification that the withdrawing party owns the Clam(s)
and possesses the right to withdraw the vote sought to be withdrawn and (d) be received by
Debtors counsel in a timely manner via regular mail, overnight mail or hand delivery, at
Dilworth Paxson LLP, 1500 Market St., Suite 3500E, Philadelphia, PA 19102, Attn: Christine
Chapman-Tomlin. The Debtors, in consultation with the Committee, will determine whether any
withdrawals of ballots were received and whether the requisite acceptances of the Plan have been
received. As stated above, the Debtors expressly reserve the absolute right to contest the validity
of any such withdrawals of ballots.

Unless otherwise directed by the Bankruptcy Court, a purported notice of withdrawal of
ballots which is not received in a timely manner by Debtors counsel will not be effective to
withdraw a previously cast ballot.

Any party who has previously submitted to Debtors’ counsel prior to the Voting Deadline
a properly completed balot may revoke such ballot and change its vote by submitting to
Debtors counsel prior to the Voting Deadline a subsequent properly completed ballot for
acceptance or regjection of the Plan. In the case where more than one timely, properly completed
ballot is received, only the ballot which bears the latest date will be counted for purposes of
determining whether the requisite acceptances have been received.

F. Voting Rights of Disputed Claimants

Holders of Disputed Claims in Classes 2 through 5 whose Claims are asserted as wholly
unliquidated or wholly contingent in Proofs of Claim filed prior to the Distribution Record Date
(collectively, the “Disputed Claimants’) are not permitted to vote on the Plan except as provided
in the Solicitation Order. Pursuant to the procedures outlined in the Solicitation Order, Disputed
Claimants may obtain a ballot for voting on the Plan only by filing a motion under Bankruptcy
Rule 3018(a) seeking to have their Claims temporarily Allowed for voting purposes (a “Rule
3018 Motion”). Any such Rule 3018 Motion must be filed and served upon the Debtors’ counsel
no later than 5:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on the fourteenth (14th) day after the later of (i) the
Solicitation Date and (ii) the date of service of an objection, if any, to such clam. The ballot of
any creditor filing such a motion will not be counted unless temporarily alowed by the
Bankruptcy Court for voting purposes, after notice and a hearing. Any party timely filing and
serving a Rule 3018 Motion will be provided a ballot and be permitted to cast a provisiona vote
to accept or reject the Plan. If and to the extent that the Debtors and such party are unable to
resolve the issues raised by the Rule 3018 Motion prior to the Voting Deadline established by the
Bankruptcy Court, then at the Confirmation Hearing the Bankruptcy Court will determine
whether the provisional ballot should be counted as a vote on the Plan. Nothing herein affects
the Debtors’ right to object to any Proof of Claim after the Distribution Record Date.
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G. Further Information; Additional Copies

If you have any questions or require further information about the voting procedures for
voting your Claim or about the package of materials you received, or if you wish to obtain an
additional copy of the Plan or this Disclosure Statement, or any exhibits or appendices to such
documents (at your own expense, unless otherwise specificaly required by Bankruptcy Rule
3017(d) or the Salicitation Order), please contact Debtors counsel’s office at:

If by regular mail, overnight courier or hand delivery:
Dilworth Paxson LLP

Market St., Suite 3500E

Philadelphia, PA 19102

Attn: Christine Chapman-Tomlin

If by telephone:

Christine Chapman-Tomlin
215-575-7224

RECOMMENDATION AND CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons set forth in this Disclosure Statement, the Debtors believe that
confirmation and consummation of the Plan is preferable to all other aternatives. Consequently,
the Debtors urge all Holders of Claims and Interests in Classes 2 through 5 to vote to ACCEPT
the Plan, and to complete and return their ballots so that they will be RECEIVED on or before
December 4, 2017, at 5:00 p.m. prevailing Eastern time.

October 6, 2017 WORDSWORTH ACADEMY,,
WORDSWORTH CUA 5, LLC,
AND WORDSWORTH CUA 10,
LLC.

By: /9 Don Stewart

Name: Don Stewart

Title: Chief Financial Officer,
Wordsworth Academy and, as
Authorized Officer pursuant to
Resolution of the Boards of
Directors of Wordsworth CUA 5,
LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC
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APPENDIX A

[DEBTORS JOINT CHAPTER 11 PLAN]
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UNITED STATESBANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

)
Inre: ) Chapter 11

)
Wordsworth Academy, et al., ) Case No. 17- 14463 (AMC)

)
Debtors. ) Jointly Administered

)

DEBTORS JOINT CHAPTER 11 PLAN

The above-captioned debtors and debtors in possession (collectively, the “Debtors’)
hereby submit their Joint Chapter 11 Plan dated as of October 6, 2017.

Dated: Philadel phia, Pennsylvania
October 6, 2017

DILWORTH PAXSON LLP
Lawrence G. McMichagl

Peter C. Hughes

Anne M. Aaronson

Market St., Suite 3500E
Philadel phia, PA 19102
Telephone: (215) 575-7000
Facsimile: (215) 575-7200

Counsdl for the Debtors and
Debtors-in-Possession

! The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federa tax identification number, are:
Wordsworth Academy (9031); Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC (0983); and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC (5980). Wordsworth Academy
has an address at 3300 Henry Ave., Philadelphia, PA 19129.
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INTRODUCTION

This joint chapter 11 plan (as may be amended or modified hereafter in accordance with
its terms, the “Plan”), dated as of October 6, 2017, is proposed by Debtors Wordsworth
Academy (“Wordsworth”), Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC (together,
the “CUAS’ and, together with Wordsworth, the “Debtors’). Reference is made to the
Disclosure Statement, filed on October 6, 2017, accompanying the Plan for a discussion of the
Debtors history, business, results of operations, historical financial information, properties,
projections for future operations and risk factors, a summary and analysis of the Plan, and certain
related matters.

SUBJECT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS AND REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN
SECTION 1127 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE, BANKRUPTCY RULE 3019 AND THE
PLAN, THE DEBTORS RESERVE THE RIGHT TO ALTER, AMEND, MODIFY, REVOKE
OR WITHDRAW THE PLAN PRIOR TO ITSSUBSTANTIAL CONSUMMATION.

Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth in Article | hereof. The
Debtors have obtained Bankruptcy Court authority to have the Chapter 11 Cases jointly
administered for administrative and procedural purposes only and the Plan is being proposed as a
joint plan of the Debtors for administrative and procedural purposes only. The Plan is not
premised upon the substantive consolidation of the Debtors and nothing herein shall be otherwise
construed. The Debtors, however, reserve the right to seek substantive consolidation by motion
or amendment to the Plan if they conclude that substantive consolidation is necessary or
appropriate for effectuation of the Plan. Claims against, and Interests in, the Debtors (other than
Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Claims) are classified in Article Il hereof and treated in
Article Il hereof.

ARTICLEI.
DEFINITIONS, INTERPRETATION, AND EXHIBITS.

Section 1.01. Definitions. Asused herein:

“Administrative Clam” means a Clam for: (@) any cost or expense of
administration (including, without limitation, the Professional Fee Claims) of any of the Chapter
11 Cases asserted or arising under sections 503, 507(a)(1), 507(b) or 1114(e)(2) of the
Bankruptcy Code including, but not limited to (i) any actual and necessary post Petition Date
cost or expense of preserving the Debtors respective Estates or operating the Debtors, (ii) any
post Petition Date cost, indebtedness or contractual obligation duly and validly incurred or
assumed by the Debtors in the ordinary course of their respective organizations, (iii)
compensation or reimbursement of expenses of Professionals to the extent Allowed by the
Bankruptcy Court under sections 330(a) or 331 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (iv) all Allowed
Claims that are entitled to be treated as Administrative Claims pursuant to a Final Order of the
Bankruptcy Court under section 546 of the Bankruptcy Code; (b) any fees or charges assessed
against the Debtors' respective Estates under section 1930 of title 28 of the United States Code;
and (c) Claims of the DIP Lender in connection with the DIP Financing Facility.
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“Affiliate” shall have the meaning set forth in section 101(2) of the Bankruptcy
Code.

“Affiliation Agreement” means that certain Affiliation Agreement, as may be
amended by the parties thereto, a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment 1, by and
between Debtor Wordsworth and PHMC that provides the terms by which the Debtors will
become subsidiaries of Public Health Management Corporation and/or its Affiliates as of the
Effective Date of this Plan.

“Allowed” means, with reference to any Claim, (@) any Claim against any of the
Debtors that has been listed by the Debtors in the Schedules, as such Schedules may have been
amended by the Debtors from time to time in accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 1009, as
liquidated in amount and not Disputed or contingent, and with respect to which no contrary Proof
of Claim has been filed, (b) any Claim specifically allowed under the Plan, (c) any Claim the
amount or existence of which has been determined or allowed by a Final Order, or (d) any Claim
as to which a Proof of Claim has been timely filed before the Bar Date, provided that at the time
of the Effective Date the Debtors have not identified such Claim as being objectionable in part or
in whole and no Objection to the allowance thereof has been filed by the Claims Objection
Deadline; provided, however, that the term Allowed, with reference to any Claim, shall not
include (x) any unliquidated Claim or (y) interest or attorneys fees on or related to any Claim
that accrues from and after the Petition Date unless otherwise expressly provided for in the Plan.

“Allowed Claim” means a Claim that is Allowed.
“Allowed Interest” means an Interest that is Allowed.

“Assumption Effective Date” means the date upon which the assumption of an
executory contract or unexpired lease under this Plan is deemed effective.

“Assumption Party” means a counterparty to an executory contract or unexpired
lease to be assumed and/or assigned by the Debtors.

“Avoidance Actions’” means any and all Causes of Action which a trustee, debtor
in possession, the Estates or other appropriate party in interest may assert under sections 502,
510, 541, 542, 543, 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, 550, 551, or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code (other
than those which are released or dismissed as part of and pursuant to the Plan) or under other
similar or related state or federal statutes or common law, including fraudulent conveyance laws.

“Ballot” means the ballots, substantially similar to the forms accompanying the
Disclosure Statement as such forms shall be subsequently amended by the Debtors, upon which
Holders of Impaired Claims and Interests entitled to vote on the Plan shall, among other things,
indicate their acceptance or rejection of the Plan in accordance with the instructions regarding
voting.

“Bankruptcy Code” means the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, as codified in
title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. 88 101 et seq., as in effect on the Petition Date,
together with all amendments and modifications thereto that subsequently may be made
applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases.

2
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“Bankruptcy Court” means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern
District of Pennsylvania or, if such court ceases to exercise jurisdiction over these proceedings,
the court or adjunct thereof that exercises jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases.

“Bankruptcy Rules’ means: (a) the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure and
the Official Bankruptcy Forms, as amended and promulgated under section 2075 of title 28 of
the United States Code; (b) the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, as amended and promul gated
under section 2072 of title 28 of the United States Code; (c) any local rules applicable to the
Bankruptcy Court; and (d) any standing orders governing practice and procedure issued by the
Bankruptcy Court, each as in effect on the Petition Date, together with all amendments and
modifications thereto that were subsequently made applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases or
proceedings therein, as the case may be.

“Bar Date” means the applicable bar date by which a Proof of Claim must be
filed, as established by an order of the Bankruptcy Court.

“Board(s)” shall mean the members of the Board of Trustees or Board of
Directors of each of the Debtors.

“Business Day” means any day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday, a “legal
holiday” as defined in Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a), or a day on which banking institutions in the
State of Pennsylvania are authorized or obligated by law, executive order or governmental decree
to be closed.

“Cash” means money, currency and coins, negotiable checks, balances in bank
accounts and other lawful currency of the United States of America and its equivalents.

“Causes of Action” means any and al actions, Claims, rights, defenses, third-
party claims, damages, executions, demands, crossclaims, counterclaims, suits, choses in action,
controversies, agreements, promises, rights to legal remedies, rights to equitable remedies, rights
to payment and claims whatsoever, whether known, unknown, reduced to judgment, not reduced
to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, Disputed,
undisputed, secured or unsecured and whether asserted or assertable directly, indirectly or
derivatively, at law, in equity or otherwise, accruing to the Debtors, including, but not limited to,
the Avoidance Actions.

“Chapter 11 Cases’ means the cases under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code
commenced by the Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court on the Petition Date.

“Claim” shall have the meaning set forth in section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy
Code.

“Claims Objection Deadlineg” means the latest of: (a) 120 days after the Effective
Date; (b) 75 days after the date on which any Claim is filed; or (¢) such other date as may be
fixed by the Bankruptcy Court, whether fixed before or after the date specified in clauses (a) and
(b) above.
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“Class’ means each class, subclass or category of Claims or Interests as classified
in Article Il of the Plan.

“Classes 2 through 5" means Classes 2, 3A, 3B, 3C, 4A, 4B, 4C, 5A, 5B, and 5C,
the Claims in which Classes are Impaired under the Plan.

“Committee” means the official committee of unsecured creditors appointed in
the Debtors' Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to section 1102(a) of the Bankruptcy Code by the United
States Trustee, as the membership of such committee is from time to time constituted and
reconstituted.

“Committee Members’ means the creditors appointed to serve as members of the
Committee in the Debtors Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to section 1102(a) of the Bankruptcy Code
by the United States Trustee.

“Confirmation” means the entry by the Bankruptcy Court of the Confirmation
Order.

“Confirmation Date” means the date on which the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court
enters the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Bankruptcy Court with respect to the Chapter
11 Cases within the meaning of Bankruptcy Rules 5003 and 9021.

“Confirmation Hearing” means the hearing held before the Bankruptcy Court to
consider Confirmation of the Plan pursuant to sections 1128 and 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

“Confirmation Order” means the order entered by the Bankruptcy Court
confirming the Plan pursuant to section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

“Creditor” means any Person that is the Holder of any Claim against any of the
Debtors.

“Cure” means a distribution made in the ordinary course of business following the
Effective Date pursuant to an executory contract or unexpired lease assumed under section 365
or 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code (i) in an amount equal to the Proposed Cure (including if such
Proposed Cure is zero dollars) or (ii) if a Treatment Objection is filed with respect to the
applicable Proposed Cure, then in an amount equal to the unpaid monetary obligations owing by
the Debtors and required to be paid pursuant to section 365(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, as may
be (x) determined by Final Order or (y) otherwise agreed upon by the parties.

“Debtors’ shall have the meaning set forth in the Introduction.

“Disallowed” means, with respect to any Claim or Interest or portion thereof, any
Claim against or Interest in the Debtors which: (a) has been withdrawn, in whole or in part, by
agreement of the Debtors and the Holder thereof; (b) has been withdrawn, in whole or in part, by
the Holder thereof; or (c) has been disallowed, in whole or part, by Final Order of a court of
competent jurisdiction. In each case a Disallowed Claim or a Disallowed Interest is disallowed
only to the extent of disallowance or withdrawal.

4
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“Disclosure Statement” means the Debtors’ Disclosure Statement with Respect to
the Chapter 11 Plan originaly filed on October 6, 2017, including al exhibits, appendices,
schedules and annexes, if any, attached thereto, as submitted by the Debtors, as the same may be
altered, amended, supplemented or modified from time to time, and which was prepared and
distributed in accordance with sections 1125 and 1126(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and
Bankruptcy Rule 3018.

“Disputed” means any Claim or Interest that has been neither Allowed nor
Disallowed.

“Disputed Claim” means a Claim, or any portion thereof, that is Disputed. For
purposes of the Plan, a Claim that has been neither Allowed nor Disallowed shall be considered a
Disputed Claim.

“Distributable Cash” means the sum of $200,000 being provided by PHMC to the
Debtors to fund pro rata distributions in the aggregate to Allowed Class 5A, Allowed Class 5B
and Allowed Class 5C Claims as provided in the Plan, to be deposited into one or more
Distribution Accounts.

“Distribution Account” means any account or accounts maintained by the
Distribution Agent (defined below) into which Distributable Cash will be delivered, and the
proceeds therefrom will be distributed in accordance with the Plan.

“Distribution Account Claims’ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.03
herein.

“Distribution Agent” means such Entity or Entities, including the Debtors, that
may be designated, in accordance with Rule 3016-1(e) of the Loca Rules of the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, by the Debtors to make distributions
in accordance with the Plan.

“Effective Date” means a date to be selected by the Debtors which shall be
between the first Business Day and the tenth Business Day following the date on which al
conditions to consummation set forth in Article IX of the Plan have been satisfied or waived (if
capable of being duly and expressly waived), provided that no stay of the Confirmation Order is
then in effect. The Debtors shall file a notice of the occurrence of the Effective Date on the
docket in these Chapter 11 Cases.

“Employee Agreement” means any agreement by and between one or more of the
Debtors and any employee who was employed by one or more of the Debtors on or after the
Petition Date and remains employed by one or more of the Debtors on the date on which the Plan
is confirmed.

“Entity” means any individual, corporation, limited or general partnership, joint
venture, association, joint stock company, limited liability company, estate, trustee, United States
Trustee, unincorporated organization, government, governmental unit (as defined in the
Bankruptcy Code), agency or political subdivision thereof.

5
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“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended from time to time, and the regul ations promulgated and rules issued thereunder.

“Estates’ means the estates created in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to section
541 of the Bankruptcy Code upon commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases.

“Exculpated Persons’” means to the maximum extent permitted by the Bankruptcy
Code and applicable law: (a) the Debtors; (b) the members of the Committee solely in their
capacity as members of the Committee; (c) the Initial DIP Lender; (d) the Siena DIP Lender; (e)
PHMC; and (f) as to the parties listed in (a) through (€), any of their respective members,
officers, directors, shareholders, employees, advisors, attorneys or agents acting in such capacity
on or after the Petition Date.

“Exit Facility” shall mean exit financing facility provided by the Exit Lender to
be utilized to satisfy (in full) the Siena DIP Financing Facility and the Initial DIP Financing
Facility and such other uses as Debtors and PHMC may determine.

“Exit Lender” means the lender selected by PHMC in consultation with the
Debtors who shall provide Effective Date financing to the Reorganized Debtors.

“Final Decree” means the final decree entered by the Bankruptcy Court after the
Effective Date and pursuant to section 350(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule
3022, which will be entered no earlier than 120 days following the entry of the Confirmation
Order.

“Final Order” means an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court, or other court
of competent jurisdiction, as entered on the docket of such court, the operation or effect of which
has not been stayed, reversed, vacated, modified or amended, and as to which order or judgment
(or any revision, modification, or amendment thereof) of the time to appeal, petition for
certiorari, or seek review or rehearing has expired and as to which no appeal, petition for
certiorari, or petition for review or rehearing was filed or, if filed, remains pending; provided,
however, that the possibility that a motion may be filed pursuant to Rules 9023 or 9024 of the
Bankruptcy Rules or Rules 59 or 60(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure shall not mean
that an order or judgment is not aFinal Order.

“Ford Road Facility” means the real property leased pre-petition by the Debtors at
3905 Ford Road, Philadelphia, PA 19131.

“General Unsecured Claims’ means al Claims, including Rejection Claims, that
are not: Administrative Claims; Priority Tax Claims;, M&T Secured Claims; Priority Claims;
Class 3A, Class 3B or Class 3C Litigation Claims; Class 4A, Class 4B or Class 4C Subcontractor
Claims; or Interests.

“Holder” means an Entity holding a beneficia interest in a Claim or Interest and,
when used in conjunction with a Class or type of Claim or Interest, means a holder of a
beneficial interest in aClaim or Interest in such Class or of such type.
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“Impaired” means, when used with reference to a Clam or Interest, a Claim or
Interest that isimpaired within the meaning of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

“Impaired Claim” means a Claim which is Impaired.

“Initial DIP Financing Facility” means the post-petition financing facility in the
aggregate amount of up to $1,500,000 provided to the Debtors by Learn and Play Inc. t/a Play
and Learn pursuant to the Initial DIP Financing Order and related documents.

“Initial DIP Financing Order” means the Final Order entered by the Bankruptcy
Court on July 26, 2017 [Docket No. 149], authorizing the Debtors to enter into the Initial DIP
Financing Facility pursuant to section 364 of the Bankruptcy Code, and any extensions or
amendments thereof.

“Initial DIP Lender” means Learn and Play Inc. t/a Play and Learn.

“Insider” shall have the meaning set forth in section 101(31) of the Bankruptcy
Code.

“Insurance Plans” means the Debtors insurance policies and any agreements,
documents or instruments relating thereto entered into prior to the Petition Date.

“Interests” means any and all equity interests, ownership interests or shares in the
Debtors issued by the Debtors prior to the Petition Date.

“Liens’ means, with respect to any asset or Property (or the rents, revenues,
income, profits or proceeds therefrom), and in each case, whether the same is consensua or
nonconsensual or arises by contract, operation of law, legal process or otherwise: (a) any and all
mortgages, liens, pledges, attachments, charges, leases evidencing a capitaizable lease
obligation, conditional sale or other title retention agreement, or other security interest or
encumbrance or other legally cognizable security devices of any kind in respect of any asset or
Property, or upon the rents, revenues, income, profits or proceeds therefrom; or (b) any
arrangement, express or implied, under which any Property is transferred, sequestered or
otherwise identified for the purpose of subjecting or making available the same for the payment
of debt or performance of any other obligation in priority to the payment of General Unsecured
Creditors.

“Litigation Claims’ means any personal injury, wrongful death or other clam
held by any person or entity, the underlying events as to which occurred prior to the Petition
Date that was unliquidated, contingent or disputed as of the Petition Date and as to which the
Debtors may be covered by insurance for any potentia liability.

“Management Agreements’ means those certain Transition Management
Agreements dated June 26, 2017 by and between one or more of the Debtors and PHMC and/or
Turning Points for Children that were assumed by the Debtors in these Bankruptcy Cases.
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“M&T Bank” means M&T Bank, which holds a mortgage on the real property
owned by Debtor Wordsworth Academy, located at 2101 Pennsylvania Avenue, Fort
Washington, PA 19034, and alien on the Debtors' receivables and personal property.

“Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject” means a notice delivered by the Debtors
pursuant to Article VI of the Plan stating an intent to assume or reject an executory contract or
unexpired lease and including a proposed Assumption Effective Date or Reection Effective
Date, as applicable, and, if applicable, a Proposed Cure and/or a proposed amendment.

“Objection” means any objection, application, motion, complaint or any other
legal proceeding seeking, in whole or in part, to Disalow, determine, liquidate, classify,
reclassify or establish the priority, expunge, subordinate or estimate any Claim (including the
resolution of any request for payment of any Administrative Claim) or Interest other than a
Claim or an Interest that is Allowed.

“Person” means and includes a natural person, individual, partnership, corporation
(as defined in section 101(a) of the Bankruptcy Code), or organization including, without
limitation, corporations, limited partnerships, limited liability companies, genera partnerships,
joint ventures, joint stock companies, trusts, land trusts, business trusts, unincorporated
organizations or associations, or other organizations, irrespective of whether they are lega
entities, governmental bodies (or any agency, instrumentality or political subdivision thereof), or
any other form of lega entities; provided, however, “Person” does not include governmental
units, except a governmental unit that (a) acquires an asset from a Person (i) as a result of the
operation of aloan guarantee agreement or (ii) as receiver or liquidating agent of a Person; (b) is
a guarantor of a pension benefit payable by or on behalf of a Debtor or an Affiliate of a Debtor
of; or (c) isthe legal or beneficia owner of an asset of (i) an employee pension benefit plan that
is a governmental plan, as defined in section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or (ii)
an eligible deferred compensation plan, as defined in section 457(b) of the Interna Revenue
Code of 1986, shall be considered for purposes of section 1102 of the Bankruptcy Code to be a
Person with respect to such asset or such benefit.

“Petition Date” means June 30, 2017.
“PHMC” means Public Health Management Corporation.

“Plan” means this joint Chapter 11 Plan dated as of October 6, 2017, including all
exhibits, appendices, schedules and annexes, if any, attached hereto, as submitted by the Debtors,
as such Plan may be atered, amended, supplemented or modified from time to time in
accordance with the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, the Confirmation
Order and the terms and conditions of the Plan.

“Plan Documents’ means, collectively, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the
Confirmation Order, and any exhibit to the Plan.

“Play and Learn Lease” means that certain Lease Agreement Dated July 7, 2003
by and between Learn and Play, t/a Play and Learn and the Debtors for the property located at
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200 Camp Hill Road, Fort Washington, Pennsylvania 19034 as otherwise described in the Play
and Learn Lease.

“Priority Clams’ means any Claim against the Debtors entitled to priority
pursuant to section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, other than a Priority Tax Claim or an
Administrative Claim.

“Priority Tax Claim” means any and all Claims accorded priority in payment
pursuant to section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code.

“Professional Fee Clam” means an Allowed Claim for compensation and/or
reimbursement of expenses pursuant to sections 327, 328, 330, 331 or 503(b) of the Bankruptcy
Code relating to services incurred on and after the Petition Date and prior to and including the
Effective Date in connection with an application by the Professionals in the Chapter 11 Cases
made to and approved by the Bankruptcy Court.

“Professionals’ means any professional employed in these Chapter 11 Cases
pursuant to sections 327 or 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code or any Professiona entitled to
compensation pursuant to sections 327, 328, 330, 331, 503(b)(2) or (4), or 1103 of the
Bankruptcy Code.

“Proof of Claim” means a proof of claim filed against any of the Debtors in the
Chapter 11 Cases.

“Property” means al assets or property of the Debtors' respective Estates of any
nature whatsoever, rea or personal, tangible or intangible, including contract rights, accounts
and Causes of Action, previously or now owned by the Debtors, or acquired by the Debtors
respective Estates, as defined in section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code.

“Proposed Cure” means, with respect to a particular executory contract or
unexpired lease, the consideration that the Debtors propose (i) on the notices sent to Assumption
Parties listed on Schedule 6.02(a) or (ii) on a Notice of Intent to Assume or Regject, in each case
as full satisfaction of the Debtors obligations with respect to such executory contract or
unexpired lease pursuant to section 365(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

“Rejection Bar Date’” means the earlier of (a) the date set by the Bankruptcy Court
for the filing of a Reection Claim or (b) thirty days from the date on which the relevant
executory contract or unexpired lease is effectively rejected by the Debtors.

“Regection Clams’ means. (@) Claims of any non-Debtor counterparty to any
unexpired lease of nonresidential real property or any executory contract arising on account of
the rejection of such lease or contract during the administration of these Chapter 11 Cases under
section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code or pursuant to the Plan; and (b) any Claims arising from the
termination of or withdrawal from any pension plan of the Debtors qualified under ERISA.

“Rejection Effective Date’” means (@) the date on which an final order is entered
with respect to the rejection of an executory contract or unexpired lease during the administration
of these Chapter 11 Cases under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, or (b) the date upon which
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the regjection of an executory contract or unexpired lease under this Plan is deemed effective,
which shall not be later than 60 calendar days after the Effective Date unless otherwise agreed by
the relevant Rejection Party.

“Rejection Party” means a counterparty to an executory contract or unexpired
lease to be rglected by the Debtors under this Plan or during the administration of the Debtors
Chapter 11 Cases.

“Releasees” means each of: (@) the Initial DIP Lender; (b) the Siena DIP Lender;
(c) the Committee and the members thereof, solely in their capacity as members of the
Committee; (d) the Debtors; () PHMC; and (f) with respect to each of the foregoing entities in
clauses (a) through (e), such entities subsidiaries, Affiliates, managed accounts or funds,
endowments, officers, directors, members, attorneys, current and former members of any
advisory boards, current and former holders of member interests in any of the Debtors,
principals, Insiders (as defined in the Bankruptcy Code), employees, agents, financial advisors,
attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, and other Professionals,
solely in their respective capacities as representatives of any of the foregoing.

“Restructuring Transactions” means the transactions described in Article VII of
the Plan, which are necessary to fund the distributions on account of Claims and Interests as set
forthin the Plan.

“Schedules” means the schedules of assets and liabilities and statements of
financial affairs filed by any of the Debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases, as required by section 521
of the Bankruptcy Code, as the same may have been or may be amended, modified or
supplemented.

“Secured Clam” means any Claim arising before the Petition Date that is. (a)
secured in whole or part, as of the Petition Date, by a Lien which is valid, perfected and
enforceable under applicable law on Property in which the Debtors' respective Estates has an
interest and is not subject to avoidance under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable non-bankruptcy
law; or (b) subject to setoff under section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code, but, with respect to both
case (a) and (b), only to the extent of the value of the assets or Property securing any such Claim
or the amount subject to setoff, as the case may be.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Siena DIP Financing Facility” means the post-petition financing facility in the
aggregate amount not to exceed $5,000,000 provided to the Debtors by the Siena DIP Lender
pursuant to the Siena DIP Financing Order and related documents.

“Siena DIP Financing Order” means the Final Order entered by the Bankruptcy
Court on September 20, 2017 [Docket No. 300], authorizing the Debtors to enter into the Siena
DIP Financing Facility pursuant to section 364 of the Bankruptcy Code, and any extensions or
amendments thereof.

“Siena DIP Lender” means Siena Lending Group, LLC.
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“Subcontractor Claims’™ means any clam held by a staffing agency or
subcontractor that is being paid in full as aresult of the Debtors' assumption of the Management
Aqgreements.

“Tax” means any tax, charge, fee, levy, impost or other assessment by any
federal, state, local or foreign governmental authority, including, without limitation, income,
excise, property, saes, transfer, employment, payroll, franchise, profits, license, use, ad valorem,
estimated, severance, stamp, occupation and withholding tax, together with any interest,
penalties, fines or additions attributable to, imposed on, or collected by any such federal, state,
local or foreign governmental authority.

“Treatment Objection” means an objection to the Debtors proposed assumption
or rejection of an executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to the provisions of this Plan
(including an objection to the proposed Assumption Effective Date or Rejection Effective Date,
the Proposed Cure and/or any proposed assignment, but not including an objection to any
Rejection Claim) that is properly filed with the Bankruptcy Court and served in accordance with
the Case Management Order by the Applicable Treatment Objection Deadline.

“Treatment Objection Deadline” means the deadline for filing and serving a
Treatment Objection, which deadline shall be 4:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on, (i) with
respect to an executory contract or unexpired lease listed on Schedule 6.02(a) or 6.02(b), the 15th
calendar day after the relevant Schedule is filed and notice thereof is mailed, (ii) with respect to
an executory contract or unexpired lease the proposed treatment of which has been altered by an
amended or supplemental Schedule 6.02(a) or 6.02(b), the 15th calendar day after such amended
or supplemental schedule is filed and notice thereof is mailed, (iii) with respect to an executory
contract or unexpired lease for which a Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject is filed, the 15th
calendar day after such notice is filed and notice thereof is mailed and (iv) with respect to any
other executory contract or unexpired lease, including any to be assumed or rejected by category
pursuant to Sections 6.01, 6.03 or 6.04 of the Plan (without being listed on Schedule 6.02(a) or
6.02(b)), the deadline for objections to confirmation of the Plan established pursuant to the
Approva Order or other order of the Bankruptcy Court.

“Trustee's Fee Clams’ means any fees assessed against the Debtors Estates
pursuant to section 1930(a)(6) of title 28 of the United States Code.

“Unclaimed Property” means any distribution, including any second distribution,
of Cash or any other Property made to the Holder of an Allowed Claim pursuant to the Plan that
is returned to the Debtors or the Distribution Agent as undeliverable and no appropriate
forwarding address is received prior to the date on which the Final Decree is entered in the
Chapter 11 Cases, in the case of a distribution made in the form of a check, is not negotiated and
no request for reissuance is made as provided for in Section 5.07 of the Plan.

“Unimpaired” means any Claim that is not Impaired within the meaning of
section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

“United States Trustee” means the United States Trustee appointed under section
581(a)(3) of title 28 of the United States Code to serve in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania.
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“Voting Deadline” means the date and time that shall be set by the Bankruptcy
Court for the submission of ballots voting in favor of or against the Plan, notice of which shall be
mailed to Holders of Claimsin Classes entitled to vote on the Plan.

Section 1.02. Rules of Interpretation. All referencesto “the Plan” herein shall be
construed, where applicable, to include references to this document and all its exhibits,
appendices, schedules and annexes, if any (and any amendments thereto made in accordance
with the Bankruptcy Code). Whenever from the context it appears appropriate, each term stated
in either the singular or the plural shall include the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in
the masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine and the neuter.
The words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “hereunder,” and other words of similar import refer to
the Plan as a whole and not to any particular paragraph, subparagraph, or clause contained in the
Plan. The words “includes’ and “including” are not limiting and mean that the things
specificaly identified are set forth for purposes of illustration, clarity or specificity and do not in
any respect qualify, characterize or limit the generality of the class within which such things are
included. The captions and headings in the Plan are for convenience of reference only and shall
not limit or otherwise affect the provisions hereof. Any term used in the Plan that is not defined
in the Plan, either in Article | hereof or elsewhere, but that is used in the Bankruptcy Code or the
Bankruptcy Rules shall have the meaning assigned to that term in (and shall be construed in
accordance with the rules of construction under) the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules
(with the Bankruptcy Code controlling in the case of a conflict or ambiguity). Without limiting
the preceding sentence, the rules of construction set forth in section 102 of the Bankruptcy Code
shall apply to the Plan, unless superseded herein. In computing any period of time prescribed or
allowed by the Plan, the provisions of Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) and Section 12.15 hereof shall
apply, but Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) shall govern.

Section 1.03. Exhibits. All Exhibits, including al schedules and attachments, to
the Plan are incorporated into and are a part of the Plan asif set forth in full herein, regardless of
when filed.

ARTICLEII.
CLASSIFICATION OF CLAIMSAND INTERESTS

Section 2.01. Generally Pursuant to Section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code, set
forth below is a designation of Classes of Claims and Interests. A Claim or an Interest is
classified in a particular Class only to the extent that the Claim or Interest qualifies within the
description of the Class and is classified in a different Class to the extent the Claim or Interest
qualifies within the description of that different Class. A Claim or Interest is placed in a
particular Class for the purpose of receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan only to the extent
that such Claim or Interest is an Allowed Claim or an Allowed Interest in that Class and such
Claim or Interest has not been paid, released, settled or otherwise satisfied prior to the Effective
Date. Any and al interdebtor Claims filed by Wordsworth against either of the CUASs or by
either of the CUAs against Wordsworth are not classified and, on the Effective Date, shall be
waived and discharged.

Section 2.02. Unclassified Claims. In accordance with Section 1123(a)(1) of the
Bankruptcy Code, Administrative Claims (including Claims of the Initial DIP Lender in
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connection with the Initial DIP Financing Facility and the Siena DIP Lender in connection with
the Siena DIP Financing Facility) and Priority Tax Claims are not classified and are excluded
from the Classes designated in this Article |1 of the Plan. The treatment accorded Administrative
Claims and Priority Tax Claimsis set forth in Article 111 of the Plan.

Section 2.03. Unimpaired and Unimpaired Classes. The Plan classifies certain
Unimpaired Claims and Unimpaired Interests that are not entitled to vote on the Plan. Pursuant
to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code, each Holder of a Claim or Interest in an Unimpaired
Class is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan in respect of such Claims or Interests
and is not entitled to vote to accept or rgject the Plan. The Plan also classifies certain Impaired
Claimsthat are entitled to vote on the Plan.

Class 1 is Unimpaired and consists of al Priority Claims.
Class 2 is Impaired and consists of the Secured Claims of M& T Bank.

Class 3A, Class 3B and Class 3C are Impaired and consist of the Litigation
Claims against Wordsworth Academy, Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC, respectively.

Class 4A, Class 4B and Class 4C are Impaired and consist of the Subcontractor
Claims against Wordsworth Academy, Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC, respectively.

Class 5A, Class 5B and Class 5C are Impaired and consist of the Generad
Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth Academy, Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth
CUA 10, LLC, respectively. These Classes of General Unsecured Claims include all Claims
against the applicable Debtor, including Rejection Claims, that are not: Administrative Claims,
Priority Tax Claims, Secured Claims, Priority Claims, Class 3A Litigation Claims, Class 3B
Litigation Claims, Class 3C Litigation Claims, Class 4A Subcontractor Claims, Class 4B
Subcontractor Claims, Class 4C Subcontractor Claims or Class 6 Interests.

Class 6 is Unimpaired and consists of the Interests of Wordsworth in the CUAS,
as well as the membership interests of the Boards in each of the Debtors.

ARTICLE I1I.
PROVISIONS FOR TREATMENT OF CLASSES OF
CLAIMSAND INTERESTS

Section 3.01. Satisfaction of Clams and Interests. The treatment of and
consideration to be received by Holders of Allowed Claims or Allowed Interests pursuant to this
Article Il and the Plan shall be in full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and
discharge of their respective Claims against or Interests in the Debtors and the Debtors
respective Estates, except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order.

Section 3.02. Unclassified Claims, Classified Unimpaired and Impaired Claims.
Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Clams of each Debtor are treated by each Debtor in
accordance with section 1129(a)(9)(A) and section 1129(a)(9)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code,
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respectively. Such Claims are Unimpaired under the Plan and, in accordance with section
1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, are not designated as Classes of Claims for purposes of this
Plan and for purposes of sections 1123, 1124, 1126 and 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code. In
addition, Class 1 Claims are classified as Classes of Claims that are Unimpaired. In accordance
with section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Holders of Claims in such Classes are
conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and are not entitled to vote to accept or reject
the Plan. Claimsin Classes 2 through 5 are Impaired and the Holders thereof are entitled to vote
to accept or reject the Plan on account of such Allowed Claims.

Section 3.03. Administrative Claims. Administrative Clams are Unimpaired.
Unless otherwise provided for herein, each Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim shall
receive, from the Debtor against whom such Claim has been Allowed, in full satisfaction,
settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim: (&) the amount of such unpaid
Allowed Claim in Cash, without interest, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the latest
to occur of (i) the Effective Date, (ii) the date on which such Administrative Claim becomes
Allowed, or (iii) a later date agreed to in writing by the Debtor and the Holder of such
Administrative Claim; or (b) such other treatment on which is favorable to the Debtor such other
terms and conditions as may be agreed upon in writing by the Holder of such Clam and the
Debtor, or as the Bankruptcy Court may order.

Section 3.04. Priority Tax Claims. Priority Tax Clams are Unimpaired. Each
Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall receive, from and at the option of the Debtor
against whom such Claim is allowed, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and
discharge of such Priority Tax Claim: (a) the amount of such unpaid Allowed Priority Tax Claim
in Cash on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (i) the Effective Date, (ii) the
date on which such Priority Tax Claim becomes Allowed, and (iii) alater date agreed to by the
Debtor and the Holder of such Priority Tax Claim; or (b) such other treatment on such other
terms and conditions as may be agreed upon in writing by the Holder of such Priority Tax Claim
and the Debtor or as the Bankruptcy Court may order. Prior to the Effective Date, the Debtors,
by mutual agreement, shall have the right to prepay at any time, in whole or in part, any Allowed
Priority Tax Claim without premium or penalty of any sort or nature.

Section 3.05. Class 1: Priority Claims. Class 1 Priority Claims are Unimpaired.
Each Holder of an Allowed Class 1 Priority Claim shall receive in full satisfaction, settlement,
release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim: (&) the amount of such unpaid Allowed
Claim in Cash, without interest, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (i) the
Effective Date, (ii) the date on which such Class 1 Claim becomes Allowed, and (iii) a date
agreed to by the Debtors or by mutual agreement, as the case may be, and the Holder of such
Class 1 Priority Claim; or (b) such other treatment on such other terms and conditions as may be
agreed upon in writing by the Holder of such Claim and the Debtors. This Class includes the
priority wage and benefit Claims that the Debtors were authorized to pay pursuant to the
Bankruptcy Court’s Order of July 6, 2017 [Docket No. 62].

Section 3.06. Class 2: Secured Claim of M& T Bank. Class 2 Secured Claims are
impaired. The Holder of the Allowed Class 2 Secured Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction,
settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim, monthly payments over a ten
(20) year term commencing on the first day of the month following the Effective Date, based on
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a twenty-five (25) year amortization schedule and a fixed rate of interest of prime plus one
percent as of the date of confirmation of the Plan. The 120th payment shall include the balance
of the unpaid principal owed. Until payment in full of the Class 2 Secured Claims, the Holder of
the Allowed Class 2 Secured Claim will retain its liens on the Debtors' real property located at
2101 Pennsylvania Ave., Fort Washington, PA 19034, the Debtors revenues, persona property
and other assets to the same extent and priority as exists on the date of confirmation of this Plan.

Section 3.07. Class 3A: Litigation Claims against Wordsworth Academy. Class
3A Litigation Claims against Wordsworth Academy are Impaired. Each holder of a Class 3A
Claim shall receive an Allowed general unsecured claim in the amount of $1.00 for purposes of
distribution, Article X of the Plan, and for voting purposes. Class 3A Litigation Claims shall
receive payment from any available insurance coverage, in full satisfaction, settlement, release,
extinguishment and discharge of such Claim. The Debtors and the Estates shall have no further
liability on such Claims. All rights of Class 3A Claimants against the Debtors and the Estates
shall be governed by the Stipulation Regarding Tort Claims executed by such Claimant, if any,
which isincorporated herein by reference.

Section 3.08. Class 3B: Litigation Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC.
Class 3B Litigation Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC are Impaired. Each holder of a
Class 3B Claim shall receive an Allowed genera unsecured claim in the amount of $1.00 for
purposes of distribution, Article X of the Plan, and for voting purposes. Class 3B Litigation
Claims shall receive payment from any available insurance coverage, in full satisfaction,
settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Clam. The Debtors and the Estates
shall have no further liability on such Claims. All rights of Class 3B Claimants against the
Debtors and the Estates shall be governed by the Stipulation Regarding Tort Claims executed by
such Claimant, if any, which isincorporated herein by reference.

Section 3.10. Class 3C: Litigation Clams against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC.
Class 3C Litigation Claims against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC are Impaired. Each holder of a
Class 3C Claim shall receive an Allowed genera unsecured claim in the amount of $1.00 for
purposes of distribution, Article X of the Plan, and for voting purposes. Class 3C Litigation
Claims shal receive payment from any available insurance coverage, in full satisfaction,
settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim. The Debtors and the Estates
shall have no further liability on such Claims. All rights of Class 3C Claimants against the
Debtors and the Estates shall be governed by the Stipulation Regarding Tort Claims executed by
such Claimant, if any, which isincorporated herein by reference.

Section 3.12. Class 4A: Subcontractor Claims against Wordsworth Academy.
Class 4A Subcontractor Claims against Wordsworth Academy are Impaired. Each Holder of an
Allowed Class 4A Subcontractor Claim against Wordsworth Academy shall receive, in full
satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim payment in full,
without interest, from the Reorganized Debtors operating revenues. The Debtors anticipate that
the staffing agencies will be paid in full prior to the Effective Date, any remaining Subcontractor
Claims that are not paid in full prior to the Effective Date will receive payment over a period of
six (6) months following the Effective Date until all Subcontractor Claims have been paid in full.
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Section 3.13. Class4B: Subcontractor Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC.
Class 4B Subcontractor Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC are Impaired. Each Holder of
an Allowed Class 4B Subcontractor Claim against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC shall receive, in
full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim payment in full,
without interest, from the Reorganized Debtors operating revenues. The Debtors anticipate that
the staffing agencies will be paid in full prior to the Effective Date, any remaining Subcontractor
Claims that are not paid in full prior to the Effective Date will receive payment over a period of
six (6) months following the Effective Date until all Subcontractor Claims have been paid in full.

Section 3.15. Class 4C: Subcontractor Claims against Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC. Class 4C Subcontractor Claims against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC are Impaired. Each
Holder of an Allowed Class 4C Subcontractor Claim against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC shall
receive, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim
payment in full, without interest, from the Reorganized Debtors operating revenues. The
Debtors anticipate that the staffing agencies will be paid in full prior to the Effective Date, any
remaining Subcontractor Claims that are not paid in full prior to the Effective Date will receive
payment over a period of six (6) months following the Effective Date until all Subcontractor
Claims have been paid in full.

Section 3.17. Class 5A: Genera Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth
Academy. Class 5A General Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth Academy are Impaired.
Each Holder of a Class 5A Allowed General Unsecured Claim against Wordsworth Academy
shall receive, along with Allowed Genera Unsecured Claims in Classes 5B and 5C, in full
satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim a pro rata amount
of Distributable Cash upon the determination of the allowance of all Claims included in Class
5A, Class 5B and Class 5C.

Section 3.18. Class5B: General Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5,
LLC. Class 5B Genera Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC are Impaired. Each
Holder of aClass 5B Allowed General Unsecured Claim against Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC shall
receive, aong with Allowed General Unsecured Claims in Classes 5A and 5C, in full
satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim a pro rata amount
of Distributable Cash upon the determination of the allowance of all Claims included in Class
5A, Class 5B and Class 5C.

Section 3.20. Class 5C: General Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth CUA
10, LLC. Class 5C General Unsecured Claims against Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC are Impaired.
Each Holder of a Class 5C Allowed General Unsecured Claim against Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC shall receive, along with Allowed General Unsecured Claimsin Classes 5A and 5B, in full
satisfaction, settlement, release, extinguishment and discharge of such Claim a pro rata amount
of Distributable Cash upon the determination of the allowance of all Claims included in Class
5A, Class 5B and Class 5C.

Section 3.22. Class 6. Interests. Class 6 Interests are Unimpaired. Each Holder
of an Allowed Class 6 Interest shall retain its Interest only to the extent provided in the
Affiliation Agreement and receive no Property or other distribution of value on account of its
Interest.
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ARTICLE IV.
ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF THE PLAN; CRAMDOWN

Section 4.01. Acceptance by Impaired Classes of Claims and Interests. Pursuant
to Section 1126(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, an Impaired Class of Claims shall have accepted the
Plan if: (a) the Holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) in dollar amount of the Allowed Claims
actually voting in such Class (other than Claims held by any Holder designated pursuant to
section 1126(e) of the Bankruptcy Code) have timely and properly voted to accept the Plan, and
(b) more than one-half (1/2) in number of the Holders of such Allowed Claims actually voting in
such Class (other than Claims held by any Holder designated pursuant to section 1126(e) of the
Bankruptcy Code) have timely and properly voted to accept the Plan, without consideration of
the vote of any Insiders. Holders of Claimsthat are included in a Class that is entitled to vote but
are unliquidated shall be entitled to vote and their claims shall be assigned the value of $1.00 for
voting purposes only.

Section 4.02. Voting Classes. Except as otherwise required by the Bankruptcy
Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, the Holders of Claimsin Classes 2 through 5 shall be entitled to
vote to accept or reect the Plan in accordance with Section 4.01 of the Plan. Classes of Claims
Unimpaired under the Plan (Priority Claims (Class 1)) shall not be entitled to vote to accept or
reject the Plan, and shall be conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section
1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Administrative Clams and Priority Tax Claims are
Unimpaired and not classified under the Plan and hence are not entitled to vote to accept or reject
the Plan pursuant to section 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code.

Section 4.03. Balot Instructions. Each Holder of a Claim or Interest entitled to
vote on the Plan will be asked to complete and return a Ballot to the Debtors, which will compile
the votes so received. Any questions as to the validity, form, and digibility (including time of
receipt) of Ballots will be resolved by the Bankruptcy Court upon application or at the
Confirmation Hearing.

Section 4.04. Cramdown. If al applicable requirements for Confirmation of the
Plan are met as set forth in section 1129(a)(1) through (13) of the Bankruptcy Code as applied to
nonprofit entities except subsection (8) thereof, the Debtors may request that the Bankruptcy
Court confirm the Plan in accordance with section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code,
notwithstanding the requirements of section 1129(a)(8) thereof, on the bases that the Plan is fair
and equitable, and does not discriminate unfairly, with respect to each Class of Claims or
Interests that is Impaired under, and has not accepted, the Plan.

ARTICLE V.
PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS UNDER THE PLAN

Section 5.01. Timing of Distributions. Except as specifically set forth in the Plan,
distributions of Property will be made to Holders of Allowed Claims in accordance with Article
1l of the Plan. If a Claim is not an Allowed Clam as of the applicable distribution date,
distributions will be made only if and when the Claim is Allowed, and then in accordance with
Article Il of the Plan and, with respect to the cure of defaults for assumed executory contracts
and unexpired leases, Section 6.02 of the Plan, and in each case, subject to Article VIII of the

17

119642060_9



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 82 of 251

Plan. Distributions to be made as of the Effective Date on account of Claims that are Allowed as
of the Effective Date and are entitled to receive distributions under the Plan shall be made on the
Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. Distributions to be made after the
Effective Date shall be made on dates to be established by the Distribution Agent pursuant to the
terms of this Plan, taking into account the resolution of Disputed Claims and the Distribution
Agent’sright to defer distributions if the amount of the Cash to be distributed on a particular date
isinsufficient to justify the costs of effectuating the distribution.

Section 5.02. Distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims. Except as otherwise
provided herein, the Distribution Agent shall make all distributions required under the Plan in a
manner consistent with the Plan. Distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims will be made in
accordance with Article 111 of the Plan. On the Effective Date, the Debtors shall deliver Cash to
the Distribution Agent, who will deposit such Cash into the Distribution Account. From the
Distribution Account, the Distribution Agent will make Cash distributions in accordance with the
Plan. If any dispute arises as to the identity of a Holder of an Allowed Claim who is to receive
any distribution, the Distribution Agent or the Debtors shall, as appropriate and in lieu of making
such distribution to such Holder, delay such distribution until the disposition thereof shall be
determined by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court or by written agreement among the
interested parties to such dispute.

Section 5.03. Distribution Account. One or more Distribution Accounts shall be
established the Distribution Agent to receive the Distributable Cash necessary to fund the Plan.
On, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, the Effective Date the Distribution Agent shall
make Cash distributions from the Distribution Account in accordance with the Plan (collectively,
the “Distribution Account Claims’). Each Distribution Account shall be extinguished following
payment of all distributions made therefrom in accordance with the Plan.

Section 5.04. Delivery of Distributions. Distributions to Holders of Allowed
Claims shall be made by the Distribution Agent: (a) at the last known addresses of such Holders
or (b) at the addresses set forth in any written notices of address changes delivered to the Debtors
or the Distribution Agent. If any Holder’s distribution is returned as undeliverable, no further
distributions to such Holder shall be made unless and until the Distribution Agent is notified of
such Holder’s then current address, at which time al missed distributions shall be made to such
Holder without interest.

Section 5.05. Method of Cash Distributions. Any Cash payment to be made
pursuant to the Plan may be made by check, wire transfer, or as otherwise required or provided
in any relevant agreement or applicable law at the option of the Distribution Agent.

Section 5.06. Faillure to Negotiate Checks. Checks issued in respect of
distributions under the Plan shall be null and void if not negotiated within ninety (90) days after
the date of issuance. Any amounts returned to the Debtors in respect of such non-negotiated
checks shall be forwarded to (if necessary) and held by the Distribution Agent. Requests for
reissuance for any such check shall be made directly to the issuer of the check by the Holder of
the Allowed Claim with respect to which such check originally was issued. All amounts
represented by any voided check will be held until the earlier of: (a) one (1) month after date on
which the check is voided, or (b) the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Final

18

119642060_9



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 83 of 251

Decree, and all requests for reissuance by the Holder of the Allowed Claim in respect of avoided
check are required to be made prior to such date. Thereafter, all such amounts shall be deemed
to be Unclaimed Property, in accordance with Section 5.07 of the Plan, and all Holders of Claims
in respect of void checks shall be forever barred, estopped and enjoined from asserting aclaim to
such funds in any manner against the Debtors or their respective assets, or the Distribution
Agent.

Section 5.07. Unclaimed Distributions. All Property distributed on account of
Claims must be claimed prior to the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Final Decree,
or, in the case of adistribution made in the form of a check, must be negotiated and a request for
reissuance be made as provided for in Section 5.06 of the Plan. If, on the date on which the
Bankruptcy Court enters the Final Decree, the amount of Unclaimed Property exceeds $50,000,
the Distribution Agent shall make a second Distribution, less the costs incurred to make such
Distribution, to holders of Allowed Class 5 Claims. All Unclaimed Property, as of the later of:
(a) the date on which the Final Decree is entered or, (b) if a second Distribution is made pursuant
to this section, ninety (90) days following issuance of the checks comprising the second
Distribution, shall be retained by and will revert to the Debtors. All full or partial payments
made by the Debtors and received by the Holder of a Claim prior to the Effective Date will be
deemed to be payments under the Plan for purposes of satisfying the obligations of the Debtors
or the Distribution Agent pursuant to the Plan. Nothing contained in the Plan shall require the
Debtors or the Distribution Agent to attempt to locate any Holder of an Allowed Claim other
than by reviewing the records of the Debtors and any Claims filed in the Chapter 11 Cases.
Pursuant to section 1143 of the Bankruptcy Code, al Claims in respect of Unclaimed Property
shall be deemed Disallowed and the Holder of any Claim Disallowed in accordance with this
Section 5.07 will be forever barred, expunged, estopped and enjoined from asserting such Claim
in any manner against the Debtors or the Distribution Agent, or their respective assets.

Section 5.08. Limitation on Distribution Rights. If a clamant holds more than
one Claim in any one Class, all Claims of the claimant in that Class will be aggregated into one
Claim and one distribution will be made with respect to the aggregated Claim.

Section 5.09. Compliance With Tax Requirements. In connection with each
distribution with respect to which the filing of an information return (such as an Interna
Revenue Service Form 1099 or 1042) or withholding is required, the Debtors or the Distribution
Agent, as appropriate, shall file such information return with the Internal Revenue Service and
provide any required statements in connection therewith to the recipients of such distribution or
effect any such withholding and deposit all moneys so withheld as required by law. With respect
to any Person from whom a tax identification number, certified tax identification number or
other tax information required by law to avoid withholding has not been received by the Debtors
or the Distribution Agent within thirty (30) days from the date of such request, the Debtors or the
Distribution Agent, at their or its option, may withhold the amount required and distribute the
balance to such Person or decline to make such distribution until the information is received.

Section 5.10. De Minimis Distributions. No Cash payment of less than one

($1.00) dollar shall be made to any Holder of an Allowed Claim on account of such Allowed
Claim.
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ARTICLE VI.
EXECUTORY CONTRACTSAND UNEXPIRED LEASES; INDEMNIFICATION
OBLIGATIONS; BENEFIT PROGRAMS

Section 6.01. Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases. Pursuant
to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, except as otherwise set forth in this Article VI,
each executory contract and unexpired lease to which any Debtor is a party shal be deemed
automatically rejected by the Debtors effective as of the Effective Date, except for any executory
contract or unexpired lease (i) that has been assumed or reected pursuant to an order of the
Bankruptcy Court entered prior to the Effective Date, (ii) that is the subject of a motion to
assume or reject pending on the Effective Date, (iii) that is assumed, rejected or otherwise treated
pursuant to Section 6.03 or Section 6.04 of the Plan, (iv) that is listed on Schedule 6.02(a) or
6.02(b) of the Plan, or (v) as to which a Treatment Objection has been filed and properly served
by the Treatment Objection Deadline. If an executory contract or unexpired lease either (x) has
been assumed or regjected pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court entered prior to the
Effective Date or (y) is the subject of a motion to assume or reject pending on the Confirmation
Date, then the listing of any such executory contract or unexpired lease on the aforementioned
Schedules shall be of no effect.

Section 6.02. Schedules of Executory Contracts and Unexpired L eases.

@ Schedules 6.02(a) and 6.02(b) of this Plan shall represent the Debtors
good faith belief regarding the intended treatment of all executory contracts and unexpired leases
listed thereon. The Debtors reserve the right, on or prior to 3:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern time)
on the third Business Day immediately prior to the commencement of the Confirmation Hearing,
(i) to amend Schedules 6.02(a) and 6.02(b) in order to add, delete or reclassify any executory
contract or unexpired lease or amend a proposed assignment and (ii) to amend the Proposed
Cure, in each case with respect to any executory contract or unexpired lease previoudly listed as
to be assumed; provided, however, that if the Confirmation Hearing is adjourned for a period of
more than two consecutive caendar days, such amendment right shall be extended to 3:00 p.m.
on the Business Day immediately prior to the rescheduled or continued Confirmation Hearing,
and this proviso shal apply in the case of any and al subsequent adjournments of the
Confirmation Hearing. Pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, and except
with respect to executory contracts and unexpired leases as to which a Treatment Objection is
properly filed and served by the Treatment Objection Deadline, (i) each of the executory
contracts and unexpired leases listed on Schedule 6.02(a) shall be deemed assumed (and, if
applicable, assigned) effective as of the Assumption Effective Date specified thereon and the
Proposed Cure specified in the notice mailed to each Assumption Party shall be the Cure and
shall be deemed to satisfy fully any obligations the Debtors might have with respect to such
executory contract or unexpired lease under section 365(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and (ii) each
of the executory contracts and unexpired leases listed on Schedule 6.02(b) shall be deemed
rejected effective as of the Rejection Effective Date specified thereon. The Debtors reserve the
right to object to any Treatment Objection.

(b) The Debtors shall fileinitial versions of Schedules 6.02(a) and 6.02(b) and
any amendments thereto with the Bankruptcy Court and shall serve all notices thereof only on
the relevant Assumption Parties and Rejection Parties and the Committee. With respect to any
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executory contract or unexpired lease first listed on Schedule 6.02(b) later than the date that is
ten calendar days prior to the Voting Deadline, the Debtors shall use their best efforts to notify
the applicable Rejection Party promptly of such proposed treatment via facsimile, email or
telephone at any notice address or number included in the relevant executory contract or
unexpired lease or as otherwise timely provided in writing to the Debtors by any such
counterparty or its counsel.

(c) With respect to any executory contracts or unexpired leases first listed on
Schedule 6.02(b) later than the date that is ten calendar days before the Voting Deadline, affected
Rejection Parties shall have five calendar days from the date of such amendment to Schedule
6.02(b) to object to Confirmation of this Plan. With respect to any executory contracts or
unexpired leases first listed on Schedule 6.02(b) later than the date that is five calendar days
prior to the Confirmation Hearing, affected Rejection Parties shall have until the Confirmation
Hearing to object to Confirmation of this Plan or amend any vote on the Confirmation of this
Plan.

(d) The listing of any contract or lease on Schedule 6.02(a) or 6.02(b) is not
an admission that such contract or lease is an executory contract or unexpired |ease.

Section 6.03. Categories of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be
Assumed.

Pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, each of the executory
contracts and unexpired |eases within the following categories shall be deemed assumed as of the
Effective Date (and the Proposed Cure with respect to each shall be zero dollars), except for any
executory contract or unexpired lease (i) that has been previously assumed or rejected pursuant
to an order of the Bankruptcy Court, (ii) that is the subject of a motion to assume or reject
pending on the Confirmation Date, (iii) that is listed on Schedule 6.02(a) or 6.02(b), (iv) that is
otherwise expressly assumed or rejected pursuant to the terms of this Plan or (v) as to which a
Treatment Objection has been filed and properly served by the Treatment Objection Deadline.

€) Insurance Plans. Subject to the terms of the first paragraph of this Section
6.03, each Insurance Plan shall be deemed assumed effective as of the Effective Date. Nothing
contained in this Section 6.03(a) shall constitute or be deemed a waiver of any Cause of Action
that the Debtors may hold against any entity, including, without limitation, the insurer under any
of the Debtors Insurance Plans. Except as provided in the previous sentence, al Proofs of
Claim on account of or in respect of any agreement covered by this Section 6.03(a) shall be
deemed withdrawn automatically and without any further notice to or action by the Bankruptcy
Court.

(b) Certain Indemnification Obligations. Each Indemnification Obligation to
a director, officer or employee that was employed by any of the Debtors in such capacity on or
after the Petition Date shall be deemed assumed effective as of the Effective Date; provided,
however, that any Indemnification Obligation contained in an Employee Agreement that is
rgjected pursuant to Section 6.04 shall also be deemed reglected. Each Indemnification
Obligation that is deemed assumed pursuant to the Plan shall (i) remain in full force and effect,
(i) not be modified, reduced, discharged, impaired or otherwise affected in any way, (iii) be
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deemed and treated as an executory contract pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the
Bankruptcy Code regardless of whether or not Proofs of Claim have been filed with respect to
such obligation and (iv) survive Unimpaired and unaffected irrespective of whether such
indemnification is owed for an act or event occurring before or after the Petition Date.

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Plan, the Debtors may in their sole
discretion (but have no obligation to) honor each Indemnification Obligation to a director, officer
or employee that was no longer employed by any of the Debtors in such capacity on or after the
Petition Date, unless such obligation (i) shall have been previoudy rejected by the Debtors by
Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, (ii) is the subject of a motion to reject pending on or before
the Confirmation Date, (iii) is listed on Schedule 6.02(b) or (iv) is otherwise expressly rejected
pursuant to the terms of the Plan or any Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject.

For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any of the foregoing or anything
contained in this Plan, this Section 6.03(b) shall not be construed to impart any liability upon
PHMC on account of such Indemnification Obligations or any related liabilities and such
Indemnification Obligations shall not be deemed assumed by PHMC.

(© License Agreements. Subject to the terms of the first paragraph of this
Section 6.03, any and all License Agreements pursuant to which the Debtors operate their
programs, shall be deemed assumed effective as of the Effective Date. Nothing contained in this
Section 6.03(d) shall constitute or be deemed awaiver of any defense or Cause of Action that the
Debtors may hold against any individual or entity, including, without limitation, any
counterparty to a License Agreement.

Section 6.04. Other Categories of Agreements and Policies.

@ Employee Agreements. Pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the
Bankruptcy Code, each Employee Agreement entered into prior to the Petition Date with an
employee who was employed by one of the Debtors on the Petition Date shall be deemed
assumed effective as of the Effective Date, except for any Employee Agreement (i) that has been
assumed or rejected pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court entered prior to the Effective
Date, (ii) that is the subject of a motion to assume or reject pending on the Confirmation Date,
(iii) that is listed on Schedule 6.02(a) or 6.02(b) of the Plan, (iv) that is otherwise expressly
assumed or rejected pursuant to the terms of the Plan, or (v) as to which a Treatment Objection
has been filed and properly served by the Treatment Objection Deadline.

(b) Employee Benefits. As of the Effective Date, whether or not such
employee benefits are provided for in an Employee Agreement that has been rejected in these
Chapter 11 Cases (by operation of this Plan or otherwise), the Debtors, in their sole and absolute
discretion, may honor, in the ordinary course of business, the Debtors written contracts,
agreements, policies, programs and plans for, among other things, compensation, health care
benefits, disability benefits, severance benefits, retirement benefits, welfare benefits, relocation
programs, life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment insurance, including written
contracts, agreements, policies, programs and plans for bonuses and other incentives or
compensation for the directors, officers and employees of any of the Debtors who served in such
capacity at any time. To the extent that the above-listed contracts, agreements, policies,
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programs and plans are executory contracts, pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy
Code, unless a Treatment Objection is timely filed and properly served, each of them will be
deemed assumed (as modified or terminated) as of the Effective Date with a Cure of zero dollars.
However, notwithstanding anything else herein, at the discretion of the Debtors, the assumed
plans shall be subject to modification in accordance with the terms thereof.

The Debtors may execute amended Employee Agreements with certain of their
employees on or before the Confirmation Date subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

Section 6.05. Assumption and Rejection Procedures and Resolution of Treatment
Objections.

@ Proposed Assumptions.

(1) With respect to any executory contract or unexpired lease to be
assumed pursuant to any provision of this Plan or any Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject,
unless an Assumption Party files and properly serves a Treatment Objection by the Treatment
Objection Deadline, such executory contract or unexpired lease shall be deemed assumed as of
the Assumption Effective Date proposed by the Debtors, without any further notice to or action
by the Bankruptcy Court, and any obligation the Debtors may have to such Assumption Party
with respect to such executory contract or unexpired lease under section 365(b) of the
Bankruptcy Code shall be deemed fully satisfied by the Proposed Cure, if any, which shall be the
Cure.

(i) Any objection to the assumption of an executory contract
or unexpired lease that is not timely filed and properly served shall be denied automatically and
with prejudice (without the need for any objection by the Debtors and without any further notice
to or action, order or approval by the Bankruptcy Court), and any Claim relating to such
assumption shall be forever barred from assertion and shall not be enforceable against any
Debtor or its Estate or properties without the need for any objection by the Debtors and without
any further notice to or action, order or approva by the Bankruptcy Court, and any obligation the
Debtors may have under section 365(b) of the Bankruptcy Code (over and above any Proposed
Cure) shall be deemed fully satisfied, released and discharged, notwithstanding any amount or
information included in the Schedules or any Proof of Claim.

(b) Proposed Rejections.

(1) With respect to any executory contract or unexpired lease to be
rejected pursuant to any provision of this Plan or any Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject,
unless a Reection Party files and properly serves a Treatment Objection by the Treatment
Objection Deadline, such executory contract or unexpired lease shall be deemed rejected as of
the Rejection Effective Date proposed by the Debtors without any further notice to or action by
the Bankruptcy Court.

(i)  Any objection to the regection of an executory contract or
unexpired lease that is not timely filed and properly served shall be deemed denied automatically
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and with prgjudice (without the need for any objection by the Debtors and without any further
notice to or action, order or approval by the Bankruptcy Court).

(c) Resolution of Treatment Objections.

() Both on and after the Effective Date, the Debtors may, in their sole
discretion, settle Treatment Objections without any further notice to or action by the Bankruptcy
Court or any other party (including by paying any agreed Cure amounts).

(i)  With respect to each executory contract or unexpired lease as to
which a Treatment Objection is timely filed and properly served and that is not otherwise
resolved by the parties after a reasonable period of time, the Debtors, in consultation with the
Bankruptcy Court, shall schedule a hearing on such Treatment Objection and provide at least 14
caendar days notice of such hearing to the relevant Assumption Party or Rejection Party.
Unless the Bankruptcy Court expressly orders or the parties agree otherwise, any assumption or
rejection approved by the Bankruptcy Court notwithstanding a Treatment Objection shall be
effective as of the Assumption Effective Date or Rejection Effective Date originally proposed by
the Debtors or specified in the Plan.

(iii)  Any Cure shall be paid as soon as reasonably practicable following
the entry of a Final Order resolving an assumption dispute and/or approving an assumption,
unless the Debtors file a Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject under Section 6.05(d).

(iv)  No Cure shall be alowed for a penalty rate or default rate of
interest, each to the extent not proper under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable law.

(d) Reservation of Rights. If a Treatment Objection is filed with respect to
any executory contract or unexpired lease sought to be assumed or rejected by any of the
Debtors, the Debtors reserve the right (i) to object to such Treatment Objection; (ii) to seek to
assume or regject such agreement at any time before the assumption, rejection, assignment or
Cure with respect to such agreement is determined by Fina Order, and (iii) to the extent a Final
Order is entered resolving a dispute as to Cure or the permissibility of assignment (but not
approving the assumption of the executory contract or unexpired lease sought to be assumed), to
seek to rgject such agreement within 14 calendar days after the date of such Fina Order, in each
case by filing with the Bankruptcy Court and serving upon the applicable Assumption Party or
Rejection Party, as the case may be, a Notice of Intent to Assume or Reject.

Section 6.06. Rejection Claims. With respect to any executory contract or
unexpired lease that is rejected by the Debtors pursuant to this Plan or during the administration
of these Chapter 11 Cases, the Rejection Party shall file a Rgection Claim on or before the
Rejection Bar Date. Any Rejection Claim for which a Rgjection Claim is not properly filed and
served by the Rejection Bar Date shall be forever barred and shall not be enforceable against the
Debtors, or their respective Estates or properties. The Debtors reserve the right to contest any
Rejection Claim, which dispute shall be resolved by the Bankruptcy Court prior to the allowance
of the disputed Rejection Claim.
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Section 6.07. Assignment. To the extent provided under the Bankruptcy Code or
other applicable law, any executory contract or unexpired lease transferred and assigned pursuant
to this Plan shall remain in full force and effect for the benefit of the transferee or assignee in
accordance with its terms, notwithstanding any provision in such executory contract or unexpired
lease (including those of the type described in section 365(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code) that
prohibits, restricts or conditions such transfer or assignment. To the extent provided under the
Bankruptcy Code or other applicable law, any provision that prohibits, restricts or conditions the
assignment or transfer of any such executory contract or unexpired lease or that terminates or
modifies such executory contract or unexpired lease or allows the counterparty to such executory
contract or unexpired lease to terminate, modify, recapture, impose any penalty, condition
renewal or extension, or modify any term or condition upon any such transfer and assignment
constitutes an unenforceabl e anti-assignment provision and is void and of no force or effect.

Section 6.08. Approval of Assumption, Rejection, Retention or Assignment of
Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases. Entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy
Court shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date, constitute approval of the rgjections,
retentions, assumptions and/or assignments contemplated by this Plan pursuant to sections 365
and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code.

@ Each executory contract and unexpired lease that is assumed (and/or
assigned) pursuant to the Plan shall vest in and be fully enforceable by the applicable Debtor in
accordance with its terms as of the applicable Assumption Effective Date, except as modified by
the provisions of this Plan, any order of the Bankruptcy Court authorizing or providing for its
assumption (and/or assignment), or applicable federal law.

(b) The provisions (if any) of each executory contract or unexpired lease
assumed and/or assigned pursuant to the Plan that are or may be in default shall be deemed
satisfied in full by the Cure, or by an agreed-upon waiver of the Cure. Upon payment in full of
the Cure, any and all Proofs of Claim based upon an executory contract or unexpired lease that
has been assumed in the Chapter 11 Cases or under the terms of the Plan shall be deemed
disallowed and expunged with no further action required of any party or order of the Bankruptcy
Court.

Section 6.09. Modifications, Amendments, Supplements, Restatements or Other
Aqgreements.

Unless otherwise provided by this Plan or by separate order of the Bankruptcy
Court, each executory contract and unexpired lease that is assumed, whether or not such
executory contract or unexpired lease relates to the use, acquisition or occupancy of real
property, shall include (i) al modifications, amendments, supplements, restatements or other
agreements made directly or indirectly by any agreement, instrument or other document that in
any manner affects such executory contract or unexpired lease and (ii) all executory contracts or
unexpired leases appurtenant to the premises, if any, including all easements, licenses, permits,
rights, privileges, immunities, options, rights of first refusal, powers, uses, reciprocal easement
agreements and any other interests in real estate or rights in remedy related to such premises,
unless any of the foregoing agreements has been or is rgected pursuant to an order of the
Bankruptcy Court or is otherwise rejected as part of the Plan.
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Modifications, amendments, supplements and restatements to pre-petition
executory contracts and unexpired leases that have been executed by the Debtors during the
Chapter 11 Cases and actions taken in accordance therewith (i) do not ater in any way the pre-
petition nature of the executory contracts and unexpired leases, or the validity, priority or amount
of any Claims against the Debtors that may arise under the same, (ii) are not and do not create
postpetition contracts or leases, (iii) do not elevate to administrative expense priority any Claims
of the counterparties to the executory contracts and unexpired |leases against any of the Debtors
and (iv) do not entitle any entity to a Claim under any section of the Bankruptcy Code on
account of the difference between the terms of any pre-petition executory contracts or unexpired
leases and subsequent modifications, amendments, supplements or restatements.

Section 6.10. Play and Learn Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
this Article VI of this Plan or otherwise, the Play and Learn Lease: (i) has been assumed by
Order of the Bankruptcy Court dated July 26, 2017 [Docket No. 146] effective as of August 26,
2017 and (ii) shall be treated as an assumed contract/unexpired lease for all purposes by the
Debtors, Reorganized Debtors and PHMC consistent with the terms and conditions of the Order
of the Bankruptcy Court dated July 26, 2017 [Docket No. 146].

ARTICLE VII.
MEANSFOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN

Section 7.01. Continued Existence. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan,
each Debtor shall, as a Reorganized Debtor, continue to exist after the Effective Date as a
separate legal entity to the extent provided in the Affiliation Agreement, each with all the powers
of a nonprofit corporation under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and without
prejudice to any right to alter or terminate such existence (whether by merger or otherwise)
under applicable state law. Pursuant to the Affiliation Agreement, the Reorganized Debtors shall
become subsidiaries of PHMC and shall be operated as subsidiaries of PHMC.

Section 7.02. Restructuring Transactions. On or as of the Effective Date, the
distributions provided for under the Plan shal be effectuated pursuant to the following
transactions described in this Article VII of the Plan (the “Restructuring Transactions’), al of
which shall occur in seriatim (and all of which are conditions concurrent to the occurrence of the
Effective Date of this Plan), and the documentation for which shall be satisfactory to the Debtors
and PHMC:

@ The Siena DIP Financing Facility shall be paid in full (including al
principal, interest, fees and expenses) and upon receipt of such payment, all liens securing the
same shall be released;

(b) The Initial DIP Financing Facility shall be pad in full (including all
principal, interest, fees and expenses) and upon receipt of such payment all liens securing it shall
be released;

(© The Management Agreements shal terminate and the Affiliation
Agreement shall become effective, with the Debtors being authorized to take any actions
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necessary to consummeate the affiliation with PHMC and its affiliates pursuant to the terms of the
Affiliation Agreement.

(d) PHMC shall provide the Distribution Agent with the Distributable Cash to
fund payments to Classes 5A, 5B and 5C as provided in the Plan.

(e Execution of all loan documents required by the Exit Lender for the Exit
Facility.

Section 7.03. Other Transactions. In addition, except as otherwise set forth in the
Plan, any or all of the Debtors may engage in any other transactions deemed necessary or
appropriate to effectuate the Plan (including, without limitation, merging, dissolving or
transferring assets among them).

Section 7.04. Organizationa Action. The entry of the Confirmation Order shall
constitute authorization for the Debtors to take or to cause to be taken all actions necessary or
appropriate to consummate and implement the provisions of the Plan prior to, on and after the
Effective Date, and all such actions taken or caused to be taken shall be deemed to have been
authorized and approved by the Bankruptcy Court. On or (as applicable) before the Effective
Date, the appropriate officers and managers of the Debtors are authorized and directed to execute
and deliver the agreements, documents and instruments contemplated by the Plan (or necessary
or desirable to effect the transactions contemplated by the Plan) in the name and on behalf of the
Debtors.

Section 7.05. Negotiations in Good Faith for the Purchase of Certain Property.
Following the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, PHMC and Public Health Fund shall
negotiate in good faith with the Initial DIP Lender for the sale or lease at fair market value of the
subject leased property in the Play and Learn Lease as well as certain adjacent lands owned by
the Debtors.

ARTICLE VIII.
PRESERVATION OF CAUSES OF ACTION AND
RIGHT TO DEFEND AND CONTEST

Section 8.01. Preservation of Rights. Except to the extent that any Claim is
Allowed during the Chapter 11 Cases or expressly by this Plan, the Confirmation Order, or other
order of the Bankruptcy Court, nothing, including, but not limited to, the failure of the Debtors to
object to a Claim or Interest for any reason during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases, shall
affect, prejudice, diminish or impair the rights and legal and equitable defenses of the Debtors,
with respect to any Claim or Interest, including, but not limited to, all rights of the Debtors to
contest or defend themselves against such Claims or Interests in any lawful manner or forum
when and if such Claim or Interest is sought to be enforced by the Holder thereof.

Section 8.02. Rights of Action. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the
Confirmation Order, al Avoidance Actions shall automaticaly revert to and become the
property of the Reorganized Debtors. The Reorganized Debtors will waive the right to enforce
and prosecute such Avoidance Actions against any Person or Entity that arose before the
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Effective Date, other than those expressly preserved or retained as part of or pursuant to the Plan
or Confirmation Order, unless the Person or Entity pursues a claim, other than an Allowed
Claim, against the Debtors or the Estates. For the avoidance of doubt, it is the Debtors intention
that al claims and causes of action by and against the Debtors be resolved through the Plan and
that Avoidance Actions be waived as part of the clams allowance process. Accordingly,
Avoidance Actions are expressly preserved against any Person or Entity only to the extent that
such Person or Entity asserts a claim or cause of action, other than an Allowed Claim, against the
Debtors and only until such asserted claim or cause of action becomes an Allowed Claim or is
Disallowed, whether by agreement of the Debtors and such Person or Entity or by order of a
court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 8.03. Setoffs. Except to the extent that any Claim is Allowed, the Debtors
or the Distribution Agent, as applicable, may, but shall not be required to, set off against any
Claims and the payments or distributions to be made pursuant to the Plan in respect of such
Claims, any and al debts, liabilities, Causes of Action and Claims of every type and nature
whatsoever which the Estates, the Debtors or the Distribution Agent may have against such
Creditors, but neither the failure to do so nor the allowance of any such Claims, whether pursuant
to the Plan or otherwise, shall constitute a waiver or release by the Debtors or the Distribution
Agent of any such Claims or Causes of Action the Debtors or the Distribution Agent may have
against such Creditors.

Section 8.04. No Payment or Distribution Pending Allowance. All references to
Claims and amounts of Claims refer to the amount of the Claim Allowed by agreement of the
Debtors or the Distribution Agent and the Holder of such Claim, by operation of law, by Final
Order, or by this Plan. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan, no payment or
distribution shall be made on account of or with respect to any Claim to the extent it is a
Disputed Claim unless and until the Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.

Section 8.05. Resolution of Disputed Claims. Unless otherwise ordered by the
Court after notice and a hearing, the Debtors shall have the right, on and after the Effective Date,
to File Objections to Claims (except those specificaly Allowed by this Plan) and shall serve a
copy of each such objection upon the Holder of the Claim to which the Objection is made as
soon as practicable, but in no event later than the applicable Claims Objection Deadline. The
foregoing deadlines may be extended by order of the Court. An Objection to any Claim shall be
deemed properly served on the Holder thereof if the Debtors or Distribution Agent effects
service in any of the following manners: (@) in accordance with Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, as modified and made applicable by Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure
7004; (b) by first class mail, postage prepaid, on the signatory on the Proof of Claim or other
representative identified in the Proof of Claim or any attachment thereto; or (c) by first class
mail, postage prepaid, on any counsel that has appeared on the Holder’ s behalf in the Chapter 11
Cases.

Section 8.06. Late Filed Claims Deemed Disputed. Any claim filed after the
applicable Bar Date shall be deemed a Disputed Claim until such time, if any, that such Claim
becomes an Allowed Claim or a Disallowed Claim by order of the Bankruptcy Court.
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ARTICLE IX.
CONDITIONSTO CONSUMMATION OF THE PLAN

Section 9.01. Conditions to Confirmation.

The following are conditions precedent to Confirmation of the Plan that must be
satisfied or waived in accordance with Section 9.03 of the Plan:

@ The Bankruptcy Court shall have entered a Confirmation Order in form
and substance acceptable to the Debtors., PHMC, Siena DIP Lender and Initial DIP Lender (and
which in al cases provides for the satisfaction of the Siena DIP Financing Facility and Initial
DIP Financing Facility on the Effective Date.

(b) The Exit Lender shall have committed to provide financing sufficient to
satisfy the Siena DIP Financing Facility and Initial DIP Financing Facility in full.

Section 9.02. Conditions to Effectiveness. The following are conditions
precedent to the occurrence of the Effective Date, each of which must be satisfied or waived in
accordance with Section 9.03 of this Plan:

@ The Confirmation Order, in form and substance acceptable to the Debtors
and PHMC, shall have been entered and shall not be stayed;

(b) All actions, documents and agreements necessary to implement the Plan,
including receipt by the Debtors of the Distributable Cash, shall have been effected or executed
as determined by the Debtors and PHMC in their sole and absolute discretion, including
execution of all loan documents required by the Exit Lender for the Exit Facility;

(c) The Debtors shall have recelved any authorizations, consents, regulatory
approvals, rulings, letters, no-action letters, opinions or documents that are necessary to
implement the Plan and that are required by law, regulation or order, in each case as determined
by the Debtors and PHMC in their sole and absolute discretion;

(d) The Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation in accordance with
Sections 3 and 7 of the Affiliation Agreement shall have been filed with the Department of State
for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania; and

(e The occurrence of the Restructuring Transactions.

Section 9.03. Waiver of Conditions to Confirmation or Effectiveness. Upon
written notice to the Committee, the Debtors may waive any of the conditions set forth in Section
9.01 and Section 9.02 hereof at any time, without any notice to other parties-in-interest or the
Bankruptcy Court and without any formal action other than proceeding to confirm and/or
consummate the Plan; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Debtors and
PHMC may not waive the conditions set forth in Sections 9.01(a), (b) and 9.02(e) without the
express consent of Siena DIP Lender and Initial DIP Lender. The failure to satisfy any condition
prior to the Confirmation Date or the Effective Date may be asserted by the Debtors, in their sole
and absolute discretion (with written notice to the Committee), as a reason not to seek
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Confirmation or declare an Effective Date, regardless of the circumstances giving rise to the
failure of such condition to be satisfied (including any action or inaction by the Debtors, in their
sole discretion). The failure of the Debtors, in their sole discretion, to exercise any of the
foregoing rights shall not be deemed a waiver of any other rights and each such right shall be
deemed an ongoing right, which may be asserted at any time.

ARTICLE X.
EFFECTS OF CONFIRMATION

Section 10.01. Vesting of Assets. Upon the Effective Date, and conditioned upon
the occurrence of the Restructuring Transactions, pursuant to sections 1141(b) and (c) of the
Bankruptcy Code, all property of each of the Debtors shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors,
subject to the terms and conditions of the Affiliation Agreement, free and clear of al Claims,
Liens, encumbrances, charges and other interests, except as otherwise specifically provided in
the Plan. All Liens, Claims, encumbrances, charges and other interests shal be deemed fully
released and discharged as of the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan. As of
the Effective Date, subject to the terms of the Affiliation Agreement, the Reorganized Debtors
may operate their organizations and may use, acquire and dispose of property and settle and
compromise Claims and Interests without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and
free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules and in all respects as if
there were no pending cases under any chapter or provision of the Bankruptcy Code.

@ Injunction Discharged Claims.  Pursuant to section 1141(d) the
Bankruptcy Code, Confirmation will discharge Claims against the Debtors. No Holder of a
Claim against any Debtor may, on account of such Claim, seek or receive any payment or other
distribution from, or seek recourse against, any of the Debtors respective successors or their
respective property, except as expressly provided herein. Accordingly, except as otherwise
provided herein, the Confirmation Order shall provide, among other things, that no Holder of a
Claim against any Debtor may, on account of such Claim, seek or receive any payment or other
distribution from, or seek recourse against, any of the Debtors respective successors or their
respective property, except that from and after the Confirmation Date, all Persons who have held,
hold, or may hold Claims against the Debtors are permanently enjoined from taking any of the
following actions against the Debtors, or any of their property on account of such Claims. (i)
commencing or continuing, in any manner or in any place, any action or other proceeding; (ii)
enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering in any manner any judgment, award, decree, or
order; (iii) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any Lien or encumbrance; and (iv) commencing or
continuing, in any manner or in any place, any action that does not comply with or is inconsistent
with the provisions of the Plan; provided, however, that nothing contained herein shall preclude
such Persons from exercising their rights pursuant to and consistent with the terms of the Plan.
By accepting distributions pursuant to the Plan, each Holder of an Allowed Claim shall be
deemed to have specifically consented to the injunctions set forth in this Section 10.02.

(b) Exculpation and Limitation of Liability. Except as otherwise specifically
provided in the Plan, to the maximum extent permitted by the Bankruptcy Code and applicable
law, neither the Distribution Agent, the Debtors, nor any Exculpated Person shall have or incur
any liability to any Person, including, without limitation, any Holder of a Claim or Interest or
any other party ininterest, or any of their respective agents, employees, representatives, financia
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advisors, attorneys or Affiliates or any of their successors or assigns, for any act taken or
omission made in connection with, relating to, or arising out of, the Chapter 11 Cases, filing,
negotiating, prosecuting, administering, formulating, implementing, soliciting support or
acceptance of, confirming or consummating this Plan or the Property to be distributed under this
Plan, including all activities leading to the promulgation and Confirmation of the Plan, the
Disclosure Statement (including any information provided or statement made in the Disclosure
Statement or omitted therefrom), or any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or
document created in connection with or related to the Plan or the administration of the Debtors or
these Chapter 11 Cases, provided, however, that the foregoing exculpation shall not apply to any
act of gross negligence or willful misconduct made in connection with, relating to, or arising out
of, the Chapter 11 Cases..

Section 10.02. Releases.

@ Releases by Debtors. Effective as of the Effective Date, and except as
otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, for good and valuable consideration,
the adequacy of which is hereby confirmed, the Debtors, in their individual capacities and as
debtors in possession, will be deemed to have forever released, waived and discharged the
Releasees from any and al Claims, obligations, suits, judgments, damages, demands, debts,
rights, Causes of Action and liabilities (other than the rights of the Debtors or the Distribution
Agent to enforce the Plan and the contracts, instruments, releases, indentures and other
agreements or documents delivered thereunder), whether for tort, contract, violations of federal
or state securities laws, or otherwise, whether liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent,
matured or unmatured, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, then existing or thereafter
arising, in law, equity or otherwise that are based in whole or part on any act, omission,
transaction, event or other occurrence, including actions in connection with indebtedness for
money borrowed by the Debtors, taking place on or prior to the Effective Date, or in any way
relating to the Debtors, the Chapter 11 Cases, or the Plan.

(b) Releases by Holders of Claims and Interests. Effective as of the Effective
Date, and except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, in consideration
for the obligations of the Debtors under the Plan and the payments, contracts, instruments,
releases, agreements or documents to be entered into or delivered in connection with the Plan,
each Person (excluding any of the Debtors) that has held, currently holds or may hold a Claim or
Interest, and any Affiliate of any such Person (as well as any trustee or agent on behalf of each
such Person), shall be deemed to have forever waived, released and discharged the Releasees
from any and all Claims, obligations, suits, judgments, damages, rights, Causes of Action and
liabilities whatsoever (other than the right to enforce the performance of their respective
obligations, if any, to the Debtors or the Distribution Agent under the Plan, and the contracts,
instruments releases and other agreements delivered under the Plan), whether liquidated or
unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, known or unknown, foreseen or
unforeseen, then existing or thereafter arising, in law, equity or otherwise that are based in whole
or in part on any act or omission, transaction, event or other occurrence taking place on or prior
to the Effective Date or in any way relating to the Debtors, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Plan or the
Disclosure Statement other than Claims or liabilities arising out of or relating to any act or
omission that constitutes a failure to perform the duty to act in good faith and where such failure
to perform constitutes willful misconduct, gross negligence, or fraud; provided, that this Section
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10.02(b) shall not release any Person from any Clam or Cause of Action existing as of the
Effective Date, based on (x) the Interna Revenue Code or any other domestic state, city or
municipa tax code, (y) any liability that the Person may have as an owner or operator of real
property after Confirmation under the environmental laws of the United States or any domestic
state, city or municipality or (z) any criminal laws of the United States or any domestic state, city
or municipality.

(c) Injunction. Except as otherwise specificaly provided herein, on the
Effective Date, the Confirmation Order shall constitute an injunction permanently enjoining any
Person (excluding any of the Debtors) that has held, currently holds or may hold a Claim,
demand, debt, right, Cause of Action or liability that is released pursuant to this Section 10.02 of
the Plan from enforcing or attempting to enforce any such Claim, demand, debt, right, Cause of
Action or liability against any Releasee or any of their respective Property.

Section 10.03. Other Documents and Actions. The Debtors are authorized to
execute such documents and take such other action as is necessary to effectuate the transactions
provided for in the Plan.

Section 10.04. Term of Injunctions or Stays. Unless otherwise provided herein or
in the Confirmation Order, all injunctions or stays provided for in the Chapter 11 Cases under
sections 105(a) or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code, or otherwise, and in existence on the
Confirmation Date, shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date.

Section 10.05. Preservation of Insurance. Except as necessary to be consistent
with the Plan, the Plan and the discharge provided herein shall not diminish or impair: (a) the
enforceability of insurance policies that may cover Claims against the Debtors or any other
Person or Entity; or (b) the continuation of workers' compensation programs in effect, including
self-insurance programs.

Section 10.06. Guaranties. Notwithstanding the existence of guaranties by the
Debtors of obligations of any Entity or Entities, and the Debtors joint obligations with another
Entity or Entities with respect to the same obligations, al Claims against the Debtors based upon
any such guaranties shall be satisfied, discharged and released in the manner provided in this
Plan and the Holders of Claims shall be entitled to only one distribution with respect to any
given obligation of the Debtors.

Section 10.07. Subordination Rights. Any distributions under the Plan shall be
received and retained free of and from any obligations to hold or transfer the same to any other
Creditor, and shall not be subject to levy, garnishment, attachment or other legal process by any
Holder by reason of claimed contractual subordination rights, which rights shall be waived and
the Confirmation Order shall constitute an injunction enjoining any Person from enforcing or
attempting to enforce any contractual, lega or equitable subordination rights to Property
distributed under the Plan, in each case other than as provided in the Plan.

Section 10.08. No Successor Liability. Except as otherwise expressly provided in
the Plan and Affiliation Agreement (but prior to the Effective Date, subject to the terms of the
Siena DIP Financing Facility and Initial DIP Financing Facility), none of the Debtors, PHMC or
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the Distribution Agent, pursuant to the Plan or otherwise, assumes, agrees to perform, pays, or
indemnifies or otherwise has any responsibility for any liabilities or obligations of the Debtors or
any other party relating to or arising out of the operations of or assets of the Debtors, whether
arising prior to, on, or after the Effective Date. Neither PHMC nor the Distribution Agent is, or
shall be, a successor to the Debtors by reason of any theory of law or equity, and shall not have
any successor or transferee liability of any kind or character except as expressly provided in the
Plan.

ARTICLE XI.
RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

Section 11.01. Exclusive Jurisdiction of Bankruptcy Court. Notwithstanding the
entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court
shall retain after the Effective Date exclusive jurisdiction of all matters arising out of, arising in
or related to the Chapter 11 Cases to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, including,
without limitation, jurisdiction to:

@ classify or establish the priority or secured or unsecured status of any
Claim (whether filed before or after the Effective Date and whether or not contingent, Disputed
or unliquidated) or resolve any dispute as to the treatment of any Claim pursuant to the Plan;

(b) grant or deny any applications for allowance of compensation or
reimbursement of expenses pursuant to sections 330, 331 or 503(b) of the Bankruptcy Code or
otherwise provided for in the Plan, for periods ending on or before the Effective Date;

(c) determine and resolve any matters related to the assumption, assumption
and assignment or rejection of any executory contract or unexpired lease to which any Debtor is
a party or with respect to which any Debtor may be liable, and to hear, determine and, if
necessary, liquidate any Claims arising therefrom;

(d) ensure that all payments due under the Plan and performance of the
provisions of the Plan are accomplished as provided herein and resolve any issues relating to
distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims pursuant to the provisions of the Plan;

(e construe, take any action and issue such orders, prior to and following the
Confirmation Date and consistent with section 1142 of the Bankruptcy Code, as may be
necessary for the enforcement, implementation, execution and consummation of the Plan and all
contracts, instruments, releases, indentures and other agreements or documents created in
connection with the Plan, including, without limitation, the Disclosure Statement and the
Confirmation Order, for the maintenance of the integrity of the Plan and protection of the
Distribution Agent in accordance with sections 524 and 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code following
consummation;

()] determine and resolve any cases, controversies, suits or disputes that may

arise in connection with the consummation, interpretation, implementation or enforcement of the
Plan (and all Exhibits to the Plan) or the Confirmation Order, including the indemnification and
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injunction provisions set forth in and contemplated by the Plan or the Confirmation Order, or any
Entity’ srights arising under or obligations incurred in connection therewith;

(@ hear any application of the Distribution Agent or the Debtors to modify
the Plan after the Effective Date pursuant to section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code and Section
12.04 hereof or modify the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract,
instrument, release, indenture or other agreement or document created in connection with the
Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order, or remedy any defect or omission or
reconcile any inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, the Plan, the Disclosure Statement,
the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release, indenture or other agreement or
document created in connection with the Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation
Order, in such manner as may be necessary or appropriate to consummate the Plan, to the extent
authorized by the Bankruptcy Code and the Plan;

(h) issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders or take such other
actions as may be necessary or appropriate to restrain interference by any Entity with
consummation, implementation or enforcement of the Plan or the Confirmation Order;

() enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the
Confirmation Order is for any reason modified, stayed, reversed, revoked or vacated;

() determine any other matters that may arise in connection with or relating
to the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument,
release, indenture or other agreement or document created in connection with the Plan, the
Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order, except as otherwise provided in the Plan;

(k) determine such other matters and for such other purposes as may be
provided in the Confirmation Order;

() hear and determine any other matters related hereto and not inconsistent
with chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code;

(m)  hear and determine disputes arising in connection with the interpretation,
implementation or enforcement of the Plan,

(n) enter one or more Final Decrees closing each of the Chapter 11 Cases,

(0 determine and resolve any and all controversies relating to the rights and
obligations of the Distribution Agent in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases;

(P alow, disallow, determine, liquidate or estimate any Claim, including the
compromise, settlement and resolution of any request for payment of any Claim, the resolution
of any Objections to the allowance of Claims and to hear and determine any other issue
presented hereby or arising hereunder, including during the pendency of any appeal relating to
any Objection to such Claim (to the extent permitted under applicable law);
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(9 permit the Debtors or the Distribution Agent, to the extent provided for in
the Plan, to recover all assets of the Debtors and Property of their respective Estates, wherever
located;

(9] hear and determine any motions or contested matters involving taxes, tax
refunds, tax attributes and tax benefits and similar or related matters with respect to the Debtors
or the Debtors' respective Estates arising prior to the Effective Date or relating to the period of
administration of the Chapter 11 Cases, including, without limitation, matters concerning federal,
state and local taxes in accordance with sections 346, 505 and 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code; and

() hear and determine any motions, applications, adversary proceedings,
contested matters and other litigated matters pending on, filed or commenced after the Effective
Date that may be commenced by the Debtors or the Distribution Agent thereafter, including
Avoidance Actions, proceedings with respect to the rights of the Debtors or the Distribution
Agent to recover Property under sections 502, 510, 541, 542, 543, 544, 545, 547, 548, 550, 551
or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code, or proceedings to otherwise collect to recover on account of any
Claim or Cause of Action that the Debtors may have had.

Section 11.02. Failure of Bankruptcy Court to Exercise Jurisdiction. If the
Bankruptcy Court abstains from exercising or declines to exercise jurisdiction over any matter
arising under, arising in or related to the Debtors, including with respect to the matters set forth
above in Section 11.01 hereof, this Article XI shall not prohibit or limit the exercise of
jurisdiction by any other court having competent jurisdiction with respect to such subject matter.

ARTICLE XI1I.
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 12.01. Binding Effect of Plan. The provisions of the Plan shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the Debtors, the Estates, the Distribution Agent, any Holder of
any Claim or Interest treated herein or any Person named or referred to in the Plan, and each of
their respective heirs, executors, administrators, representatives, predecessors, SUCCeSSOrs,
assigns, agents, officers and directors, and, to the fullest extent permitted under the Bankruptcy
Code and other applicable law, each other Person affected by the Plan.

Section 12.02. Withdrawal of the Plan. The Debtors reserve the right, at any time
prior to Confirmation of the Plan, to withdraw the Plan. If the Plan is withdrawn, the Plan shall
be null and void and have no force and effect. In such event, nothing contained herein shall be
deemed to constitute a waiver or release of any Claims by or against the Debtors or any other
Person or to prgjudice in any manner the rights of the Debtors or any Person in any further
proceedings involving the Debtors.

Section 12.03. Final Order. Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan,
any requirement in the Plan for a Fina Order may be waived by the Debtors, in their sole
discretion, provided, however, that in the event the Debtors determine in good faith that any such
waiver would constitute a breach of the Debtors fiduciary duties, the Debtors may seek to
prevent any such waiver by seeking an order of the Bankruptcy Court on an expedited basis upon
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written notice to the Bankruptcy Court. No such waiver shal prejudice the right of any party in
interest to seek a stay pending appeal of any order that isnot aFina Order.

Section 12.04. Modification of the Plan. The Debtors may amend or modify the
Plan in accordance with section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code or as otherwise permitted at any
time prior to the Confirmation Date; provided, however, that such amendment or modification
may not alter the provisions of Sections 7.02, 9.01, or 9.02 without the consent of Siena DIP
Lender and Initial DIP Lender. After the Confirmation Date and prior to the substantial
consummation of the Plan, and in accordance with the provisions of section 1127(b) of the
Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules, the Debtors may, so long as the treatment of
Holders of Claims or Interests under the Plan is not adversely affected, institute proceedings in
the Bankruptcy Court to remedy any defect or omission or to reconcile any inconsistenciesin the
Plan, the Disclosure Statement or the Confirmation Order and any other matters as may be
necessary to carry out the purposes and effects of the Plan; provided, however, prior notice of
such proceedings shall be served in accordance with Bankruptcy Rules 2002 and 9014.

Section 12.05. Business Days. If any payment or act under the Plan is required to
be made or performed on a date that is a Saturday, Sunday, Federal or Bank Holiday, then the
making of such payment or the performance of such act may be completed on the next
succeeding business day, but shall be deemed to have been completed as of the required date.

Section 12.06. Severability. Should the Bankruptcy Court determine, prior to the
Confirmation Date, that any provision of the Plan is either illegal on its face or illegal as applied
to any Claim or Interest, such provision shall be unenforceable as to all Holders of Claims or
Interests or to the specific Holder of such Claim or Interest, as the case may be, as to which such
provisionisillegal. Unless otherwise determined by the Bankruptcy Court, such a determination
of unenforceability shall in no way limit or affect the enforceability and operative effect of any
other provision of the Plan.

Section 12.07. Governing Law. EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
BANKRUPTCY CODE OR BANKRUPTCY RULES OR OTHER FEDERAL LAWS ARE
APPLICABLE, AND SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF ANY CONTRACT,
INSTRUMENT, RELEASE, INDENTURE OR OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT
ENTERED INTO IN CONNECTION WITH THE PLAN, THE CONSTRUCTION,
IMPLEMENTATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE PLAN AND ALL RIGHTS AND
OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THE PLAN SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND
CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICTS
OF-LAW PRINCIPLES WHICH WOULD APPLY THE LAW OF A JURISDICTION OTHER
THAN THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA.

Section 12.08. Post-Effective Date Status of the Committee. Unless previously
dissolved by the Office of the United States Trustee, the Committee shall continue in existence
until the Effective Date, with the Debtors to pay the reasonable fees and expenses of the
Committee and its professionals through the Effective Date. The Committee shall have standing
to participate in proceedings brought by its respective professionals or, if applicable, members,
for alowance of fees and/or reimbursement of expenses as permitted by law. Except as provided
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in this Section 12.08 or above, the Committee shall be dissolved on the Effective Date, and the
members, attorneys, accountants, and other professionals thereof shal be released and
discharged of and from all further authority, duties, responsibilities, liabilities, and obligations
related to, or arising from, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Plan, or its implementation.

Section 12.09. Payment of Statutory Fees. All U.S. Trustee's Fee Claims, as
determined, if necessary, by the Bankruptcy Court at the hearing pursuant to section 1128 of the
Bankruptcy Code, shall be paid on or before the Effective Date by the Debtors.

Section 12.10. Post-Confirmation Operating Reports. To the extent required, the
Debtors shall File quarterly operating reports as required by the United States Trustee until such
time as a Final Decree or other order is entered under section 350(a) of the Bankruptcy Code
closing the Bankruptcy Cases.

Section 12.11. Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be provided under
this Plan to the Debtors, or any request for information with respect to the Plan, shall be in
writing and served by either (a) certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, (b) hand
delivery or (c) reputable overnight delivery service, freight prepaid, to be addressed as follows:

Wordsworth Academy

3300 Henry Avenue
Philadelphia, PA 19129

Attn: Don Stewart

Email: dstewart@wordsworth.org

With copiesto:

Dilworth Paxson LLP

1500 Market Street

Suite 3500E

Philadel phia, PA 19102

Attn.: Lawrence G. McMichae

Email: Imcmichael @dilworthlaw.com

Section 12.12. Filing of Additional Documents. Draft forms of certain Plan
Documents and certain other documents, agreements, instruments, schedules and exhibits
specified in the Plan shall, where expressly so provided for in this Plan, be contained in Plan
supplements filed from time to time, al of which shall be filed with the Bankruptcy Court no
later than 10 calendar days prior to the Voting Deadline. Unless otherwise expressly provided in
the Plan, the Debtors shall remain free to modify or amend any such documents after such date.
Upon filing with the Bankruptcy Court, the Plan supplements may be inspected in the office of
the clerk of the Bankruptcy Court during normal court hours. Holders of Claims or Interests may
also obtain a copy of the Plan supplements from Debtors counsel or the Bankruptcy Court’s
Website (located at www.paeb.uscourts.gov).

Section 12.13. Section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors have, and
upon Confirmation of the Plan shall be deemed to have, solicited acceptances of the Plan in good

37

119642060_9



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 102 of 251

faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and (b) the
Debtors (and each of their respective Affiliates, officers, directors, employees, consultants,
agents, advisors, members, attorneys, accountants, financial advisors, other representatives and
Professionals), have participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions
of the Bankruptcy Code in the offer, issuance, sale, and purchase of any securities offered and
sold under the Plan, and are not, and on account of such offer, issuance, sale, solicitation, and/or
purchase will not be, liable at any time for the violation of any applicable law, rule, or regulation
governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of the Plan or the offer, issuance, sae, or
purchase of any securities offered and sold under the Plan.

Section 12.14. Section 1146 Exemption. To the fullest extent permitted under
section 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, the issuance, transfer or exchange of any security under
the Plan, if any, or the execution, delivery or recording of an instrument of transfer under the
Plan, or the revesting, transfer or sale of any real or other Property of or to the Debtors or the
Distribution Agent, shall not be taxed under any state or local law imposing a stamp tax, transfer
tax or smilar tax or fee. Consistent with the foregoing, each recorder of deeds or similar official
for any county, city or governmental unit in which any instrument hereunder is to be recorded
shall, pursuant to the Confirmation Order, be ordered and directed to accept such instrument,
without requiring the payment of any documentary stamp tax, deed stamps, stamp tax, transfer
tax, mortgage recording tax, intangible tax or similar tax.

Section 12.15. Time. Unless otherwise specified herein, in computing any period
of time prescribed or allowed by the Plan, the Day of the act or event from which the designated
period begins to run shall not be included. The last Day of the period so computed shall be
included, unless it is not a Business Day, in which event the period runs until the end of next
succeeding Day that isa Business Day. Otherwise, the provisions of Bankruptcy Rule 9006 shall

apply.

Section 12.16. No Attorneys Fees. No attorneys fees will be paid by the
Debtors with respect to any Claim or Interest except as expressly specified herein or by order of
the Bankruptcy Court.

Section 12.17. No Injunctive Relief. No Claim or Interest shall under any
circumstances be entitled to specific performance or other injunctive, equitable or other
prospective relief.

Section 12.18. Continued Confidentiality Obligations. Pursuant to the terms
thereof, members of and advisors to the Committee, any other Holder of a Claim or Interest, and
their respective predecessors, successors and assigns shall continue to be obligated and bound by
the terms of any confidentiality agreement executed by them in connection with these Chapter 11
Cases or the Debtors, to the extent that such agreement, by its terms, may continue in effect after
the Confirmation Date.

Section 12.19. No Admissions or Waivers. Notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, nothing contained in the Plan shall be deemed an admission or waiver by the
Debtors with respect to any matter set forth herein, including, without limitation, liability on any
Claim or Interest or the propriety of any classification of any Claim or Interest.
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Section 12.20. Entire Agreement. The Plan, together with the Plan Documents
(and all Exhibits to the Plan and any Plan supplements that may be filed), sets forth the entire
agreement and undertakings relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
discussions and documents. The Debtors shall not be bound by any terms, conditions,
definitions, warranties, understandings, or representations with respect to the subject matter
hereof, other than as expressly provided for herein or as may hereafter be agreed to by the parties
in writing.

Section 12.21. Waiver. The Debtors reserve the right to waive any provision of
this Plan to the extent such provision is for the sole benefit of the Debtors and/or their officers or
directors.

Section 12.22. Bar Date for Professionals. Applications for compensation for
services rendered and reimbursement of expenses incurred by Professionals from the Petition
Date through the Effective Date shall be filed no later than forty-five (45) days after the Effective
Date. Such applications shall be served on: (@) the Debtors; (b) Lawrence G. McMichadl,
Dilworth Paxson LLP, 1500 Market Street, Suite 3500E, Philadelphia, PA 19102, counsel to the
Debtors; (c) the Office of the United States Trustee; and (d) S. Jason Teele, Cullen and Dykman
LLP, One Riverfront Plaza, Newark, NJ 07102, counsel to the Committee. Applications that are
not timely filed will not be considered by the Court. The Debtors or the Distribution Agent may
pay any Professional fees and expenses incurred on or after the Effective Date without any
application to the Bankruptcy Court.

The Debtors hereby request Confirmation of the Plan pursuant to section 1129(a)
or section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

Dated: October 6, 2017
WORDSWORTH ACADEMY,
WORDSWORTH CUA 5, LLC,
WORDSWORTH CUA 10, LLC

By:  /s/Don Stewart

Name: Don Stewart

Title: Chief Financial Officer and Acting
Chief Executive Officer,
Wordsworth Academy and
Authorized Officer pursuant to the
Resolution of the Boards of Directors
of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and
Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC
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Schedule 6.02(a)
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Wordsworth Academy et al

List of Assumed Contracts/Agreements

Contractor/Agr eement Type Sub-Type Primary Programs
Arrimour Group Vendor L andscape FW
Unemployment
Dunn Cor por ate Resour ces V endor tax consultant HR / agency
commercial MV
| nter state Fleet Vendor lease FR
General Healthcar e Resour ces
(GHR) Vendor | Staffing Agency Acute Services
Therapy Source Vendor | Staffing Agency agency
ADP Vendor payroll Agency
US Medical Vendor | Staffing Agency Acute ServicessBHRS/IFW
Netsmart Vendor training LMS Agency
Earthscapes Vendor snow removal FW
licensefee
M ST Services Vendor renewal MST
Record retention
Iron Mountain Vendor and shredding Agency
Credible V endor EMR Provider Agency
Med Flex Vendor Medica waste FW- school
Serenity ERP Vendor
Staffing Plus Vendor | Staffing Agency Acute ServicesBHRS
answering service
TAS Message Vendor for patients
American Alarm Technology Vendor swipe cards IT
Enhanced ConnectionsLLC Vendor
Sgeaky Clean Vendor Janitorial Agency
oncall phone
Patient Calls Vendor service FFS and CUA
Barricuda Vendor | Computer security IT
Verizon Vendor Cell phones Agency
Abington Speech Vendor | Staffing Agency
Axion Vendor | Staffing Agency
FMA Vendor | Staffing Agency Acute Services
Binary Research Vendor Web design CUA
electronic school
Power Schoal Vendor records APS
4041 Corporation Landlord Lancaster Lease
Career Builder Vendor | Staffing Agency Agency
WellsFargo V endor copier leases
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Attachment 1

[Affiliation Agreement]
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AFFILIATION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT, made this 26" day of June, 2017 (the “Execution Date™), by and
between PUBLIC HEALTH MANAGEMENT CORPORATION ("PHMC"), a Pennsylvania
nonprofit corporation, and WORDSWORTH ACADEMY (“Wordsworth”), a Pennsylvania
nonprofit corporation. PHMC and Wordsworth shall be referred to individually as a “Party” and
collectively as the “Parties” herein.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, PHMC is a Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation exempt from federal income
tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
engaged in the conduct and the management of activities relating to health care and the delivery
and improvement of health care services; and

WHEREAS, Wordsworth is a Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation exempt from federal
income tax under Code Section 501(c)(3) and is organized and operated for religious, charitable,
scientific, literary and educational purposes to provide quality education, treatment, and care to
children and families with special needs; and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to affiliate with each other in furtherance of their
respective charitable and tax-exempt purposes, under and subject to terms and conditions of this
Agreement, as a result of which PHMC will become the sole member and parent of Wordsworth.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties hereto, in consideration of the foregoing and of the
mutual covenants contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:

1. Affiliation.

A Subject to the terms of this Agreement, PHMC and Wordsworth shall affiliate with each
other so that, in addition to the relationship and respective obligations of the Parties described
herein, pursuant to a separate written agreement (the “Management Agreement”), PHMC shall
provide to Wordsworth certain back office, administrative and other support, including
management, operational services, and access to information technology and other resources
(the “Services”). Upon the filing of Wordsworth’s Amended and Restated Articles of
Incorporation (the “Articles™) in accordance with Sections 3 and 7 below, PHMC shall become
the sole member and parent of Wordsworth, and Wordsworth shall become a membership
subsidiary of PHMC (the “Affiliation”). PHMC’s rights as the sole member and parent of
Wordsworth are subject to the provisions of applicable law, the terms of Wordsworth’s Articles
and By-laws as adopted pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and the terms of this
Agreement. The Wordsworth name shall be changed to a name mutually satisfactory to PHMC
and Wordsworth. The Wordsworth corporate entity shall be maintained as a separate entity
(with a rebranded name) for a minimum of two (2) years barring a critical event such as a major
financial loss, force majeure or other catastrophic event after the Effective Date (defined
below).
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B.  Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA
10, LLC shall affiliate with PHMC’s subsidiary entity Turning Points for Children (“TPFC")
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. Upon the filing of Wordsworth’s Amended and
Restated Certificates of Organization for both Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA
10, LLC (the “Certificates”) and in accordance with Sections 3 and 7 below, TPFC shall
become the sole member and parent of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC, and Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC shall become a
membership subsidiary of TPFC (the “TPFC Affiliation”). TPFC’s rights as the sole member
and parent of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC are subject to the
provisions of applicable law, the terms of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10,
LLC, Certificates and Operating Agreements as adopted pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement.

2. Effective Date. The Affiliation shall be effective on the date the Articles are filed
and accepted with the Pennsylvania Department of State (the “Effective Date™). The Articles
shall be filed with the Department of State on the Plan Effective Date (as defined below). Prior
to the Effective Date, PHMC shall perform the Services and receive the compensation for such
Services pursuant to the Management Agreement.

3. Amendment of Governing Documents; AG Approval. As soon as practicable after
the Execution Date, the Parties shall jointly provide formal written notice of the intent to
consummate the Affiliation to the Pennsylvania Office of the Aftorney General, Charitable
Trusts and Organizations Section (the “PA AG”), requesting a letter of no-objection (the “No
Objection Letter”). Upon receipt of the No Objection Letter and on the Plan Effective Date,
Wordsworth shall cause its Articles to be amended and restated to provide that PHMC shall be
Wordsworth’s sole member, by amending and restating the Articles in the form attached as
Exhibit A; Wordsworth shall cause its By-laws to be amended and restated so that the By-laws
attached to this Agreement as Exhibit B are the By-laws (the “Wordsworth By-laws™) of
Wordsworth in effect on the Effective Date; and Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth
CUA 10, LLC shall cause the Certificates to be amended and restated to provide that TPFC
shall be the sole member of both Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC in
accordance with the forms attached hereto as Exhibit C and each of its Operating Agreements
to be amended and restated so that the Amended and Restated Operating Agreements attached
as Exhibit D are the Operating Agreements of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth
CUA 10, LLC respectively as of the Effective Date.

4. Management Agreement. Wordsworth acknowledges that, effective and to be
implemented as of June 26, 2017, Wordsworth and PHMC will enter into a mutually agreeable
Management Agreement, pursuant to which PHMC shall provide the Services to Wordsworth,
as more fully described in the Management Agreement.

5. Govemnance.

A. As provided for in Section 7.3 of the Wordsworth By-laws PHMC shall
appoint all Directors, but for a term of at least two (2) year, at least three (3) of the members of
the post-affiliation Wordsworth Board of Directors shall be persons who were members of the
pre-affiliation Wordsworth Board of Directors.
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B. As provided for in Section 5.6 of the Wordsworth By-laws, PHMC, as the
sole member of Wordsworth, shall have reserved powers of approval of PHMC for
“fundamental transactions™ such as mergers, acquisitions, dissolution and mortgages, and other
extraordinary actions to be taken by Wordsworth.

D. On and after the Effective Date, PHMC shall appoint one (1) member of
the pre-affiliation Wordsworth Board of Directors to the Board of Directors of PHMC for a
minimum of one (1) full term, in accordance with the Bylaws of PHMC, and one (1) member of
the pre-affiliation Wordsworth Board of Directors to the Board of Directors of Tuming Points
for Children for a minimum of one full (1) term, in accordance with the Bylaws of such PHMC
subsidiary.

6. Charitable and Financial Provisions. On and after the Effective Date, to the fullest
extent practicable using reasonable efforts and subject to the terms of this Agreement, PHMC
shall:

A. maintain Wordsworth’s education, behavioral and treatment programs
(“Programs”) following the Effective Date so long as the financial viability of the Programs
remains reasonably satisfactory. Wordsworth’s education programs shall be maintained for a
minimum of two (2) years, barring a critical event such as a loss of licensure, an act of God, or a
major financial loss, and the Fort Washington school property shall be retained as an asset of
Wordsworth for at least an equal period (subject to the Play and Learn lease and standing
operational practices between the landlord and the tenant, and subject to the possibility that an
additional portion of the property may be sold to the existing Play and Learn tenant.) and barring
a critical event such as a loss of licensure, an act of God, or a major financial loss.

B. use its best efforts to retain current employees and specifically key
managerial staff of the Programs in compliance with PHMC’s existing policies and procedures
goveming its existing staff; provided, however, that such employment is conditional upon the
financial ability of the Programs to provide for the salaries of such employees and key
managerial staff;

C. extend to Wordsworth additional credit or arrange additional lines of
credit of not less than $1,000,000, as reasonably needed to sustain charitable programs which are
financially viable, but which may have cash flow issues, for example, due to payor payment
delays and such payment is in conjunction with the provisions provided in Section 7F herein.

D. use best efforts to retain the Wordsworth honorariums established for the
Affiliation as described on Schedule 6D attached hereto and made a part hereof.

E. ensure that Wordsworth’s current donor-restricted funds, as described on
Schedule 6E attached hereto and made a part hereof, will be used solely to support Wordsworth,
in a manner that is consistent with any applicable donor restrictions on such funds.

7. Chapter 11 Bankruptcy.

A. PHMC acknowledges that the Board of Directors of Wordsworth has
determined (i) to seek a financial restructuring through a chapter 11 plan of reorganization (the

3
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“Reorganization™) pursuant to sections 1125, 1126 and 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C.
§§101 et seq., and (ii) to file a petition for Reorganization (the “Petition”) with the Unites States
Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (the “Bankruptcy Court”) on or before
June 30, 2017 with the intent to submit a full Plan of Reorganization (the “Plan”) on or after June
30, 2017 which will incorporate the terms of this Agreement.

B. PHMC hereby consents to the filing of the Petition with the Bankruptcy Court.

C. As a condition precedent to consummate the Affiliation, the Plan and the
Bankruptcy Court’s Order confirming the Plan shall be acceptable to PHMC in PHMC’s sole
discretion. Without limiting the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that, except to the extent
expressly assumed by PHMC as part of the Plan, PHMC will require for its acceptance of any
Plan the discharge of any and all prepetition unsecured claims associated with Wordsworth.

D. The Articles shall be filed with the Pennsylvania Department of State on
the date on which all conditions to consummation of the Plan have been satisfied (or waived)
(the “Plan Effective Date").

E. The Certificates shall be filed the Pennsylvania Department of State on the
date immediately following on which all conditions to consummation of the Plan have been
satisfied (or waived) (the “Plan Effective Date”).

F. As of the Plan Effective Date, PHMC shall replace Wordsworth’s line of
credit in full so long as PHMC’s bank has approved the replacement subject to adequate
borrowing base certificate collateral.

G. As of the Plan Effective Date, PHMC shall obtain any necessary mortgage
financing required to replace Wordsworth’s current mortgage financing so long as PHMC’s bank
has approved the replacement subject to approved collateral to support the real estate mortgage
requirements.

8. PHMC Warranties. PHMC represents and warrants to Wordsworth as follows:

A PHMC is a nonprofit corporation duly organized, validly existing, in good
standing and subsisting under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and has all
requisite corporate power and authority to carry on its activities and to execute, deliver and
perform this Agreement and the transactions and Affiliation contemplated hereby. This
Agreement has been duly authorized by proper corporate action of PHMC and constitutes the
valid and binding obligation of PHMC, enforceable against PHMC in accordance with its terms.

B. PHMC is exempt from federal income taxes as a public charity under
Sections 501(c)(3) and 509(a)(1) of the Code and is duly registered as a charitable organization
with the Pennsylvania Department of State, Bureau of Corporations and Charitable
Organizations. Such status is not currently subject to, and to the best of PHMC's knowledge is
not threatened to be made subject to, any administrative or other proceeding by the Internal
Revenue Service or any other governmental agency.
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9, Wordsworth Warranties. As of the Effective Date, Wordsworth will provide to
PHMC the representations and warranties attached hereto as Exhibit C, duly certified by
authorized officers of Wordsworth. The authorized officers of Wordsworth shall sign and issue,
without personal liability, a Certificate to PHMC certifying that the representations and
warranties as contained in Exhibit C are, to the best of each said officer’s knowledge,
information and belief after reasonable inquiry, true and correct in all material respects.

10.  PHMC Conditions Precedent to_Closing. Notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, the obligations of PHMC to consummate the Affiliation are subject to the
fulfillment, on or prior to the Effective Date, of the following conditions precedent unless (but
only to the extent) waived in writing by PHMC prior to the Effective Date:

A. Representations and Warranties. Wordsworth shall deliver Exhibit C to
this Agreement duly executed by the Executive officers of Wordsworth. The representations
and warranties of Wordsworth contained in Exhibit C shall be true and correct in all material
respects as of the Effective Date.

B. Governmental Approvals. Except for any documents required to be filed,
or consents, authorizations, orders, or approvals required to be issued after the Effective Date, all
consents, authorizations, orders, and approvals of (or filings or registrations with) any
Government Authority required in connection with the execution, delivery, and performance of
this Agreement shall have been obtained or made by Wordsworth including but not limited to:

6] the consents and/or notification letters from the contracting
agencies disclosed on Schedule 9.B(ii)(b);

(ii) the No Objection Letter; and

(iii)  if review of the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia County,
Orphans’ Court Division (the “Orphans’ Court”) is required by the PA AG, the issuance of an
order by the Orphans’ Court stating that the Affiliation would not constitute a diversion of the
Wordsworth assets from the purposes for which they were donated, granted, or devised within
the meaning of Section 5547(b) of the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law of 1988, as
amended (the “Act”).

C. Resolutions. Wordsworth shall deliver certified Resolutions of the
Wordsworth Board approving the Affiliation, this Agreement, and related documents.

D. No Change in Tax Status. Wordsworth shall have experienced no material
adverse change in its financial condition or tax status, other than the filing of a Chapter 11
bankruptcy proceeding.

E- Plan of Reorganization and Order Confirming the Plan. The Plan and the
Bankruptcy Court’s Order confirming the Plan shall be acceptable to PHMC.

1. Wordsworth Conditions Precedent to Closing. Notwithstanding anything herein
to the contrary, the obligations of Wordsworth to consummate the Affiliation are subject to the
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fulfillment, on or prior to the Effective Date, of the following conditions precedent unless (but
only to the extent) waived in writing by Wordsworth prior to the Effective Date:

A. Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of
PHMC contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the
Execution Date and Effective Date.

B. Resolutions, PHMC shall deliver to Wordsworth a certified Resolution
of its Board of Directors approving the Affiliation, this Agreement and related documents.

C. No Change in Tax Status. PHMC shall have experienced no material
adverse change in its tax status.

D. Replacement of Line of Credit. As of the Plan Effective Date, PHMC
shall replace Wordsworth’s current M & T Bank line of credit in full.

E. Replacement of Mortgage Financing. As of the Plan Effective Date,
PHMC shall obtain any necessary mortgage financing required to replace Wordsworth’s
current mortgage financing.

12, Mutual Covenants; Indemnification; Confidentiality: Termination.

A Operations. Wordsworth and PHMC each covenant and agree that,
during the period from the Execution Date to the Effective Date each will:

() continue to carry out its charitable operations in the ordinary
course and in accordance with its articles of incorporation, bylaws, and applicable laws and
regulations; provided, however, that: (A) Wordsworth may file as the debtor in a Chapter 11
bankruptcy proceeding prior to the Effective Date; (B) if an action conducted in the ordinary
course of Wordsworth’s charitable operations conflicts with any provision of the Management
Agreement or this Agreement other than this Section 11.A (such a provision, a “Conflicting
Provision™), Wordsworth shall act in accordance with the Conflicting Provision, ©)
Wordsworth shall not enter into any agreement, contract, or commitment, written or oral,
pursuant to which Wordsworth will be a party or by which Wordsworth will be bound after the
Effective Date, without the prior written notice to PHMC, and (D) Wordsworth will not sell,
transfer, or assign any Program assets or incur any debt without prior written approval of
PHMC;

(i)  obtain the approval of the other Party before issuing any press
release regarding the Affiliation; and

(iii)  in good faith use all reasonable efforts to obtain satisfaction of
conditions to closing as provided for in Sections 10 and 11 of this Agreement.

B. Indemnification.

(i) Each Party shall defend, indemnify, and hold wholly harmless
the other Party, its officers, directors, employees, agents, or independent contractors, from and
against any and all losses, liabilities, damages, costs (including, without limitation, court costs
and costs of appeal), and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees

6
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and fees of expert consultants and witnesses) that such Party incurs as a result of, or with
respect to any misrepresentation or breach of warranty by such Party under this Agreement or
any material breach by such Party of, or any failure by the Party to perform, any covenant or
agreement of, or required to be performed by, such Party under this Agreement.

(i)  Each party shall defend, indemnify, and hold wholly harmless
the other party, its officers, directors, employees, agents, or independent contractors, from and
against any and all losses, liabilities, damages, costs (including, without limitation, court costs
and costs of appeal), and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees
and fees of expert consultants and witnesses) that the party to be indemnified incurs which
relate to or arise out of negligent or willful misconduct, breach of agreement, or omissions
attributable to the other party prior to the Effective Date.

C. Confidentiality.

(a) Each Party agrees that both prior and subsequent to the Effective
Date, or in the event the Affiliation is terminated in accordance with Section 12.D, it will
maintain the confidentiality of all confidential information, documents, or instruments
delivered to it by the other Party hereto or its agents in connection with the negotiation of this
Agreement or in compliance with the terms, conditions, and covenants hereof (the
“Confidential Information”) and will only disclose such Confidential Information to its duly
authorized officers, members, directors, representatives, and agents (including consultants,
attorneys, and accountants of each Party) and applicable Governmental Authorities in
connection with any required notification or application for approval or exemption therefrom.

(b)  Each Party hereto agrees that if the transactions contemplated
hereby are not consummated, it will return all Confidential Information to the other Party or
destroy such Confidential Information at the other parties’ direction.

(c) Each Party hereto recognizes that any breach of this Section 12.C
would result in irreparable harm to the other Party and that such Party shall be entitled to an
injunction to prohibit any such breach or anticipated breach, without the necessity of posting a
bond, cash, or otherwise, in addition to all of its other legal and equitable remedies.

(d) Nothing in this Section 11.C, however, shall prohibit the use of
such Confidential Information for such governmental filings as in the opinion of a Party’s
counsel are required by law or are otherwise required to be disclosed pursuant to applicable
state or federal law.

D. Termination Prior to the Effective Date. This Agreement shall terminate
and cease to be effective with respect to the Parties if, prior to the Effective Date:

(1) the Affiliation jeopardizes the tax-exempt status, reputation, property, or
financing (or interest on income thereon) of PHMC or Wordsworth, as determined in such
Party’s sole discretion;
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(i)  if the Orphans’ Court refuses to approve the Affiliation or otherwise
issues an order stating that the Affiliation would constitute a diversion of the Wordsworth
assets from the purposes for which they were donated, granted, or devised within the meaning
of Section 5547(b) of the Act;

(iii)  without the consent of the other Party, a receiver, liquidator, or trustee of
either Party is appointed by court order;

(iv)  without the consent of the other Party, either Party is adjudicated
bankrupt or insolvent;

(v)  without the consent of the other Party, the property of either Party is
sequestered by a court order;

(vi)  without the consent of the other Party, a voluntary petition is filed with
respect to either Party under any bankruptey, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency,
readjustment of debt, dissolution, or liquidation law of any jurisdiction;

(vii)  the proposed Affiliation is deemed illegal;

(viii) without the consent of the other Party, either Party makes an assignment
for the benefit of its creditors; or

(ix)  any Party shall elect to terminate the Management Agreement prior to
the Plan Effective Date.

13.  No Assumption of Liabilities. The Affiliation provided for in this Agreement
extends only to the establishment of PHMC as Wordsworth's sole member, with each Party
retaining its corporate identity. Neither Party is assuming or intends to assume any of the
liabilities or obligations of the other under any circumstances, and no such assumption of
liability shall be implied.

14. Further Assurances and Cooperation. Each Party shall take such action, execute
and deliver such documents and provide such cooperation as the other may reasonably request
to effectuate the terms of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, with the
least disruption to the business and affairs of the Parties reasonably practicable.

15. Survival.

A. Representations_and Warranties. All representations and warranties
made in this Agreement shall survive the consummation of the transactions provided for in this
Agreement. Each representation and warranty contained herein is independent of all other
representations and warranties contained herein and must be independently and separately
complied with and satisfied. Exceptions or qualifications to any representations and warranties
contained herein shall not be construed as exceptions or qualifications to any other
representation or warranty. No representation or warranty shall be deemed to have been
waived, affected, or impaired by any investigation made by any Party to this Apgreement,
provided that no Party shall claim a breach of representation or warranty by the other Party if
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the claiming Party had actual knowledge of the facts constituting the breach as of the date of
this Agreement.

B. Survival Upon Termination. Sections 12.B, 12.C, 13, 15, 18, 19, 20, and
21 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

16. General Terms.

A. The paragraph headings of this Agreement are for convenience of
reference only and do not form a part of the terms and conditions of this Agreement or give full
notice thereof,

B. Neither Party may assign or transfer all or any portion of this Agreement,
voluntarily, involuntarily, by operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of
the other Party, and any attempted assignment or transfer to the contrary shall be null and void
and have no effect.

17.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be amended or modified in any
manner except by a written agreement, duly executed by the Party to be charged.

18. Notices. Al notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder
shall be in writing, shall be addressed to the receiving Party’s address set forth below or to such
other address as a Party may designate by notice hereunder, and shall be delivered (i) by hand,
(i) by a nationally recognized overnight courier, or (iii) by first class mail or by registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid.

If to PHMC: Public Health Management Corporation
Centre Square East
1500 Market Street
Philadelphia, PA 19102
Attention: Jill Schulson, Esq.

If Wordsworth: Wordsworth Academy
3300 Henry Avenue
Philadelphia, PA 19129
Attention: Don Stewart

All notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder shall be deemed to have
been given upon receipt, except that if sent by certified or registered mail the date of delivery
shall be the date of delivery specified on the receipt.

19.  Goveming Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, without reference to principles
of conflict of laws.

20.  Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or
unenforceable shall be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without
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rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement. In all
such cases, the Parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to substitute a valid, legal
and enforceable provision that, insofar as practicable, implements the original purposes and
intents of this Agreement.

21.  No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement does not create, and shall not be
construed as creating, any rights enforceable by any person not a Party to this Agreement.

22, Counterparts; Delivery by Facsimile. This Agreement may be executed in
counterparts and by each Party hereto on a separate counterpart, both of which when so executed
shall be deemed to be an original and both of which taken together shall constitute one and the
same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by
email or facsimile transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart
of this Agreement.

23.  Brokerage. Each Party represents and warrants to the other that it has not dealt
with any broker or agent in connection with the negotiation or execution of this Agreement and
shall each indemnify the other against all costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and other liability for
commissions or other compensation claimed by any other broker or agent claiming the same by,
though, or under the indemnifying party.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and
year first above written.

PUBLIC HEALTH WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
MANAGEMENT CO TION
DocuSigned by:
/ Tom Jolnson.

By: e B)" E7ZAQERSONNZANY

Nam¢: Rjchard’J. &6hen Name: Thomas Johnson

Titlel President Title: Chairperson

Date: el 26]17 Date: SifalieOy

Schedules:

Schedule 6D: Honorarium

Schedule 6E: Restricted Funds

Exhibits:

Exhibit A: Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Wordsworth
Academy

Exhibit B: By-laws of Wordsworth Academy

Exhibit C: Amended and Restated Certificates of Organization of Wordsworth
CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC

Exhibit D: Amended and Restated Operating Agreements of Wordsworth CUA
5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC

Exhibit E: Certificate of Representations and Warranties of Wordsworth
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SCHEDULE 6D

Honorarium

1. The Fort Washington campus shall continue in honorarium to be called the “Gerald Schatz
Education Center” in name and signage so long as the campus is used for educational purposes.
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SCHEDULE 6E

Restricted Funds
None.
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EXHIBIT A
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation

PENNSYLVANIA DEPARTMENT OF STATE
BUREAU OF CORPORATIONS AND CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS
ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT- DOMESTIC CORPORATION
(15 Pa.C.S.)

NONPROFIT CORPORATION (§ 5915)

In compliance with the requirements of the applicable provisions (relating to articles of
amendment), the undersigned, desiring to amend its articles, hereby states that:

1. The name of the Corporation is: Wordsworth Academy.

2. The address of the Corporation’s current registered office in this
Commonwealth is 2001 Pennsylvania Avenue, Fort Washington, Montgomery County PA.

3. The statute by or under which the Corporation was incorporated was the
Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law of 1933, P.L. 289, as amended, and these Amended
and Restated Articles of Incorporation (“Amended & Restated Articles”) conform with the
requirements of the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law of 1988.

4. The Corporation was incorporated by Decree of the Department of State
on: August 3, 1970.

5. These Amended & Restated Articles shall be effective upon filing.

6. These Amended & Restated Articles supersede the Corporation’s original
Articles of Incorporation and all amendments thereto.

v These Amended & Restated Articles were adopted by the Corporation’s
Board of Directors pursuant to 15 Pa. C.S. § 5914(b).

8. The Corporation is organized exclusively for charitable, educational,
religious, or scientific purposes, within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Intemal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (““Code”) {or corresponding section of any future Federal tax code.)

9. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Amended & Restated

Articles, the powers and activities of the Corporation shall be subject to the following restrictions
and limitations:
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A. The Corporation shall not carry on any activities not permitted to be
conducted or carried on by an organization exempt under Section 501(a) of the Code and
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or by an organization described under Section
170(c)(2) of the Code, contributions to which are deductible under Sections 170(a),
2055(a)(2), and 2522(a)(2) of the Code, nor shall the Corporation engage in any year in
which it may be a “private foundation,” as defined in Section 509 of the Code, in any act
prohibited by Section 4941(d) or 4943(c) of the Code, or do any act, or fail to do any
acts, that will result in the imposition of tax on the Corporation under Sections 4942,
4944, or 4945 of the Code.

B. The Corporation is not authorized to conduct the affairs of the Corporation
in any manner or for any purpose that would cause the Corporation to lose its tax-exempt
status under the provisions of the Code.

C. No part of the net earnings of this Corporation shall ever inure to the
benefit of, or be distributable to, any of its members, directors, or officers or any other
private person, except that reasonable compensation may be paid for services rendered to
or for the Corporation in carrying out its purposes.

D. Except as authorized by Section 501(h) of the Code and a proper election
filed thereunder, no substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall consist of
carrying on propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the
Corporation shall not participate or intervene in any political campaign on behalf of (or in
opposition to) any candidate for public office, whether by the publication or distribution
of statements or otherwise.

10.  The term for which the Corporation is to exist is perpetual.
11.  The Corporation is organized on a non-stock basis.

12, The Corporation shall have one member, which shall be Public Health
Management Corporation, a Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation.

13.  Upon dissolution of this Corporation, the Corporation’s assets shall be
distributed for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the
Code, i.e., charitable, educational, religious, or scientific or corresponding section of any future
federal tax code, or shall be distributed to the Federal government, or to a state or local
government for a public purpose.

14,  These Articles may be amended as provided in the Bylaws of the
Corporation. The ByLaws shall govern the operation of this Corporation unless any ByLaw
conflicts with these Articles of Incorporation, in which case the Articles of Incorporation shall be
controlling.
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[N TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the undersigned Corporation has caused these Amended and
Restated Articles of Incorporation to be signed by a duly authorized officer thereof this  day of

, 2017, 6/27/2017

WORDSWORTH ACADEMY DocuSianed by:

Tom Jslonson

E7TASEBSIDO2AAL ..

[NAME), [TITLE]
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EXHIBIT B

By-laws
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BYLAWS
OF
WORDSWORTH ACADEMY

A Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation

ARTICLE 1- DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1, _Definitions.

The following terms used in these Bylaws shall have the meanings set forth below:

“Act” means the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law of 1988, as amended.
“Board” means the Board of Trustees of the Corporation.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Corporation” means Wordsworth Academy.

“Member” means Public Health Management Corporation.

“Trustee” means an individual serving on the Board who fulfills the duties of a director
under the Act.

MEOOW>

ARTICLE 2 - PURPOSES

Section 2.1.  Purposes.

The purposes of the Corporation are set forth in its Articles of Incorporation.
ARTICLE 3 - OFFICES
Section 3.1. Offices.

The registered office of the Corporation shall be located in Pennsylvania. The
Corporation may have any number of other offices at such places as the Board may determine.

ARTICLE 4 - SEAL

Section 4.1. _Seal,

The Corporation may use a Corporate Seal. The Corporate Seal shall bear the name of
the Corporation, the year of its incorporation and the words "Corporate Seal, Pennsylvania”.
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ARTICLE 5 - MEMBER

Section 5.1. Classes.

The Corporation shall have one (1) class of Member.

Section 5.2. Sole Member,

The Corporation shall have one (1) Member. The sole Member shall be Public Health
Management Corporation, a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) and 509(a)(1) or
509(a)(2) of the Code. In the event that the sole Member at any time ceases to be a tax-exempt
organization, the Member shall designate a substitute tax-exempt organization under Section
501(c)(3) and 509(a)(1) or 509(a)(2) of the Code within sixty (60) days of the change of a tax-
exempt designation.

Section 5.3. Voting Rights.

The Member shall be entitled to one (1) membership vote. Except as otherwise provided
in these Bylaws, the Member shall exercise its voting and other rights as a Member through its
President, or by a representative authorized by its President to act on behalf of the Member,
following approval of the Board of Directors of the Member.

Section 5.4, Neo Dues and Assessments.

There shall be no initiation fees, dues, or assessments of any kind payable by the
Member.

Section 5.5. Nontransferable.

Membership in the Corporation is not transferable.

Section 5.6. Reserved Powers of Member.

In addition to the rights accorded to the Member pursuant to Sections 7.3, 7.5, and 7.6 of
these Bylaws, the approval of the Member shall be required for any of the following actions by
the Corporation (each, a “Reserved Power”)::

(a) amendment to the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws;

(b) substantial changes to the charitable and educational mission of the Corporation;

(c) the authorization of a plan of voluntary dissolution or division or the revocation of
a plan of dissolution or division previously approved by the Member;

(d) the adoption of an agreement or plan of merger;

(e) the sale, lease, or exchange of all or substantially all of the Corporation’s assets;

6 the formation of a subsidiary of the Corporation;
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(2) the creation of additional classes of membership in the Corporation or the
admission of additional members of the Corporation, except as provided above;

(h)  the approval of the annual budget of the Corporation;

(i) the approval of the tax and/or regulatory filings of the Corporation;

) the approval of the reviewed or audited financial statements of the Corporation;

k) the approval of expenditures in excess of a ten percent (10%) variance in the total
annual budget;

Q)] major strategic decisions; and

(m) the approval of significant material contracts.

ARTICLE 6 - MEETINGS OF MEMBER
Section 6.1. Consent of Member in Lieu of Meeting.

Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Member may be taken
without a meeting by written consent of the Member in record form. The written consent shall
set forth the action so taken and must be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the
Member.

Section 6.2. Annual Meeting.

The annual meeting of the Member, for the appointment of Trustees and the transaction
of any other business which may be brought before the meeting, shall be held not more than one
hundred and twenty (120) days after the end of the Corporation’s fiscal year, the date to be
determined by the Member.

Section 6.3. _Special Meetings of Member.

Special meetings of the Member may be called at any time by the President, the Board, or
the Member. Upon written request of any person entitled to call a special meeting, the Secretary
shall: (a) fix the date and time of the meeting, which shall be held not more than sixty (60) days
after receipt of the request; and (b) give notice to the Member. If the Secretary neglects or
refuses to fix the meeting date or give notice within thirty (30) days after receipt of the written
request for the special meeting, the person or persons calling the meeting may do so.

Section 6.4. Notice of Meetings of Member.

Written notice of every meeting of the Member shall be given by, or at the direction of,
the Secretary to the Member at least five (5) days prior to the date of the meeting, unless a
greater period of notice is required by the Act in a particular case. In the case of special
meetings of the Member, the notice shall specify the general nature of the business to be
transacted.

ARTICLE 7 - BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 7.1. Board of Trustees.
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The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of the
Board. The powers of the Corporation shall be exercised by, or under the authority of, the Board
except as otherwise provided by statute, the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or a
resolution adopted by the Board. The members of the Board shall be relieved of liability imposed
upon members of boards of directors by law for managerial acts or omissions with respect to any
recommendation of the Board with respect to which the Member has a Reserved Power and the
recommendation of the Board is not consented to or approved by the Member.

Section 7.2. Qualifications of Trustees.
Each Trustee shall be a natural person at least eighteen (18) years of age who need not be
a resident of Pennsylvania.

Section 7.3. Number and Election of Trustees.

The Board shall consist of a minimum of five (5) Trustees and a maximum of twenty-one
(21) Trustees and shall be appointed by the Member at its annual meeting; provided, however,
that during the two (2) year period following the effective date of the Affiliation Agreement (the
“Effective Date™) between the Corporation and the Member (the “Post-Effective Date Period”),
the Board shall consist of: (a) three (3) Trustees who shall be elected jointly by the Board and the
Member, with such election effective as of the Effective Date; and (b) nine (9) Trustees
appointed by the Member (the “Member-Appointed Trustees”), with such appointment effective
as of the Effective Date.

Section 7.4. Term of Office.

Each Trustee shall hold office until: (a) the expiration of the term for which he or she was
appointed and until his or her successor has been appointed and qualified; or (b) his or her earlier
death, resignation, or removal. Following the conclusion of the Post-Effective Date Period, the
Trustees shall be elected for terms of two (2) years; provided, however, that no Trustee shall
serve more than four (4) consecutive terms.

Section 7.5. Vacancies.

Vacancies in the Board, including vacancies resulting from: (a) an increase in the number
of Trustees; or (b) the death, resignation, or removal of a Trustee, shall be filled by the Member
at any time; provided, however, that during the Post-Effective Date Period, any vacancy
oceurring among the Trustees who were elected jointly by the Board and the Member shall be
filled by a person selected jointly by the Board and the Member. Each person so appointed to fill
a vacancy shall be a Trustee to serve for the balance of the term of the vacant position.

Section 7.6. Removal of Trustees.

Except during the Post-Effective Date Period, any Trustee may be removed from office,
without assigning any cause, by the Member at any time. If any Trustee is removed, the
resulting vacancy may be filled immediately by the Member.
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Section 7.7. Resignations.

Any Trustee may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Secretary. The
resignation shall be effective upon receipt by the Secretary or at such subsequent time as may be
specified in the notice of resignation.

Section 7.8. Compensation of Trustees.

Members of the Board are volunteering their time and talents and shall serve without
monetary compensation. A Trustee may also be a salaried employee or agent of the Corporation.
The Board may authorize the advance or reimbursement to a Trustee of actual reasonable
expenses incurred in carrying out his or her duties as a Trustee.

Section 7.9. Voting Rights.

Each Trustee shall be entitled to one (1) vote.

ARTICLE 8 - COMMITTEES

Section 8.1. _Establishiment and Powers.

The Board may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the Trustees, establish one (1) or
more committees to consist of one (1) or more Trustees of the Corporation. Any such
committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board, shall have and may exercise all
of the powers and authority of the Board, except that no committee, including the Executive
Committee shall have any power or authority as to the following:

(a)  the submission to the Member of any action requiring approval of the
Member under the Act;

(b) the filling of vacancies in the Board;

(c) the adoption, amendment, or repeal of the Bylaws;

(d) the amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board; or

(e) action on matters committed by the Bylaws or by resolution of the Board to
another committee of the Board.

Section 8.2. Status of Committee Action.

Except as otherwise provided in Section 8.1, the term “Board of Trustees” or “Board,”
when used in any provision of these Bylaws relating to organization or procedures of or the
manner of taking action by the Board, shall be construed to include and refer to any Executive
Committee or other committee of the Board, and any provision of these Bylaws relating or
referring to action to be taken by the Board or the procedure required therefor shall be satisfied
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by the taking of corresponding action by a committee of the Board to the extent authority to take
the action has been delegated to the committee.

Section 8.3. Term.

Each committee of the Board shall serve at the pleasure of the Board.

Section 8.4. Committee Organization.

Except as otherwise provided by the Board, each committee shall be chaired by a Trustee
and shall establish its own operating procedures. Each committee shall keep regular minutes of
its proceedings and report the same to the Board at each regular meeting. Each committee shall
determine its times and places of meetings.

Section 8.5. Executive Committee.

The Executive Committee shall be composed of the officers of the Corporation; provided,
however, that during the Post-Effective Date Period, the Executive Committee shall be composed
of a majority of Member-Appointed Trustees. During the Post-Effective Date Period, the
Executive Committee shall be authorized to act for the Board between its regular meetings with
respect to any matters requiring immediate action. After the Post-Effective Date Period, except
as otherwise provided by these Bylaws or by resolution of the Board, the Executive Committee
shall have and may exercise all of the powers and authority of the Board in the management of
the Corporation.

ARTICLE 9 - MEETINGS OF TRUSTEES

Section 9.1, Place of Meetings.

The Board may hold its meetings at such places as the Board may appoint or as may be
designated in the notice of the meeting.

Section 9.2. Annual Meeting.

Unless the Board provides by resolution for a different time, the annual meeting of the
Board shall take place immediately after the annual meeting of the Member. The newly
constituted Board shall meet at any place and time designated in a notice given as provided in
Section 11.1, for the purposes of organization, election of officers, and the transaction of other
business.

Section 9.3. Repular Meetings.

The Board may hold its regular meetings, which shall occur at least four times per year,
at such place and time as shall be designated by resolution of the Board. If the date fixed for any
regular meeting is a legal holiday under the laws of Pennsylvania, the meeting shall be held on
the next succeeding business day or at such other time as may be determined by resolution of the
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Board. The Board shall transact such business as may properly be brought before its meetings.
Notice of regular meetings need not be given.

Section 9.4. Special Meetings of the Board.

The President, any two (2) Trustees, or the Member may call special meetings of the
Board which shall be held at such time and place as shall be designated in the call for the
meeting. Five (5) days’ notice of any special meeting shall be given to each Trustee pursuant to
Section 11.1 or by telephone. Such notice shall state the time and place of such special meeting
but need not state the purpose of the special meeting.

Section 9.5. Cuorum.

A majority of Trustees shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The acts
of a majority of the Trustees present and voting at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall
be the acts of the Board.

Section 9.6. Participation in Meetings.

One (1) or more Trustees may participate in a meeting of the Board or a committee
thereof by means of conference telephone or other electronic technology by means of which all
persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation in a meeting pursuant to
this Section shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

Section 9.7. Organization.

Every meeting of the Board shall be presided over by the President, or in the absence of
the President, the Vice President, or in the absence of the President and the Vice President, a
chair chosen by a majority of the Trustees present. The Secretary, or in his or her absence, a
person appointed by the chair, shall act as secretary.

Section 9.8, Consent of Trustees in Lieu of Meeting,

Any action required or permitted to be approved at a meeting of the Trustees may be
approved without a meeting, if a consent or consents to the action in record form are signed,
before, on, or after the effective date of the action, by all Trustees in office on the date the last
consent is signed. The consent or consents must be filed with the Secretary of the Corporation.

ARTICLE 10 — OFFICERS

Section 10.1. Number.

The Officers of the Corporation shall include a President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer.
The Officers may include one or more Vice Presidents, one or more Assistant Secretaries, one or
more Assistant Treasurers, and such other officers as the Board may determine by resolution.
The same person may hold any number of offices.
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Section 10.2. Qualifications of Officers.

The Officers shall be natural persons at least eighteen (18) years of age who are Trustees.

Section 10.3. Election and Term of Office.

The Officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Board at any meeting of the Board
for terms of two (2) years; provided, however, that no Officer shall serve more than four (4)
consecutive terms. Each Officer shall hold office until: (a) the later of the term for which he or
she was elected or until his or her successor has been elected and qualified; or (b) until his or her
earlier death, resignation, or removal.

Section 10.4. Removal of Officers.

The Board may remove any Officer, without assigning any cause, whenever in its
judgment the best interests of the Corporation will be served.

Section 10.5. Vacancies.

Vacancies in Officer positions resulting from: (a) the creation of additional Officer
positions; or (b) the death, resignation, or removal of an Officer, shall be filled by a majority vote
of the Trustees, though less than a quorum. Each person so elected shall be an Officer to serve
for the balance of the term.

Section 10.6. Resignations.

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Secretary. The
resignation shall be effective upon receipt by the Secretary or at such subsequent time as may be
specified in the notice of resignation.

Section 10.7. The President.

The President shall have general supervision over the business and operations of the
Corporation, subject to the control of the Board. The President shall chair all meetings of the
Board, the Executive Committee, and the Member. The President shall execute in the name of
the Corporation, deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, and other instruments authorized by the
Board, except in cases where the execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board to
some other Officer or agent of the Corporation. In general, the President shall perform all duties
incident to the office of President, as specified by the Act, and such other duties as may be
assigned by the Board.

Section 10.8. Vice Presidents.

In the absence or disability of the President or when so directed by the President, any
Vice President may perform all the duties of the President, and, when so acting, shall have all the
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powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the President. Each Vice President shall
perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the President.

Secrion 10.9. The Secretary.

The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board and of the Member. The Secretary
shall record all votes of the Board and of the Member and the minutes of the meetings of the
Board and of the Member in a book or books to be kept for that purpose. The Secretary shall see
that required notices of meetings of the Board and of the Member are given and that all records
and reports are properly kept and filed by the Corporation. The Secretary shall be the custodian
of the seal of the Corporation and shall see that it is affixed to all documents to be executed on
behalf of the Corporation under its seal. In general, the Secretary shall perform all duties
incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the
President.

Section 10.10. _Assistant Secretaries.

In the absence or disability of the Secretary, or when so directed by the Secretary, any
Assistant Secretary may perform all the duties of the Secretary, and, when so acting, shall have
all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the Secretary. Each Assistant
Secretary shall perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board, the President, or the
Secretary.

Section 10.11. The Treasurer.

The Treasurer shall be responsible for corporate funds and securities and shall keep full
and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation. The
Treasurer shall have full authority to receive and give receipts for all money due and payable to
the Corporation, and to endorse checks, drafts, and warrants in its name and on its behalf and
to give full discharge for the same. The Treasurer shall deposit all funds of the Corporation,
except such as may be required for current use, in such banks or other places of deposit as the
Board may designate. [n general, the Treasurer shall perform all duties incident to the office of
Treasurer and such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the President.

Section 10,12, Assistant Treasurers.

In the absence or disability of the Treasurer, or when so directed by the Treasurer, any
Assistant Treasurer may perform all the duties of the Treasurer, and, when so acting, shall have
all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the Treasurer. Each Assistant
Treasurer shall perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board, the President, or the
Treasurer.

Section 10.13. Compensation of Officers.
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The Officers of the Corporation are volunteering their time and talents and will serve
without monetary compensation. The Board may authorize the advance or reimbursement to an
Officer of actual reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out his or her duties as an Officer.

ARTICLE 11 - NOTICE

Section 11.1. Written Notice.

Any notice required to be given to any person shall be given to the person, either
personally or by sending a copy thereof:

(a) By first class or express mail, postage prepaid, or courier service, charges prepaid, to the
person’s postal address appearing on the books of the Corporation or, in the case of
Trustees, supplied by the person to the Corporation for the purposes of notice. Notice
under this subparagraph shall be deemed to have been given when deposited in the
United States mail or with a courier service for delivery to that person.

(b) By facsimile transmission, e-mail, or other electronic communication to the person’s
facsimile number or address for e-mail or other electronic communications supplied by
the person to the Corporation for the purpose of notice. Notice under this subparagraph
shall be deemed to have been given to the person entitled thereto when sent.

A notice of meeting shall specify the day, hour, and geographic location, if any, of the
meeting and any other information required by the Act. Except as otherwise provided by the Act
or these Bylaws, when a meeting is adjourned, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of the
adjourned meeting, or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting other than by
announcement at the meeting at which such adjournment is taken.

Section 11.2. Waiver by Writing.

Whenever any notice is required to be given, a waiver thereof that is filed with the
Secretary of the Corporation in record form, signed by the person or persons entitled to the
notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of
the notice. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, a meeting need be
specified in the waiver of notice of the meeting.

Section 11.3. Waiver by Attendance.

Attendance of a person at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of the meeting
except where a person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of
the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting was not lawfully called or
convened.

ARTICLE 12 - CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
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Section 12.1. Interested Trustees and Officers.

A contract or transaction between the Corporation and the Member, Trustees, or Officers
or between the Corporation and another domestic or foreign corporation for profit or not for
profit, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other association in which one (1) or more of its
directors, trustees, or officers are Trustees or Officers, or have a financial or other interest, shall
not be void or voidable solely for that reason, or solely because the Member, Trustee, or officer
is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board or the Member that authorizes the
contract or transaction, or solely because the vote of the Member, Trustee, or Officer is counted
for that purpose, if:

(a) The material facts as to the relationship or interest and as to the contract or
transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board and the Board authorizes the
contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of the disinterested
Trustees even though the disinterested Trustees are less than a quorum,

(b)  The material facts as to the relationship or interest and as to the contract or
transaction are disclosed or are known to the Member entitled to vote thereon, if

any, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote
of the disinterested Member or Member; or

(c) The contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is
authorized, approved, or ratified by the Board or the Member.

Common or interested Trustees or the Member may be counted in determining the presence of a
quorum at a meeting of the Board or the Member that authorizes the contract or transaction.

ARTICLE 13 - LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; INSURANCE

Section 13.1. Limitation of Liability of Trustees.

A Trustee shall not be personally liable, as such, for monetary damages for any action
taken or any failure to take any action as a Trustee unless:

(a)  The Trustee has breached or failed to perform the duties of his or her office under
Subchapter B of Chapter 57 of the Act; and

(b)  The breach or failure to perform constitutes self-dealing, willful misconduct, or
recklessness.

This Section shall not apply to (1) the responsibility or liability of a Trustee pursuant to any
criminal statute, or (2) the liability of a Trustee for the payment of taxes pursuant to federal,
state, or local law. Any repeal or amendment of this Section shall be prospective only and shall
not increase, but may decrease, a Trustee's liability with respect to actions or failures to act
occurring prior to such change.
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Section 13.2. Insurance.

The Corporation shall purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or
was a Trustee or Officer of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation
as a director or officer of another domestic or foreign corporation for profit or not-for-profit,
partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him or
her and incurred by him or her in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such,
whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against that
liability under the Act. The Corporation’s payment of premiums with respect to such insurance
coverage shall be provided primarily for the benefit of the Corporation. To the extent that such
insurance coverage provides a benefit to the insured person, the Corporation’s payment of
premiums with respect to such insurance shall be provided in exchange for the services rendered
by the insured person and in a manner so as not to constitute an excess benefit
transaction under section 4958 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

ARTICLE 14 - INDEMNIFICATION
Section 14.1. Representative Defined.

For purposes of this Article, “representative” means any Trustee or Officer of the
Corporation or a person serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, partner,
fiduciary, or trustee of another domestic or foreign corporation for profit or not-for-profit
partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise.

Section 14.2. Third-Party Actions and Derivative Actions.

The Corporation is required to indemnify any representative against expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred if the representative is successful on the merits
or otherwise in defense of any third party or derivative action or proceeding or in defense of any
claim, issue, or matter therein.

The Corporation shall indemnify any Trustee, Officer, employee, or agent of the
Corporation who was or is a representative of the Corporation and who was or is a party (which
includes giving testimony or similar involvement) or is threatened to be made a party to any
threatened, pending, or completed action or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative, formal or informal (including an action or proceeding by or in the right of the
Corporation), by reason of the fact that he or she was or is a representative of the Corporation,
against expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines, and amounts paid in
settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with the action or
proceeding if: (a) the representative acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to
be in the best interests of the Corporation; and (b) with respect to any criminal proceeding, had
no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. If a representative is not entitled to
indemnification for a portion of any liabilities to which he or she may be subject, the Corporation
shall indemnify him or her to the maximum extent for the remaining portion of the liabilities.

Section 14.3. Advancing Expenses.
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The Corporation shall pay expenses (including attomeys’ fees) actually and reasonably
incurred in defending any action or proceeding referred to in Section 14.2 in advance of the final
disposition of the action or proceeding upon receipt of any undertaking by or on behalf of the
representative to repay the amount if it is ultimately determined that he or she is not entitled to be
indemnified by the Corporation as authorized in this Article or otherwise.

Section 14.4. Supplementary Coverage.

The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by or granted pursuant to
this Article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which a person seeking
indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under the Act, or any bylaw,
agreement, vote of the Member or disinterested Trustees, or otherwise, both as to action in his or
her official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding that office. The
provisions of these Bylaws relating to Conflicts of Interest shall be applicable to any bylaw,
contract, or transaction authorized by the Trustees under this Article.

Section 14.5. Prohibited Indemnification.

No indemnification may be made by the Corporation under this Article or otherwise to or
on behalf of any person to the extent that:

(a) The act or failure to act giving rise to the claim for indemnification is determined by a
court to have constituted self-dealing, willful misconduct, or recklessness; or

(b) The Board determines that under the circumstances indemnification would constitute
an excess benefit transaction under section 4958 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended.

Section 14.6. Duration and Extent of Coverage.

The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by or granted pursuant to
this Article shall, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, continue as to a
person who has ceased to be a representative of the Corporation and shall inure to the benefit of
the heirs and personal representatives of that person.

Section 14.7. Reliance and Modification.

Each person who shall act as a representative of the Corporation shall be deemed to be
doing so in reliance upon the rights provided by this Article. The duties of the Corporation to
indemnify and to advance expenses to a representative provided in this Article shall be in the
nature of a contract between the Corporation and the representative. No amendment or repeal of
any provision of this Article shall alter, to the detriment of the representative, his or her right to
the advance of expenses or indemnification related to a claim based on an act or failure to act
which took place prior to such amendment or repeal.

ARTICLE 15 - ANNUAL REPORT
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Section 15.1. Annual Report.

The Board shall present annually to the Member a report (the “Annual Report™), verified
by the President and Treasurer or by a majority of the Board, showing in appropriate detail the
following:

(a) The assets and liabilities, including the trust funds, of the Corporation as of the end of
the fiscal year immediately preceding the date of the report;

(b) The principal changes in assets and liabilities, including the trust funds, during the
year immediately preceding the date of the report;

(c) The revenue or receipts of the Corporation, both unrestricted and restricted to
particular purposes, for the year immediately preceding the date of the report,
including separate data with respect to each trust fund held by or for the Corporation;

(d) The expenses or disbursements of the Corporation, for both general and restricted
purposes, during the year immediately preceding the date of the report, including
separate data with respect to each trust fund held by or for the Corporation; and

(¢) The number of Members of the Corporation as of the date of the report, together with
a statement of increase or decrease in such number during the year immediately
preceding the date of the report, and a statement of the place where the names and
addresses of the current Member may be found.

The annual report of the Board shall be filed with the minutes of the meetings of the Member.
ARTICLE 16 - TRANSACTION OF BUSINESS

Section 16.1. Real Property.

The consent of the Member shall not be required for the Corporation to make a purchase
of real property or to sell, mortgage, lease away or otherwise dispose of its real property. If the
real property is subject to a trust, the conveyance away shall be free of trust and the trust shall be
impinged upon the proceeds of such conveyance.

Section 16.2. Negotiable Instruments.

All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation shall be signed by such
officer or officers as the Board may designate.

ARTICLE 17 - CORPORATE RECORDS

Section 17.1. Corporate Records.
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The Corporation shall keep: (a) an original or duplicate record of the proceedings of the
Board and committees of the Board; (b) the original or a copy of its Bylaws, including all
amendments thereto to date, certified by the Secretary of the Corporation; (c) an original or a
duplicate Membership register showing the name of the Member and their respective address; (d)
a list of the names and business addresses of its current Board and Officers; (€) a copy of the
most recent annual reports delivered to state and federal officials; and (f) appropriate, complete,
and accurate books or records of account, at its registered office or at its principal place of
business.

Section 17.2. Transparency.

The Corporation shall ensure that its IRS Form 990, annual reports, and financial
statements are complete and accurate and are posted to the Corporation’s website or otherwise
made available to the public.

ARTICLE 18 - AMENDMENTS

Section 18.1. Amendments.

Except as otherwise provided by the Act, the Bylaws of the Corporation may be amended
by the Member at any meeting after notice of such purpose has been given.

Adopted:
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Exhibit C
Amended and Restated Certificates of Organization

Exhibit to Amended and
Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC

1. Article 1 of the Certificate of Organization of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC shall be
amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

The name of the limited liability company is Turning Points for Children CUA 5, LLC.
2 Article 2 of the Certificate of Organization of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC shall be
amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

The address of the limited liability company’s registered office in this Commonwealth is:
c/o Turning Points for Children, 415 South 15th Street, Philadelphia, PA 19146. The county of
venue is; Philadelphia.

Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC

1. Article 1 of the Certificate of Organization of Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC shall be
amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

The name of the limited liability company is Turning Points for Children CUA 10, LLC.
2. Article 2 of the Certificate of Organization of Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC shall be
amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

The address of the limited liability company’s registered office in this Commonwealth is:
c/o Tuming Points for Children, 415 South 15th Street, Philadelphia, PA 19146. The county of
venue is: Philadelphia.
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Exhibit D

Operating Agreements of Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC and Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC
AMENDED AND RESTATED OPERATING AGREEMENT

OF

TURNING POINTS FOR CHILDREN CUA 5, LLC

This Amended and Restated Operating Agreement (this “Agreement”) of
Wordsworth CUA 5, LLC (the “Company”) is entered into effective as of this _ day of
, 2017, by and between TURNING POINTS FOR CHILDREN, a
Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation (the “Member”), as the sole member of the Company, and
the Company (the Member and the Company are, collectively, the “Parties™).

Pursuant to and in accordance with the Pennsylvania Uniform Limited Liability
Company Law of 2016 (15 Pa.C.S. § 8811, et seq.), as amended from time to time (the “Act”), the
Parties agree as follows:

1. Name. The name of the Company shall be Turning Points for Children CUA 5, LLC.
2. Principal Office. The principal office of the Company shall be c/o Tuming Points for

Children, 415 South 15th Street, Philadelphia, PA 19146, or such other place or places as the
Member shall determine.

3. Term. The term of the Company shall commence as of the date of filing of the
Certificate of Organization of the Company (the “Certificate”) with the Department of State of
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and the Company shall be dissolved and its affairs wound
up as provided in said Certificate, in this Agreement, or as otherwise provided in the Act.

4, Purpose. The Company is organized exclusively for charitable, scientific, and
educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”) (these are the “Purposes”). The Purposes include: (i) to provide
child welfare services to the community; and (ii) any other lawful business purpose, including
taking any and all actions necessary, proper, advisable, or convenient for the accomplishment of
the purposes set forth in the previous provisions that the Company may do under the Act;
provided, however, that the Company shall not conduct or carry on any activity not permitted to
be conducted or carried on by the Member or by an organization that is exempt from tax under
Section 501(a) of the Code and described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and the Company
shall not conduct any activity that might adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Member
under Section 501(a) of the Code, which is described in Sections 501(c)(3) and 170(b)(1)(A)(ii}
of the Code.

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, no part of the Company’s net earnings shall inure to
the benefit of, or be distributable to, any contributor, director, manager, Company Manager, as
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defined below, or officer of the Company or of the Member or any other individual or person,
provided that the Company shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation
for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set
forth herein: no substantial part of the activities of the Company shall consist of carrying on
propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation; the Company shall not participate or
intervene in any political campaign on behalf of (or in opposition to) any candidate for public
office; and upon any dissolution or winding-up of the Company, its assets remaining after all
debts and expenses have been paid or provided for shall be distributed by the Company to the
Member, provided that the Member qualifies at such time as an organization described in Section
501(c)(3) of the Code.

Ss Member.

(i)  Identity. Simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and
the filing of the Certificate of Amendment to the Company Certificate of
Organization with the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
Tuming Points for Children is admitted as the Member of the Company in respect
of the Interest (as hereinafter defined). The name and the mailing address of the
Member are as follows:

Name Address
Turning Points for Children 415 South 15th Street
Philadelphia, PA 19146

(ii) Limitations on Powers. The Member shail not have any right or power to take part
in the management or control of the Company or its business and affairs or to act
for or bind the Company in any way. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Member
shall have all the rights and powers specifically set forth in this Agreement and, to
the extent not inconsistent with this Agreement, in the Act.

(iii) Inspection Rights. The Member shall have the right, at any reasonable time, to
inspect the Company’s beoks and records, including all tax returns, at such
Member’s expense.

(iv) Exercise of Rights. The Member may exercise its rights or obligations under this
Agreement through a duly appointed representative.

6. Interest. The Company shall be authorized to issue a single class of limited liability
company interest (the “Interest”) including any and all benefits to which the holder of such
Interest may be entitled in this Agreement, together with all obligations of such person to comply
with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

s Board of Managers.

(i)  Management. The management of the Company shall be vested solely in a Board
of Managers (each, individually, a “Manager” and, collectively, the “Managers”

DMAdmin\3828963.2



Case 17-14463-amc  Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
DocuSign Envelope ID: D731F586-3B90-4A12-A351-A76 Hamesmave Nt Page 142 of 251

or the “Board”) that, subject to the restrictions contained in Section 7(ii) herein,
shall have full, exclusive, and complete authority, power, and discretion to
manage, direct, and control the business, affairs, and properties of the Company,
including without limitation obtaining all insurance, permits, licenses, and
approvals and remedies thereof, necessary or desirable to facilitate the purpose of
the Company. The Managers of the Company are set forth on Exhibit “A” hereto.

(i) Conduct of the Business of the Company. So long as the Company shall be in
existence, it shall conduct its business in a manner that is, and the Managers shall
approve only those actions of the Company that are, at all times consistent with the
Member’s charitable mission, and the Managers shall cause the Company to:

(1) conduct its business in accordance with all applicable laws;

(2) not commingle its assets with the assets of any other person or entity,
including but not limited to the Member, and hold all of its assets in its own
name;

(3) maintain records, books of account, bank accounts, financial statements,
accounting records, and other entity documents separate and apart from
those of any other person and not list its assets as assets on the financial
statement of any other person or entity; provided, however, that the
Company’s assets may be included in a consolidated financial statement of
the Member and in the Member’s IRS Form 990, provided that: (a)
appropriate notation shall be made on such consolidated financial statements
and the Member’s IRS Form 990 to indicate the separateness of the
Company from the Member and to indicate that the Company’s assets and
credit are not available to satisfy the debts and other obligations of the
Member or any other person or entity; and (b) such assets shall also be listed
on the Company’s own separate balance sheet;

(4) not maintain its assets in such a manner that will be costly or difficult to
segregate, ascertain, or identify its individual assets from those of any other
person or entity;

(5) pay any taxes required to be paid under applicable law;

(6) hold itself out to the public as a legal entity separate and distinct from any
other person or entity, including but not limited to the Member, and conduct
its business solely in its own name, correct any known misunderstanding
regarding its separate identity, and not identify itself or any of its affiliates
as a division or department of any other person or entity, including but not
limited to the Member;

(7) maintain adequate capital for the normal obligations reasonably foreseeable
in a business of its size and character and in light of its contemplated
business operations and pay its debts and liabilities from its own assets as
the same shall become due;
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(8) allocate fairly and reasonably shared expenses with any other person or
entity, including but not limited to the Member, (including, without
limitation, shared office space) and use separate stationery, invoices, and
checks bearing its own name;

(9) maintain a sufficient number of employees (if any), consultants, and other
service providers in light of the Company’s contemplated business
operations and pay the salaries of its own employees, if any, and costs of
consultants and other service providers exclusively from its own funds; and

(10) treat all of its employees (if any) exclusively as employees of the Company
and not of the Member, such that the Company’s employees are not entitled
to the benefits of employment by the Member.

(iii) Number; Terms.

m There shall be not less than three (3) and not more than nine (9) Company
Managers.

(2) At all times, a majority of the Board shall be current members of the
Board of Directors of the Member, or duly elected replacements thereof,
and at least one (1) member of the Board (the “CAB Representative”)
shall be selected by the Board from a slate of nominees presented to it by
the Executive Director, which slate shall include only members of the
Community Advisory Board (the “CAB”) as described in Section 7(viii)
herein.

3) Managers shall be elected for terms of two (2) years or until their
successors are duly selected and qualified, provided that the CAB
Representative shall be elected for a term of one (1) year or until his or her
successor is duly selected and qualified. There is no limit to the number
of consecutive terms that a Manager may serve.

(iv) Vacancies. Vacancies in the Board, including vacancies resulting from an increase
in the authorized number of Managers, shall be filled by election by a majority of
the remaining members of the Board, even if the number remaining on the Board is
less than a quorum. Any Manager so elected shall serve for the balance of the
unexpired term of the Manager that he or she is replacing.

(v)  Meetings.

¢)) Place of Meetings. The meetings of the Board may be held at such place
within or without the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as the Board may
determine. In the absence of specification, such meetings shall be held at
the registered office of the Company. Meetings may be held by means of
conference telephone or similar communications equipment to the fullest
extent permitted by Pennsylvania law.
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2 Repular Meetings. Regular Meetings of the Board may be held at such
times as the Board may determine but not less often than two (2) times
each calendar year. Notice of Regular Meetings shall be provided to the
Board at least ten (10) days prior to each Regular Meeting, provided that
the Board may determine to provide a schedule of Regular Meetings
(“Schedule™ and the provision of the Schedule once a year shall be
sufficient notice of the Regular Meetings.

(3)  Special Meetings. Special Meetings of the Board may be called at any
time by the President or upon the written request of twenty-five percent
(25%) or more of the Managers stating the purpose of the meeting
delivered to the Secretary. Any such request by the Managers shall state
the time and place of the proposed meeting, and upon receipt of such
request it shall be the duty of the Secretary to issue the call for such
meeting promptly. If the Secretary shall neglect to issue such call, the
Directors making the request may issue the call. Notice of a Special
Meeting shall be given to the Board at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to
each Special Meeting. Business at a Special Meeting shall be limited to
the matters listed on the notice and related thereto.

(vi) Quorum. A majority of the total number of the whole Board of Managers shall
constitute a quorum at all meetings of the Board, and the acts of a majority of the
Managers present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the acts of the
Board. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board, the Managers
present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice, other
than an announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

(vii) Resignation and Removal.

0)) Resignation of Managers. A Manager may resign at any time by giving
written notice to the President or to the Secretary of the Company. Such
notice need not be accepted to be effective and shall take effect on the date
of receipt or at any later time which the notice specifies.

(2) Removal of Managers. Any Manager may be removed at any time by the
Member, with or without cause, to the fullest extent permitted by the Act.

(viii) Community Advisory Board. The Company shall establish a Community
Advisory Board (the “CAB”). The members of the CAB (hereinafter
“Community Advisors”) may be nominated by the Executive Director or his or
her designee, and shall be appointed and may be removed, with or without cause,
by the Board. The Executive Director shall use his or her discretion in selecting
individuals to nominate to the CAB; the CAB may include representation from
residents, community leaders, religious leaders, community stakeholders, and
business owners in the community the Company serves. Community Advisors
shall be at least eighteen (18) years of age. Community Advisors shall not have
voting privileges regarding the activities of the Company and shall not be deemed
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to be Managers or Members for the purposes of the Act or any other state or
federal law, nor shall Community Advisors have any of the duties or obligations of
a Manager or a Member under the Act or any other state or federal law.

(ix) Advisory Boards. The Company may have such other Advisory Boards as the
Board may determine, the members of which (hereinafter “Advisors”) shall be
appointed and may be removed, with or without cause, by the President. Advisors
shall serve as advisors, ambassadors, and resources for the Company. Advisors
shall not have voting privileges regarding the activities of the Company and shall
not be deemed to be Managers or Members for the purposes of the Act or any
other state or federal law, nor shall Advisors have any of the duties or obligations
of a Manager or a Member under the Act or any other state or federal law.

(x) Committees.

(N Establishment. The Board may establish one or more standing or special
committees. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the
Certificate, or applicable law, any committee may exercise such powers
and functions as the Board may from time to time determine, provided that
no committee shall have the authority to amend or repeal this Agreement,
elect or remove any officer or Manager, authorize any merger or other
fundamental transaction, or authorize the voluntary dissolution of the
Company.

(2) Members. Except as the Board may otherwise determine and as provided
in this Agreement, the President shall appoint all committee members and
committee chairpersons and may appoint alternates for any member or
chairperson of any committee. All members of the Executive Committee
shall be Managers. All other committees shall have at least one (1)
Manager as a member.

3) Committee Reports, The Chairperson of each committee shall deliver a
report of the activities of the committee to the Board as requested by the
President. If the Chairperson of the committee is unable to be present for
the committee report, the Chairperson may designate another member of
the committee to deliver its report. The Board shall adopt rules of
procedure as it deems necessary for the conduct of the affairs of each
committee

(xi) Executive Committee. There shall be an Executive Committee which, subject to
this Agreement and the Certificate, shall have and may exercise the powers of the
Board between meetings of the Board with general power to discharge the duties
of the Board except as such power from time to time may be limited by the Board.
The Executive Committee shall consist of the President, Secretary, and Treasurer
of the Company and such other members of the Board as may be appointed by the
Board. The Executive Committee may act only by a majority vote of its members.
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The actions of the Executive Committee shall be reported to the Board at each
Board Meeting or as often as may be required by the Board.
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8. Officers.

® Officers. The officers of the Company shall be natural persons of at least
eighteen (18) years of age, and there shall be a President, a Secretary, and a
Treasurer, each of whom shall be Managers currently in office and shall be
elected as officers by the Board of Managers. In addition, as the Board of
Managers may determine necessary, there may also be one or more Vice
Presidents and assistant officers.

In addition to the powers and duties prescribed by this Agreement, the officers
shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as from time to time shall
be prescribed by the Board of Managers. The Board of Managers may add to the
Company title of any ofticer (other than the President) a functional title in word or
words descriptive of his or her powers or the general character of his or her duties.
Any individual may hold more than one position.

(i) Term. The officers and assistant officers of the Company shall hold office for a
term of one (1) year, commencing on January 1 of the year following meeting at
which such officer is elected, or as specified in the resolution electing or
appointing such officer, and until their successors are chosen and have qualified,
unless they are sooner removed from office as provided by this Agreement.

(ili)  Vacancies. If the office of any officer or assistant officer becomes vacant, the
vacancy shall be filled by the Managers in the manner set forth in this Agreement.
The elected officer shall fill the unexpired portion of the term to which he or she
is elected.

(iv)  Agents or Employees. The Board may by resolution designate the officer or
officers who shall have authority to appoint such agents or employees as the
needs of the Company may require. In the absence of such designation, this
function may be performed by the President and may be delegated by the
President to others in whole or in part.

) Removal of Officers, Agents or Employees. The Board may remove at any time,
with or without cause, any officer, agent, or employee of the Company.

(vi) Duties and Functions. The officers shall have and exercise such duties and
functions as usually attach to their offices, with such additional duties and
functions and subject to such limitations as may be provided in this Agreement or
established by the Board. Assistant officers shall perform such functions and
have such responsibilities as the Board may determine.

(vil) Vice Presidents; Powers and Duties. The Vice President, if any, shall, in the
absence or disability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers
of the President; and if there be more than one (1) Vice President, their seniority
in performing such duties and exercising such powers shall be determined by the
Board or, in default of such determination, by the order in which they were first
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elected. Each Vice President also shall have such powers and perform such duties
as may be assigned to him or her by the Board. Each Vice President shall be an
ex officio non-voting member of the Board of Managers.

(viii) Executive Director. An Executive Director may be appointed and may be
removed by the Board. The Executive Director shall be accountable to the Board
of Managers and subject to the direction of the President and shall perform the
duties and functions as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of
Managers. The Executive Director shall be an ex officio non-voting member of
the Board of Managers and an ex officio non-voting member of all standing
committees.

10.  Capital Contributions. The initial member of the Company, Wordsworth Academy,
made an initial capital contribution to the Company in exchange for the Interest, as provided for
on Exhibit “B.” The Member is not required to make any additional capital contribution to the
Company, provided that the Member may make a capital contribution with respect to the Interest
in such amounts and at such times as the Member may determine in the Member’s sole
discretion.

Il. Distributions. At such time as the Member shall determine, the Member shall cause the
Company to distribute to the Member any cash held by it that is neither reasonably necessary, in
the judgment of the Board, for the operation of the Company nor otherwise in violation of the
Act.

12, Accounting,

(xii) Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Company shall be the same as that of the
Member, which currently ends June 30.

(xiii) Bank Accounts. Funds of the Company shall be deposited in its name in such
bank or brokerage account or accounts as may be determined by the Company
Managers.

(xiv) Checks, Drafls, Etc. All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money,
notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Company shall
be signed by such officer or officer’s agent or agents of the Company and in such
manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Managers.

(xv) Annual Audit. The Company may obtain an independent audit of the Company’s
books and records, including those books and records of the Company from any
agent or third party managing the Company’s funds, and shall provide the Member
with a copy thereof.

(xvi) Compensation and Reimbursement. The Managers and officers shall not be paid
for their services to the Company unless otherwise determined by the Member,
except that the Managers and officers may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses
in performance of their duties on behalf of the Company, provided that such
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reimbursement does not adversely affect the Member’s qualification as an
organization exempt under Section 501(a) and described under Section 501(c)(3)
of the Code or give rise to intermediate sanctions as defined in the Code.

13. Tax Characterization. It is the intention of the Member that the Company be
disregarded for federal income tax and all relevant state tax purposes and that the activities of the
Company be deemed to be activities of the Member for such purposes. All provisions of the
Company’s Certificate and this Agreement are to be construed so as to preserve that tax status
under those circumstances.

14. Dissolution.

(xvii) Distributions Upon Dissolution. Upon the occurrence of an event set forth in
Section 14(ii) hereof, and subject to Section 4 hereof, the Member shall be entitled
to receive, after paying or making reasonable provision for all of the Company’s
creditors to the extent required by Section 8877 of the Act, the remaining funds
and other assets of the Company.

(xviii) Dissolution. The Company shall dissolve, and its affairs shall be wound up, upon
the earliest to occur of: (1)the decision of the Member; or (2) an event of
dissolution of the Company under the Act.

15.  Liability and Indemnification.

(xix) Limitation of Liability. No Member shall be liable under a judgment, decree, or
order of a court, or in any other manner, for any debt, mortgage, pledge,
encumbrance, lien, charge of any kind, or any other obligation or liability of the
Company. The Member and the Managers shall not be personally liable for
monetary damages for any action taken or failure to take any action other than as
expressly provided in the Act. It is the intention of this Section to limit the
liability of the Member and the Managers of this Company to the fullest extent
permitted by any present or future provision of Pennsylvania law.

(xx) Indemnification. The Company shall hold harmless, defend, and indemnify any
Member, Manager, or officer, and may by a resolution adopted by a vote of a
majority of the Managers hold harmless, defend, and indemnify any employee or
agent, of the Company when acting on behalf of the Company to the fullest extent
permitted by the Act or any other present or future provision of Pennsylvania law.
Unless ordered by a court, any indemnification under this Section shall be made
by the Company only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that
indemnification is proper because the actions of the person to be indemnified
were not unlawful and did not constitute self-dealing, willful misconduct, or
recklessness or otherwise violate the standard of conduct provided in the Act.
Such determination shall be made: (1) by the Managers by majority vote of a
quorum consisting of Managers who are not parties to the action with regard to
which the individual is to be indemnified; or (2) if such a quorum is not
obtainable, or, even if obtainable, if a majority vote of a quorum of disinterested
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Managers so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion. The
Company may procure insurance providing greater indemnification to those
people and may share the premium cost with any of those people.

(xxi) Advancing Expenses. Expenses incurred by a person entitled to be indemnified
under this Section shall be paid by the Company in advance of the final
disposition of any action, suit, or proceeding upon receipt of: (1) a written
affirmation by the person of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the
relevant standard of conduct required by the Act or any other present or future
provision of Pennsylvania law; and (2) a written undertaking by or on behalf of
such person to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the
Company.

(xxii) Proceedings Initiated by Person Entitled to be Indemnified. Notwithstanding any
other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall not indemnify any
individual for any liability incurred in a proceeding initiated or participated in as
an intervenor or amicus curiae by the person seeking indemnification unless such
initiation of or participation in the proceeding is authorized, either before or after
its commencement, by a resolution of the Managers adopted by the affirmative
vote of a majority of the Managers excluding any Managers seeking
indemnification or by a resotution of the Member.

(xxiii) Rights to Indemnification. Any rights to indemnification provided by this
Agreement are not exclusive and do not exclude other rights of the indemnified
individual. Any amendment or modification of this Agreement providing for
indemnification pursuant to this Agreement that has the effect of limiting a
person’s rights to indemnification with respect to any act or failure to act
occurring prior to the date of adoption of such amendment or modification shall
not be effective as to that person unless he or she consents in writing to be bound
by such amendment or modification. The rights provided by or granted pursuant
to this Section to a person shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors,
and administrators

16.  Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA,
EXCLUDING ANY CONFLICTS OF LAW RULES OR PRINCIPLES.

17.  Severability. Except as otherwise provided in the succeeding sentence, every term and
provision of this Agreement is intended to be severable, and if any term or provision of this
Agreement is held by a Court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or invalid for any reason
whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the legality or validity of the remainder
of this Agreement, The preceding sentence shall be of no force or effect if the consequence of
enforcing the remainder of this Agreement without such illegal or invalid term or provision
would be to cause any party to lose the benefit of its economic bargain.
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18.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by
the different Parties on separate counterpart signature pages, with the same effect as if all the
signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument, and all such counterparts taken
together shall constitute one and the same document. Signatures by facsimile shall have the
same effect as original signatures.

19.  Amendment. This Agreement may be amended only in a writing signed by the Member
and the Company.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, intending to be legally bound hereby, the undersigned has
duly executed this Amended and Restated Operating Agreement as of the day and year first
above written.

MEMBER:

TURNING POINTS FOR CHILDREN

By:
Its:

COMPANY:

TURNING POINTS FOR CHILDREN CUA 5,
LLC

By:
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EXHIBIT A
COMPANY MANAGERS

The Managers of the Company, appointed by Turning Points for Children, the sole member of the
Company, shall be:

. [insert names of Managers]

DMAdmin\3828963.2



Case 17-14463-amc Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
DocuSign Envelope ID: D731F586-3B90-4A12-A351-A76EAR3BBAER Nt Page 154 of 251

EXHIBIT B

INITIAL MEMBER CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION

Wordsworth Academy, the initial sole member of the Company, made an initial capital
contribution in the amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000).
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AMENDED AND RESTATED OPERATING AGREEMENT
OF

TURNING POINTS FOR CHILDREN CUA 10, LLC

This Amended and Restated Operating Agreement (this “Agreement”) of
Wordsworth CUA 10, LLC (the “Company”) is entered into effective as of this __ day of
, 2017, by and between TURNING POINTS FOR CHILDREN, a
Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation (the “Member”), as the sole member of the Company, and
the Company (the Member and the Company are, collectively, the “Parties™).

Pursuant to and in accordance with the Pennsylvania Uniform Limited Liability
Company Law of 2016 (15 Pa.C.S. § 8811, et seq.), as amended from time to time (the “Act”), the
Parties agree as follows:

) Name. The name of the Company shall be Tumning Points for Children CUA 10, LLC.
2, Principal Office. The principal office of the Company shall be c/o Turning Points for

Children, 415 South 15th Street, Philadelphia, PA 19146, or such other place or places as the
Member shall determine.

3. Term. The term of the Company shall commence as of the date of filing of the
Certificate of Organization of the Company (the “Certificate”) with the Department of State of
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and the Company shall be dissolved and its affairs wound
up as provided in said Certificate, in this Agreement, or as otherwise provided in the Act.

4, Purpose. The Company is organized exclusively for charitable, scientific, and
educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”) (these are the “Purposes”). The Purposes include: (i) to provide
child welfare services to the community; and (i) any other lawful business purpose, including
taking any and all actions necessary, proper, advisable, or convenient for the accomplishment of
the purposes set forth in the previous provisions that the Company may do under the Act;
provided, however, that the Company shall not conduct or carry on any activity not permitted to
be conducted or carried on by the Member or by an organization that is exempt from tax under
Section 501(a) of the Code and described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and the Company
shall not conduct any activity that might adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Member
under Section 501(a) of the Code, which is described in Sections 501(c)(3) and 170(b)(1)(A)(ii)
of the Code,

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, no part of the Company’s net earnings shall inure to
the benefit of, or be distributable to, any contributor, director, manager, Company Manager, as
defined below, or officer of the Company or of the Member or any other individual or person,
provided that the Company shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation
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for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set
forth herein; no substantial part of the activities of the Company shall consist of carrying on
propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation; the Company shall not participate or
intervene in any political campaign on behalf of (or in opposition to) any candidate for public
office; and upon any dissolution or winding-up of the Company, its assets remaining afier all
debts and expenses have been paid or provided for shall be distributed by the Company to the
Member, provided that the Member qualifies at such time as an organization described in Section
501(c)(3) of the Code.

5. Member.

{(xxiv) Identity. Simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and
the filing of the Certificate of Amendment to the Company Certificate of
Organization with the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
Turning Points for Children is admitted as the Member of the Company in respect
of the Interest (as hereinafter defined). The name and the mailing address of the
Member are as follows:

Name Address

Turning Points for Children 415 South 15th Street
Philadelphia, PA 19146

(xxv) Limitations on Powers. The Member shall not have any right or power to take part
in the management or control of the Company or its business and affairs or to act
for or bind the Company in any way. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Member
shall have all the rights and powers specifically set forth in this Agreement and, to
the extent not inconsistent with this Agreement, in the Act.

(xxvi) Inspection Rights. The Member shall have the right, at any reasonable time, to
inspect the Company’s books and records, including all tax returns, at such
Member’s expense.

(xxvil) Exercise of Rights. The Member may exercise its rights or obligations
under this Agreement through a duly appointed representative,

6. Interest. The Company shall be authorized to issue a single class of limited liability
company interest (the “Interest”) including any and all benefits to which the holder of such
Interest may be entitled in this Agreement, together with all obligations of such person to comply
with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

7 Board of Managers.

(i) Management. The management of the Company shall be vested solely in a Board
of Managers (each, individually, a “Manager” and, collectively, the “Managers”
or the “Board”) that, subject to the restrictions contained in Section 7(ii) herein,
shall have full, exclusive, and complete authority, power, and discretion to
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manage, direct, and control the business, affairs, and properties of the Company,
including without limitation obtaining all insurance, permits, licenses, and
approvals and remedies thereof, necessary or desirable to facilitate the purpose of
the Company. The Managers of the Company are set forth on Exhibit “A” hereto.

(i)  Conduct of the Business of the Company. So long as the Company shall be in
existence, it shall conduct its business in a manner that is, and the Managers shall
approve only those actions of the Company that are, at all times consistent with the
Member’s charitable mission, and the Managers shall cause the Company to:

(1) conduct its business in accordance with all applicable laws;

(2) not commingle its assets with the assets of any other person or entity,
including but not limited to the Member, and hold all of its assets in its own
name;

(3) maintain records, books of account, bank accounts, financial statements,
accounting records, and other entity documents separate and apart from
those of any other person and not list its assets as assets on the financial
statement of any other person or entity; provided, however, that the
Company’s assets may be included in a consolidated financial statement of
the Member and in the Member’s IRS Form 990, provided that: (a)
appropriate notation shall be made on such consolidated financial statements
and the Member’s IRS Form 990 to indicate the separateness of the
Company from the Member and to indicate that the Company’s assets and
credit are not available to satisfy the debts and other obligations of the
Member or any other person or entity; and (b) such assets shall also be listed
on the Company’s own separate balance sheet;

(4) not maintain its assets in such a manner that will be costly or difficult to
segregate, ascertain, or identify its individual assets from those of any other
person or entity;

(5) pay any taxes required to be paid under applicable law;

(6) hold itself out to the public as a legal entity separate and distinct from any
other person or entity, including but not limited to the Member, and conduct
its business solely in its own name, correct any known misunderstanding
regarding its separate identity, and not identify itself or any of its affiliates
as a division or department of any other person or entity, including but not
limited to the Member;

(7) maintain adequate capital for the normal obligations reasonably foreseeable
in a business of its size and character and in light of its contemplated
business operations and pay its debts and liabilities from its own assets as
the same shall become due;
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(8) allocate fairly and reasonably shared expenses with any other person or
entity, including but not limited to the Member, (including, without
limitation, shared office space) and use separate stationery, invoices, and
checks bearing its own name;

(9) maintain a sufficient number of employees (if any), consultants, and other
service providers in light of the Company’s contemplated business
operations and pay the salaries of its own employees, if any, and costs of
consultants and other service providers exclusively from its own funds; and

(10) treat all of its employees (if any) exclusively as employees of the Company
and not of the Member, such that the Company’s employees are not entitled
to the benefits of employment by the Member.

(iii) Number: Terms.

¢)) There shall be not less than three (3) and not more than nine (9) Company
Managers.

(2) At all times, a majority of the Board shall be current members of the
Board of Directors of the Member, or duly elected replacements thereof,
and at least one (1) member of the Board (the “CAB Representative’)
shall be selected by the Board from a slate of nominees presented to it by
the Executive Director, which slate shall include only members of the
Community Advisory Board (the “CAB") as described in Section 7(viii)
herein.

3) Managers shall be elected for terms of two (2) years or until their
successors are duly selected and qualified, provided that the CAB
Representative shall be elected for a term of one (1) year or until his or her
successor is duly selected and qualified. There is no limit to the number
of consecutive terms that a Manager may serve.

(iv) Vacancies. Vacancies in the Board, including vacancies resulting from an increase
in the authorized number of Managers, shall be filled by election by a majority of
the remaining members of the Board, even if the number remaining on the Board is
less than a quorum. Any Manager so elected shall serve for the balance of the
unexpired term of the Manager that he or she is replacing.

(v) Meetings.

(1 Place of Meetings. The meetings of the Board may be held at such place
within or without the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as the Board may
determine. In the absence of specification, such meetings shall be held at
the registered office of the Company. Meetings may be held by means of
conference telephone or similar communications equipment to the fullest
extent permitted by Pennsylvania law.
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(2) Regular Meetings. Regular Meetings of the Board may be held at such
times as the Board may determine but not less often than two (2) times
each calendar year. Notice of Regular Meetings shall be provided to the
Board at least ten (10) days prior to each Regular Meeting, provided that
the Board may determine to provide a schedule of Regular Meetings
(“Schedule”) and the provision of the Schedule once a year shall be
sufficient notice of the Regular Meetings.

(3)  Special Meetings. Special Meetings of the Board may be called at any
time by the President or upon the written request of twenty-five percent
(25%) or more of the Managers stating the purpose of the meeting
delivered to the Secretary. Any such request by the Managers shall state
the time and place of the proposed meeting, and upon receipt of such
request it shall be the duty of the Secretary to issue the call for such
meeting promptly. If the Secretary shall neglect to issue such call, the
Directors making the request may issue the call. Notice of a Special
Meeting shall be given to the Board at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to
each Special Meeting, Business at a Special Meeting shall be limited to
the matters listed on the notice and related thereto.

(vi) uorum. A majority of the total number of the whole Board of Managers shall
constitute a quorum at all meetings of the Board, and the acts of a majority of the
Managers present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the acts of the
Board. Ifa quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board, the Managers
present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice, other
than an announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

(vii) Resignation and Removal.

n Resignation of Managers. A Manager may resign at any time by giving
written notice to the President or to the Secretary of the Company. Such
notice need not be accepted to be effective and shall take effect on the date
of receipt or at any later time which the notice specifies.

2) Removal of Managers. Any Manager may be removed at any time by the
Member, with or without cause, to the fullest extent permitted by the Act.

(viii) Community Advisory Board. The Company shall establish a Community
Advisory Board (the “CAB”). The members of the CAB (hereinafter
“Community Advisors”) may be nominated by the Executive Director or his or
her designee, and shall be appointed and may be removed, with or without cause,
by the Board. The Executive Director shall use his or her discretion in selecting
individuals to nominate to the CAB; the CAB may include representation from
residents, community leaders, religious leaders, community stakeholders, and
business owners in the community the Company serves. Community Advisors
shall be at least eighteen (18) years of age. Community Advisors shall not have
voting privileges regarding the activities of the Company and shall not be deemed
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to be Managers or Members for the purposes of the Act or any other state or
federal law, nor shall Community Advisors have any of the duties or obligations of
a Manager or a Member under the Act or any other state or federal law.

(ix) Advisory Boards. The Company may have such other Advisory Boards as the
Board may determine, the members of which (hereinafter “Advisors”) shall be
appointed and may be removed, with or without cause, by the President. Advisors
shall serve as advisors, ambassadors, and resources for the Company. Advisors
shall not have voting privileges regarding the activities of the Company and shall
not be deemed to be Managers or Members for the purposes of the Act or any
other state or federal law, nor shall Advisors have any of the duties or obligations
of a Manager or a Member under the Act or any other state or federal law.

(x) Committees.

@)) Establishment. The Board may establish one or more standing or special
committees. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the
Certificate, or applicable law, any committee may exercise such powers
and functions as the Board may from time to time determine, provided that
no committee shall have the authority to amend or repeal this Agreement,
elect or remove any officer or Manager, authorize any merger or other
fundamental transaction, or authorize the voluntary dissolution of the
Company.

(2) Members. Except as the Board may otherwise determine and as provided
in this Agreement, the President shall appoint all committee members and
committee chairpersons and may appoint alternates for any member or
chairperson of any committee. All members of the Executive Committee
shall be Managers. All other committees shall have at least one (1)
Manager as a member,

3) Committee Reports. The Chairperson of each committee shall deliver a
report of the activities of the committee to the Board as requested by the
President. If the Chairperson of the committee is unable to be present for
the committee report, the Chairperson may designate another member of
the committee to deliver its report. The Board shall adopt rules of
procedure as it deems necessary for the conduct of the affairs of each
committee

(xi) Executive Committee. There shall be an Executive Committee which, subject to
this Agreement and the Certificate, shall have and may exercise the powers of the
Board between meetings of the Board with general power to discharge the duties
of the Board except as such power from time to time may be limited by the Board.
The Executive Committee shall consist of the President, Secretary, and Treasurer
of the Company and such other members of the Board as may be appointed by the
Board. The Executive Committee may act only by a majority vote of its members.
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The actions of the Executive Committee shall be reported to the Board at each
Board Meeting or as often as may be required by the Board.
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8. Officers.

) Officers. The officers of the Company shall be natural persons of at least
eighteen (18) years of age, and there shall be a President, a Secretary, and a
Treasurer, each of whom shall be Managers currently in office and shall be
elected as officers by the Board of Managers. In addition, as the Board of
Managers may determine necessary, there may also be one or more Vice
Presidents and assistant officers.

In addition to the powers and duties prescribed by this Agreement, the officers
shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as from time to time shall
be prescribed by the Board of Managers. The Board of Managers may add to the
Company title of any officer (other than the President) a functional title in word or
words descriptive of his or her powers or the general character of his or her duties.
Any individual may hold more than one position.

(i) Term. The officers and assistant officers of the Company shall hold office for a
term of one (1) year, commencing on January 1 of the year following meeting at
which such officer is elected, or as specified in the resolution electing or
appointing such officer, and until their successors are chosen and have qualified,
unless they are sooner removed from office as provided by this Agreement.

(i)  Vacancies. If the office of any officer or assistant officer becomes vacant, the
vacancy shall be filled by the Managers in the manner set forth in this Agreement.
The elected officer shall fill the unexpired portion of the term to which he or she
is elected.

(iv)  Agents or Employees. The Board may by resolution designate the officer or
officers who shall have authority to appoint such agents or employees as the
needs of the Company may require. In the absence of such designation, this
function may be performed by the President and may be delegated by the
President to others in whole or in part.

(v}  Removal of Officers, Agents or Employees. The Board may remove at any time,
with or without cause, any officer, agent, or employee of the Company.

(vi)  Duties and Functions. The officers shall have and exercise such duties and
functions as usually attach to their offices, with such additional duties and
functions and subject to such limitations as may be provided in this Agreement or
established by the Board. Assistant officers shall perform such functions and
have such responsibilities as the Board may determine.

(vii) Vice Presidents; Powers and Duties. The Vice President, if any, shall, in the
absence or disability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers
of the President; and if there be more than one (1) Vice President, their senicrity
in performing such duties and exercising such powers shall be determined by the
Board or, in default of such determination, by the order in which they were first
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elected. Each Vice President also shall have such powers and perform such duties
as may be assigned to him or her by the Board. Each Vice President shall be an
ex officio non-voting member of the Board of Managers.

(viii) Executive Director. An Executive Director may be appointed and may be
removed by the Board. The Executive Director shall be accountable to the Board
of Managers and subject to the direction of the President and shall perform the
duties and functions as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of
Managers. The Executive Director shall be an ex officio non-voting member of
the Board of Managers and an ex officio non-voting member of all standing
committees.

10.  Capital Contributions. The initial member of the Company, Wordsworth Academy,
made an initial capital contribution to the Company in exchange for the Interest, as provided for
on Exhibit “B.” The Member is not required to make any additional capital contribution to the
Company, provided that the Member may make a capital contribution with respect to the Interest
in such amounts and at such times as the Member may determine in the Member’s sole
discretion.

11. Distributions. At such time as the Member shall determine, the Member shall cause the
Company to distribute to the Member any cash held by it that is neither reasonably necessary, in
the judgment of the Board, for the operation of the Company nor otherwise in violation of the
Act,

12. Accounting,

(1))  Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Company shall be the same as that of the
Member, which currently ends June 30.

(i) Bank Accounts. Funds of the Company shall be deposited in its name in such
bank or brokerage account or accounts as may be determined by the Company
Managers.

(iii) Checks, Drafts, Etc. All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money,
notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Company shall
be signed by such officer or officer’s agent or agents of the Company and in such
manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Managers.

(iv) Annual Audit. The Company may obtain an independent audit of the Company’s
books and records, including those books and records of the Company from any
agent or third party managing the Company’s funds, and shall provide the Member
with a copy thereof.

(v) Compensation and Reimbursement. The Managers and officers shall not be paid
for their services to the Company unless otherwise determined by the Member,
except that the Managers and officers may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses
in performance of their duties on behalf of the Company, provided that such
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reimbursement does not adversely affect the Member’s qualification as an
organization exempt under Section 501(a) and described under Section 501(c)(3)
of the Code or give rise to intermediate sanctions as defined in the Code.

13.  Tax Characterization. [t is the intention of the Member that the Company be
disregarded for federal income tax and all relevant state tax purposes and that the activities of the
Company be deemed to be activities of the Member for such purposes. All provisions of the
Company’s Certificate and this Agreement are to be construed so as to preserve that tax status
under those circumstances.

14. Dissolution.

(i)  Distributions Upon Dissolution. Upon the occurrence of an event set forth in
Section 14(ii) hereof, and subject to Section 4 hereof, the Member shall be entitled
to receive, after paying or making reasonable provision for all of the Company’s
creditors to the extent required by Section 8877 of the Act, the remaining funds
and other assets of the Company.

(i)  Dissolution. The Company shall dissolve, and its affairs shall be wound up, upon
the earliest to occur of: (1)the decision of the Member; or (2) an event of
dissolution of the Company under the Act.

15.  Liability and Indemnification.

@) Limitation of Liability. No Member shall be liable under a judgment, decree, or
order of a court, or in any other manner, for any debt, mortgage, pledge,
encumbrance, lien, charge of any kind, or any other obligation or liability of the
Company. The Member and the Managers shall not be personally liable for
monetary damages for any action taken or failure to take any action other than as
expressly provided in the Act. It is the intention of this Section to limit the
liability of the Member and the Managers of this Company to the fullest extent
permitted by any present or future provision of Pennsylvania law.

(i) Indemnification. The Company shall hold harmless, defend, and indemnify any
Member, Manager, or officer, and may by a resolution adopted by a vote of a
majority of the Managers hold harmless, defend, and indemnify any employee or
agent, of the Company when acting on behalf of the Company to the fullest extent
permitted by the Act or any other present or future provision of Pennsylvania law.
Unless ordered by a court, any indemnification under this Section shall be made
by the Company only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that
indemnification is proper because the actions of the person to be indemnified
were not unlawful and did not constitute self-dealing, willful misconduct, or
recklessness or otherwise violate the standard of conduct provided in the Act.
Such determination shall be made: (1) by the Managers by majority vote of a
quorum consisting of Managers who are not parties to the action with regard to
which the individual is to be indemnified; or (2) if such a quorum is not
obtainable, or, even if obtainable, if a majority vote of a quorum of disinterested
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Managers so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion. The
Company may procure insurance providing greater indemnification to those
people and may share the premium cost with any of those people.

(iii)  Advancing Expenses. Expenses incurred by a person entitled to be indemnified
under this Section shall be paid by the Company in advance of the final
disposition of any action, suit, or proceeding upon receipt of: (1) a written
affirmation by the person of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the
relevant standard of conduct required by the Act or any other present or future
provision of Pennsylvania law; and (2) a written undertaking by or on behalf of
such person to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the
Company.

(iv)  Proceedings Initiated by Person Entitled to be Indemnified. Notwithstanding any
other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall not indemnify any

individual for any liability incurred in a proceeding initiated or participated in as
an intervenor or amicus curiae by the person seeking indemnification unless such
initiation of or participation in the proceeding is authorized, either before or after
its commencement, by a resolution of the Managers adopted by the affirmative
vote of a majority of the Managers excluding any Managers seeking
indemnification or by a resolution of the Member.

) Rights to Indemnification. Any rights to indemnification provided by this
Agreement are not exclusive and do not exclude other rights of the indemnified
individual. Any amendment or medification of this Agreement providing for
indemnification pursuant to this Agreement that has the effect of limiting a
person’s rights to indemnification with respect to any act or failure to act
occurring prior to the date of adoption of such amendment or modification shall
not be effective as to that person unless he or she consents in writing to be bound
by such amendment or modification. The rights provided by or granted pursuant
to this Section to a person shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors,
and administrators

16. Governing  Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA,
EXCLUDING ANY CONFLICTS OF LAW RULES OR PRINCIPLES.

17.  Severability. Except as otherwise provided in the succeeding sentence, every term and
provision of this Agreement is intended to be severable, and if any term or provision of this
Agreement is held by a Court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or invalid for any reason
whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the legality or validity of the remainder
of this Agreement. The preceding sentence shall be of no force or effect if the consequence of
enforcing the remainder of this Agreement without such iilegal or invalid term or provision
would be to cause any party to lose the benefit of its economic bargain.
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18.  Counterparts, This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by
the different Parties on separate counterpart signature pages, with the same effect as if all the
signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument, and all such counterparts taken
together shall constitute one and the same document. Signatures by facsimile shall have the
same effect as original signatures.

19. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended only in a writing signed by the Member
and the Company.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, intending to be legally bound hereby, the undersigned has
duly executed this Amended and Restated Operating Agreement as of the day and year first
above written.

MEMBER:

TURNING POINTS FOR CHILDREN

Its:

COMPANY:

TURNING POINTS FOR CHILDREN CUA 10,
LLC
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EXHIBIT A
COMPANY MANAGERS

The Managers of the Company, appointed by Turning Points for Children, the sole member of the
Company, shall be;

" [insert names of Managers]
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EXHIBIT B

INITIAL MEMBER CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION

Wordsworth Academy, the initial sole member of the Company, made an initial capital
contribution in the amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000).
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EXHIBIT E

Certificate of Representations and Warranties of Wordsworth

The undersigned executive officers, acting in the capacities shown below, on behalf of
Wordsworth Academy (“Wordsworth »*), without personal liability, do hereby certify to PHMC
that the representations and warranties set forth below are, to the best of each said officer’s
knowledge, information and belief after reasonable inquiry, true and correct in all material
respects as of the date hereof:

A. Organization and Good Standing.

(1) Wordsworth is a non-profit corporation duly organized, validly
existing, in good standing and subsisting under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
and has all requisite corporate power and authority to carry on its activities and to execute,
deliver and perform this Agreement and the transactions and the Affiliation contemplated
hereby. This Agreement has been duly authorized by all proper corporate action of Wordsworth
and constitutes the valid and binding obligation of Wordsworth, enforceable against Wordsworth
in ac

cordance with its terms.

(i)  Wordsworth is exempt from federal income taxes as a public
charity under Sections 501(c)(3) and 509(a)(1) of the Code, as amended, and is duly registered as
a charitable organization with the Pennsylvania Department of State, Bureau of Corporations and
Charitable Organizations. Such status is not currently subject to, and to the best of Wordsworth’s
knowledge, is not threatened to be made subject to, any administrative or other proceeding by the
Internal Revenue Service or any other governmental agency.

(ili)  Wordsworth does not have, and since the date of its incorporation
has never had, any members as defined in Section 5103 of the Pennsylvania Nonprofit
Corporation Law of 1988, as amended, including specifically any members entitled to vote on
any matter.

B. Powers, Consents: Absence of Conflicts with Other Agreements.

) To the best of Wordsworth’s knowledge, the execution, delivery
and performance of this Agreement by Wordsworth and the completion of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement do not and will not result in or constitute a conflict, violation,
breach, default (or an event, which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a
default), under, or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration under any of
the terms, conditions or provisions of any contract or other instrument or obligation to which
Wordsworth is a party or by which Wordsworth may be bound. By execution of this Agreement,
Wordsworth agrees that to the best of its knowledge it has provided any required notices of this
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Agreement to all funding sources or Parties with which Wordsworth has a contract and shall
have received bank consent approving this Agreement.

(i)  The consummation by Wordsworth of the Affiliation:

(a) is within its corporate powers, is not in contravention of
law or of the terms of its organizational documents, and has been duly authorized by all
appropriate corporate action;

(b) except as provided in Schedule B(ii)(b), does not require
any approval or consent of, or filing with, any government, governmental entity, department,
commission, board, agency or instrumentality, or any court, tribunal, or judicial or arbitral body,
whether federal, state, or local (each a “Governmental Authority”) bearing on the validity of
this Agreement that is required by law or the regulations of any such Governmental Authority;
and

{©) will neither conflict with, nor result in any breach or
contravention of, or the creation of any lien, charge, restriction, or encumbrance under, any
indenture, agreement, lease, instrument, or understanding to which it is a party or by which it is
bound.

C. Binding Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally
binding obligation of Wordsworth and is and will be enforceable against it in accordance with
the respective terms hereof.

D. Legal and Repulatory Compliance; Legal Proceedings.

(i) Except as provided in Schedule D, Wordsworth is in compliance
with all applicable legal requirements and has timely filed all reports, data, and other information
required to be filed with any Governmental Authority, except where a failure to be in compliance
or file timely would not have an adverse effect on Wordsworth.

(ii) Except as provided in Schedule D, Wordsworth has not received
notice of any proceeding or investigation by a Governmental Authority alleging, or based upon, a
violation of any legal requirements that is currently pending or, if not currently pending, would
not otherwise have an adverse effect on Wordsworth.

(iii)  Except as provided in Schedule D, Wordsworth is not threatened
with any proceeding or investigation by a Governmental Authority alleging, or based upon, a
violation of any applicable legal requirements.

(iv)  Except as provided in Schedule D, there is no action, suit,
arbitration, hearing, investigation, audit, or other proceeding pending or threatened against
Wordsworth, or which otherwise relates to or may affect the transactions contemplated hereby, at
law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Authority.
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v) Except as provided in Schedule D, no event has occurred or
circumstance exists that is reasonably likely to give rise to, or serve as, the cause for the
commencement of any such proceeding. There is no order, judgment, decree, ruling, injunction,
or award to which Wordsworth is subject and Wordsworth has not received any notice or
comumunication, written or oral, from any Governmental Authority regarding any actual or
potential violation of or failure to comply with any such order, judgment, decree, ruling,
injunction, or award.

E. Employment and Independent Contractors.

() Schedule E(i) hereto contains a true and accurate list of each
Wordsworth employee (each, a “Wordsworth Employee”) and Wordsworth Independent
Contractor (each, a “Wordsworth Independent Contractor”), together with a description of
the Wordsworth Employee’s or the Wordsworth Independent Contractor’s job position, date of
hire, and current salary and benefits.

(ii)  Except as provided in Schedule E(ii), all federal, state, and local
employment taxes have been reported and paid for all Wordsworth Employees and former
Wordsworth Employees.

(ili)  Schedule E(iii) describes all Wordsworth Employee benefits plans
and programs, including without limitation, retirement, pension, disability, life insurance, and
health care coverage (the “Wordsworth Benefit Plans and Programs”). As of the Effective
Date, Wordsworth has paid all premiums, contributions, and other expenses due for such
Wordsworth Benefit Plans and Programs and has fulfilled all other employer legal obligations
and responsibilities with respect to the Wordsworth Benefit Plans and Programs.

(iv)  Wordsworth is neither a party to, nor otherwise subject to, any
collective bargaining or other agreement governing the wages and hours of the Wordsworth
Employees. Wordsworth is not aware of any labor dispute or concern involving the Wordsworth
Employees.

F. Financial Statements; Forms 990.

(i)  Wordsworth has delivered to PHMC true and correct copies of the
following financial statements of Wordsworth (the “Wordsworth Financial Statements’):

(a) audited Wordsworth Financial Statements for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2014, 2015, and 2016; and

(b) unaudited Wordsworth Financial Statement for the period
beginning July 1, 2016 and, ending April 30, 2017.

(i)  The Wordsworth Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), applied on a consistent
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basis throughout the periods indicated, and present fairly the financial condition of Wordsworth
as of the dates indicated thereon.

(iif)  Wordsworth has delivered or will deliver to PHMC true and
correct copies of the IRS Forms 990 for the fiscal years ending as of June 30, 2014, 2015, and
2016, and a signed copy of the IRS Form 8879 for each return

G. No Undisclosed Liability. Except as and to the extent of the amounts
specifically accrued or disclosed in the Wordsworth Financial Statements, Wordsworth has no
liabilities (i) as of the date of the last Wordsworth Financial Statement that were required to be
reported as liabilities and were not reflected on the Wordsworth Financial Statement or (ii) since
that date. Wordsworth believes that there is no basis for the assertion against Wordsworth of any
liability or obligation not fully and expressly accrued or disclosed in the Wordsworth Financial
Statements or covered by insurance.

H. Events Subsequent to Most Recent Fiscal Year End. Except as set forth in
Schedule (H), since June 30, 2016, there have been no:

(i) material changes in the condition, financial or otherwise, of the
operations of Wordsworth;

(ii))  fundamental changes to Wordsworth, its purpose, or structure;

(iii)  threatened Wordsworth Employee strikes, work stoppages, or labor
disputes pertaining to Wordsworth;

(iv)  sales, assignments, transfers, or dispositions of any Wordsworth
asset except in the ordinary course of operations, consistent with past custom and practice, and
with comparable replacement thereof;

(v) changes in the accounting methods or practices employed by
Wordsworth, such as changes in depreciation or amortization policies; or

(vi) transactions outside the ordinary course of operations or
inconsistent with past custom and practice other than the closing of the residential treatment
facility operation, the closing of the acute partial hospitalization program and the intent to enter
into a bankruptcy.

L Licenses. Schedule I hereto contains a true and accurate list and summary
description of all licenses, registrations, certifications, permits, and approvals held by
Wordsworth relating to the operation of Wordsworth, all of which are now and shall be as of the
Effective Date in good standing. Except as provided in Schedule I, there is no provision or plan
of corrections or other limitation on or threatened limitation on or revocation of any license,
registration, certification, permit, or approval, except as described in Schedule 1.
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J. Contracts.

(i) Schedule J hereto contains a true and accurate list of all
agreements, contracts, and commitments, written or oral, to which Wordsworth is a party or by
which Wordsworth is bound (the “Wordsworth Contracts™), including, without limitation:

(a) notes, loans, credit agreements, mortgages, indentures,
security agreements, operating leases, capital leases, mortgages, and other agreements and
instruments relating to the borrowing of money or extension of credit and any contract of
suretyship or guaranty;

®) all employment and consulting agreements and
arrangements, and all bonus, compensation, pension, insurance, retirement, deferred
compensation and other plans, agreements, trusts, funds, and other arrangements for the benefit
of the Wordsworth Employees and/or the Wordsworth Independent Contractors;

(c) licenses of patents, copyrights, trademarks, and other
intangible property rights;

(d) agreements or commitments for capital expenditures;

(e) any joint venture, partnership, or other agreement involving
a share of profits or losses;

® any contract, agreement, or arrangements with any affiliate;

(2) any agreement restricting competition or the business
activities of any person or entity;

(h) any agreement for the purchase or sale of any Wordsworth
asset;

(i) all deeds to the Wordsworth real property (the
“Wordsworth Real Property”);

{)) any liens, easements, or other encumbrances on the
Wordsworth Real Property;

(k) all Wordsworth Leases (as defined in Section 9.L(vi)); and

M any other agreements or obligations material to
Wordsworth’s operations.

(il)  Wordsworth has provided to PHMC a true and correct copy of a
list of all Wordsworth Contracts and provided access to copies of all Wordsworth Contracts.
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(iii)  Other than the Lease for the property located at 3905 Ford Road,
Philadelphia, PA (the “Ford Road Lease”), Wordsworth is not in default under the terms of any
Wordsworth Contract. No event has occurred that would constitute a default by Wordsworth
under any Wordsworth Contract, nor has Wordsworth received any notice of any default under
any Wordsworth Contract. The counterparties to the Wordsworth Contracts are not in default
under the terms thereof, nor has any event occurred that would constitute a default by any such
counterparty under any Wordsworth Contract, nor has Wordsworth received any notice of any
such counterparty's default under any Wordsworth Contract.

(iv)  Wordsworth has not made prepayments or deposits under any
Wordsworth Contract.

K. Subsidiaries. Wordsworth does not own or hold any common stock,
partnership interests, or membership interests in any subsidiary other than CUA LLC5 and CUA
LLC10.

L. Real Property.

) Wordsworth holds good and marketable title to all of its real
property, the legal description of which is set forth in Schedule L(i) (the “Wordsworth Real
Property”), free and clear of restrictions on or conditions to transfer or assignment, liens,
pledges, charges, or encumbrances except as provided on Schedule L(i).

(i1) Except as provided on Schedule L(i), there are no leases,
subleases, licenses, concessions, or other agreements, including any amendments, extensions,
renewals, or guaranties with respect to the Wordsworth Real Property.

(iii)  The Wordsworth Real Property is in compliance with all
“Environmental Laws,” which shall include, but not be limited to, all the federal environmental
laws, including the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, CERCLA, the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right-To-Know Act, and Sections 6
and 8 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, and any comparable or additional
Pennsylvania or local environmental law.

(iv)  Wordsworth has not received any written notice from any
Governmental Authority or neighboring, upgradient, or downgradient property owner or other
third party regarding any non-compliance with or violation of any Environmental Law with
respect to the Wordsworth Real Property or the presence or release of hazardous substances in,
on, under, or from the Wordsworth Real Property.

(v) Wordsworth has not caused any release of hazard substances to or
trom the Wordsworth Real Property.

(vi)  Schedule L{vi) hereto contains an accurate list of each lease,
sublease, license, concession, or other agreement, including all amendments, extensions,
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renewals, guaranties, and other agreements with respect to any property leased by Wordsworth
(each, a “Wordsworth Lease™).

(vii)  With respect to each Wordsworth Lease:

(@) Such Wordsworth Lease is legal, valid, binding,
enforceable, and in full force and effect;

(b)  Wordsworth has not disturbed the possession and quiet
enjoyment of any real property under such Wordsworth Lease and there are no disputes with
respect to such Wordsworth Lease except as related to the Ford Road Lease;

(c) Neither Wordsworth nor any other party to the Wordsworth
Lease is in breach or default under such Wordsworth Lease, and no event has occurred or
circumstance exists which, with the delivery of notice, the passage of time or both, would
constitute such a breach or default, or permit the termination, modification, or acceleration of
rent under such Wordsworth Lease;

(d)  No tenant/lessee has subleased, licensed, or otherwise
granted any person the right to use or occupy such leased real property or any portion thereof;,
and

(e) There are no liens or encumbrances on the estate or interest
created by such Wordsworth Lease.

M.  Regulatory Compliance. Except as set forth in Schedule M, the operations
of Wordsworth comply with all applicable laws of any Government Authority having jurisdiction
over Wordsworth and the operations of the facilities or their related ancillary services.

N. Insurance.

] Schedule N hereto is an accurate schedule of the insurance policies
or self-insurance funds maintained by Wordsworth covering the ownership and operations of
Wordsworth, indicating the type of insurance, policy numbers, identity of insurers, amounts, and
coverage of each (the “Wordsworth Insurance Policies”).

(ii)  All of the Wordsworth Insurance Policies are in full force and
effect with no premium arrearage. Wordsworth has given in a timely manner to their insurers all
notices required to be given under the Wordsworth Insurance Policies with respect to all of the
claims and actions covered by insurance, and no insurer has denied coverage of any such claims
or actions.

(ili) Wordsworth has not received any notice or other communication

from any such insurance company canceling or materially amending any Wordsworth Insurance
Policies or threatening to cancel or amend any Wordsworth Insurance Policy, and Wordsworth
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has not failed to give any required notice or present any claim that is still outstanding under any
of such Wordsworth Insurance Policies with respect to Wordsworth.
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/\A

INWITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have each set their hand and seal this A7
day of _J L nE—2017.

Diana Ramsay, Interim Chief Eecutive Officer

_,/‘"““\ z (D
(j< ) perr’ (L Ner ‘*&”/} —(SEAL)

/ZMZ///Z%’/ (SEAL)

Dondld Stewart, Chief Financial Officer
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Schedules to Certificate of Representations and Warranties of Wordsworth:

Schedule B(ii)}(b): Consents

Schedule D: Legal and Regulatory Compliance; Legal Proceedings
Schedule E(i): Employees and Independent Contractors
Schedule E(ii): Employment Taxes

Schedule E(iii): Benefit Plans and Programs

Schedule H: Change in Financial Conditions
Schedule I: Limitations of Licenses

Schedule J: Contracts

Schedule L(i) Real Property

Schedule L(vi) Leased Real Property

Schedule M: Regulatory Compliance

Schedule N: Insurance
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SCHEDULE B(ii)(b)

Consents

Approval of the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services
Approval of the Pennsylvania Department of Education

Approval of Community Behavioral Health
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[REDACTED]
SCHEDULE D

Legal and Regulatory Compliance; Legal Proceedings

General Liability Litigation
1. Mary Smith v. Wordsworth

2. Trequan Russell aka Sha'varﬁl Russell v. Wordsworth-~filed in CCP Philadelphia,

Employment
1. Marianne Infante v. Wordsworth-filed in Montgomery County CCP 2012-08179

2. Vamell Johnson v. Wordsworth—filed in EDPA 16-5724 (complaint attached).

Motor Vehicle
1. Canady and Diggs v. Wordsworth and Green—filed in Phila CCP April term, 2016-0433
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RTF License Appeal
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SCHEDULE E(I)

Employees and Independent Contractors

[CONFIDENTIAL]
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APPENDIX B

[FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS]
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FY2018
Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022

Statement of Activity

Revenue 3,669,893 3,676,986 3,728,269 3,688,304 3,661,795 3,613,633 14,296,486 14,725,381 15,167,142 15,622,156
Personnel Expenses 2,675,279 2,435,207 2,674,177 2,590,140 2,673,642 2,591,713 10,135,478 10,439,542 10,752,729 11,075,310
Occupancy Expenses 225,400 224,903 224,636 226,622 228,101 230,996 611,642 629,991 648,891 668,358
Operating Expenses 669,757 672,317 676,048 668,912 672,638 685,938 2,019,786 2,080,380 2,142,791 2,207,075
Depreciation & Amortization 32,020 27,407 23,499 17,857 16,026 15,264 410,524 450,426 460,296 470,166
Interest Expenses 41,377 45,550 50,298 53,964 56,211 58,876 267,323 227,421 217,551 207,681
Total Expenses 3,643,834 3,405,383 3,648,658 3,557,494 3,646,618 3,582,787 13,444,753 13,827,760 14,222,258 14,628,590

Excess Contribution 26,059 271,603 79,611 130,809 15,177 30,845 851,733 897,620 944,885 993,566
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FY2018
Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022
Balance Sheet
Assets
Current Assets
Cash - - - - - - 361,176 1,320,776 2,294,747 3,283,223
Accounts Receivable (net of reserve) 6,762,965 6,803,920 6,871,459 6,884,763 6,905,741 6,913,461 2,959,349 3,164,894 3,413,356 3,706,022
Prepaid Expenses 761,481 761,481 761,481 761,481 761,481 761,481 761,481 761,481 761,481 761,481
Total Current Assets 7,524,446 7,565,401 7,632,940 7,646,244 7,667,222 7,674,942 4,082,006 5,247,152 6,469,584 7,750,726
Property, Plant & Equipment
Land 1,296,000 1,296,000 1,296,000 1,296,000 1,296,000 1,296,000 1,296,000 1,296,000 1,296,000 1,296,000
Building Improvements 17,624 17,624 17,624 17,624 17,624 17,624 17,624 17,624 17,624 17,624
Leasehold Improvements 13,432,529 13,432,529 13,432,529 13,432,529 13,432,529 13,432,529 13,432,529 13,432,529 13,432,529 13,432,529
Computer 3,950,856 3,950,856 3,950,856 3,950,856 3,950,856 3,950,856 3,950,856 3,950,856 3,950,856 3,950,856
Furniture and Fixtures 3,573,858 3,573,858 3,573,858 3,573,858 3,573,858 3,573,858 3,573,858 3,573,858 3,573,858 3,573,858
Vehicles & Equipment 980,983 980,983 980,983 980,983 980,983 980,983 980,983 980,983 980,983 980,983
Accumulated Depreciation (17,775,981) (17,802,956) (17,826,576) (17,846,684) (17,862,761) (17,876,840) (18,287,364)  (18,737,789)  (19,198,085) (19,668,251)
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 5,475,869 5,448,894 5,425,274 5,405,166 5,389,089 5,375,010 4,964,486 4,514,061 4,053,765 3,583,599
Non-Current Assets
Other Assets 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625
Total Non-Current Assets 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625 346,625
Total Assets 13,346,940 13,360,919 13,404,840 13,398,035 13,402,935 13,396,577 9,393,117 10,107,837 10,869,974 11,680,950
Liabilities And Net Assets
Current Liabilities
Line of Credit 2,947,296 3,287,731 3,765,667 4,148,547 4,752,693 4,725,922 - - - -
DIP Financing - - - - - - - - - -
Note Payable - Term Loan (M&T) 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000
Deferred Rent 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615
Accounts Payable 2,289,144 1,706,321 1,208,481 705,905 107,201 111,249 169,978 175,077 180,330 185,740
Accrued Expenses 565,315 565,315 565,315 565,315 565,315 565,315 565,315 565,315 565,315 565,315
Total Current Liabilities 6,406,370 6,163,982 6,144,078 6,024,382 6,029,824 6,007,101 1,339,908 1,345,007 1,350,260 1,355,670
Long Term Liabilities
Note Payable - Term Loan (M&T) 4,084,333 4,068,667 4,053,000 4,037,333 4,021,667 4,006,000 3,818,000 3,630,000 3,442,000 3,254,000
Deferred Rent 1,215,455 1,215,455 1,215,455 1,215,455 1,215,455 1,215,455 1,215,455 1,215,455 1,215,455 1,215,455
Total Long Term Liabilities 5,299,788 5,284,122 5,268,455 5,252,788 5,237,122 5,221,455 5,033,455 4,845,455 4,657,455 4,469,455
Total Liabilities 11,706,158 11,448,103 11,412,533 11,277,170 11,266,945 11,228,556 6,373,363 6,190,462 6,007,715 5,825,125
Net Assets 1,640,782 1,912,816 1,992,307 2,120,865 2,135,990 2,168,021 3,019,754 3,917,375 4,862,259 5,855,826

Unrestricted 13,346,940 13,360,919 13,404,840 13,398,035 13,402,935 13,396,577 9,393,117 10,107,837 10,869,974 11,680,950
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FY2018
Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022

Cash Flow

Cash Reciepts:
Accounts Receivable 3,638,998 3,636,031 3,660,730 3,675,000 3,640,817 3,605,912 18,250,599 14,519,835 14,918,680 15,329,490
Other Cash Reciepts - - - - - - - - - -
Financing Proceeds

Total Cash Receipts 3,638,998 3,636,031 3,660,730 3,675,000 3,640,817 3,605,912 18,250,599 14,519,835 14,918,680 15,329,490

Operating Disbursements:
Personnel Expenses 2,663,682 2,423,632 2,657,427 2,578,542 2,662,067 2,580,138 10,135,478 10,439,542 10,752,729 11,075,310
Accounts Payable 1,493,360 1,491,618 1,415,274 1,409,708 1,511,019 924,460 2,572,699 2,705,271 2,786,430 2,870,023
Other - - - - - - - - - -
Total Operating Disbursements 4,157,042 3,915,250 4,072,702 3,988,249 4,173,086 3,504,598 12,708,177 13,144,814 13,539,158 13,945,333
Operating Cash Flow (518,045) (279,219) (411,972) (313,249) (532,269) 101,314 5,542,421 1,375,021 1,379,522 1,384,157
Non- Operating Disbursements:
Interest - Term Debt M&T 18,193 18,553 19,945 20,100 18,316 18,771 237,291 227,421 217,551 207,681
Principal - Term Debt M&T 15,667 15,667 15,667 15,667 15,667 15,667 188,000 188,000 188,000 188,000

Interest - Term Debt P&L - - - - - - - - - -
Principal - Term Debt P&L - - - - - - R
Interest - Line of Credit 23,185 26,997 30,352 33,864 37,894 40,105 30,032 - - -

Restructuring Fees - - - - - - - - - -

Other - - - - - - - - - -
Total Non-Operating Disbursements 57,044 61,216 65,965 69,630 71,877 74,543 455,323 415,421 405,551 395,681
Net Cash Flow (575,089) (340,435) (477,937) (382,879) (604,146) 26,771 5,087,098 959,600 973,971 988,476
Ending Cash Balance - - - - - - 361,176 1,320,776 2,294,747 3,283,223
Line of Credit Balance 2,947,296 3,287,731 3,765,667 4,148,547 4,752,693 4,725,922 - - - -

Line of Credit Availability 1,922,039 1,611,091 1,181,783 808,482 219,440 251,770 2,059,707 2,202,766 2,375,696 2,579,391
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As of December 30, 2017
Projected %
Book Value Recovery S
Assets:
Cash - 100% -
Accounts Receivable 4,993,448 75% 3,745,086
Investment Account - 95% -
Deposits (1) 124,200 0% -
Prepaid Expenses 29,306 25% 7,327
Prepaid Insurance 1,016,210 50% 508,105
Autos 7,770 15,000
Real Estate (2) 9,500,000 80% 7,600,000
Furniture & Fixtures 549,148 5% 27,457
Computers 136,950 10% 13,695
Other Assets - 0% -
Total Assets 16,357,032 11,916,670
Liquidation/Administrative Expenses (1,307,500)
Funds Available for Secured Debt 10,609,170
Secured Debt:
Line of Credit 3,270,521 100% 3,270,521
1st Motgage (M&T) 4,870,106 100% 4,870,106
2nd Mortgage (Play & Learn) 1,500,000 100% 1,500,000
Total Secured Debt 9,640,627 9,640,627
Funds Available for Unsecured Debt 968,543
Priority Claims:
Payroll & taxes (includes vacation) 960,103 100% 960,103
Total Priority Claims 960,103 960,103
Funds Available for Unsecured Claims 8,440
Unsecured Claims:
Warn Act Claims - 100% -
Litigation Claims - 100% -
Litigation Claims (IBNR) - 100% -
Landlord Claims 2,489,744 100% 2,489,744
SubContractors - A/P 3,000,000 100% 3,000,000
SubContractors - Accrual - 100% -
Accounts Payable Vendors 1,159,397 100% 1,159,397
Accured Expenses - Other 91,245 100% 91,245
Total Unsecured Claims 6,740,386 6,740,386
Percent paid on unsecured claims 0.1%
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ClittonLarsenAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

CliftonLarsonAlien

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Trustees
Wordsworth Academy
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Wordsworth Academy {a nonprofit organization as
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code), which comprise the statements of financial
position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financiai statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicahle to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to ebtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order 1o design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting poticies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Wordsworth Academy as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the changes in its net assets and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

A membe; of

Nexia

" International

(1)
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Board of Trustees
Wordsworth Academy

Other Matters
Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The 2016
and 2015 schedules of functional expenses are presented for additional analysis and are not a required part of
the financial statements. The accompanying Chartered/Approved Private School Expense Report, as required by
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, is also presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required
part of the financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal, state and city awards is presented for
purposes of additional analysis, as required by the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and the Philadelphia
Subrecipient Audit Guide, is also presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the
financial statements. The accompanying Report of Revenue by Functional Program, Report of Functional
Expenditures, Report of Excess Revenue {Expenses), included on pages 35 through 38, are also presented for
additional analysis, as required by the City of Philadelphia Department of Human Services and are also not a
required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial
statements and certain additional procedures, inciuding comparing and reconciling such information directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial
statements themselves, and cother additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of Amaerica. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in ail material respects
in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March &, 2017, on our
consideration of Wordsworth Academy's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering Wordsworth Academy’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

J%MMM L7

CliftonLlarsonAlien LLP

Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania
Miarch 6, 2017
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
of $230,210 in 2016, $425,000 in 2015
Investments
Environmental Escrow
Inventory
Prepaid Expenses
Total Current Assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
OTHER ASSETS

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lines of Credit
Current Portion of Note Payable
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Deferred Income
Total Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Note Payable, Net of Current Portion
Geferred Rent
Total Long-Term Liahilities

Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted

Total Net Assets

Total Liabilities and Net Assets

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

(3)

Desc Main

2016 2015
268,307  § 266,444
13,547,868 12,811,688
26,878 29,846
13 75,000
25,660 20,000
313,178 367,396
14,181,904 13,570,374
6,580,772 6,901,345
294,185 292,085
21,056,861 § 20,763,804
1,731,225  § 112,620
600,000 600,000
10,387,950 12,581,295
239,999 244,614
12,959,174 13,538,529
4,700,000 5,300,000
1,113,850 1,186,183
5,813,850 6,486,183
18,773,024 20,024,712
2,257,671 672,926
26,166 66,166
2,283,837 739,092
21,056,861 S 20,763,804
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 20156 AND 2015

2016 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM QPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets S 1,544,745 S 1,467,332
Adiustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 1,087,688 981,849
Amortizaticn - 52,773
Donation of Investments - {12,745)
Net Unrealized {Gain} Loss on Investments 2,968 {2,513)
Change in Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (174,750} {3,770)
Deferred Rent {72,333) {66,781)

{increase) Decrease in:
Accounts Receivable (561,390) (6,698,800)
Inventory (5,660} -
Prepaid Expenses 54,218 8,814
Other Assats (2,100) (117,833)

Increase (Decrease) in:
Deferred Incorme {4,615) {3,550}
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (2,193,345} 5,783,366
Net Cash Provided {Used) by Operating Activities (324,614} 1,388,142

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of Property and Equipment (767,115) (861,117)
Deposits to Assets - Restricted Use - (432,211)
Deposits to Environmental Escrow - {75,000)
Dishursement from Environmental Escrow 74,087 -
Disbursement from Assets - Restricted Use - 1,790,287

Net Cash Provided {Used) by Investing Activities (692,128) 421,959

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings under Line of Credit 8,733,383 33,873,005
Repayments under Line of Credit (7,114,778} (36,187,011)
Principal Payments of Bonds Payable - {5,470,000)
Proceeds from Note Payable - 6,000,000
Principal Payments of Note Payable (600,000) (100,000)
Repayments of Capital Lease Obligations - (6,652)
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities 1,018,605 {1,890,658)

NET INCREASE {DECREASE) N CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,863 (80,557}
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 266,444 347,001
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR S 268,307 ) 266,444

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest $ 368,254 S 691,329

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

Wordsworth Academy {(“Wordsworth”} is a non-profit Pennsylvania corporation whose mission is to
provide education, behavioral heaith and child welfare services to children and youth who are
experiencing emotional, behavioral and academic challenges so that they are empowered to reach
their potential and lead productive, fulfilling lives. For over 60 years, Wordsworth has been committed
to the needs of children and families in the Greater Philadelphia area, by providing quality education,
treatment and care to children and families with special needs. The agency’s primary objective is to
help each child be successful in his or her family and community.

Wordsworth was founded in 1952 as a school to meet the needs of learning disabled children. During
its sixty plus year history, the agency has continuously developed its array of services and approach to
treatment in response to the changing needs of its clients and to an ever-evolving body of research
and best practices. Currently, Wordsworth provides thirteen distinct programs through a broad
continuum of care in the education, behavioral health and child welfare arenas to more than 2500
children, youth and families per year. Wordsworth's diversity of services and experience in residentiai,
hehavioral health, child welfare and education services makes it unique in the provider community
and offers optimum opporiunity for integration and seamless services to the children and families
Wordsworth serves,

Wordsworth’s continuum of care includes:

s Wordsworth Approved Private School: The Approved Private School (APS) is a specialized
education setting for emotionally disturbed, learning disabled students ages 5 through 21 who have
had difficulty achieving in a traditionat classroom setting. The APS offers small class size and an
array of specialized support services that enhance the learning experience and produce positive
outcomes for students. In addition to the academic focus, Wordsworth APS recognizes that learning
social skilis is important for students and includes a variety of social and recreational activities in
each student’s schedule throughout the school year,

e The SPIRIT Program: Wordsworth (SPIRIT) program educates students ages 7 through 21 who have
intellectual disabilities, developmental delays, emotional challenges, behavioral difficulties, and
autism spectrum disorders. SPIRIT provides state-of-the-art special education methods, therapy,
adaptive equipment and materials, technology, and other interventions to address individual
student needs.

(6)
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Nature of Operations (Continued)

e Residential Treatment Facility: Wordsworth Residential Treatment Facility (RTF) is a behavioral
health program that coliaborates with Managed Care Organizations throughout the state of
Pennsylvania to meet the treatment needs of their consumers. This program helps girls and boys,
ages 9-19, who need the structure and security of a daily treatment program. Through holistic,
trauma-informed programming, clients receive the structure and treatment they need to become
lifelong learners and productive members of society. Residential clients are educated at the
program site so that their treatment and education are integrated and responsive to the whole
child. Family work is an important piece of the residential treatment as reunification is the ultimate
goat when possible.

On Thursday October 13, 2016 an incident involving a 17-year old teenager occurred at
Wordsworth’'s Residential Treatment Facility on Ford Road in Philadelphia. The teen became
aggressive, requiring multiple staff members to intervene for safety. During this intervention, the
client became unresponsive, and despite the best efforts by agency staff, and subsequently EMS
personnel, he could not be resuscitated. In response to this tragic fatality the Pennsylvania State
Bureau of Human Services Licensing revoked Wordsworth’s license to operate a residential
treatment facility and the agency’s program was closed. Wordsworth has appealed this decision. All
other Wordsworth programs continue to operate. Management cannot estimate the full effect of
this closure will have on Wordsworth at this given time.

¢ Hope Springs: Hope Springs at Wordsworth is an acute partial hospitatization program that
provides a comprehensive treatment and education program in a safe and nurturing environment
to assist young children who are experiencing acute ermotional and behavioral issues. This program
treats children, ages 5-13, who are in acute crisis and cannot be managed in their regular education
program. It is a short term program that provides the structure and security of a daily treatment
program without a residential component.

s STARS Education Program: Students residing in the RTF attend the on campus year-round STARS
school program. The goai is to provide Pennsylvania State Standard based instruction while
students are receiving therapeutic treatment. The STARS program at Wordsworth provides
educational services with a curriculum aligned with PA state standards and the Philadelphia School
District. Wordsworth teachers use current instructional practices to maintain and advance
students’ content knowledge and skill levels and report progress to the home school district.

n
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Nature of Operations {Continued}

» Family First Services: Wordsworth’s Family First Services (FFS) program places children who have
been removed from their homes due to safety concerns into safe, caring families where their
physical, educational, emotional and social needs are met. Resource parents are recruited, trained
and certified by the FFS staff. These resource homes are available to provide a safe and caring
temporary home for children whose biological family needs time to overcome the challenges that
make it unsafe for the children to remain with them. The Special Behavioral Health level of care
provides safe, caring families for children exhibiting more serious behavioral and/or emotional
needs who have been removed from their homes due to safety concerns. This program provides
increased supports to children, their families, and the resource families in order to address all of
the child’s emotional, behaviaral, physical, social and academic needs.

o Community Residential Rehabilitation/Host Home (CRR/HH): The CRR/Host Home program
provides community based residential services to children and adolescents with significant
behavioral health issues who are unable to live in their biclogical or surrogate homes. This program
is an alternative to more restrictive residential placement, as youth in the program participate in
treatment services white living with specially trained “host home” families in community settings.

e Community Umbrella Agencies (CUAs): A Community Umbrella Agency {CUA) is part of the
Philadelphia DHS “Improving Outcomes for Children” {lOC) initiative to strengthen child welfare
services in Philadelphia. The two Wordsworth CUA’s engage families and communities in raising
safe, healthy and productive children through a strong netwaork of resources, supports and services
that strengthen individuals, family and community protective factors in order to reduce child abuse
and neglect. The Wordsworth CUAs are responsible for providing all of the case-management
services for children and families involved in the child-welfare system within the agency’s
designated regions {(Region 5 and Region 10 of the City of Philadelphia). The CUAs act as a liaison
between families and other services and rescurces within the community in order to connect
families to what they need to be strong. The CUAs provide in-home safety and non-safety services
(once the role of the In Hame Protective Services program) and also have the responsibility to place
children in resource homes when they need to be removed from their living situation for safety
reasons. The CUA case managers and staff have the ultimate goal of reunifying children with their
biological families or moving a child into another type of permanent living arrangement.

e QOut-of-School-Time Programs: Wordsworth’s Out of School Time Programs provide children in
grades K-8 with after schooi and summer programming designed to promote academic, social and
physical growth and development. Programs offer a range of activities including homework
help/tutoring, art, music, sports/physical activity, field trips, and civic/community enrichment
activities.

(8)
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

NOTE1l SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Nature of Operations {Continued)

* Family Based Mental Health Services: : Family Based Mental Health Services is an intensive, team
delivered service consisting of family therapy, case management, and family support services
delivered to the family in their own home. The goal of the program is to prevent out-of-home
placement of children and adolescents with serious emoetional issues by helping families develop
more effective strategies for meeting the behavioral and emoctional needs of its members. Services
include in-home family and individual therapy, family education and skill building, case
management and resource development, and 24/7 crisis intervention services. Wordsworth has
family based teams that specialize in providing services to families impacted by trauma, families
that are managing ongoing medical issues, and Spanish speaking families.

o Behavioral Health Rehabilitation Services: The Behavioral Health Rehabilitation Service Program,
commonly known as “wraparound,” provides behavioral health treatment and services to children
with emotional and behavioral health issues in home, school and community settings. The goal is to
help the child/adolescent successfully manage their behaviors and emotions by providing individual
supports and treatment in the setlings where they need it the most.  Additionally,
parents/guardians, teachers and other adults in the child’s life receive guidance to help them
identify and implement strategies to help the child achieve their individual goals. The range of
services inciudes individual therapy, one-on-one behavioral support, behavioral consultation, and
family therapy.

e School Therapeutic Services: The School Therapeutic Services Program provides mental health
treatment in the schoel setting. Both master’s tevel and bachelor’s level staff work with children
individually and in groups. This service provides treatment at three levels of care including
individual therapy, one-on-one behavioral support and behavioral consultation.

e MST-PSB Program: Wordsworth’'s Multi-Systemic Treatment program (MST-PSB} is an evidenced
based program focused on working with youth who have been involved in problem sexual behavior.
MST-PSB is an intensive 5 to 7 month home-based family therapy program that seeks to create
change in the youth’s life direction by working through the parents.

Financial Statement Presentation

The financial statements of Wordsworth are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Wordsworth
reports information regarding its financial position and activities according to the following three
classes of net assets:

Permanently Restricted Net Assets

Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that are to be maintained permanently by
Wordsworth. Generally, the donars of these assets permit Wordsworth to use all or part of the
income earned on related investments for general or specific purposes and prohibits the use of
principal. At both June 30, 2016 and 2015, Wordsworth did not have any permanently restricted
net assets.

(9)
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NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)

Financial Statement Presentation {Continued)
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets

Net assets whose use has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose. When a
restriction expires, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets
and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. At June 30,
2016 and 2015, Wordsworth had temporarily restricted net assets of $26,166 and $66,166,
respectively.

Unrestricted Net Assets

Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations.

Wordsworth considers afl government awards to be exchange transactions in which each party
receives and sacrifices commensurate value, Accordingly, government awards do not affect
temporarily restricted or permanently restricted net assets, and funds received in advance are
deferred revenue and funds disbursed and not reimbursed represent receivables.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities of the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Wordsworth considers all highly liguid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash eguivalents. Cash and cash equivalents do not include assets whose use is
limited.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Wordsworth regularly reviews the collectability of its receivables and adjusts its allowance for
doubtful accounts accordingly. An allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
judgment and is established based on prior collection history, the nature of services provided, and
other pertinent factors. When all collection efforts have been exhausted, the accounts are written off
against the related allowance.

{10
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NOTE1l SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Contributions and Net Assets

Contributions received, including unconditional promises to give, are recorded as unrestricted,
temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted support depending on the existence and/or nature of
any donor restrictions. Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as an increase in
unrestricted net assets if the restriction expires in the reporting period in which the support is
recognized.  All other donor-restricted support is reported as an increase in temporarily or
permanently restricted net assets, depending on the nature of the restriction. When a restriction
expires {that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or the purpose of the restriction is
accomplished), temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and
reported in the statement of activities as “net assets released from restrictions.”

Accounts Receivable

Revenue is primarily received from contracts with the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, City of
Philadelphia, and related agencies. Revenue and accounts receivable have been recognized only to
the extent allowed under the contracts. Collection of the receivables is subject to the availability of
funds from the appropriate governmental sources and grantors.

Wordsworth recognizes revenue as services are performed based on negotiated rates or expenses
incurred. Certain expenses reported by Wordsworth are subject to audit by third-party payers. All
revenues and related amounts recorded that were based on predetermined rates have been adjusted
to the expected resuits.

Contractual Adjustments

Contractual adjustments represent revenue from funding sources in excess of revenue recognized in
prior years. These adjustments are at the sole discretion of the funding sources and therefore are not
recorded as revenue until a formal commitment is received from the funding sources.

Investments
Investments are stated at fair value.

Investments in mutual funds are valued at the net asset value at year end. The investment in the
money market fund is valued at cost, which approximates fair value.

investment in fixed income and equity securities with readily determinable fair values are carried at
guoted market value. In addition, Wordsworth invests in alternative investments whose values are
not readily availabie through an outside source. Alternative investments consist of private capital,
limited partnerships, mutual funds, fund of funds and hedge funds and are recorded at approximate
fair value as determined and approved by the managers or valuation committees of the afternative
investments based upon judgments, which include, among other factors, restrictions affecting
marketability, operating results, financial condition of the issuers and the price of the most recent
financing transactions. These alternative investments include real estate investment trusts and limited
partnership interests. The net changes in fair value and the realized gains and losses on investments
sold are reflected in the statements of activities as net realized and unrealized gains or losses on
investments. Investment transactions are recorded on the trade date.

{11)
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NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED}

Property and Equinment

Acquisitions of property and equipment in excess of $1,000 are capitalized. Property and equipment
are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method, based on the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings and Improvements 18 to 30 years

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 3 to 15 years

Vehicles 5to 7 years

Leasehold Improvements Lesser of estimated useful life or lease term

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumutated depreciation are
removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the change in net assets for
the year. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to expense as incurred; whereas, significant
renewals and improvements are capitalized.

Wordsworth reviews property and equipment, including assets held for sale, for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully
recoverable. To determine recoverability of its property and equipment and assets heid for sale,
Wordsworth evaluates the probability that future undiscounted net cash flows without interest
charges will be less than the carrying amount of the assets. Impairment, if any, is measured at fair
value. There were no such adjustments during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Other Assets
As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, other assets consist of security and escrow deposits.

Deferred Rent

Wordsworth leases facilities which provide for escalating lease payments and periods of free rent prior
to the commencement of rent payments. Wordsworth has recorded a deferral for the difference
between rent payments and the straight-line aflocation of total rent expense over the terms of the
related leases.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a
functional basis in the statements of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated to the
programs and supporting services benefited.

Fair Value Measurements

Wordsworth has categorized its financial instruments based on the priority of the inputs to the
valuation technique into a three-level fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest
priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs {Level 3). If the inputs used to measure the financial instruments fall
within different fevels of the hierarchy, the categorization is based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value of the instrument.

{12)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Eair Value Measurements (Continued}

Financial assets recorded on the statement of financial position are categorized based on the inputs to
the valuation technigques as follaws:

Level 1

Financial assets whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabifities in
an active market that Wordsworth has the ability to access (examples include active exchange-traded
equity securities, listed derivatives, and most U.S. Government and agency securities).

Level 2

Financial assets whose values are based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model
inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or
liability. Level 2 inputs include the following:

¢ Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in non-active markets {examples
include corporate and municipal bends, which trade infrequently);

¢ Pricing models whose inputs are observabte for substantially the full term of the asset or
liability (examples include most over-the-counter derivatives, including interest rate and
currency swaps); and

» Pricing models whose inputs are derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data through correlation or other means for substantially the fuli term of the
asset or iiability (examples inciude certain residential and commaercial mortgage related
assets, including loans, securities, and derivatives).

Level 3

Financial assets whose vaiues are based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are
both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. These inputs reflect
management’s own assumptions about the assumptions a market participant would use in pricing the
asset (examples include certain private equity investments, long-term promises to give and split-
interest agreements).

The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of
net realizable values or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although Wordsworth believes its
valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result
in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. There have been no changes in the
methodologies used at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

(13)
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NOTE1l SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair Value Measurements {Continued)

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2016 are:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Money Market Funds - Environmental Escrow  § 13 5 - S - S 13
Investments

Money Market Funds 1,217 - - 1,217

Equities 18,591 - - 18,591

Limited Partnership interests - 7,070 - 7,070

18,808 7,070 - 26,878

Totat ) 19,821 S 7,070 S - S 26,881

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2015 are:

Leveil Level 2 Level 3 Total

Money Market funds - Environmentai Escrow S 75,000 S - S - s 75,000
nvestments

Money Market Funds 515 - - 515

Equities 13,545 - - 13,545

Limited Partnership interests - 15,786 - 15,786

14,060 15,786 - 29,846

Total s 89,060 S 15,786 5 - S 104,846

Income Taxes
Wordsworth is a non-profit entity as described in Section 501(c){3) of the Internal Revenue Code and is
exempt from federal and state income taxes.

Wordsworth follows the income tax standard for uncertain tax positions. The standard had no impact
on the Wordsworth's financial statements. The Wordsworth’s income tax returns are subject to review
and examination by federal, state and local authorities. Wordswarth is not aware of any activities that
would jeopardize its tax-exempt status or any activities that are subject to tax on unrelated business
income taxes.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the June 30, 2015 financial statements in order to present
them in conformity with the June 30, 2016 financial statements.

Subsequent Events
In preparing these financial statements, Wordsworth has evaluated events and transactions for

potential recognition or disclosure through March 6, 2017, the date the financial statements were
available to be issued.

(14)
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NOTE2 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Cash balances
Wordsworth maintains its cash accounts with financial institutions, which, at times, may exceed
federally insured limits.

Significant revenue and accounts receivable

Ag of and for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, Wordsworth had the foilowing sources of
significant revenue and accounts receivable:

2016 2015
Accounts Accounts
Receivable Revenue Receivahle Revenue
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 2% 10% 6% 13%
Community Behavioral Health 10% 20% 11% 25%
City of Philadelphia, DHS 58% 54% 59% 41%
School District of Philadelphia 19% 7% 7% 7%
289% 51% 83% 86%

NOTE3 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following at June 30:

2016 2015

Land $ 1,296,000 $ 1,296,000
Buiiding and Building Improvements 7,595,502 7,062,208
teasehold Improvements 5,640,849 5,493,763
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 7,815,774 7,710,054
Vehicles h83,789 612,467
Construction in Progress - 19,380

Total Property and Equipment 22,932,314 22,193,872
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (16,351,542) (15,292,527)

Net Property and Equipment $ 6,580,772 S 6,901,345

Depreciation for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 was $1,087,688 and $981,849, respectively.

{15)
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LINE OF CREDIT

On April 8, 2015, Wordsworth obtained a $4,000,000 revolving line of credit with a commercial bank.
Interest accrues on outstanding amounts at variable rate of one month Libor rate plus 3.25% (3.72% at
June 30, 2016). The line of credit is secured by a borrowing base of 80% of qualified accounts
receivable, as defined, plus permitted advances, and subjects Wordswarth to compliance with certain
financial and non-financial covenants. For the year end June 30, 2016, Wordsworth was not in
compliance with its capital expenditure covenant. On December 12, 2016, the bank issued a waiver on
its capital expenditure covenant and inciuded an increase in its capital expenditure covenant from
$300,000 to $600,000 per annum. This line of credit will mature on July 1, 2017.

For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, borrowings under the bank line of credit were
§1,731,225 and $112,620, respectively. Interest expense incurred on this line of credit was $115,619
and $4,374 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

NOTE PAYABLE

In April 2015, Wordsworth executed a note payable secured by property located at 100 Camp Hil}
Road, Springfield Township, PA, to M&T Bank in the amount of $6,000,000. Interest accrues on
outstanding amounts at variable rate of one month Libor rate (0.47% at June 30, 2016) plus 3.75%. In
connection with that note, an environmental escrow of $75,000 was established to secure the removal
of 10,000 gallon fuel tank from the mortgaged property.

The note is payable in 59 equal monthly instaliments of principal each in the amount of $50,000,
together with an equal number of instaliments of interest payable in amounts that vary based on a
variable interest rate, beginning in May 2015, As of June 30, 2016, the balance of this note was
$5,300,000. Interest expense incurred on the note payable was $237,282 and $34,611 for the years
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Scheduled future principal payments on the Note as of June 30, 2016 are:

Year Ending June 30, Amount

2017 5 600,000

2018 600,000

2019 000,000

2020 600,000

2021 600,000
Thereafter 2,300,000

S 5,300,000

(18)
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NOTES TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Temporarily restricted net assets consist of the fellowing at June 30:

2016 2015
Holiday Gifts S 26,166 S 26,166
Capital Impravements - Fort Washington - 40,000
Total Temporarily Restricted Net Assets S 26,166 ) 66,166

NOTE7 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Opergting leases

Wordsworth ieases a facility at Ford Road for its residential treatment and Community Umbrella
Agency Region Number 10, under various operating leases through July 2020. As described in Note 1,
the residential based revenues had ceased causing Wordsworth to absorb a portion of the $133,328 a
month in rent for the operations of the residential facility, until at such time as new terms have been
reached between Wordsworth and the {andlord.

in June 2014, Wordsworth signed a lease at Falls Center in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania to house
operations for the Community Umbrella Agency Region Number 5. The lease is a nine year
commitment with the option of termination in the sole event the Fhiladelphia Department of Human
Services shall fail to fund the CUA program after the third anniversary of the Commencement Date, as
of the beginning of Tenant’s fiscal year, July 1%, each subsequent one year interval thereafter.

Rental expense under these operating leases amounted to $1,488,367 and $1,495,072 for the years
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Scheduled future minimum lease payments under operating leases (with initial or remaining lease
terms in excess of one year) as of June 30, 2016 for these locations are:

Year Ending June 30, Amount

2017 S 2,409,346

2018 2,467,088

2019 2,510,938

2020 2,559,810

2021 1,400,586
Thereafter 1,263,648

S 12,611,416

{(17)
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COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES {CONTINUED)

Service agreement

In September 2012, Wordsworth executed a service agreement to deploy Credible Behavioral
Healthcare Software, a web-based fully integrated electronic health record (EHR) system. The seven
year contract, expiring August 1, 2020, consists of certain one-time, up-front expenses and recurring
annual license fees.

Total expenses under the agreement amounted to $134,633 and $134,633 for the years ended June
30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Scheduled future payments under the service agreement as of June 30, 2016 are as follows:

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2017 S G8,100
2018 98,100
2018 98,100
2020 98,100
$ 392,400

Wordsworth is involved in claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business.
Generally, each claim is referred to the appropriate insurance carrier to defend. In the opinien of
management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on
Wordsworth's financial position, changes in net assets, or liquidity.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Wordsworth leases a portion of its Fort Washington Campus to a nonprofit corporation affiliated with
a member of the Board of Trustees. This lease expires in July 2068 and may be renewed at the {essee's
option for four additional ten-year terms. Under the terms of this agreement, Wardsworth received a
lump-sum rental payment of $300,000. For the year ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, Wordswaorth had
recognized rental income from this lease of $4,615 with the balance of the remaining payment to be
applied to future years amounted to $240,000 and $244,615, respectively.

(18)
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS {CONTINUED)

Scheduled future minimum rentals to be recognized as income are as follows:

Year Ending June 30, Amount
2017 $ 4,615
2018 4,615
2019 4,615
2020 4,615
2021 4,615
Thereafter 216,924

5 239,999

Wordsworth obtains legal services utilizing a law firm of which a member of the Board of Trustees
performs services. Legal services paid were S0 and $130,524 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively.

Wordsworth signed an agreement in fiscal year 2014 with Binary Research Consulting to perform
management and technology consuiting which a member of the Board of Trustees is the owner of the
entity and performs the services. Consulting services paid were $44,093 and $67,267 for the years
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Wordsworth has adopted a defined contribution plan under Section 403(b) of the Internai Revenue
Code. The Plan covers all full-time employees of Wordsworth who have worked at least 1,000 hours
during a Plan year. Under the terms of the Plan, employees may contribute a percentage of their
annual compensation not to exceed applicable Internal Revenue Service regulations. Wordsworth may
elect to match 50% of employee contributions up to a maximum contribution of 2% of the employee's
compensation.

For the years ended june 30, 2016 and 2015, Wardsworth’s hoard of directors elected not to
contribute to the discretionary contribution for the 403{b) plan for the organization.

LiQuibITy

Wordsworth's Executive Management has developed a multi-pronged approach to ensure the needed
cash flow will be available through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2017. Wordsworth escalated
collection efforts on the larger accounts receivable balances, specifically the Philadelphia Schaool
District. Wordsworth has placed a freeze on alt capital expenditures and non-essential supplies and
repairs across all programs. The exception would be for items that would have Wordsworth violate a
compliance or safety regulation.

(15)
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LIQUIDITY {(CONTINUED)

Expense controls and cuts have been enacted with various vendors throughout all programs to keep
expenses to a minimum. Wordsworth management team is working to negotiate the terms of the
{ease for the facility that housed the now closed Residential Treatment program.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

As described in Note 1, the closure of Wordsworth’s residential facility is expected to cause an
approximately 17% loss in revenue based on amounts reported in the year end June 30, 2016
statement of activities. In addition, Wordsworth is expected to incur approximately $400,000 in a
fiability for unemployment ciaims as a resuit of this closure. Wordsworth currently has not defauited
on payment of these unemployment claims with the Commonwealth of Pennsyivania, Department of
Unemployment Compensation.

(20}
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
CHARTERED/APPROVED PRIVATE SCHOOL EXPENSE REPORT
JUNE 30, 2016

EXPENSE REPORT FORM
APPROVED PRIVATE SCHOOLS AND CHARTERED SCHOOLS FOR DEAF OR BLIND CHILDREN
FISCAL YEAR ENDED: JUNE 30, 2016

SCHOOL NAME: Waordsworth

MAILING ADDRESS: Penna Ave & Camphill Road
CITY/STATE/21P: Fort Washington, PA 19034
DATE: November 30, 2016

ANY SPECIAL NOTES OF EXPLANATION REGARDING THIS CLAIM MAY BE ATTACHED TO THIS FORM

REPORTED EDCUATIGNAL REPORTED
EXPENSES COSTS RESIDENTIAL COSTS
TOTAL NON-ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS (FROM PAGE 2) $ 7,098,037 3 7,098,037 %
TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS {FROM PAGE 3) 3 900,795 $ 900,795 &
GRAND TOTAL [NON-ADMINISTRATIVE AND
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS) g 7,598,832 $ 7,998,832
LESS COSTS APPUCABLE TO NON-APPROVED
STUDENTS $ 206,370 $ 206,370 §
TOTAL REPORTED PDE-401 EXPENSES 3 7,792,462 $ 7,792,462 % -

CERTIFICATION: WE HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE EXPENSES REPORTED FOR THE 2015-2016 FISCAL YEAR WERE COMPUTED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH "GUIDELINES FOR AUDITING OF APPROVED PRIVATE SCHOOLS AND CHARTERED SCHOOLS FOR DEAF OR
BLING CHILDREN," DATED NOVEMBER 30, 2016

)
/) / ‘,h"L/ CIED

DON STEWART, CFO " 'DIANA L. RAMSAY, CEO/PRESIDENT /
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NOTE2

NOTE3

Document  Page 227 of 251

WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL, STATE AND CITY AWARDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

GENERAL INFORMATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal, state and city awards (the Schedule} includes
the federal award activity of Wordsworth Academy under programs of the federal government for
the year ended June 30, 2016. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the
requirements of Title 2 US. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).
Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of Wordsworth Academy, it
is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of
Wordsworth Academy.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance
wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

The amounts reported in this Schedule as expenditures may differ from certain financial reports
submitted to funding agencies because those reports may be submitted on either a cash or modified
accrual basis of accounting.

Expenditures of federal, state, and city awards are reported on the statement of activities as operating
expenses. In certain programs, the expenditures reported in the basic financial statements differ from
the expenditures reported in the Schedule because other program expenditures and expenditures may
exceed contract budget limitations, and are therefore not included as expenditures of federal, state, and
city awards,

INDIRECT COST RATE

Wordsworth Academy has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the
Uniform Guidance.

(34)
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CiiftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAgonneact.com

CliftonLarsonAllen

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON COST ALLOCATION PLAN

Board of Directors
Wordsworth Academy
Phitadelphia, Pennsylvania

We have examined Wordsworth Academy’s compliance with allocating indirect costs reflected in the City of
Philadelphia, Department of Human Services Report of Functional Expenditures as required by the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of Public Welfare, Section 3170.60 of Chapter 3170 Regulations;
and the “Indirect Cost Allocations” Section of the City of Philadelphia Subrecipient Audit Guide — Instructions for
Completing The Report of Functicnal Expenditures (Section 2000, Exhibit B} during the year ended June 30, 2016.
Management is responsible for Wordsworth Academy’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on Wordsworth Academy’s compliance based on our examination.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, including examining, on a test basis, evidence about
Wordswaorth Academy’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion. Qur examination does not provide a legal determination on Wordsworth Academy’s compliance with
specified requirements.

In our opinion, Wordsworth Academy complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirement
for the year ended June 30, 2016.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management and federal,

state and city county awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be
used by anyone other than these specified parties.

WMMM L

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania
March 6, 2017

A member of

Nexia

International
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAceonnect.com

CliftonLarsonAllen

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Directors
Wordsworth Academy
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Wordsworth Academy (a nonprofit
organization), which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2016, and the related
statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 6, 2017.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Wordsworth Academy’s internal
control over financial reporting {internal contro}) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinien on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Wordsworth Academy’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of Wordsworth Academy’s internal control,

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonabte possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, vet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified. Given these timitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs as |C 2016-001, that we consider to be a significant deficiency.

A member of

Nexia

International

(40)



Case 17-14463-amc  Doc 336 Filed 10/06/17 Entered 10/06/17 15:24:55 Desc Main
Document  Page 234 of 251

Board of Directors
Wordsworth Academy

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Wordsworth Academy's financial statements are
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion,
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or ather matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Wordsworth Academy’s Response to Findings

Wordsworth Academy’s response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs. Wordsworth Academy’s response was not subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion
on it

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this
communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

%mec L7

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania
Maich 6, 2017
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CliftontarsonAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

CliftonLarsonAllen

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR
FEDERAL PROGRAM, REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE
REQUIRED BY UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Board of Directors
Wordsworth Academy
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Wordsworth Academy’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the
OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of Wordsworth Academy’s major
federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2016. Wordsworth Academy’s major federal programs are identified in
the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the federal statues, regulations, and the terms and conditions of its
federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Wordsworth Academy’s major federal
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroiler General of the
United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and
the City of Philadelphia Subrecipient Audit Guide. Those standards, the Uniform Guidance and the City of
Philadelphia Subrecipient Audit Guide require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct
and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
about Wordsworth Academy’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Wordsworth Academy’s compliance.

. A membar of
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Board of Directors
Wordsworth Academy

Basis for Qualified Opinion on Foster Care and Adoption Assistance

As described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, Wordsworth Academy did not
comply with requirements regarding CFDA 93.658 Foster Care and 93.659 Adoption Assistance as described in
finding number FA 2016-001 and FA 2016-002 for Eligibility and Subrecipient Monitoring. Compliance with such
requirements is necessary, in our opinion, for Wordsworth Academy to comply with the requirements applicable
to that program.

Qualified Opinion on Foster Care

in our opinion, except for the noncompliance described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph,
Wordsworth Academy complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on CFDA 93.658 Foster Care and CFDA 93.659 Adoption
Assistance for the year ended June 30, 2016.

Unmodified Opinion on Each of the Other Mujor Federal Programs

In our opinion, Wordsworth Academy complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its other major federal
programs identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and
guestioned costs for the year ended June 30, 2016.

Other Matters

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance, which are required to be reported
in accordance with Uniform Guidance and which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs as FA 2016-001 and FA 2016-002. Except as noted above, our opinion on each major federal
program is not modified with respect to these matters.

Wordsworth Academy’s responses to the noncompliance findings identified in our audit are described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Wordsworth Academy’s response was not subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the
response.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of Wordsworth Academy is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our
audit of compliance, we considered Wordsworth Academy's internal control over compliance with the types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Wordsworth
Academy’s internal control over compliance.

(43)
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Board of Directors
Wordsworth Academy

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies
in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis. We consider the deficiencies in internal control over comphance described in
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as FA 2016-001 and FA 2016-002 to be material
weaknesses.

Waordsworth Academy’s responses to the internal cantrol over compliance findings identified in our audit are
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Wordsworth Academy’s response was
not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no
opinion on the response.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of

internal control over compliance and the result of that testing based on the requirements of Uniform Guidance
and City of Philadelphia Sub-Recipient Audit Guide. Accordingly, this report is not suitabie for any other purpose.

WM@MQ L7

CliftonlarsonAllen LLP

Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania
March 6, 2017
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Section | - Summary of Auditors’ Results

Financial Statements
1. Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmeodified
2. Internal control over financial reporting:
*« Material weakness(es) identified? yes X ne
e Significant deficiency({ies) identified
that are not considered to be

material weakness(es)? X yes none reported

3. Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted? yes X na

Federal Awards
1. Internal control over major federal programs:
e Material weakness{es) identified? X yes no
» Significant deficiency{ies) identified
that are not considered to be

material weakness(es)? yes X none reported

2. Type of auditor’s report issued on
compliance for major federal programs: Quatified

3. Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with
2 CFR section 200.515(d){2} of

the Uniform Guidance? X yes no
CFDA Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster
84.027 Special Education Grants to States, |[DEA, Part B
93.658 Foster Care - Title IV-E
93.659 Adoption Assistance

(45}
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Section | - Summary of Auditors’ Results (Continued)

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A or Type B programs was: 5 750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee pursuant to
Uniform Guidance? yes X no

Section 11 - Financial Statement Findings

1€ 2016-001
Type of Finding:
s Significant Deficiency in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Criteria:
Personnel should be remaved from payroll as of the date of termination,

Condition:

As part of our performance of both walkthrough and internal control over financial reporting procedures
encompassing the payroll transaction cycle, we noted one of the employees selected, who had been terminated,
was paid their entire bi-weekly salary instead of being pro-rated based on time served. Management did not
catch this error through their payrolf reviews.

Effect:

The lack of controls in place over the payroll function increases the risk of undocumented personnel, or payroll
process errors occurring and not being detected or corrected in a timely manner.

Cause:

The duties of the review of payroll reports including payroll profiles were the responsibility of the prior CFO,
rather than being part of the responsibilities of the human resource department. Reviews of Wordsworth's
employee profiles were performed late resulting in a terminated employee being paid their entire bi-weekly
salary.

Recommendation:

We recommend that management review their internal control policies encompassing how employees are
terminated and removed from the payroli system.

{46)
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Section I — Financial Statement Findings {Continued)

IC 2016-001 {Continued)

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions.

The employee was paid because the “Pay Profile” paperwork was not completed prior to the next pay date.
Human Resources needs to be made aware of any terminations within 24 hours of the actual termination and
then needs to immediately process paperwork and update ADP. Accounting and Human Resources will meet to
update and communicate policies to all programs. The projected completion date will be February 28, 2017.

Section 11l - Findings and Questioned Costs — Major Federal Programs

FA 2016-001
Federal agency: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Federal program: Title IV-E Foster Care/Adopticn Assistance - CUA #5 and #10
CFDA Number: 93.658 and 93.659
Pass-Through Agency: Philadelphia Department of Human Services
Pass-Through Number: 14-20038 and 15-20005
Award Period: July 1, 2015 through june 30, 2016
Type of Finding:

*  Compliance

s Material Weakness in Internal Control over Compliance

Criteria

Proper and timely documentation shoutd be found in all participant files to ensure that they are eligible for the
services provided.

Condition

In our eligibility test, we request a sample of 60 foster care children who are being managed by the Community
Umbrella Agencies 5 and 10. As part of our file testing, we look for certain documents which are required to be
in the file as per the City of Philadelphia, Department of Human Services and Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
Department of Human Services. Such forms are essential and help to ensure that participants are eligible for,
and are receiving, the services provided.

{47)
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Section 1l — Findings and Questioned Costs — Major Federal Programs (Continued)

FA 2016-001 (Continued)

Condition

In our eligibility test, we request a sample of 60 foster care children who are being managed by the Community
Umbrella Agencies 5 and 10. As part of our file testing, we look for certain documents which are required to be
in the file as per the City of Philadelphia, Department of Human Services and Commonweaith of Pennsylvania,
Department of Human Services. Such forms are essential and help to ensure that participants are eligible for,
and are receiving, the services provided.

The resuits from our testing indicate missing documentation as follows: 3 Safety Assessment Worksheets, 138
CUA Safety Plans, 1 Pennsylvania Model Risk Assessment, 5 instances of lack of proper structured case notes
were identified, 14 Life Skills Assessments, 8 Report Cards, 33 Authorizations to Release infermation, 17
Immunization Records, 10 photos were not on file, 4 Initial Single Case Plans, and 23 Single Case Plan Updates
were either missing or late.

Questioned Cost
None

Cause

During this fiscal year the responsibilities of CUA case managers have changed within the City of Philadelphia,
Department of Human Services (DHS), Community Umbrella Agencies (CUA's) throughout the City of
Philadelphia. The requirement for a case manager to manage a total of ten cases was increased to thirteen by
DHS and has dramatically changed the environment. It's important to note that a “case” is defined as a family,
not a single child. Families have an average of 2 children. The increased caseload therefore increased the
number of children assigned to a single case manager by 6. In reality, due to case manager retention and other
onboarding issues, case managers have 10 to 14 additional children on their case load. This also caused an
increased supervisory responsibilities by a minimum of 15 additional cases when staff caseloads were as low as
13. In reality, challenges in efficiently onboarding staff and turnover lead to case managers more often carrying
upwards of 15 cases. This has caused case managers to be managing the welfare of, on some occasions, greater
than fifty children. In addition, we stress that the compliance goal of safety “visitation”, the face to face
contact where a child is seen by a case manager to assure safety, is a the top priority . A minimum of 90% of all
visits are to occur. As a resuit of this critical priority, there has heen less emphasis on the management of the
case files which has caused the case files to be missing the necessary documentation as described in the DHS
case file guidelines. An additional barrier to compliance is the requirement that CUAs must use the DHS
electronic case management system which does not give CUAs the ability to track and monitor case
management compliance.

Effect

Lack of proper documentation and timeliness of filing could lead to service to participants that may not be part
of the service plan. 1t could also lead to participants not being serviced as needed.
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS {CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Section Il ~ Findings and Questioned Costs — Major Federal Programs {Continued)

FA 2016-001 {Continued)
Recommendation

We recommend that the program leadership develop policies and procedures in order to properly include all
pertinent documentation within each client and foster parent file as required by the City of Philadelphia,
Department of Human Services. In addition, we recommend that program leadership and/or the fiscal
departments perform periodic audits of the client and foster parent files to ensure ali required documentation is
included.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

This is a systemic issue. DHS approved increasing the number of case managers for FY2017 in order to decrease
the case load from 13:1 to 10:1. This decrease in caseload in addition to the Corporate Compliance department
assisting the CUA Quatlity department in periodic audits of the client and foster parent files will help ensure ali
required documentation is included.

FA 2016-002
Federal agency: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Federal program: Title IV-E Foster Care/Adoption Assistance - CUA #5 and #10
CFDA Number: 93.658 and 93.659
Pass-Through Agency: Philadelphia Department of Human Services
Pass-Through Number: 14-20038 and 15-20005
Award Period: July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016
Type of Finding:

» Compliance

» Material Weakness in Internal Control over Compliance

Criteria

Proper monitoring on Wordsworth’s subcantractors should be performed to ensure that the subcontractor is in
compliance with the goals and objectives of their contractual agreement with Wordsworth Academy and in
specifically with OMB  Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (2 CFR 200) {“Uniform Guidance”), specifically §200.331,

(49)
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Section ill — Findings and Questioned Costs — Major Federal Programs {Continued}

FA 2016-002 {Continued)

Condition

Wordsworth has not implemented a specific monitoring policy for {1} the review of the annual audits of the
subcontractors and (2) visiting the various subcontractors to monitor if they are in compliance with the
subcontractor agreement with Wordsworth. In our review of the City of Philadelphia, Department of Human
Services Community Umbrella contracts, it states that a portion of the contract ailocated to Wordsworth
Academy shall be used to pay subcontractors who will be providing Home Resource Parent services under the
Community Umbrella Contract. This would mean that Wordsworth would be considered the pass-through entity
and required to monitor its subrecipients under Uniform Guidance §200.331.

Questioned Cost
None

Cause

The City of Philadelphia, Department of Human services has never been clear in its intentions as it relates to how
Community Umbrella Agencies within the CUA system are required to monitor its respective subcontractors, and
the understanding that each Community Umbrella Agency is required to monitor it subcontractors. Due to the
lack of a clear understanding between the City of Philadelphia, Department of Human Services and the CUA's, it
has been difficult to determine the subrecipient monitoring responsibilities of the CUAs. With the Uniform
Guidance 2 CFR 200 section §200.331 requires pass-through entities to evaluate each subrecipient's risk of
noncompliance in order to determine the appropriate monitoring level, to monitor the activities of subrecipient
organizations to ensure that the sub award is in compliance with applicable Federal statutes and regulations and
terms of the sub award, and to verify that subrecipients are audited as required by Subpart F of the Uniform
Guidance.

Effect

tack of proper monitoring could lead to the misappropriation of funds to a subrecipient that is not performing
services properily.

Recommendation

We recommend management create a policy relating to the monitoring of subrecipients. In developing this
policy management we recommend the policy include (a) on an annual basis, confirmation of the statement of
work, and review any non-standard terms and conditions of the CUA subcontractor agreement in the
negotiation process, (b) monitoring of programmatic progress and ability of the subrecipient to meet objectives
of the subcontractor agreement, including the creation of a monitoring toal. If the subcontractor is not in
compliance, then a corrective action report will need to be submitted to the subcontractor, which will need to
be responded to, and {c) an annual review of the financial statement audit of all subcontractors, with a specific
focus on findings and corrective action plans.

(50)
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Section lit — Findings and Questioned Costs — Major Federal Programs (Continued)

FA 2016-002 (Continued)

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

We have added a new position in to our Corporate Compliance team that will be responsible for auditing and
monitoring subcontractors. However, DHS communicated in [ate January 2017 they will be contracting directly
with the subrecipients starting in Fiscal Year 2018 (07/01/17). If this occurs, the CUA will not respensible for the
areas covered in this finding.

Section IV — Prior Audit Findings

IC 2015-001
Type of Finding:

e  Material Weakness in Internal Cantrol over Financial Reporting

Condition
An adjusting entry was required to reverse the revenue recorded for a cost reimbursement grant.

Recommendation

Upon receiving a grant, we recommend that management determine how to account for the grant. We also
recommend that management contact the grantor or their outside auditors for guidance on how to record grant
revenue. These actions will prevent overstatement of revenue.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

Management acknowledges the overstatement of program revenue as an oversight. Management will ensure all
journal entries are reviewed by the CFO prior to being posted by the Accounting Manager or Staff Accountant.
All entries will require the proper back up documentation (spreadsheets, original documents} to reconcile the
journal entry. The CFO will not post journal entries, but only review and approve.

Status of Corrective Action

In performance of audit procedures over the recognition of revenues relating to cost reimbursement grants,
management has properly recorded all grants received for the year ended June 30, 2016.

(51)
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WORDSWORTH ACADEMY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED HINE 30, 2016

Section |V - Prior Audit Findings {Continued)

IC 2015-002
Type of Finding:

s Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Condition
Unsigned checks were mailed to vendors including CUA’s.

Recommendation

We recommend that management review their internal control processes surrounding cash disbursements to
ensure that checks are issued with the proper signature.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

Management acknowledges the release of unsigned checks to vendors was an oversight. Management will put a
procedure in place to review each individual check after it has been signed by the CEQ. The person reviewing
will not be the same person that printed the checks. The Accounts Payable team will review for signature prior
to placing in the envelopes for mailing.

Status of Corrective Action

In the performance of audit procedures, we observed that management had implemented certain internal
control procedures relating to the segregation of duties within the cash disbursement cycle including the
procedure to review each individual check after it has been signed by the CEO.

I1C 2015-003
Type of Finding:

» Significant Deficiency in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Condition
We noted during our testing of selected payroll files that there were 3 W-4 forms and 3 1-9 forms missing.

Recormmendation

We recommend that management review their internal control processes surrounding personnet files and
develop a file checklist to ensure that all the required information is in the file. We also recommend having all
new hires submit all the required personnei paperwork before their first day on the job.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

Management acknowledges that the missing payroll documentation was an oversight. Management
acknowledges the release of unsigned checks to vendors was an over-sight. Management will create a checklist
of required items. An internal audit of the payroll files will be completed monthly to ensure files are updated
and reduce any potential for fraud.
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Section IV — Prior Audit Findings {Continued)

IC 2015-003 {Continued)

Status of Corrective Action

in performance relating to the testing and sampling of payroll transactions, we noted that in our sample
selected, there were no discrepancies in this test,

IC 2015-004

Type of Finding
» Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Condition

We noted during our audit that the Pennsylvania Department of Education (PDE) completed a program audit of
the school breakfast and national school lunch programs administered by Wordsworth and noted that there
were eighteen audit findings.

Recommendation

We recommend that management review and update its internal control processes surrounding the school
breakfast and national schoe! lunch programs to ensure that the organization complies with contract guidelines.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions
Management has developed a correction action plan, which recently was approved by PDE.

Status of Corrective Action
The correction action plan provided to the PDE was approved.

FA 2015-001

Federal agency: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Federal program: Title IV-E Foster Care - CUA #5 and #10

CFDA Number: 93.658

Pass-Through Agency: Philadelphia Department of Human Services
Pass-Through Number: 14-20038 and 15-20005

Award Period: July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015
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Section IV — Prior Year Findings (Continued)

FA 2015-D01 (Continued)
Type of Finding:

« Compliance
« Material Weakness in Internal Control over Compliance

Condition
An unsigned check was mailed to a CUA vendor.

Recommendation

We recommend that management review their internal control processes surrounding cash disbursements to
ensure that checks are issued with the proper signature.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

Management acknowledges the release of unsigned checks to vendors was an over-sight. Management will put
a procedure in place to review each individual check after it has been signed by the CEO. The person reviewing
will not be the same person that printed the checks. The Accounts Payable team will review for signature prior
1o placing in the envelopes for mailing.

Status of Corrective Action

In performance of audit procedures which included the review of signatures on canceled checks, we did not note
any discrepancies in the observed resufts from the sample selected and tested.

FA 2015-002
Federal agency: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Federal program: Title IV-E Foster Care

CFDA Number: 93.658

Pass-Through Agency: Philadelphia Department of Human Services
Pass-Through Number: 13-20240

Award Period: July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015

Type of Finding:

« Compliance
» Material Weakness in Internal Control over Compliance
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FA 2015-002 (Continued)

Condition:

During the testing of 40 client files, it was noted that 5 of the files did not contain all the needed documentation
to ensure the child's eligibility. From the 5 client folders, 1 Civil Rights and Compliance form, 1 Client Rights and
Grievance Procedure form, 1 Authorization for release of information form, and 3 client’s quarterly reports were
missing {and the aforementioned reports were not filed timely). Finally we tested the 40 corresponding foster
parents who housed the clients selected. Of these 40 foster parents, 1 child’s biclogical parent’s home safety
inspection was not completed on time. Such information is an essential part of a child and foster parent’s file
and helps to ensure that they are eligible for and are receiving the appropriate services.

Recommendation:

We recommend that the program leadership develop policies and procedures in order to properly include all
pertinent documentation within each client and foster parent file as required by the City of Phitadelphia,
Department of Human Services. In addition, we recommend that program leadership and/or the fiscal
departments performs periodic audits of the client and foster parent files to ensure all required documentation
is included.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

Per review of these findings by Executive Management of the organization, the material weakness in internal
control of the files has been corrected and an electronic process has been implemented with all documents
scanned and stored on the server of the organization which is backed-up daily at an alternative location. This
will avoid any issues with accessibility of the files/forms in question from the auditor's review.

The missing documents are not reflective of essential day to day service delivery/compliance pertaining to client
safety and activities within the resource homes. Over the past several years, the program has continuously
received no findings related to the accessibility of the files and services provided by the program.

Management does not believe these findings will occur again with the new procedures and oversight recently
implemented. Wordsworth’s Quality Assurance department is completing quarterly audits on all non-CUA
clients. New systems have been put in place to ensure the timeliness of resource home safety checks and
evaluations.

Status of Corrective Action

In the performance our testing of Non-CUA case files we noted no discrepancies or missing documentation in the
sample of files tested.
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FA 2015-003
Federal agency: U.S. Depariment of Health and Human Services

Federal program: Title |V-E Foster Care - CUA #5 and #10

CFDA Number: 93.658

Pass-Through Agency: Philadelphia Department of Human Services
Pass-Through Number: 14-20038 and 15-20005

Award Period: July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015

Type of Finding:
* Compliance
« Material Weakness in Internal Control over Compliance

Condition

During the testing of 40 client files, it was noted that 37 of the files did not contain all the needed
documentation to ensure the child's eligibility, We noted that the following information was missing from the
client folders that were tested: 2 CUA Safety Assessment Worksheet, 16 CUA Safety Plans, 2 CUA — PA Model —
Rislk Assessment, 22 life skills assessment, 14 CUA — School Report Cards, 19 CUA — Authorization to Release
Information, CUA — Immunizations, 8 Court Report/Qrder, 20 Photo on file, 3 CUA initial Single Case Plan, 8 CUA
Required 6 month case plan updates, 1 CUA — Initial Conference, and 6 Ongoing CUA Services Conference
summary reports.

Recommendation

We recommend that the management continue to develop policies and procedures in order to properly include
all pertinent documentation within each client file as required by the City of Philadelphia, Department of Human
Services. In addition, we recommend that program leadership and/or the fiscal department performs periodic
audits of the client files to ensure all required documentation is included.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

On a monthly basis, the Wordsworth Quality Assurance Department audits 100% of opened cases in the
Electronic Case Management System (ECMS) for the presence of a current and complete Safety Assessment, Risk
Assessment, Safety Plan and Single Case Plan. The audit results are distributed upon completion of the review to
the Case Management Supervisors. In addition to the monthly compliance audits, Wordsworth’s CUA Quality
Assurance Department completed a monthly review of 10% of active cases using modified Performance Review
and Evaluation Program (PREP) instruments provided by Philadelphia Department of Human Services. The
Single Case Plan review instrument provided by DHS was revised to incorporate additional items designed to
measure for compliance for the presence of educational and medical records, monthly supervisory fogs and the
accuracy of FACTSZ.
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Section IV — Priar Year Findings {Continued)

FA 2015-003 {Continued)

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions (Continued)

Additional items looked at include assessments such as Ages and Stages Questionnaire, Casey Life Skills, etc. The
sample includes 10% of all current cases with at least one case from each Case Manager’s caseload. Upon
completion of the review, the results are sent to the case management team for review and correction.

Status of Corrective Action
Please refer to the finding number FA 2016-001

FA 2015-004

Federal agencies: U.S. Department of Education, U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services

Type of Finding:
« Compliance
» Significant Deficiency in Internal Control over Compliance

Condition
The organization did not timely file the schedule of federal, state, and city awards and the data collection form.

Recommendation

We recommend that leadership evaluate the needs of the accounting and program departments to ensure that
they are properly staffed.

Views of Respansible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

The accounting group has had a significant management change including a new CFO. Accounting leadership will
assess the needs of the department and will create a program for cross-training to alleviate the chance of
delayed reporting due to limited rescurces.

Status of Corrective Action

For the year ended June 30, 2016, Wordswaorth had filed its data coliection form before the required due date of
March 31, 2017,
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FA 2015005
Federal agency: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Federal program: Title 1V-E Foster Care - CUA #5 and #10

CFDA Number: 93.658

Pass-Through Agency: Philadelphia Department of Human Services
Pass-Through Number: 14-20038 and 15-20005

Award Period: July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015

Type of Finding:
s« Compliance
s Material Weakness in Internal Control over Compliance

Condition
During our testing of subrecipient monitoring, we noted that not all audits were kept on file.

Recommendation

We recommend that Wordsworth keep a copy of all subrecipients' most recent audit on file. We also suggest
that there be a formal process in place so that there can be a follow up with the subrecipients that have
deficiencies noted on their audit reports.

Views of Respensible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

CUA Quality Assurance staff witl conduct annual reviews of all subcontracting agencies utilizing a Subcontractor
Resource Provider Compliance Review tool, to ensure compliance with 10C Practice Guidelines and relevant PA
State regulations. Audits/reviews will include review of PA DHS licensing audits and, if applicable, Plans of
Correction. CUA will also ebtain copy of each subcontractor’s annual financial audit.

Status of Corrective Action
Please refer to finding labeled FA 2016-002
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